The measurement, levels, and correlates of physical activity in a bi-ethnic population of young children

by

Daniel David Bingham

A Doctoral Thesis

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of Doctor of Philosophy of Loughborough University September 2016

© Daniel David Bingham 2016



Certificate of Originality Thesis Access Conditions and Deposit Agreement

Students should consult the guidance notes on the electronic thesis deposit and the access conditions in the University's Code of Practice on Research Degree Programmes

Author...Mr Daniel David Bingham.....

Title...PhD Student.....

I Daniel David Bingham, 27 Squire Green, Bradford, West Yorkshire, BD8 9PT, "the Depositor", would like to deposit 'The measurement, levels, and correlates of physical activity in a bi-ethnic population of young children', hereafter referred to as the "Work", once it has successfully been examined in Loughborough University Institutional Repository

Status of access OPEN

Status of access approved by (CAPITALS):...DR STACY CLEMES.....

Supervisor (Signature).....

School of ... Sport, Exercise and Health Sciences.....

Author's Declaration I confirm the following :

CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINALITY

This is to certify that I am responsible for the work submitted in this thesis, that the original work is my own except as specified in acknowledgements or in footnotes, and that neither the thesis nor the original work therein has been submitted to this or any other institution for a degree

NON-EXCLUSIVE RIGHTS

The licence rights granted to Loughborough University Institutional Repository through this agreement are entirely non-exclusive and royalty free. I am free to publish the Work in its present version or future versions elsewhere. I agree that Loughborough University Institutional Repository administrators or any third party with whom Loughborough University Institutional Repository has an agreement to do so may, without changing content, convert the Work to any medium or format for the purpose of future preservation and accessibility.

DEPOSIT IN LOUGHBOROUGH UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REPOSITORY

I understand that open access work deposited in Loughborough University Institutional Repository will be accessible to a wide variety of people and institutions - including automated agents - via the World Wide Web. An electronic copy of my thesis may also be included in the British Library Electronic Theses On-line System (EThOS).

I understand that once the Work is deposited, a citation to the Work will always remain visible. Removal of the Work can be made after discussion with Loughborough University Institutional Repository, who shall make best efforts to ensure removal of the Work from any third party with whom Loughborough University Institutional Repository has an agreement. Restricted or Confidential access material will not be available on the World Wide Web until the moratorium period has expired.

- That I am the author of the Work and have the authority to make this agreement and to hereby give Loughborough University Institutional Repository administrators the right to make available the Work in the way described above.

- That I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the Work is original, and does not to the best of my knowledge break any UK law or infringe any third party's copyright or other Intellectual Property Right. I have read the University's guidance on third party copyright material in theses.

- The administrators of Loughborough University Institutional Repository do not hold any obligation to take legal action on behalf of the Depositor, or other rights holders, in the event of breach of Intellectual Property Rights, or any other right, in the material deposited.

The statement below shall apply to ALL copies:

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

Restricted/confidential work: All access and any copying shall be strictly subject to written permission from the University Dean of School and any external sponsor, if any.

DBZ

user's declaration: for signature during any Moratorium period (Not Open work): <i>I undertake to uphold the above conditions:</i>			
Date	Name (CAPITALS)	Signature	Address

<u>Abstract</u>

Background: The first five years of life, called the early years is a period of rapid and vital physical, behavioural, emotional and social development. Physical activity (PA) is one of the behaviours which develop during the early years, and high levels of PA during the early years have been shown to be related to multiple health outcomes. The importance of PA of young children (children during the early years) has been highlighted by a number of national governments. In order to better inform future interventions and public health policies, a greater understanding of the correlates and determinants of young children's PA is vital. Previous research has been limited through measurement inconsistencies, and few studies have been conducted within multi-ethnic communities, where many young children in the United Kingdom are born.

Thesis Aims: 1) to systematically review published research in order to establish currently known correlates and determinants of PA in the early years and identify gaps within the literature. **2)** Calculate an accelerometer wear-time criteria to reliably measure young children's habitual PA. **3)** Investigate the validity and test re-test reliability of a new parental proxy reported PA questionnaire. **4)** Investigate the levels and correlates of moderate-to-vigorous PA (MVPA) in toddlers (1-3 year olds) from a predominately bi-ethnic and bi-linguistic population.

Methods: Aim 1) nine electronic databases were searched to identify previous research which investigated associations between an exposure/variable, and a quantitative measure of PA. Correlates/determinants of total PA (TPA), MVPA and light-intensity PA (LPA) were reported using an ecologic model. Aim 2) to calculate a wear-time criteria for young children a simple stepped process was used whereby statistical tests were run to determine the minimum length of wear for one day, if there were any differences between weekdays and weekend days, and the presence of reactivity. Intra-class correlation models and the Spearman-Brown prophecy

formula were used to calculate wear-time reliability. Aim 3) this study was undertaken by 196 parents completing a proxy report questionnaire on their child's PA and sedentary behaviour after seven days of their young child (mean age 3.2) ,SD: 0.8 years) wearing an accelerometer. A total of 156 (79.6%) questionnaires were completed in English and 40 (20.4%) were completed in transliterated Urdu. Of the 196 parents, 109 parents completed the EY-PAQ a second time seven days apart from the first EY-PAQ completion; this was to assess test re-test reliability of MVPA and sedentary time. Validity analysis used all data and data falling with specific proportion boundaries for MVPA (2%-41%) and sedentary time (30%-94%). Reliability was assessed using intra-class correlations (ICC) and validity by Bland-Altman plots and rank correlation coefficients. **Aim 4)** this study was undertaken by conducting a cross-sectional analysis using 24 month olds and their mothers data collected as part of the Born in Bradford (BiB) birth cohort sub-sample study called BiB1000. The outcome variable was daily minutes of MVPA measured by the EY-PAQ. Numerous independent variables covering the layers of an ecological model were selected. Univariate linear regression models accounting for sex, age, language and season were conducted to examine the differences between White British and South Asian children's daily minutes of MVPA and each of the EY-PAQ's domains, and the proportion of time spent in MVPA within each of the EY-PAQ's domains. A series of univariate linear regression analyses were performed to examine and identify correlates of MVPA (for the whole sample, and separately for White British and South Asian children). Significant variables found in univariate analyses were then included in hierarchical multivariable regression models (based upon the ecological model), in order to examine the percentage of variance accounted for in daily minutes of MVPA.

Results: Aim 1) The systematic review identified a large volume of published research. All studies took place in high income countries and few studies (6%) were

of high quality. A small number of correlates and determinants of TPA were identified. The only correlate of MVPA was sex and no determinants of MVPA or LPA were found. PA correlates/ determinants were relatively consistent between objective and subjective PA measures and few studies investigated correlates of toddlers or between children with White and South Asian ethnicity. Aim 2) No differences in accelerometer-determined time in TPA, MVPA or sedentary time were observed between weekdays and weekend days within this sample of young children. Similarly, there was no evidence of reactivity to accelerometer use. For young children living in Bradford, an accelerometer wear-time of a minimum of six hours on any three days was shown to provide reliable estimates of accelerometerdetermined time in TPA, MVPA, and sedentary time. Aim 3) The test re-test reliability of the EY-PAQ was moderate for sedentary time and fair for MVPA. The EY-PAQ had poor agreement with accelerometry with both sedentary time and MVPA before the application of boundaries. Post application of boundaries the EY-PAQ still had poor agreement with accelerometer-determined sedentary time but good agreement for MVPA. Limits of agreement were wide for all variables and language and ethnicity did not confound results. Aim 4) Bradford toddlers were found to be very active and no difference was observed between proxy-reported time spent in MVPA between White British and South Asian children. However, White British toddlers were found to have spent significantly more time in reported MVPA while walking for transport compared to South Asian toddlers; while South Asian toddlers reportedly spent significantly more time of MVPA in the home compared to White British toddlers. Correlate models were only statistically significant when multi-layers of the ecological model were included; and correlates differed for South Asian and White British children.

Conclusions: There is a need for more high-quality studies exploring correlates/determinants across all layers of the ecologic model, and research investigating MVPA correlates/determinants of toddlers and between ethnicities is

sparse. The work reported within this thesis has produced a reliable wear-time criterion for use to estimate accelerometer-determined PA and sedentary time in young children living in a bi-ethnic community. This criterion can now be used in future accelerometer studies (validation, observational and intervention) and the stepped-process offers researchers a method to derive sample-specific wear time criteria. The EY-PAQ is a promising habitual population-level measure of young children's MVPA from a bi-ethnic community. In situations when objective methods are not possible for measurement of young children's MVPA, the EY-PAQ may be a suitable alternative. Levels of toddlers MVPA did not differ by ethnicity but the contexts and correlates did. Therefore, future interventions should seek to maintain and maximise high levels of toddlers MVPA and tailor interventions by ethnicity. The research conducted within this thesis will inform the development of surveillance systems, interventions and public health polices to improve young children's PA levels, particularly children living in a bi-ethnic community.

Acknowledgments

I would first like to acknowledge my two supervisors Dr Sally Barber and Dr Stacy Clemes. Thank you very much to both of you for the wonderful opportunity and for the constant and unbreakable belief in me throughout this whole process, and for being two of the nicest people I have ever met.

Thank you to Professor John Wright and Dr Rosie McEachan for allowing me to become a member of the Born in Bradford family; and thank you to all the members of the Born in Bradford team who I have worked with over the years. There are too many people to individually thank and list here but to name a few, thank you – Shaheen Akhtar, Ann Barratt, Iram Fayyaz, Lynn McVey, Hanan Ahmed, Dr Liz Andrews, Dagmar Waiblinger, Laura Lamming, Rihab Kazi, Julia Blackburn, Samina Janjua, Sammera Ali and Zille Rabab.

This thesis would not have been possible without the aid of my 'unofficial supervisors' and dear friends Dr Paul Collings and Dr Silvia Costa. These two outstanding scientists and all round decent individuals went out of their way to offer their time, support, encouragement and advice. I will never forget, thank you.

I send my gratitude to Dr Lauren Sherar for offering words of wisdom as my internal annual reviewer; and to Dr Ash Routen, Dr Helen Moore, Dr Trina Hinkley, Dr Katy Shire, Professor Paula Griffiths and Gillian Santorelli, who have all contributed significantly to the studies presented in this thesis as co-authors of the resulting published work – it has been a pleasure working with you all.

I currently have the honour of sharing an office with some wonderful people, who have all extensively encouraged and supported me through the difficult final steps of completing this thesis, so thank you Dr Nimarta Dharni, Dr Sara Ahern and Dr Noortje Uphoff for giving me such sincere support in the final months. A few passing nice words really do go a long way and mean a lot.

My biggest thank you goes to the staff of Bradford schools and children centres, and of course to Bradford children and their families, who all gave up their time to participate in the studies which data of the thesis came from. A special acknowledgement is warranted for Bradford mums for who without, Born in Bradford would not exist and neither would this thesis. And of course for welcoming me into their homes and for the many "brews" I have enjoyed over the last few years.

On a personal note, thank you to my own family for their unconquerable faith and love. On an emotional level I send my most loving gratitude to my own mum, Elaine May. There truly is no love greater than what a mother has for her children; late nights, early mornings, good days, bad days, indifferent days, my mum is always there forever being my biggest fan. Without that love and support I would never have dreamt of pursing a PhD and without a doubt would of never of completed this thesis – thank you mum!

Finally, I sincerely acknowledge and dedicate this thesis to Susan Bingham, who sadly died in 2008. She was such a wonderful and kind person, who I was very fortunate to have known and even more fortunate to of had as my grandma. Without her encouragement I would have never of applied or dreamt of going to university, never mind continue to pursue a doctoral degree and a career in academia.

Thank you all again.

Daniel 😳

Publications

Published work arising from this thesis

Bingham DD, Costa S, Hinkley T, Shire KA, Clemes SA, Barber SE. Physical activity during the early years: a systematic review of correlates and determinants. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 2016;51(3):384–402.

Bingham DD, Costa S, Clemes SA, Routen AC, Moore HJ, Barber SE. Accelerometer data requirements for reliable estimation of habitual physical activity and sedentary time of children during the early years - a worked example following a stepped approach. *Journal of Sports Sciences*. 2016:1-6.

Bingham DD, Collings PJ, Clemes SA, Costa S, Santorelli G, Griffiths P, Barber SE. Reliability and validity of the early years physical activity questionnaire (EY-PAQ). *Sports*, 2016;4(2):30.

Copies of published abstracts are found in Appendix 1.

In preparation

Bingham DD, Clemes SA, Barber SE. The levels and correlates of moderate to vigorous physical activity of two year old children from a bi-ethnic population: A BiB1000 study. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health,* Summer 2017.

Conference Contributions

Bingham DD, Costa S, Hinkley T, Shire KA, Clemes SA, Barber SE. "Physical activity during the early years: a systematic review of correlates and determinants," oral presentation at the 2015 Annual Meeting of the International Society of Behavioural Nutrition and Physical Activity (ISBNPA), Edinburgh, Scotland.

Bingham DD, Clemes SA, Costa S, Santorelli G, Griffiths P, Barber SE. "Reliability and validity of the early years physical activity questionnaire (EY-PAQ)," poster presentation at the 2015 Annual Meeting of the International Society of Behavioural Nutrition and Physical Activity (ISBNPA), Edinburgh, Scotland.

Bingham DD. "Mini movers and their mum: levels and correlates of physical activity," oral presentation at the 2015 Born in Bradford Scientific Conference, Bradford, England.

Bingham DD. "Physical activity and sedentary behaviour in the early years," oral presentation at the 2013 Born in Bradford Scientific Conference, Bradford, England.

Bingham DD, Costa S, Clemes SA, Akhtar S, Wright J, Barber SE. "Differences n 3-4 year olds children's physical activity levels following application of different accelerometer cut-points," poster presentation at the 2013 Annual Meeting of the International Society of Behavioural Nutrition and Physical Activity (ISBNPA), Ghent, Belgium.

Table of Contents

Thesis Access Conditions and Deposit Agreement	1
Abstract	3
Acknowledgments	7
Publications	9
Table of Contents	11
List of Figures	17
List of Tables	
Abbreviations	20
CHAPTER 1 - Introduction	22
1.i. Preface	23
1.1 PART ONE – physical activity and health in the early years	23
1.1.1.What is physical activity? Definitions, dimensions and domains	23
1.1.2. Non-communicable diseases	25
1.1.3. The physical activity transition model	26
1.1.4. The Early years	28
1.1.5. Health associations of physical activity during the early years	31
1.1.5.1. Adiposity	32
1.1.5.2. Motor development	
1.1.5.3. Cardio-metabolic health	34
1.1.5.4. Psycho-social health	34
1.1.5.5. Bone and skeletal health	35
1.1.5.6. Cognitive development	35
1.1.5.7. Ethnicity	37
1.1.6. The levels of young children's physical activity	
1.1.7. Tracking of physical activity in the early years	43
1.1.8. Correlates and determinants - an ecological perspective	45
1.2. PART TWO - measuring physical activity during the early years	49
1.2.2 Objective Measures	

1.2.2.1 Calorimetry	50
1.2.2.2 Doubly labelled water	50
1.2.2.3 Heart rate monitors	51
1.2.2.4 Pedometers	52
1.2.2.5 Direct observation tools	54
1.2.2.6 Accelerometry	55
1.2.2.6.1. Types of accelerometers	58
1.2.2.6.2. Placement	59
1.2.2.6.3. Number of monitors	59
1.2.2.6.4. Epoch length	60
1.2.2.6.5. Intensity classification: cut-points	61
1.2.2.6.6. Duration of monitoring, wear time and non-wear time	68
1.2.2.6.7. Limitations and other issues	71
1.2.2.7. Combination of monitors	72
1.2.3. Subjective Measures	73
1.2.3.1 Activity diaries	73
1.2.3.2. Questionnaires	73
CHAPTER 2 – Outline, aim and objectives	77
2.1. Rationale of thesis	78
2.2. Aims	80
2.3. Structure of the thesis	80
2.3. My role	83
CHAPTER 3 – The correlates and determinants of physical activity during the	
early years: a systematic review	86
3.1 Introduction	87
3.2. Aims	89
3.3. Methods	89
3.3.1. Search Strategy	89
3.3.2. Inclusion Criteria	90
3.3.3. Reporting of Results	90

3.3.4. Search Process	91
3.3.5. Selection of variables	91
3.3.6. Study methodological quality	92
3.4. Results	93
3.4.1. Review Process	93
3.4.2. Study Design	95
3.4.3 Study Quality and Methodological Risk of Bias	95
3.4.4. Description of Included Studies	102
3.4.5. Demographic and biological variables	102
3.4.6. Psychological, cognitive and emotional variables	112
3.4.7. Behavioural variables	112
3.4.8. Social and cultural variables	112
3.4.9. Physical environment variables	113
3.5. Discussion	114
3.5.1. Gaps in the Research	117
3.5.2 Limitations	117
3.5.3. Conclusions	118
CHAPTER 4 – Accelerometer data requirements for reliable estimation of	habitual
physical activity and sedentary time of children during the early years	119
4.i. Preface	120
4.1. Introduction	120
4.2. Aims	121
4.3. Methods	122
4.3.1. Participants and Settings	122
4.3.2. Procedure and Measurements	122
4.3.3. Data analysis	123
4.4. Results	126
4.5. Discussion	129
4.5.1. Limitations	131
4.5.2. Conclusion	131

CHAPTER 5 – Reliability and Validity of the Early Years Physical Activity	
Questionnaire (EY-PAQ)	132
5.i. Preface	133
5.1. Introduction	133
5.2. Aims	135
5.3. Methods	135
5.3.1 Participants and Setting	135
5.3.2 Procedure	136
5.3.3. Measures	136
5.3.3.1. The Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire (EY-PAQ)	136
5.3.3.2. Accelerometry	138
5.3.4. Data analysis	139
5.4. Results	140
5.4.1. Reliability	145
5.4.2. Validity	145
5.5. Discussion	146
5.5.1. Conclusion	151
CHAPTER 6 – Levels and correlates of moderate to vigorous physical activ two year old children from a bi-ethnic population	vity of 152
6.i. Preface	153
6.1. Introduction	153
6.2. Aim and Objectives	156
6.3. Methods	157
6.3.1. Setting	157
6.3.2. Participants, recruitment and procedure	157
6.3.3. Outcome variable – moderate-to-vigorous physical activity	159
6.3.4. Potential correlates/ exposure variables	160
6.3.5. Data Analysis	160
6.4. Results	162
6.4.1. Descriptive statistics and valid EY-PAQ data	162

6.4.2. Levels of daily moderate-to-vigorous physical activity	164
6.4.3. Ethnic differences of daily moderate-to-vigorous physical activity .	165
6.4.4. The correlates of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity	168
6.5. Discussion	178
6.5.1. Levels of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity	178
6.5.2. Levels of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity – differences betw ethnicities	veen 180
6.5.3. Correlates of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity	181
6.5.4. Limitations	183
6.5.5. Strengths	184
6.6. Conclusions	185
CHAPTER 7 – Conclusions	186
7.1. Key Findings and Implications	187
7.1.1. Chapter 3	187
7.1.2. Chapter 4	188
7.1.3. Chapter 5	188
7.1.4. Chapter 6	189
7.2. Future Research	191
7.3. Implications	196
7.4. Conclusion	199
References	200
Appendices	229
Appendix 1. – Abstracts of Published Research	230
Appendix 3. – Systematic review supplementary materials	233
Appendix 3.1. – Example of search strategy (Pub Med)	233
Appendix 3.2. –Systematic review inclusion/exclusion form234_Toc483	919230
Appendix 3.3. – Description table of included studies within chapter 3	
systematic review	235
Appendix 3.4. –Key for Appendices: 3.5-3.11	284
Appendix 3.5. – Correlates of Total Physical Activity: Full Table	285

Appendix 3.6. – Determinants of Total Physical Activity: Full Table	294
Appendix 3.7. – Correlates of Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity: Fu	11
Table	296
Appendix 3.8. – Determinants of Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity:	Full
Table	306
Appendix 3.9. – Correlates of Light Physical Activity: Full Table	307
Appendix 3.10. – Determinants of Light Physical Activity: Full Table	309
Appendix 3.11. – References for Appendices 3.3. – 3.10	311
Appendix 5.1. – English version of EY-PAQ	319
Appendx 5.2. – Urdu transliteration version of the EY-PAQ	322
Appendix 6 – Correlates of toddlers daily MVPA using univariate linear	
regression.	326

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	The physical activity transition model27
Figure 1.2	The Denvar II Development Screening test
Figure 1.3	An ecological model of physical activity45
Figure 1.4	The number of articles within the Pub Med database using
	accelerometers from the years 1995-200555
Figure 2.1	Behavioral epidemiological framework78
Figure 2.2	A flow-diagram outlining the interconnectivity of chapters82
Figure 3.1	Flow diagram of the systematic review literature search91
Figure 4.1	A six step process to calculate reliable accelerometer daily wear121
Figure 5.1	Flow diagram outlining the number of included and excluded
	participants for the validity and reliability analysis137
Figure 5.2	Bland-Altman plots for the difference between time spent in
	moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) and sedentary time
	(ST) measured by accelerometry (Actigraph) and the Early Years
	Physical Activity Questionnaire140

List of Tables

Table 1.1	Description of studies investigating and calibrating Actigraph
	accelerometer cut-points, for early years children's sedentary and
	physical activity levels
Table 3.1	Included study quality check list and level of quality and study
	design
Table 3.2	Summary of potential correlates and determinants of total physical
	activity 101-105
Table 3.3	Summary of potential correlates and determinants of moderate-to-
	vigorous physical activity 106-107
Table 3.4	Summary of potential correlates and determinants of light physical
	activity
Table 4.1	Weekday versus weekend day accelerometer outcome variables124
Table 4.2	Day by day differences of accelerometer outcome variables125
Table 4.3	Number of days required to reliably estimate accelerometer outcome
	variables
Table 5.1	Demographic characteristics of children within the different analyses
	of the study
Table 5.2	Intraclass-correlations for moderate to vigorous physical activity
	(MVPA) and sedentary time (ST) as measured by the early years
	physical activity questionnaire (EY-PAQ)139
Table 5.3	Validity of the early years physical activity questionnaire (EY-PAQ)
	compared to accelerometry
Table 6.1	Descriptive statistics and demographic differences of children with
	valid EY-PAQ data versus children with non-valid EY-PAQ data 159
Table 6.2	The levels of two year old childrens moderate to physical activity
	measured using the Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire .160
Table 6.3	Descriptive statistics and demographic differences of White British
	and South Asian two year old children162

Table 6.4	The daily minutes of WB and SA childrens MVPA and componen	
	of MVPA	
Table 6.5	The proportion of WB and SA childrens MVPA which comp	onents
	of MVPA constitute	
Table 6.6	Multivariable associations of potential correlates with two y	ear old
	childrens MVPA	166-168
Table 6.7	Hierarchical multivariable associations of potential correlate	es with
	White British childrens MVPA	
Table 6.8	Hierarchical multivariable associations of potential correlate	es with
	South Asian childrens MVPA	172-173

Abbreviations

AEE - Activity energy expenditure

BIB - Born in Bradford

BMI – Body Mass Index

CARS - Children's Activity Rating Scale

CHD – Coronary heart disease

CI – Confidence interval

CPAF - Children's Physical Activity Form

C-PAQ - Childrens Physical Activity Questionnaire

CPM – Counts per minute

CVD - Cardiovascular disease

CVD - Cardiovascular disease

DLW – Doubly labelled water

EE – Energy expenditure

EY-PAQ - Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire

HR – Heart rate

LPA – Light physical activity

LVPA - Light to vigorous physical activity

MET -- Metabolic equivalent

MPA – Moderate physical activity

NHS - National Health Service

PA – Physical activity

PAEE – Physical activity energy expenditure

Pre-PAQ - Preschool-age physical activity questionnaire

RCT - Randomised control trial

SA – South Asian

SB – Sedentary behaviour

SES – Socio-economic status

ST - sedentary time

TPA – Total physical activity

VPA – Vigorous physical activity

WB – White British

WHO – World Health Organisation

CHAPTER 1 - Introduction

<u>1.i. Preface</u>

The literature review presented in this chapter presents the premise for the thesis along with outlining the key concepts of physical activity. The chapter is split into two parts. Part one covers the definitions, the historical perspective and describes current physical activity research in young children. Part two reviews the literature regarding the measurement of physical activity in young children.

<u>1.1 PART ONE – physical activity and health in the early</u> <u>years</u>

1.1.1.What is physical activity? Definitions, dimensions and domains

Physical activity (PA) defined as 'any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure'^{1,3}, is a complex behaviour.³ Part of the complexity is due to the term PA widely being used interchangeably with physical fitness and exercise, within scientific literature and wider societal use. Physical fitness which is not synonymous with PA, is defined as the 'set of attributes that people have or achieve that relates to the ability to perform PA.'³ These attributes can include skill related components (agility, balance, co-ordination, power, reaction time and speed)³, and also health related components (body composition, cardiorespiratory endurance, flexibility, muscular endurance and muscular strength).³ Exercise is a domain of PA which is defined as 'planned, structured and repetitive bodily movement done to improve or maintain one or more components (skill or health) of physical fitness.'³

The broadness and complexity of PA is part because it is a behaviour with multiple dimensions; ⁴ each dimension can be presented and measured in different ways.⁴ The specific dimension of interest is dependent upon the research question and interest.¹ Dimensions of PA are PA energy expenditure, intensity, frequency,

duration and mode.² The PA dimension of physiological energy expenditure is energy expenditure caused solely by PA (physical activity energy expenditure [PAEE]). Physical activity energy expenditure is often calculated through estimating basic metabolic rate and subtracting this from total energy expenditure while also taking into account diet-induced thermogenesis.^{2,5} The intensity of PA is the physiological exertion of undertaking PA. Physical activity intensity for adults has been generally categorised based on the metabolic equivalent (METS). Light intensity PA equates to 1.6-2.9 METS,⁶⁻⁸ moderate intensity PA is 3-5.9 METS⁶⁻⁸ and \geq 6 METS equals vigorous intensity PA⁶⁻⁸ and sedentary behaviour (SB) is defined as any waking behaviour characterized by an energy expenditure of ≤1.5 METs while in a sitting or reclining posture.^{9,10} Adult METS values do not accurately define physical activity intensities of children and therefore are not appropriate to use as values for energy costs of children's activities.¹¹⁻¹³ The unsuitability of adult METS for categorising children's activity is because the energy cost of children's activities increases with age due to development of muscle mass and physical capability associated with growth and developmental maturation.^{11,14} Physical activity level (PAL), which is the ratio of total energy expenditure to basal metabolic rate (BMR), increases from early childhood to adolescence, this is mostly because of BMR decreasing with age.^{11,15} For pre-schoolers (aged 3-5) sedentary behaviours have been found to have METS values of 1.2-1.7 (sitting while watching television, colouring, playing video games and playing with toys) and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity METS have been found to be 2.8-4.7 (dancing, aerobics, walking, jogging and running).¹¹ The METS values are lower in pre-schoolers compared to older populations, again because of young children's higher BMRs and developmental immaturity.¹¹ METS values for children younger than 3 are unknown. This is because of the lack of understanding toddlers will have of being asked to perform activities at a given time and also because of low feasibility of toddlers undergoing calorimetric measures.¹¹ Not engaging in sufficient amounts of PA (i.e. meeting PA guidelines for health) is termed 'inactive (inactivity).'¹⁰ The

frequency of which PA takes place is the number of bouts of PA taking place during a period of time.¹ An example is the number of times an individual is moderately active during a one day period. The duration of bouts is the amount of time a single bout of PA takes place;¹ an example would be a continuous walk for 10 minutes. Finally the mode of PA is the specific type of PA taken place;¹ examples would be playing sport or engaging in active play in the house, garden or child-care/school. Physical activity can also be subdivided into different domains, which is where PA takes place.¹ Examples of PA domains are the home, school, physical education lessons, sports, school break time (recess), and habitual PA. Each of the dimensions of PA take place within the different domains. The domains and dimensions of PA explored by research will affect the choice of methods applied in order to measure specific dimensions of PA, with good levels of efficacy (see part 2).

<u>1.1.2. Non-communicable diseases</u>

It is well documented physical activity is positively associated with each of the aspects of health (a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity).¹⁶ Non-communicable diseases (e.g. cancer, cardiovascular disease (CVD), chronic respiratory diseases and type II diabetes mellitus) are the most frequent cause of mortality in the majority of countries, whether low, middle or high income (apart from areas of Africa).¹⁷ Levels of global adult inactivity (not taking part in 150 minutes of weekly MVPA) in 2010 were 23%, with a difference between high income countries (26% men, 35% women) compared to low-to-middle income countries (11% men, 26% women).¹⁸ Because of the increasing problem of inactivity the world health organisation (WHO) declared physical inactivity to be the fourth leading cause of non-communicable diseases.¹⁹ Lee²⁰ reported that of the 57 million global deaths caused by non-communicable diseases in 2008, 5.3milion (9.3%) were caused prematurely by physical inactivity. Lee²⁰ also concluded that if prevalence of physical inactivity was decreased between 10-25%, between 533,000 to 1.3 million premature deaths could be averted annually.

The problem of inactivity does not stop at premature mortality, it also places strains upon governments and health services, particularly economic strains. One example is in the United Kingdom where it was reported in 2007 that physical inactivity cost the National Health Service (NHS) is £0.9 billion per year.²¹ The figure increased significantly when considering the role physical inactivity plays within obesity, of which is estimated to cost the NHS £2billion; and the wider economic impact costing £10billion in 2007. These figures are projected to increase to £9.7billion and £49.9billion come 2050.²¹

<u>1.1.3. The physical activity transition model</u></u>

The role physical inactivity has played in the increased prevalence of noncommunicable diseases is not surprising, when considering the drastic changes of the cultural, economic and environmental structures of human society in the last few centuries.^{22,23} In the last 300 years human beings, through industrialisation and technological advancement, have quickly changed the fabric of society and the everyday environment where people find themselves day to day.²³ Human beings for most of their existence have predominately been hunter-gathers; which required high levels of PA on a daily basis in order to survive. Examples of activities were seeking water, foraging and hunting food, creating shelter and escaping predators.²³ During the last 300 years cultural and environmental shifts have led to the majority of populations becoming more inactive.²² Technological advancements have led to human physical labour being drastically reduced in agriculture, manufacturing and transportation. The need to be active in order to survive has changed to a culture of the majority having to seek and find opportunities to be active, for reasons mainly due to enjoyment or health. The physical activity transition model (see figure 1.1) outlines the factors which contribute to the transition from an active society to an inactive society, and the resulting health consequences.²³ Recent evidence supports the PA transition hypothesis in Kenya²⁴, and with many other low-middle income countries growing economically and acquiring more contributing factors of the PA

transition model (e.g. economic growth, urbanisation), it is expected an increase of global non-communicable diseases during the middle and end of the 21st century. The challenge of decreasing inactivity and increasing PA is a primary goal in the PA epidemiology. This is through measuring PA levels of populations, identifying factors association with PA (correlates and determinants), and then using the findings to inform the design of future interventions; and thus increase the health benefits associated with PA and/or reduce the health consequences linked to inactivity.^{25,26}



Figure 1.1: The physical activity transition model. Source: Katzmark (2009)²³

<u>1.1.4. The Early years</u>

The focus of this thesis is PA during the early years. The early years, defined as the first of years life, is when significant growth and development of children occurs. The early years can be divided into three distinct age groups; infants who are 0-1 years of age, toddlers 1-3 years of age and pre-school children 3-5.27 The Denver Developmental Screening Test^{28,29} is a tool applied to measure development progression of children aged 1 month to 6 years. The test was created to identify children who are at risk of not developing sufficiently, but is also a good guide of the developmental stages children will undergo during the early years (Figure 2).^{28,29} During the infant period children will begin movements of the arms and legs at around 8-9 weeks old;³⁰ then during the infant year children will first begin movement of the head, reach and grasp objects, roll over, sit up and eventually begin to crawl and stand. When children enter the toddler years (ages 1-3), within the first year most children will begin to walk and then begin developing the locomotor skills of running, jumping, hopping and skipping. Fine (manipulative) motor skills also begin to develop during the toddler years. When children enter the preschool years, locomotor and manipulative skills are further developed. According to Malina³⁰ the level of motor development and progression is dependent upon the interactions between the child themselves (biological factors; body size, proportions, body composition, maturity and cognitive abilities); the environment (stimulation, rearing atmosphere, toy to play with); and the movement task required (hip-knee-ankle action in walking, coordination in crawling). It is clear that each age group within the early years are at different stages of physical development. This means the concept of what PA is, is drastically different for infants compared to pre-schoolers. The terms 'early years' and 'young children' will be used interchangeably throughout the thesis, however both terms for the thesis refer specifically to children aged 1-5 (toddler and pre-schooler). Infant children will

not be a focus for the original research presented in this thesis. A clear distinction will be made between toddlers and pre-schoolers and where possible results will be presented separately.



Figure 1.2: The Denvar II Development Screening test. (Sperhec et al, 1991).^{28,29}

<u>1.1.5. Health associations of physical activity during the early years</u>

Physical activity is widely reported to have positive health effects across the whole spectrum of life.^{27,31-36} Physical activity can be both a preventive and treatment means for many health outcomes (obesity, stroke, type II diabetes mellitus, coronary heart disease, and depression).³⁷⁻⁴⁶ The promotion of PA during childhood aims to develop the physical, mental and social aspects of health and prevent the onset of disorders^{27,38,41,47-49}, particularly obesity.^{38,49-53} Studies investigating the association between health outcomes and PA specifically in young children are fewer in number compared to studies within older children.^{27,54} However, due to the advancement of measurement technology (see part two) the volume of PA research in young children has and is growing in the last two decades. A systematic review including only randomised control trials (RCT) or prospective designed studies (high quality) by Timmons²⁷, identified six areas of health associated with PA during the early years (adiposity, motor development, cardio-metabolic health, psycho-social health, bone and skeletal health and cognitive development). However, the Timmons²⁷ review did not include cross-sectional studies. Meaning only a small number of studies were identified and many large epidemiological studies were excluded. Presented next is a summary of the findings of Timmons²⁷ but also a summary of some of the key cross-sectional research in each of the six areas of health.

<u>1.1.5.1. Adiposity</u>

Timmons²⁷ identified 22 studies which investigated health outcomes associated with PA during the early years. The most frequent of outcomes investigated was adiposity (n = 11 studies). Studies focusing on infants found that the effect of PA upon adiposity was found in peripheral adiposity and not whole body fatness.^{27,55} Seven studies explored adiposity and PA in pre-schoolers, four studies were RCT's and three were of prospective design. One RCT found PA had a protective effect for body mass index (BMI) increase in girls (68% less likely to increase BMI).^{27,56} Findings of the prospective studies were higher levels of PA during toddler^{27,57} and preschool^{27,58} age was associated with lower levels of adiposity in later childhood. Overall the Timmons review reported the evidence up to 2012 was of low to moderate quality; because included studies used a mixture of PA measurement methods and a lack of consistency domains and dimensions of PA reported. The authors were unable to report what volume, intensity, type and frequency of PA was related with adiposity. Never-the-less, a link between PA during the early years and adiposity was concluded. However, research published since the Timmons²⁷ review has begun to investigate more specific domains and dimensions of PA via the use of more objective measures of both PA and adiposity. One example is a large cross sectional study (sample n = 398, 4 year olds) by Collings⁵⁹, who investigated the associations between objectively measured PA (LPA, MPA and VPA) and time with body composition in 4-y-old children. Body composition was measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA). Collings⁵⁹ concluded VPA was the only component of PA which was associated with body composition. A total of 15 minutess of daily VPA was found to be associated with a 0.36% decrease of body fat, 1.90% decrease of trunk fat mass index and 1.90% decrease of fat mass index. However, caution must be taken regarding the results due to the cross-sectional design, therefore reverse causality may be present. Never the less, results of Collings⁵⁹ suggest the same conclusions as Timmons²⁷; which is intervention during the early years is vital, but rather than focusing on overall PA an emphasis must be placed upon higher intensities of PA; in order to reduce the risk of high adiposity.

1.1.5.2. Motor development

Four studies were identified in the Timmons²⁷ review which investigated the associations between PA and motor development in young children. One study (RCT design) was conducted in infants and found the intervention group subjected to passive cycling for two months during the 12 months of infancy gained greater development of motor (body control balance and grasping), and adaptive (handeye coordination) skills compared to the control group.^{27,60} Three identified RCTs^{61,62} investigating the association between PA and motor-skills in pre-schoolers all concluded a significant difference in the gains of motor-development between the pre-schoolers subjected to a motor skill intervention in comparison to pre-schoolers assigned to control groups. However, it should be noted that although studies were reported to be of no serious risk of bias, inconsistency, indirectness or imprecision, studies were graded as being of low quality. A cross sectional study by Williams⁶³ investigated the relationship between the level of motor skill performance and participation in pre-schoolers. The study measured PA using accelerometry and found children (sample n = 198) in the highest tertile of motor skill total score spent a greater amount time in MVPA and VPA than children in the middle and lowest tertiles. This finding and the summary conclusion by Timmons²⁷ again adds weight to the perspective of promoting PA during the early years; along with the early years being the primary period of time fundamental movement skills (key motor skills) can be learned and developed.⁶⁴ Examples of fundamental movement skills are stability (balance), object control skills (catch and throw) and locomotor skills (jump, hop and skip).⁶⁴ Engaging in large amounts of PA is suggested by Timmons²⁷ to help develop motor skills; however, it has also been suggested that children with low competent levels of movement skills will not seek opportunities to be active

and will more likely withdraw from PA, thus leading to greater risk of health outcomes linked to inactivity.⁶⁵

1.1.5.3. Cardio-metabolic health

Three studies identified by Timmons²⁷ examined the effect of PA upon cardiometabolic indicators in preschool children. One study found no significant associations.⁶⁶ The other two studies did find significant associations. The first study by Saakslahti and colleagues⁶⁷ used a parent-proxy report to measure PA and found relationships between PA and cardio-metabolic indictors were different for boys and girls. Highly active girls had a reduction of total cholesterol and highly active boys had reductions in triglycerides. This difference between sexes was also concluded by Puhl⁶⁸ who found boys with at least 56 minutes of daily MVPA measured by accelerometry resulted in having greater metabolic status. The relationship was also nearing statistical significance for girls, who participated in 46 minutes of daily MVPA (p = 0.06).

1.1.5.4. Psycho-social health

Timmons identified two studies which investigated the association between PA and psycho-social health, one of which was of high quality⁶⁹ and one of low.⁷⁰ Griffiths⁶⁹ found pre-schoolers taking part in a dance program as part of an RCT made significant improvements in externalization behaviour (challenging behaviour) and social competence. Buss⁷⁰ in a prospective study found teachers rated the most active children as being 'more outgoing' and 'less socially withdrawn'. More recently a systematic review investigating specifically the associations between young children's psychosocial well-being and PA has been published (2014).⁵⁴ Hinkley⁵⁴ included not just studies with control groups but also cross-sectional studies within the review; this was in order to capture the epidemiological evidence of this growing area of research. The review only included studies which used a direct measure of PA, therefore indirect measures of PA such as parents reporting

on fidgeting were excluded. A total of six observational studies were identified. Results indicated the psycho-social well-being outcomes found to be positively associated with PA were young children's conduct problems, emotional symptoms, hyperactivity/inattention and peer relationship problems. ⁵⁴ However, the level of evidence for studies was weak to moderate, and authors make it clear that no clear conclusions could be made via the current level (quantity and quality) of evidence.⁵⁴

1.1.5.5. Bone and skeletal health

One RCT reported by Timmons²⁷ examined the relationship between PA and skeletal health in pre-schoolers. The RCT involved delivering a gross-motor activity intervention which was found to increase PA which was associated with an increase in the tibia circumference post-intervention⁷¹ and at 12 months follow up.⁷² However, there was no effect on the total body bone mineral content or the leg or arm bone areas.^{71,72} A study not included in the Timmons²⁷ review theorised PA as having a lasting positive effects upon the skeletal system of children.⁷³ One such study supporting this idea, derived from the Iowa Bone Health cohort, found that five year old children in the top quartile for MVPA had significantly greater bone mineral content at 8 and 11 years.⁷⁴ More recent research by Herrmann⁷⁵, who investigated the effects of objectively measured PA on bone stiffness index, concluded an increase in 10 minutes of MVPA of preschool children led to an increase of between 1-2% of bone stiffness, which is significant for bone development. Evidence, although small in the number of studies, currently points to the short and medium term beneficial effect of PA upon bone and skeletal health of children during the early years.

<u>1.1.5.6. Cognitive development</u>

Only one study was identified within the Timmons²⁷ review which investigated the relationship between PA and cognitive development; of which the studies sample
consisted of infant aged children.⁶⁰ It was found passive cycling for two months during the first 12 months of life increased language development (facial expression, sounds, vocalizations and babble), however the ultimate grading of this study was of low quality. No studies which have investigated the health effects of PA specifically during the toddler and preschool years since 2011 (date of included studies in the Timmons review) could be identified. However, two studies within childhood (4-18 years), one a meta-analysis' and the other a literature review both support the positive effects high amounts of PA participation has in relation to different aspects of cognition.^{76,77} The meta-analysis by Sibley⁷⁶ reported an overall moderate (r=0.32) significant positive relationship between PA and cognitive function in both healthy children (aged 4–18 years) and children with physical and mental impairments. The largest effect sizes, which were moderate (0.34 - 0.49) were found for the cognitive variables of perceptual skills, developmental level/academic readiness, intelligence quotient (IQ) and other categories such as creativity, concentration, and cross-disciplinary batteries.⁷⁶ When looking for effects of PA upon cognitive variables by age, the effect sizes were greatest for middle school and young elementary age children (0.40). However, limitations of the included studies were the small number (n=9) and the lack of measurement rigor of the included studies.⁷⁶ A literature review by Tomporowski⁷⁷ reviewed studies with both experimental and observational designs. Conclusions made by the authors were that evidence was not strong enough in terms of quantity and quality to support a positive relationship between PA and intelligence. However, when reviewing more specific domains of cognition children with greater levels of fitness were found to perform cognitive tasks significantly quicker than children with lower levels of fitness. Finally, it was found PA had no relationship with levels of academic achievement, however it was found to have no negative impact.⁷⁷ The biggest limitation of this area is the large number of cognitive measures available which are inconsistent but also lack internal validity.^{76,77} Nonetheless, more research is warranted within young children.²⁷ This is because cognitive abilities such as to inhibit a prepotent response (executive functions; e.g. reasoning, task flexibility, problem solving and planning and executing a task) mainly develop during the early years⁷⁷; and also it is during the early years neural tissue rapidly grows⁷⁸, meaning high levels of PA during the early years could be beneficial.⁷⁸

<u>1.1.5.7. Ethnicity</u>

One research area of young children's PA which is lacking inquiry is the role of ethnicity in the PA of young children.

There are multiple important reasons to investigate ethnic differences in PA. To begin with, a large migration of people throughout the developed world has occurred throughout the 20th century and is continuing during the 21st century.⁷⁹ The movement of people has transformed and added different cultural practices within historic homogeneous communities.⁸⁰ Health behaviours of children have been suggested to be influenced by the cultural attitudes of the ethnic group they were born into^{79,80}, and modifiable correlates/determinants of health behaviours may not be the same for one ethnic group compared to another.^{79,80} This is possibly because of different everyday cultural practices between ethnicities including family dynamics, religious beliefs, parenting practices, primary language spoken.^{79,81} To add, levels of equality (health, socio-economic) in many communities differ significantly between ethnicities⁸² and thus could possibly impact everyday active behaviours such as transportation, type of sport played, safety to play in the neighbourhood, opportunities to be active.⁷⁹ Two previous systematic reviews of the correlates of PA during the early years up to 2010, reported an inconclusive association between non-white ethnicities and PA.^{83,84} However, the studies included in the reviews were heavily skewed investigating mainly American populations (Hispanic, Black and White American populations). None of the studies included in the reviews investigated the differences of young children's PA levels and correlates/determinants of PA between White British and South Asian populations, which make up a large ethnic mix of communities within the UK (Bradford, Birmingham, Leicester and London).^{85,86} In older children studies have concluded that White British (WB) children have significantly greater levels of PA compared to South Asian (SA) peers, habitually⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹ and during recess.⁹⁰

Ethnic differences in PA are a concern especially as it has been observed that nonwhite ethnicities have a higher predisposition for chronic diseases, which high levels of PA can help prevent (type II diabetes mellitus, cardio-vascular disease and obesity).⁹¹⁻¹⁰⁰ Markers of these chronic diseases have also been observed in South Asian children during childhood¹⁰¹; and specifically at the pre-natal¹⁰² and prepubertal periods of life.^{91,92} To add, studies have strongly suggested intervention and primary prevention during the early years could be vital in reducing health disparities between ethnicities later on in life.¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁵ No known studies have investigated the variability of PA levels and correlates/determinants of PA between South Asian and White British young children. This is a primary area of interest in this thesis.

In summary, there is a small body of evidence supporting the health benefits of PA during the early years. Present day evidence is of low to moderate quality, but PA was found to clearly have no negative effects upon the health of young children.²⁷ Greater knowledge of the health outcomes of all young children is required but also by different demographic groups of young children (age, ethnicity, sex, socio-economic status).²⁷ There is also an urgent need for future studies to be statistically powered to be able to conclude an effect and for more studies using valid and reliable measures of PA (ideally objective) and health outcomes (see part two).²⁷ Also a greater number of studies applying experimental and longitudinal designs are required in order to distinguish the direction of causality, and to clarify the duration and types of PA in relation to specific health outcomes.²⁷ Although

currently limited in young children, there is a great depth of evidence supporting a positive relationship between PA and health outcomes in older children and adults;^{16,34} and it is logical to think the health benefits of PA do not suddenly begin once a child has grown out of the early years, as this is biologically implausible.¹⁰⁶

<u>1.1.6. The levels of young children's physical activity</u>

Since 2011 the UK, Australia, United States of America (USA) and Canada have all produced specific PA guidelines for children during the early years.¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁸ The Canadian government have since updated guidelines in 2013.¹⁰⁷ The UK, Australia and Canada guidelines are identical when it comes to the volume and overall type of activity suggested, which is a minimum of 180 minutes (3 hours) of any intensity of PA (TPA) daily, which does not have to take place in one bout. The USA guidelines¹⁰⁹ are more multifaceted with specific guidelines for toddlers and preschoolers. Toddlers are recommended to engage in at least 30 minutes of structured PA and ≥60 minutes of unstructured PA per day.¹⁰⁹ For pre-schoolers a minimum of 120 minutes of PA with 60 minutes being structured and lead by an adult and 60 minutes being unstructured are recommended daily.¹⁰⁹ Toddlers are recommended to engage in at least 30 minutes of structured PA and ≥60 minutes of unstructured PA per day.¹⁰⁹ All four countries also have specific recommendations for infants. The Australian and UK guidelines recommend infants should be encouraged from birth to participate in PA, with floor based play within safe environments being suggested.^{106,108} The Canadian guidelines very similarly recommend infants to be physically active several times daily, particularly through interactive floor-based play.¹⁰⁷ The USA guidelines for infants are lengthier and recommend:¹⁰⁹

• Infants should interact with caregivers in daily physical activities that are dedicated to exploring movement and the environment.

- Caregivers should place infants in settings that encourage and stimulate movement experiences and active play for short periods of time several times a day.
- Infants' physical activity should promote skill development in movement.
- Infants should be placed in an environment that meets or exceeds recommended safety standards for performing large-muscle activities.
- Those in charge of infants' well-being are responsible for understanding the importance of physical activity and should promote movement skills by providing opportunities for structured and unstructured physical activity.

Government sponsored/backed health guidelines, such as physical activity guidelines, are normally developed through scientific systematic literature reviews and with the informed expertise of academics and professionals; therefore, guidelines hold integrity. This is important for public health as government health guidelines have the purpose to not only provide health guidance to members of the public and professionals (parents, care providers and early years practitioners), but can be used as bench marks for researchers measuring the prevalence of physical activity/inactivity of populations through epidemiological and surveillance studies. The current UK government physical activity guidelines for young children is of no exception.¹⁰⁶ This is due to the guidelines duplicating the Australian and Canadian guidelines which followed a full systematic evidence based process,¹⁰⁷ and the recommended 180 minutes of TPA daily is a volume of physical activity which has a found dose response to greater health outcomes for young children.²⁷ However, current guidelines do not include a recommended dose of MVPA for young children, or even mention MVPA. The reason for the omission of MVPA is because of the lack evidence (few studies published) supporting a dose response between young children's MVPA and health outcomes.^{106,107} The omission of MVPA could at first be seen as a concern and a missed opportunity to promote higher intensities of physical activity to the general public, especially when considering physical activity guidelines for youth (5-16 years of age) are universal in recommending the promotion of MVPA daily (at least 60 minutes)³³ and the benefits of MVPA will not logically just begin when children turn five years of age. Therefore, the promotion of MVPA during the early years could be argued to be included within the next government guidelines, especially when considering the growing evidence of MVPA related to health outcomes (outlined in section 1.5). However, a caveat to this thinking is whether MVPA is developmentally inappropriate for children under the age of 4 years of age, who may not be able to physiologically perform the activities which traditionally result in MVPA, such as running and jumping, with ease. Promoting MVPA through guidelines, based on current evidence, could possibly lead to possible injury (fall) which would be a serious concern. However, issues around young children's MVPA (measurement and correlates) are unclear and more research is required, which the original studies presented in thesis will contribute to.

In the last 20 years there has been an increase in the use of objective measures such as accelerometers as tools for epidemiological research,^{84,110} which is providing a clearer picture of the amount of time young children are spending in different intensities of PA. A systematic review by Hnatiuk¹¹¹ synthesised the estimates of PA intensities via objective measures (accelerometry, heart rate monitoring and direct observation) of all identified studies (n=40). Hnatiuk¹¹¹ concluded the proportion of time a day 'pre-schoolers' (defined in the study as 2-5years) spent within sedentary behaviour (SB) ranged from 34% to 94%, LPA 4% to 33% and MVPA 2% to 41%. Bornstein¹¹² conducted a meta-analysis which included studies reporting accelerometer derived daily PA levels of preschool children. The study identified 29 articles and reported preschool children spent 42.8 minutes of their daily time (5.5%) in MVPA. These findings are concerning for young children due to the low levels of engagement in MVPA and high levels of SB. However, the high variability between studies was explained by studies applying different cut-points when implementing objective measures. In terms of children meeting guidelines, Beets¹¹³ conducted a cross-sectional study (n=397) using accelerometers aiming to find the number of pre-schoolers meeting USA guidelines (120 minutes of TPA daily, 120 minutes MVPA daily and 60 minutes MVPA daily). Beets¹¹³ found between 13.5-99.5% undertook 120 minutes of TPA daily, 0-95.7% 120 minutes of MVPA daily and 0.5-99.5% of 60 minutes of MVPA daily. The high variability of the results were again attributed to the different accelerometer cut-points that studies had applied. The issues around accelerometer cut-points are explored in greater detail in section 1.2.2.6.5.

Studies measuring the levels of PA of young children in the UK, like results of previous studies mentioned,¹¹¹⁻¹¹³ could not clearly report the levels of PA of young children with confidence. Hesketh¹¹⁴ quantified using accelerometry the levels of PA and SB of 593 British four year olds. Pre-schoolers spent 283.5 minutes in SB and 568.5 minutes in TPA, which equated to a third of time in SB and the two-thirds in TPA, with all children meeting UK PA guidelines for young children (180 minutes TPA daily). However, pre-schoolers spent most their PA time in LPA which equalled 88% of awake time (14.2 hours) and very little time in MPA (4.2%) and VPA (3.8%). These results require further investigation especially due to the unknown health benefits of LPA, and as previously discussed health benefits of MVPA are becoming clearer within young children; and for 4 year olds it could be expected for them to perform a greater proportion of their waking time within MVPA compared to 3 year olds or 2 year olds. A limitation of the study was that the comparison to guidelines was not based upon seven consecutive days, participants were included in the analysis if they had one day of data, and guidelines specify activity every day within a week.

The most recent national survey of young children's PA in England was conducted within the Health Survey for England 2012.¹¹⁵ The survey included 418 young

children (aged 2-4 years) and used a parental proxy questionnaire to report whether children had met UK guidelines. The findings were that 9.5% of young children had met PA guidelines; 6.5% of parents reported their pre-schooler had engaged in some activity daily (60-179 minutes daily) and 84% of parents had reported young children took part in less than 60 minutes of TPA daily.¹¹⁵ These results are concerning due to the low number of young children meeting guidelines. However, the questionnaire created for young children in this age group has not been formally validated against a criterion measure. A study by Basterfield¹¹⁶ did compare the findings of the parent reported children's PA questionnaire created for the Health Surveys for England, with acclererometry in sample of 6-7 year olds. Findings of the study indicated that parents significantly overestimated PA.¹¹⁶ Therefore caution must be made when considering the young children's data from the survey. More information on parental-reported questionnaires are reported in section 1.2.3.2.

In summary it is unknown what exactly the current levels of PA of young children are. The reasons for such confusion are mainly due to the current lack of understanding of how best to measure young children's PA.

<u>1.1.7. Tracking of physical activity in the early years</u>

Although it is unclear what the exact PA levels of young children are, one aspect of great importance is whether PA levels during the early years are associated with levels of PA in later years, also termed tracking. Understanding the tracking of PA is important, because if PA during the early years tracks into later childhood, then the early years could be a vital time to promote and establish PA.

Tracking is the retaining and stability of the relative rank of behaviour within a group over time.^{117,118} There have been two different meta-analyses investigating the tracking of PA from or within early childhood. Telama¹¹⁹ identified 40 studies which

investigated tracking across the life span (childhood to adulthood). Results found tracking of PA was significant, but the association was of low to moderate strength during all phases of life for men, and the association was weaker for women.¹¹⁹ For youth Telama¹¹⁹ concluded the stability of tracking was lower during the early years than during adolescence, and tracking was weaker still when examined over transitional periods, such as childhood to adolescence, adolescence to adulthood. There were a number of issues with the literature at the time of publication (2009) which led to authors adding caution to findings. One issue was the lack of adjusting variables potentially causing error and confounding such as day-to-day variability of PA and seasonal differences.¹¹⁹ Another limitation was the poor reliability of PA measures and also only a small number of studies which used objective measures. A more recent study by Jones¹¹⁸ specifically reviewed studies which investigated tracking of PA from the early years (\leq 5.9 years) to middle childhood (6-12 years); seven studies were identified and the median tracking coefficient was deemed moderate (0.36). All of the studies were of high quality and used objective measures. The low-moderate tracking observed^{118,119} could imply there is either currently not a clear relationship between the PA levels during the early years with PA of later childhood years; or the relationship is not stable and could possibly be more amenable to intervention. The lack of clarity could also possibly be due to either the absence of tracking or the current measurement of PA is not reliable enough nor refined enough to detect the full range of tracking. The issue of tracking is a complex area of research due to the complexity of PA.^{120,121} For example the intensity of PA (e.g. MVPA) of young children is different compared to the intensity of older children, so MVPA is very different for preschoolers compared to adolescents. Therefore, it is logical to wonder why PA would be strongly related between the different stages of life; when human beings are developmentally different between stages of life, and thus PA is very different between stages of life.^{120,121}

In summary, although evidence is not of great quantity and issues exist around measurement of PA; the moderate levels of tracking of activity from the early years into later childhood does add weight to the importance of promoting and establishing PA during the early years. Not only will young children get short term health benefits of PA (section 1.5) but as PA tracks, young children are more likely to gain longer term benefits if they spend a substantially amount of their waking time in PA.

1.1.8. Correlates and determinants - an ecological perspective

Despite the measurement limitations of previous research outlined in previous sections, the early years are a critical period to establish health behaviours such as PA. To add strength to this rationale is previous research suggests developmental plasticity, metabolic programming and malleability of behavioural modelling all begin during the early years, thus the early years are a vital time for PA to be established.^{122,123} To add, previous studies have highlighted the importance of beginning to inaugurate modifiable factors of chronic diseases (obesity and insulin resistance); of which PA is one, during the early years.^{78,124,125} Therefore it is vital to understand the factors that influence PA during the early years, in order to inform future interventions.

Factors which influence a health behaviour such as PA can be categorised into two broad categories, correlates and determinants. Correlates are factors which have an association with an outcome such as PA.^{126,127} Correlates do not determine causality but show an association/relationship, and are identified through cross-sectional research. Determinants are associated factors found between an independent variable and outcome variable (e.g. PA) in longitudinal studies⁶⁰ where temporal associations over time may be observed. Studying correlates and determinants of PA is important in order to identify possible at risk demographic groups and/or mediators to be targeted in future intervention studies.⁶⁰ The purpose of correlates/determinants research is to describe and understand the influence of correlates/determinants upon a chosen outcome across the life span, thus helping to inform future interventions.¹²⁶ As PA is a behaviour with huge variability, particularly individual-variability, it is expected that numerous individual correlates/determinants are influential. Therefore grouping correlates/determinants based upon theories and models are common place.¹²⁷

Physical activity correlates/determinants research has historically taken an ecological perspective (also commonly referred to as a socio-ecological perspective) and/or used an ecological framework to inform what variables to measure within research. This work is based upon work by McLeroy¹²⁸. McLeroy¹²⁸ constructed an ecological model (see Figure 1.3) for health promotion programs based upon the ecological theory/perspective first presented by Brofenbrenner¹²⁹. An ecological perspective theorizes behaviours as ongoing multi-directional processes between the individual, the socio-environment and physical environment. A hypothetical example is a young child's PA may be influenced by their sex, ethnicity, body composition, motor-skill competency (inter-personal factors), whether their parents provide opportunities to be active (intra-personal factors); have siblings to play with (intra-personal), have preschool teachers with positive attitudes (institutional), live in a neighbourhood with safe playgrounds (community), and live in a society with positive PA policies (e.g. free-swimming, low crime). All of the levels of the ecological model could possibly interact with each other or partially. For example, a new government policy providing free-child preschool care with a PA priority (goals and targets to reach), could potentially filter to the parents having more positive attitudes towards PA and thus independently aiming to promote PA, or leading to parents seeking opportunities for their child to be active. If this occurred along with other parents this could create a demand for a new playground from the local authority, and thus possibly impacting the PA of the young child. This is a hypothetical example, but presents the idea that to change a complex behaviour such as PA, aiming to understand or impact only one factor is likely to be unsuccessful. An understanding of the different factors that exist and their interaction with each other is required for greater efficacy of changing health behaviours.^{126,128,129}



Figure 1.3: An ecological model of physical activity.

Previous systematic reviews have applied the ecological model to describe and report correlates and determinants of PA.^{83,130-134} There have been two previous correlates systematic reviews^{83,84} which investigated the correlates of PA specifically

in children during the early years. The ecological model applied by both studies was a model first applied by Sallis¹³² of which still maintained the basic premise of the model presented in Figure 1.3, but opted not to include policy, and refined the other categories into sub-categories. The levels in the model were: 1) demographic and biological (intra-personal); 2) psychological, cognitive, and emotional (intrapersonal); 3) behavioural attributes and skills (intra-personal); 4) social and cultural (inter-personal and institutional), and 5) physical environment (institutional and community). In 2007 the review by Hinkley and colleagues⁸⁴ identified 39 correlates from 24 studies investigating an association between any quantitative measured variable(s) and PA. There were few keys findings (strong associations) due to the low number of studies investigating the same correlates. The factors with clear associations were sex (boys being more active than girls), age which had a strong no-association, and parents PA levels and time spent playing outdoors, which had both strong positive associations. De Craemer and colleagues⁸³ conducted a systematic review and identified 43 studies investigating the correlates of energybalance behaviours of young children, of which TPA and MVPA were two such behaviours. The review applied the same criteria as that of Hinkley and colleagues⁸⁴, and only declared a factor to have a strong association or no association if four or more studies found factors to have the same direction of association. For TPA, there were no strong associations identified in either a negative or positive direction, meaning no clear correlates were recognised. No significant associations were found between sexes, age, SES, parental encouragement and availability of play equipment. For MVPA, a difference between the sexes was found, which like Hinkley et al⁸⁴ found boys to be significantly more active than girls. No strong associations were found for age and SES. Differences between the two reviews could be explained due to the different dates of which the reviews included studies. De Craemer et al⁸³ included studies between the years of 1990 to 2010 and Hinkley et al⁸⁴ included studies between 1980 to 2007. The two reviews also used slightly different inclusion criteria with Hinkley et al⁸⁴ including clinical factors such as

wheezing, and De Craemer et al⁸³ not doing so. Neither of the reviews applied a quality assessment of the included studies of which could inform the strength of association of factors instead of solely relying on the 'four or more' criteria; also neither of the reviews reported the determinants of PA, which are supported by stronger study design than correlates. Because of differences between reviews and an expected increase of published literature since 2010²⁷, a new review with a broader search and inclusion criteria, reporting both correlates and determinants and applying a quality assessment, was conducted as part of this thesis and is presented in chapter 2, and has been peer-reviewed and published.⁷²

<u>1.2. PART TWO - measuring physical activity during the</u> <u>early years</u>

The complexity of PA means there is currently no gold standard measure which can capture every aspect of PA (domains and dimensions).^{1,2,4,135,136} Measurements of PA can be divided into two distinct groups, objective methods and subjective methods. Objective measurements record a physiological or biomechanical attribute to estimate PA or activity energy expenditure (AEE).^{1,2,127} Examples of objective measurements are calorimetry, doubly labelled water, accelerometry, heart rate monitors, pedometers, direct observation and a combination of monitors. Subjective measurements are instruments which require the recalling of PA by the participant or a proxy such as a parent or teacher for a young child. Because of this nature subjective measures are more susceptible to measurement bias and error in comparison to objective measures.^{1,2,127} Examples of subjective measures are questionnaires and activity diaries.

Along with reliability and validity, researchers also need to take into consideration the financial cost, feasibility and the burden placed upon researchers and participants when choosing a method to measure PA.^{1,2,135-140} There is no perfect choice for researchers, and any choice is likely to involve some compromise between feasibility and accuracy (validity).¹³⁵ For example objective methods are more accurate but are also far more expensive and can have greater burden upon researchers and participants.

<u>1.2.2 Objective Measures</u>

<u>1.2.2.1 Calorimetry</u>

Calorimetry is a methodology which measures energy expenditure. There are two types: direct and indirect calorimetry. Direct calorimetry measures total energy expenditure through the direct measurement of heat produced by the body.¹⁴¹ Indirect calorimetry, measures energy expenditure through calculating the amount of oxygen consumed and/or the amount of CO2 produced by the body.¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁴ Because of the high levels of reliability and validity, calorimetry has been considered as one of the gold standard criterion measures for the assessment of PA,^{135,145,146} and it has been widely used to validate other PA measurement methods in young children.^{68,127} However, due to the high burden placed upon the participants (enclosed in a laboratory chamber, wearing a face mask, carrying heavy equipment) the high financial cost, and the impracticality of wearing in everyday life; calorimetry is not a feasible or suitable measure of habitual energy expenditure in young children.^{147,148}

<u>1.2.2.2 Doubly labelled water</u>

Doubly labelled water (DLW), a calorimetric method, requires participants to provide daily urine or saliva samples for a period of time between 7-14 days.^{149,150} The method estimates energy expenditure through water labelled with known amounts of isotopes, which is used to calculate estimations of carbon dioxide production ((2H and 18O)).^{1,2,149-151} DLW is ingested of which the deuterium is then eliminated as water, and the 18O as both water and carbon dioxide.¹ The difference found between the elimination rates is the resulting estimation of carbon dioxide production. The difference is then imputed within an equation deriving from

calorimetry to estimate energy expenditure (EE).^{127,141} To calculate activity EE, predicted basal metabolic rate or resting energy expenditure is subtracted from total EE. Although high levels of accuracy and considered a gold standard of activity energy expenditure, doubly labelled water is limited by the small number of participants being able to be measured within studies. Reasons for this are the high cost, high levels of training and expertise required and finally the participant burden of collecting urine and saliva samples.^{146, 149, 150} A limiting factor in young children, is many young children may still wear nappies/diaper and may not yet have voluntary control of urination, therefore making the collection of urine samples difficult.¹⁴⁸ To add DLW provides a measure of activity EE, not intensities of PA, patterns or domains.^{145,147,148} Researchers need to consider all these issues before the decision of implementing the DLW method.

<u>1.2.2.3 Heart rate monitors</u>

Heart rate monitors are devices which have traditionally consisted of a receiver and transmitter. A wrist worn watch displaying heart rate is most commonly used as the receiver and the transmitter as a fitted chest strap. The chest strap transmitter includes two electrodes and the receiver records heart rate at specified time intervals (e.g. 30 seconds, 60 seconds).^{1,2,147} Heart monitoring has been found to be both a reliable and valid indirect objective measure of PA.¹⁵² Due to the constant recording of data this method can be used to measure the patterns, intensities, frequency of PA¹⁴⁵ and has commonly been used to measure the PA of young children.^{111,146,153,154}

Heart rate monitoring of PA is based upon the assumption that the relationship between heart rate and PA is linear, whereby an increase of PA will result in an increase in heart rate.^{1,2,145} However, limitations of this assumption are this relationship is not robust at lower intensities (LPA) leading to a risk of error.^{1,2,145,146} Also heart rate is affected by other factors independent of PA, such as body size¹³⁵, cardiorespiratory fitness¹⁵² environmental factors (e.g. altitude and temperature)¹⁴⁵ and psychological stimuli.¹²⁷ Individual participant calibration techniques have been considered to overcome the short comes of heart rate monitoring, but this can be very labour intensive.¹⁵⁵ Other limitations of heart rate monitoring are monitors can be bulky in size and be uncomfortable for participants,^{1,2} and the relationship between heart rate with energy expenditure is poor.^{1,2} Strengths of heart monitoring are that it is an objective measure of PA which is able to collect data for long periods of time (\geq 1 week).^{145,152,156} It has been found feasible, has low participant and researcher burden and is relatively inexpensive, meaning the deployment within larger studies makes this a potential method to measure population habitual PA.^{145,152,156}

1.2.2.4 Pedometers

Pedometers are motion sensors consisting of spring-lever mechanisms or piezoelectric, which measures the amount of steps an individual performs over a number of different days (depending on battery life).^{136,145,157} Spring-lever mechanisms comprise a spring suspended horizontal lever arm which moves up and down in response to vertical accelerations.¹⁵⁸ The process opens and closes an electrical circuit which records a step when the levers arm makes an electrical contact.¹⁵⁸ The majority of pedometer models are worn at the hip level with the aid of an elastic waist belt or a plastic clip to attach to the waist band of clothes; and contain a screen which digitally displays the number of steps recorded.¹⁵⁷ Some models of pedometers are used to measure distance travelled and/or energy expenditure through participants inputting additional information such as length of leg stride and body mass index.¹⁵⁷ However, it has been strongly suggested that these additional features are limited in their validity and only the outcome of steps should be measured by pedometers.¹⁵⁹

The strengths of pedometers are they are small, easy to use for the participant, unobtrusive and the outcome unit of a step is easy for researchers to process and the general public to understand.² Pedometers are also cheap to purchase, maintain and replace, therefore make a very suitable measure for large population studies, of which TPA is the outcome of interest.^{135,152,156} For adults the goal of 10,000 steps every day is widely cited and has been found to correspond to positive promotion of health outcomes for adults.^{160,161} However, for children 10,000 steps is not enough for the promotion of health and meeting PA guidelines of 60 minutes of MVPA every day.¹⁶² Tudor-Locke and colleagues¹⁶² reviewed the existing literature (60 studies) and concluded 13,000 to 15,000 steps/day for boys and 11,000 to 12,000 steps/day for girls equated to meeting children's physical activity guidelines. For young children, where the physical activity recommendations are for overall activity, it has recently been found for pre-schoolers (mean age=5.0±0.8years) that just over 9,000 steps (9,099- pedometer worn on waist) equated to reaching the recommended 180 minutes of overall activity, with sensitivity being 90% and specificity 66%.¹⁶³ The findings of Vale and colleagues¹⁶³ were lower than values reported by Cardon and De Bourdeaudhuij (2007)¹⁶⁴ (9980 steps per day), but higher than findings by Gabel and colleagues¹⁶⁵ (8968 steps per day) and Pagels and colleagues¹⁶⁶ (7313 steps per day). Differences between studies are speculated to be because of the different instruments and methodology used (different pedometer models and wear time protocols) along with cultural and environmental differences in the daily lifestyle of preschool-aged children from different countries.¹⁶³ Nevertheless what is clear across studies is that 10,000 steps is too high a recommendation for pre-schoolers. These findings support pedometers as a promising cheap objective measure of young children's physical activity, which could be used for large surveillance studies; and also could be used by families and preschools in the future, to easily objectively measure physical activity and understand the translatable recommendation of a number of steps every day.¹⁶³

Pedometers as with all measure do have limitations. Pedometers are unable to provide a measure of intensity of PA and are insensitive to upper body activities, cycling and water based activities^{152,156}, which becomes an issue of measuring young children's physical activity, especially toddlers, who are more likely to take part in activities which entail the upper body such as climbing, rolling, rough and tumble play all of which the pedometer is unable to measure.^{135,138,145,157,167} Also in some age groups reactivity has been found to exist when wearing a pedometer, therefore, normal behaviours are hard to capture.² Despite these limitations pedometers are considered a valid and reliable measurement tool of overall PA (via number of steps performed) in most age groups^{152,155,156,159} including young children (preschool age).¹⁶³⁻¹⁶⁶

<u>1.2.2.5 Direct observation tools</u>

[`]Direct observation tools' is a term applied to different instruments which generally apply a time sampling technique, by which a trained researcher(s) will observe children and document the PA that is being performed within controlled settings.^{145,168} Within controlled settings direct observation has been reported as the gold standard of measuring PA.^{169,170} Examples of controlled settings specifically within the early years of which direct observation tools have been used are preschools/nurseries, the home, playgrounds or for short periods of time for validation studies (e.g. validation and calibration of accelerometry cut-points).¹⁷¹ The variables direct observation tools can measure are the intensity and type of PA along with contextual information of the environment (e.g. equipment being used), social interaction (e.g. playing with mother) or locations (e.g. outdoors).¹⁴⁶ Validation studies of direct observation tools have often compared direction observation with calorimetry⁶⁸ and accelerometers^{131,172,173} and results of studies are promising.

Limitations of direct observation tools are the possible subjectivity of researchers/observers deciding upon the intensity of PA and also the burden upon researchers to follow individual participants for large amounts of time.¹⁴⁶ Another limitation is participants reacting and altering behaviours due to being observed.^{145,146,174} Direct observation has much utility for the assessment of PA in controlled environments, such as during school break times, and for short term validation studies. However, it is impractical for researchers to observe participants for long periods of the day; therefore direct observation is not a suitable method for measuring habitual PA.

<u>1.2.2.6 Accelerometry</u>

Accelerometry is a method which has been used in a number of studies within this thesis, therefore the amount of detail explaining the different components of accelerometry is of greater detail compared to other objective measures.

Accelerometers are motion devices which have in the last 20 years have been one of the most widely used objective methods of PA (See Figure 1.4).^{2,175}



Figure 1.4: The number of articles within the Pub Med database using accelerometers from the years 1995 to 2015.

* Data generated from Pub Med database

Accelerometers are monitors which quantify body movement of human beings which is associated with PA. The specific movement measured is acceleration, which is defined as a change of velocity overtime.¹⁷⁶ This means accelerometers quantify the frequency, intensity and duration of body movement. Accelerometers have a long history which began in the 1960's within research examining hyperactivity, cognition and personality within pre-schoolers.¹⁷⁷ A long evolution occurring alongside technological advances from 1960's until the turn of the 21st century, led to accelerometers becoming one of the most favourable measures within PA epidemiology. The majority of modern day models of accelerometers measure the amplitude and frequency of acceleration via piezo-electric sensors.¹⁷⁸⁻ ¹⁸⁰ Piezo-electric sensors detect acceleration in the three planes of movement (vertical, anteroposterior, and medio-lateral).^{176,181,182} A piezoelectric sensor consists of a piezoelectric element and a seismic mass which are enclosed within a protective casing, that can then be worn via a strap around the waist, ankle, wrist, lower back or thigh.¹⁸¹ When acceleration occurs upon the worn monitor, the seismic mass deforms the piezoelectric element. These deformations cause a displaced charge to build up upon one side of the sensor. This charge generates a voltage signal which is proportional to the applied acceleration, and thus creates a variable of acceleration.^{138,176,181} This variable of acceleration occurs in one plane of movement. To measure acceleration in different planes of movement, other sensors are fitted in the required direction and the process is the same as before.¹⁸¹ The acceleration data is then sampled through applying a chosen sampling frequency (i.e. average number of samples obtained in one second) which is high enough to capture all movement.¹⁸¹ The majority of modern accelerometers have the choice 1-to-100 Hertz sampling frequencies.^{181,182} Once data has been sampled a filtration of the sensor output occurs in order to reduce the effects of piezoelectric elements, temperaturerelated sensor drifts and external vibrations have upon acceleration signals.^{181,182} This process results in the voltage becoming data called "raw counts."^{138,181} Raw

counts then go through a software processor in which different analytical approaches can be applied to convert the bidirectional (i.e. negative and positive) acceleration signals into a positive-only value of counts, which can be summarised for specified time-sampling units, named epochs.^{138,176,181,182} This summarisation leads to creation of data titled counts per epoch, which is also referred to as activity counts. Activity counts are then calibrated against a chosen criterion measure (commonly direct observation in young children) to convert the dimensionless activity counts data into a meaningful data unit about either EE, sedentary behaviour or intensities of PA (LPA, MPA, VPA).^{4,138} Although PA is the behaviour of interest of this thesis, due to accelerometry measuring the whole spectrum of awake energy expenditure behaviours (SB, LPA, MPA and VPA); SB is naturally discussed throughout rest of this accelerometer section.

The process of using activity-counts and then deriving meaningful data through calibration has been the standard approach of processing accelerometer data ever since the first modern accelerometers became available. However, recent new methodological techniques being developed allow the direct analysis of raw counts.^{183,184} The benefit of such techniques would mean accelerometer data from different samples could be more comparable; as currently activity-counts are the universal unit of accelerometers, but are confounded by the chosen epoch lengths, and current available cut points.^{112,185} But this area of research is in its infancy, therefore the use of time-sampling epochs and activity counts will continue within the chapters of this thesis which have used accelerometry (Chapters 4 and 5).

When using accelerometers to measure PA, researchers also to need make and justify important decisions.^{4,176,182,185}

The decisions are:

• What type of accelerometer will be used.

- How many monitors should be used.
- Where on the body should the monitor(s) be worn (i.e. placement).
- What epoch length is the best to use.
- What are the most accurate PA intensity cut-points to use.
- How long should the accelerometer we worn for (duration of monitoring).
- How many hours of wear time is enough to be classed as a day.
- How best to classify non-wear time.

<u>1.2.2.6.1. Types of accelerometers</u>

There are a number of different types of accelerometers. The different types are classified by the direction of movement in which the accelerometers measure. Uniaxial accelerometers measure in one direction, the vertical plane. An example of widely used uniaxial accelerometers are the ActiGraph GT1M and 7164 models. Biaxial accelerometers measure movement in two directions, mainly in the transverse and longitudinal directions. An example of a biaxial accelerometer is the Actiwatch AW16. Triaxial accelerometers measure movement in three planes, examples of models include the ActiGraph GT3X, GT3X+, wGT3X-BT and the Stayhealthy (previously Tritrac) RT3. Omni-directional accelerometers are designed to measure in all planes of movement, however have been noted to be most sensitive within the vertical direction.² An examples of an omni-directional accelerometers are the Actical monitors. All examples have been widely used within children.¹⁸⁶

The creation of triaxial and omni-directional accelerometers has hypothetically created an opportunity to increase measurement accuracy of young children's PA. This is due to monitors theoretically being able to measure the wide range of movements that young children engage in while being active (e.g. swinging, climbing, rolling, jumping).^{185,187} However, a body of research exploring the measurement difference between monitors has yet to find any advantage of using a triaxial accelerometer over a uniaxial accelerometer.^{185,186,188} However, the little

difference between the two types of monitors could be explained by the placement of accelerometers.¹⁸⁵ If the accelerometers are placed around the waist then the dominance of movement within the vertical plane means it is obvious why there would be little difference between the two monitors, therefore currently the best choice of accelerometer to measure young children's habitual PA is a uniaxial monitor. Not only is this because of little differences with triaxial monitors, it is also due to young children's PA cut-points being calibrated using uniaxial accelerometers.¹⁸²

1.2.2.6.2. Placement

The common accelerometer placement area is around the waist (anterior to the iliac crest).¹²⁷ The reasons for this are due to the majority of accelerometers being uniaxial, and thus are limited to a placement which will measure activity within the vertical plane. The waist/hip is logical due to being as near to the bodies' centre of mass and thus can capture the majority of habitual PA which is dominated by movements such as walking, running, skipping etc which all take place within the vertical plane.¹⁸⁹ The decision of placement site should be based upon the weighing up of advantages of accuracy and feasibility. It has been suggested for young children a hip mounted accelerometer is best practice to measure habitual PA,¹⁹⁰ but there is a need to look into possible alternative placement areas especially for infants while they are crawling.¹⁸⁵

1.2.2.6.3. Number of monitors

Measuring PA in young children using one accelerometer placed upon the hip although commonly used, still has the issues around young children's sporadic multiple plane movement, which one monitor may not measure. One way to hypothetically improve accuracy would to be ask participants to wear a number of different monitors at one time.¹⁹¹ In young children there is very limited amounts of research exploring the accuracy of multiple-devices.^{188,191} Recent studies within a multi-ethnic population has shown only 33.7%¹⁸⁴ of children had complied with the eight day protocol wearing one device (hip) and between 69-75% wore the monitors long enough (see section 1.2.2.6.6) to be included in an analysis of habitual PA.^{184,192} This means some young children struggle with compliance with one device. Therefore, it must be noted wearing multiple devices will increase participant burden, and researchers need to consider if the increase of burden and possible decrease in compliance is worth the increase of possible PA accuracy. More research is required to assess the possible increase of accuracy with wearing multiple devices in young children.

<u>1.2.2.6.4. Epoch length</u>

Epoch length as previously mentioned is the length of time raw acceleration data is averaged and summarised. Modern accelerometers are able to collect raw data so that researchers can decide upon epoch length post data collection. ^{136,175} Although techniques are being developed to analyse raw-data values, these methods are not established leading to researchers still deciding upon what epoch length to choose. Epoch lengths are dependent upon the individual model of accelerometer and can last one second to several minutes.^{136,186,193} In respect to children, studies have reported pre-pubertal childrens PA bouts lasting between three to 22 seconds, with 96% of these bouts lasting less than 10 seconds.^{4,194} This result along with young children's sporadic and intermittent PA behaviour, shorter epoch lengths of 15 seconds or less are recommended.^{1,185,186} Longer epochs increase the risk of masking short bouts of MVPA as LPA, simply because the short bout is within mean average calculation. An example would be a 5 second bout of MVPA will be a higher value when comparing it between a 15 second to a 60 second epoch. One study previously examined the effects of epoch length (5 seconds v 10 seconds v 15 seconds) in comparison to direct observation estimating 2-3 year olds habitual SB, LPA and MVPA. The study found both 10 seconds and 15 second epoch lengths significantly overestimated LPA and underestimated SB and MVPA, in comparison to 5 second

epochs.¹⁸² Therefore, 5 seconds are the recommended epoch length when using accelerometers to measure habitual PA in young children.

<u>1.2.2.6.5. Intensity classification: cut-points</u>

In order to classify the activity counts (counts per minutes) into meaningful values, such as minutes of time within PA intensities, threshold values also known as cutpoints must be applied. Cut-points are developed and calibrated through statistically comparing the data outputs of both accelerometers and a criterion measure (e.g. direct observation or indirect calorimetry), in a controlled environment such as the laboratory or childcare setting.127,136,170,195 Calibrated cutpoints are then compared to a separate sample of the chosen age group in order to assess validity. The choice of cut-points for study samples is a very important decision for researchers to consider. This is because the choice of cut-point determines the level of PA, and choosing an inappropriate cut-point could lead to inaccurate statements of levels of PA, meeting guidelines, and possibly effecting the association of PA between health outcomes factors associated or (correlates/determinants).^{112,113,196}

For young children there are currently several sets of different cut-points calibrated and validated (or widely used) (Table 1.1).152,155,156,159,169,170,188,197,198 In Table 1.1 each of the cut-points available are presented along with the details of each of the calibration and validation studies. One of the few consistent aspects of the studies is that all cut-points were calibrated and validated while accelerometers were being worn around the hip. All studies but one applied 15 second epochs. Costa¹⁸⁸ cutpoints were calibrated using 5 seconds epoch. Two studies calibrated cut-points using triaxial (vector magnitude) accelerometers^{152,188}, the rest used uniaxial. All the cut-points in Table 1 have been rounded up to the equivalent of 60 sec epochs in order to compare cut-points across one minute, and also present the drastic differences between Sedentary behaviour them. (time) ranges from

≤60counts(Costa)¹⁸⁸ to ≤1488counts(van Cauwenberghe).¹⁹⁹ Moderate to vigorous PA cut-points, ranges from ≥1673counts(Trost)¹⁷⁰ to ≥6112counts(Costa-Vector Magnitude(triaxial)).¹⁸⁸ A study by Janssen¹⁵⁶ examined existing cut-points and aimed to establish consistency in the area by investigating which are the best suited to measure PA and SB in young children.¹⁵⁶ The study compared published cutpoints at the time (all cut-points in Table 1 apart from Costa's, Butte's and Trost) with both whole room calorimetry and direct observation(CARS) in a sample of young children (4-6years). Results found that no cut-points were significantly accurate in the estimation of all waking behaviours (SB, LPA and MVPA) in young children. Instead the Evenson cutpoints¹⁵⁵ were the best for measuring SB and LPA (≤25 counts per 15 seconds, 26-56 counts per 15 seconds) and Pate cut-points were the most accurate for estimating MVPA (≥420 counts per 15 seconds). Therefore, Janssen¹⁵⁶ recommend combing both Evenson and Pate cut-points at 15 second epoch to accurately measure habitual PA and SB in children aged 4-6 years. The Trost cut-points, which were not included in the study by Janssen¹⁵⁶, calibrated and validated cut-points in a sample of 16-35 month old children (mean age: calibration=2.1years validation=2.3years).¹⁷⁰ Results indicated that all of the SB cutpoints significantly overestimated SB, but the Evenson value of ≤25 counts per 15 seconds was the cut-point nearest to being non-significant. For MVPA the Trost cutpoint of \geq 419 counts per 15 seconds was very accurate in estimating toddlers MVPA. Being nearly the same as the Pate MVPA cut-point (\geq 420 counts per 15 seconds) Trost¹⁷⁰ recommended the cut-points of SB= ≤25 counts15sec; MVPA=≥420 counts15secs for toddlers. However, it must be noted that the classification accuracy between different cut-points has been found to be small^{170,182,199}; but because of the many different choices of cut-points available, studies could possibly use two different cut-points to classify two different outcomes (e.g. MVPA and ST) leading to a possible unclear calculation of wear-time (ST + LPA + MVPA). Where this occurs in the studies of this thesis, it has been clearly noted.

				Calibration		Cut mainta	
Study	Sample	Model	Criterion	Epoch	Cut-points		
Butte - Axis1 ¹⁵²	n = 50	GT3X+	Room Calorimetry/DLW	15sec			Counts 60sec ⁻¹
2014	Country = USA				Sedentary Time		≤ 239
	Age = 4.5 years (mean)				Light PA (TotalPA)		> 239
	Boys n = 25; Girls n = 25				MVPA		≥ 4450
Butte - Vector Magnitude ¹⁵²	n = 50	GT3X+	Room Calorimetry/DLW	15sec			Counts 60sec ⁻¹
2014	Country = USA				Sedentary Time		≤ 819
	Age = 4.5 years (mean)				Light PA (TotalPA)		> 819
	Boys n = 25; Girls n = 25				MVPA		≥ 3908
			Direct Observation			Counts Essa 1	Counts (Osoci
Costa-Axis1 188	n = 26	GT3X+	(CARS) ^{153,158}	5sec		Counts 5sec-	Courts obsec
2013	Country = England				Sedentary Time	≤5	≤ 60
	Age = 2-4years (2.8years)				Light PA (TotalPA)	> 5	> 60
	Boys n = 13; Girls n = 13				MVPA	≥165	≥ 1980
			Direct Observation			Counts Essa 1	Counts (Osogi
Costa-Vector Magnitude 188	n = 26	GT3X+	(CARS) ^{153,158}	5sec		Counts 5sec-	Couries obsec
2013	Country = England				Sedentary Time	≤ 96.12	≤ 1153
	Age = 2-4years (2.8 years)				Light PA (TotalPA)	> 96.12	> 1153
	Boys n = 13; Girls n = 13				MVPA	≥ 361.94	≥ 4344
Evenson 155	n = 33	GT1M	Portable metabolic system	15sec		Counts 15sec ⁻¹	Counts 60sec-1

Table 1.1: Description of studies investigating and calibrating Actigraph accelerometer cut-points, for early years children's sedentary and physical activity levels.

2008	Country = USA				Sedentary Time	≤ 25	≤ 100	
	Age = 5-8 years (7.3 years)				Light PA (TotalPA)	> 25	> 100	
	Boys n = 12; Girls n = 21				MVPA	≥ 57	≥ 2296	
Janssen 156 - Recommended	n = 40	GT3X	Room Calorimetry &	15sec		Counts 15sec ⁻¹	Counts 60sec ⁻¹	
2013	Country = Australia		Direct Observation		Sedentary Time	≤ 25	≤ 100	
	Age = 4-6years (5.3 years)		(CARS) ^{153,158}		Light PA (TotalPA)	> 25	> 100	
	Boys n = 22; Girls n = 18				MVPA	≥ 420	≥ 1689	
Pate 197	n = 29	CSA	Portable metabolic system	15sec		Counts 15sec ⁻¹	Counts 60sec ⁻¹	
2006	Country = USA				Sedentary Time	≤ 37	≤ 148	
	Age = 3-5years (4.4years)				Light PA (TotalPA)	> 37	> 148	
	Boys n = 16; Girls n = 13				MVPA	≥ 420	≥ 1689	
			Energy Expenditure Equation:VO2 = 10.0714+0.02366 6counts.15-21					
Puyau ¹⁵⁹	n = 26	CSA	Whole room calorimetry	15sec		Counts 15sec ⁻¹	Counts 60sec ⁻¹	
Puyau ¹⁵⁹ 2002	n = 26 Country = USA	CSA	Whole room calorimetry	15sec	Sedentary Time	Counts 15sec ⁻¹ ≤ 199	Counts 60sec ⁻¹ ≤ 799	
Puyau ¹⁵⁹ 2002	n = 26 Country = USA Age = 6-16 (10.7 years)	CSA	Whole room calorimetry	15sec	Sedentary Time Light PA (TotalPA)	Counts 15sec ⁻¹ ≤ 199 > 199	Counts 60sec ⁻¹ ≤ 799 > 799	
Puyau ¹⁵⁹ 2002	n = 26 Country = USA Age = 6-16 (10.7 years) Boys n = 12; Girls n = 14	CSA	Whole room calorimetry	15sec	Sedentary Time Light PA (TotalPA) MVPA	Counts 15sec ⁻¹ ≤ 199 > 199 ≥ 799	Counts 60sec ⁻¹ ≤ 799 > 799 ≥ 3199	
Puyau ¹⁵⁹ 2002	n = 26 Country = USA Age = 6-16 (10.7 years) Boys n = 12; Girls n = 14	CSA	Whole room calorimetry Energy Expenditure Equation	15sec n:: AEE = 0.0183+0	Sedentary Time Light PA (TotalPA) MVPA 0.000010 6counts.60-21	Counts 15sec ⁻¹ ≤ 199 > 199 ≥ 799	Counts 60sec ⁻¹ ≤ 799 > 799 ≥ 3199	
Puyau ¹⁵⁹ 2002	n = 26 Country = USA Age = 6-16 (10.7 years) Boys n = 12; Girls n = 14	CSA	Energy Expenditure Equation Direct Observation (CPAF)	15sec m:: AEE = 0.0183+0	Sedentary Time Light PA (TotalPA) MVPA 0.000010 6counts.60-21	Counts 15sec ⁻¹ ≤ 199 > 199 ≥ 799	Counts 60sec ⁻¹ ≤ 799 > 799 ≥ 3199	
Puyau ¹⁵⁹ 2002 Reilly ¹⁹⁸	n = 26 Country = USA Age = 6-16 (10.7 years) Boys n = 12; Girls n = 14 n = 30	CSA WAM-	Whole room calorimetry Energy Expenditure Equation Direct Observation (CPAF) 157	15sec m:: AEE = 0.0183+(15sec	Sedentary Time Light PA (TotalPA) MVPA 0.000010 6counts.60-21	Counts 15sec ⁻¹ ≤ 199 > 199 ≥ 799 Counts 15sec ⁻¹	Counts 60sec ⁻¹ ≤ 799 > 799 ≥ 3199 Counts 60sec ⁻¹	
Puyau ¹⁵⁹ 2002 Reilly ¹⁹⁸ 2003	n = 26 Country = USA Age = 6-16 (10.7 years) Boys n = 12; Girls n = 14 n = 30 Country = Scotland	CSA WAM- 7164	Whole room calorimetry Energy Expenditure Equation Direct Observation (CPAF)	15sec on:: AEE = 0.0183+(15sec	Sedentary Time Light PA (TotalPA) MVPA 0.000010 6counts.60-21 Sedentary Time	Counts 15sec ⁻¹ ≤ 199 > 199 ≥ 799 Counts 15sec ⁻¹ ≤ 274	Counts 60sec ⁻¹ ≤ 799 ≥ 799 ≥ 3199 Counts 60sec ⁻¹ ≤ 1099	
Puyau ¹⁵⁹ 2002 Reilly ¹⁹⁸ 2003	n = 26 Country = USA Age = 6-16 (10.7 years) Boys n = 12; Girls n = 14 n = 30 Country = Scotland Age = 3-4 years (3.7 years)	CSA WAM- 7164	Whole room calorimetry Energy Expenditure Equation Direct Observation (CPAF)	15sec m:: AEE = 0.0183+(15sec	Sedentary Time Light PA (TotalPA) MVPA 0.000010 6counts.60-21 Sedentary Time Light PA (TotalPA)	Counts 15sec ⁻¹ ≤ 199 > 199 ≥ 799 Counts 15sec ⁻¹ ≤ 274 > 274	Counts 60sec ⁻¹ ≤ 799 ≥ 3199 Counts 60sec ⁻¹ ≤ 1099 > 1099	

			Direct Observation			Counts 15coct	Counts 60cog1
Sirard - 3 year old ¹⁶⁹	Calibration n = 5	CSA	(CARS) ^{153,158}	15sec		Counts 15sec	Counts obsect
2005	Validation n = 69				Sedentary Time	≤ 301	≤ 1204
	Country = USA				Light PA (TotalPA)	> 614	> 1204
					MVPA	≥ 1230	≥2456
			Direct Observation			Counts 15sec ⁻¹	Counts 60sec 1
Sirard - 4 year old ¹⁶⁹	Calibration n = 5	CSA	(CARS) ^{153,158}	15sec		Counts 155cc	counts object
2005	Validation n = 125				Sedentary Time	≤ 363	≤ 1452
	Country = USA				Light PA (TotalPA)	> 363	> 1452
					MVPA	≥ 813	≥ 3252
			Direct Observation			Counts 15coci	Counts 60soci
Sirard - 5 year old ¹⁶⁹	Calibration n = 6	CSA	(CARS) ^{153,158}	15sec		Counts 15sec	Counts obsect
2005	Validation n = 75				Sedentary Time	≤ 398	≤ 1592
	Country = USA				Light PA (TotalPA)	> 398	> 1592
					MVPA	≥ 891	≥ 3564
			Direct Observation			Counts 15sec ¹	Counts 60sec1
Trost ²⁰⁰	n = 22	GT1M	(CARS) ^{153,158}	15sec		Counts 155ec	Counts obsec
2012	Country = USA				Sedentary Time	≤ 48	≤ 195
	Age = 16-35 months					> 19	> 105
	(2.1years)				Light PA (TotalPA)	~ 40	~ 195
	Boys n = 8; Girls n = 14				MVPA	≥ 419	≥ 1673
			Direct Observation			Counts 15sec 1	Counts 60sec-1
van Cauwenberghe 199	n = 18	GT1M	(CARS) ^{153,158}	15sec		Counts 155eC-1	Counts 005ec-1

2011	Country = Belguim	Sedentary Time	≤ 372	≤ 1488
	Age = 4-6 years (5.8 years)	Light PA (TotalPA)	> 372	> 1488
	Boys n = 10; Girls n = 8	MVPA	≥ 585	≥ 2340

The Costa cut-points are the only known cut-points to be calibrated and validated at the more appropriate 5 second epochs (as described in section 1.2.2.6.4).¹⁸⁸ Using direct observation for both calibration and validation of young children (mean age: calibration n=2.86years; validation n=2.99years), the Costa-Axis 1 cut-points were firstly found to be more accurate than the vector magnitude cut-points, which is unsurprising due to the placement of the monitor being on the hip (as described in section 2.2.5.4). Secondly the Costa-Axis 1 cut-points were found to be more accurate at estimating SB and TPA in comparison to the Pate, Trost and Evenson cut-points, but the Costa-Axis 1 cut-points were found unsuitable to estimate MVPA.

In 2014 Butte and colleagues published more cut-points for young children¹⁵² (Table 1). ActiGraph and Actiheart cut-points were compared with DLW and calorimetry. The results¹⁵² added another set of cut-points which were reported by the authors to be suitable to estimate SB and TPA intensities within young children. There is a real need for the universal acceptance of a singular set of cut-points to measure young children's PA, however that is not the aim of this thesis. Therefore, based upon the reported accuracy for MVPA in both toddlers and preschoolers in comparison to other cut-points (Trost et al¹⁷⁰, and Janssen et al¹⁵⁶), the Pate MVPA cut-point of \geq 420 counts per 15 seconds¹⁹⁷ will be the chosen cut-point for estimating MVPA in Chapters 4 and 5. Based upon the results of Costa et al¹⁸⁸ the calibrated cut points of \leq 5 counts per 5 second epochs were found to be the most accurate SB/TPA cut-points leading to being the chosen cut-points for SB in Chapters 4 and 5.

<u>1.2.2.6.6. Duration of monitoring, wear time and non-wear time</u>

Measuring habitual PA in any age group is difficult due to the great variability from one day to another.²⁰¹ Variability of a populations PA will not just be between individuals but also largely within individuals.^{1,2} For this reason one day of accelerometer measurement is not enough to reliably assess habitual PA. Therefore assessing habitual PA requires measuring PA across multiple days.^{135,184} ^{110,186} A repeated issue when planning to use a PA measure is for researchers to consider their research question (e.g. population or individual PA assessment), logistics (e.g. time scale and budgets of studies), and feasibility (e.g. burden being placed upon participants).^{135,182,201} To assess habitual PA via accelerometry researchers must establish their sample has enough minutes on enough days of PA monitoring to reliably do so. While also not sabotaging compliance and accuracy by implementing highly demanding accelerometer protocols.^{110,135,187,202} This can be argued to be more important when measuring young childrens habitual PA simply because of their young age, and the added reliance upon parents/care providers to support in wearing the accelerometer correctly (e.g. right hip) and to continue to do so.

How many days required for a reliable measure of habitual PA is a subject of debate, and currently there is no universal answer.^{110,175} There are multiple issues researchers need to consider when measuring habitual PA. Firstly what is a feasible duration length participants will be asked to wear accelerometers? Secondly, how many hours in how many days are minimally required to reliably and accurately estimate habitual PA. Thirdly, how do researchers classify non-wear time (i.e. accelerometer has been taken off) from time spent in sedentary behaviour or sleep.

Across children's PA accelerometer literature a seven day duration protocol is consistently advocated. This is because of the variability in children's PA across one week, and a seven day duration would allow the possibility to include weekend days which have been found in older children to be significantly different from weekdays.135,187,202 However, variability between days of the week has been considered to be less in young children.¹¹⁰ This is likely because of the absence of attending school every day during the week and having less regimented structure and more free time during the weekends.¹¹⁰ However, for young children it has been considered a seven consecutive day accelerometer wear protocol is best to maximise the number of days of compliance.²⁰³ It has been suggested by Cliff¹¹⁰ that three out of seven days of compliance is enough to reliably estimate young children's habitual PA. Cliff¹¹⁰ also suggested that as young children have longer daily sleep time, and shorter waking time compared to school aged children, and number of hours of wear-time could theoretically be less than school aged children, for which previous studies have frequently applied 8-10 hours of daily wear.¹⁷⁵ However, there is no actual current consensus upon the number of hours and days minimally required, to reliably estimate young children's PA.¹⁷⁵ Cain¹⁷⁵ identified 273 articles within their review on accelerometer methodologies of children. For young children it was concluded wear time ranged from <6-10 hours for a valid day and 2-10 or more days across published studies. Four studies have investigated the amount of wear-time required to reliably estimate habitual PA in young children.²⁰³⁻²⁰⁶ Conclusions of the studies make it a complex and confusing decision to choose an appropriate weartime criterion. Penpraze²⁰⁶ concluded there were no differences in CPM between weekdays and weekends, and to reach high levels of reliability (ICC=0.80) a minimum of 10 hours on seven days is required, but 6 hours on any 5 days would reach acceptable reliability (ICC=0.70). Hislop²⁰⁴ also found no differences between weekdays and weekend days, but recommend that seven hours on any three days would reach acceptable reliability (ICC=0.70). Addy²⁰³ and Hinkley²⁰⁵ both found differences between weekdays and weekends. Addy²⁰³ concluded that to reach a reliability of ICC=0.75 a minimum of 6 hours on any 6 days was required for habitual TPA and 5 days for MVPA. Hinkley²⁰⁵ found the number of days required for reliability decreased while the daily hours increased, but based upon the study's sample suggested 7 hours on 3 weekdays and 1 weekend day would suffice

(ICC=0.70). A consensus across the studies appears to be 6 or 7 hours is an acceptable daily wear time length for young children. However, the number of days and what type of day required are unclear. But the results of the studies are likely to be specific to the individual study samples which may have different types of PA variability from different samples of young children. The current lack of clarity is limiting. This is because including days with few measured hours will increase the risk of underestimating PA levels²⁰¹, and excluding participant's valid data could drastically effect sample sizes. This could increase the possibility of biased results and/or the inability to generalise results in larger population studies.^{110,187} What is required is simple and clear guidance for researchers to follow in order to justify reliable wear-time periods for their specific study samples of young children.

Another important aspect of measuring PA via accelerometry is the identification and management of missing data. A standard instruction for wearing accelerometers is for them to be worn during all waking hours, and only removed for sleep, or if the monitor is not water proof (when swimming, bathing or showering). An issue with accelerometry data is that it is continuously collected for 24 hours and sleep time or time the monitor has not been worn (non-wear time) can be easily mis-classified as time being sedentary. There is currently no consensus about the choice of methods used to accurately identify non-wear time in all ages of children.^{175,185} Three commonly used methods to identify and remove non-wear time are: 1) by comparing accelerometer data with a diary of wear time; 2) removing time for sleep based upon standard sleep times; 3) removing data consisting of continuous zero counts.^{1,2}

In relation to young children parents would be asked to complete a wear-time diary by documenting times in which the accelerometer was put on, taken off and for what reasons (e.g. bathing, naps). Relying on this approach alone could be problematic due to relying upon the subjective reporting of parents, who may forget when the monitor was taken off. Removing standard sleep times (e.g. 8 hours of sleep) could be problematic for young children due to the likelihood of nap times. Removing data consisting of continuous zero counts is the most common approach used when cleaning young children's accelerometry data.^{175,185} Typically for young children consecutive periods of non-wear time (zero counts) longer than 10 minutes are removed from the data.^{175,202} This is based upon the assumption that accelerometers are sensitive to the smallest of movements, thus would register a count value higher than zero if the monitor is worn.¹⁸⁵ The definition of non-wear time is of great importance because if done incorrectly could to lead to confusing sedentary time with missing data, therefore underestimating/overestimating sedentary time; and increasing the likelihood of sampling bias by confounding wear-time leading to incorrectly excluding participants.¹⁸⁵

1.2.2.6.7. Limitations and other issues

Accelerometers like all measures have limitations. Hip worn accelerometers like pedometers are insensitive to the measurement of non-ambulatory movements such as cycling and upper body movements.^{185,191,202} Accelerometers are not able to account for the extra energy cost associated with walking up an incline or stairs, or carrying extra loads. 177, 182, 194 Body posture and the context of PA is not measured by accelerometers.^{185,195} Additional monitors such direct observations, as questionnaires or global positioning system (GPS) monitors would need to be included along with accelerometry to measure contextual data. Accelerometers also cannot clearly distinguish between sitting still and standing, therefore lack accuracy in measuring true sedentary behaviour. Finally, arguably the biggest limitation is a lack of standardisation of protocols for: data collection, programming, collection, cleaning and analysis; what outcome measures are reported, and how is best to interpret data outputs.175,186,187
Despite these limitations accelerometers still have much greater accuracy compared to questionnaires, diaries and pedometers. Accelerometers are also significantly less burdensome (researcher and participant) and are more feasible within large epidemiological studies compared to other PA objective measures (DLW, calorimetry, direct observation and heart rate monitors).¹³⁹

1.2.2.7. Combination of monitors

Each objective monitor of PA has its limitations and strengths. One method of overcoming limitations is to combine the use of monitors. One example is accelerometry and heart rate monitoring. One of the fundamental limitations of accelerometry is the inability to measure upper limb activities (when placement is on the hip), walking up an incline, and accounting for carrying extra loads (carrying a back pack).^{135,136,145,175,185,207} Heart rate monitoring is limited on its own through the reduced accuracy of measuring lower intensity activities, however, is accurate at measuring higher intensity activities.^{1,2,145,146} Thus the combination of both methods is logical as the strengths of one monitor compliments the limitations of another.^{200,208} However, the combining of monitors increases the burden upon participants, increases the time and cost of projects through increased data cleaning processes, thus limited for large population studies.¹³⁶ And with the multiple number of monitors required to be worn a combination of separate units of methods is not practical for young children.¹³⁶

To overcome the problem of separate monitors being worn, devices have been created which combine the use two methods into one device.^{4,138,208} Once such device is the called the Actiheart (CamNtech, Cambridge, UK), which is a device that combines accelerometry and heart rate monitoring to improve the accuracy of EE estimation.^{138,208} It has been calibrated and validated in adults²⁰⁸ as well as children.^{2,194} In young children a study implementing the Actiheart was undertaken in order to calibrate MVPA.²⁰⁹ It was found 87-91% of observed MVPA was correctly

classified. However, limitations of the Actiheart are the discomfort of attaching electrode pads upon young children, and increasing the risk of allergic reaction, which has been reported to be a concern for parents of 3-6 year olds.²¹⁰ However, the Actiheart has successfully been applied within a large cohort study measuring PA of young children.^{59,114,209,211}

1.2.3. Subjective Measures

1.2.3.1 Activity diaries

Activity diaries are a measurement tool which have been shown to be valid in measuring PAEE, bouts of PA and the types of activity taken place in adolescents.^{212,213} Although diaries are inexpensive they are very burdensome upon participants. In the context of young children, this burden would be placed upon care-providers due to young children not yet developing the cognitive skills to thoroughly recall PA, or understand what PA is. To add, participants recalling their own PA through diaries have found recalling periods shorter than 15 minutes to be counter-intuitive.²¹² Physical activity of young children is more spontaneous and intermittent compared to adults themselves¹⁸⁵, therefore it is logical to assume parents will struggle to recall their young child's PA. Supporting this view is also the finding that mothers have been found to overestimate and perceive their young child as being more active than what they actually are²¹⁴; thus leading to the view parental (proxy) reported PA diaries are not suitable to measure young children's PA.

1.2.3.2. Questionnaires

Questionnaires have widely been implemented as a method within the study of PA; a systematic review in 2013 conducted by Helmerhorst²¹⁵ summarised the reliability and validity of 130 published questionnaires across the whole spectrum of age groups (early years, children, adolescent, adults and older people). Because young children, particularly early years do not have the capacity to comprehensively reflect and/or recall past behaviours²¹⁶ proxy reported questionnaires like activity diaries relying upon a parent or care provider (guardian, teacher, carer) are commonly used.²¹⁶ The difference between diaries and questionnaires, are that questionnaires have questions and prompts about dimensions and domains of PA, which aid participants in the recalling of their own behaviour or that of their child's. Diaries are less specific and may ask how many minutes overall PA or intensity took place each day leading to possible greater bias.¹³⁵

For young children there have been multiple uses for specific questions about PA within different domains (e.g. how many minutes was the child active outside, how many times does your child play sport at preschool).¹³⁵ However, the comparison of these questions to a more accurate objective measure within validity studies has been sparse. There are however, two known proxy questionnaires which estimate young children's habitual PA, and have been reported have acceptable reliability and validity.^{217,218} The Preschool-age Physical Activity Questionnaire (Pre-PAQ)²¹⁹ was developed in Australia. The study sample consisted of 103 children with a mean age of 3.3 years. The test re-test reliability (assessed using intra-class correlations ICC(2,1)) across seven days ranged from 0.44 for stationary activities (sedentary), 0.54 for moderate and fast physical activity (MVPA) and 0.61 for slow to fast physical activity (total physical activity). Corder²¹⁸ conducted a study which determined the reliability and validity of four physical activity questionnaires across different age groups of children. One questionnaire titled the Children's Physical Activity Questionnaire (CPAQ) was administered to a group of young children (n = 27, 4.9 years SD = 0.7) from Cambridgeshire, United Kingdom.²¹⁸ Test retest reliability of the CPAQ (7 days between two tests) was found to be lower than that of the Pre-PAQ, with an ICC of 0.25 for total physical activity and an ICC of 0.39 for MVPA.

In relation to validity, habitual PA measured by the C-PAQ was compared to habitual energy expenditure measured using doubly-labelled water and accelerometry.²¹⁸ There were no significant correlations between reported time in C-PAQ MVPA and accelerometer determined MVPA, with two cut-points (3000 CPM²²⁰ and 1952 CPM¹⁷⁸) utilised. The mean bias was 235.9±362.0 mins per week (3000 CPM) and -76.5 mins per week (1952 CPM). The CPAQ's TPA compared to AEE measured by DLW found mean bias was nearer to zero (-14.4 minutes per week) and was found to have a non-significant correlation (= -0.36). For the Pre-PAQ, Dwyer²¹⁹ recruited 67 children aged 3.8 years of age who also wore an uniaxial accelerometer (model MTI 7164). Dwyer²¹⁹ applied two different cut-points for sedentary behaviour and TPA^{169,198} and one cut point for the measure of MVPA¹⁶⁹. Applying the Reilly¹⁹⁸ (274 counts per 15 seconds) cut point found that there was a significant correlation between the Pre-PAQ and the accelerometer for sedentary behaviour (r = $0.28 \text{ p} \le 0.05$), however the mean daily minutes of difference (bias) was large, with the Pre-PAQ under reporting daily minutes by -208.6 min per day (limits of agreement (LOA) = -349.8 to -67.5). Sedentary behaviour using the Sirard¹⁶⁹ cut-points found no significant correlation (r = 0.19) with the accelerometer, with large mean differences (-235.4 min per day (LOA - 383.1 to -87.7)). The Pre-PAQ was also found to be weakly correlated (r = 0.17, $p \le 0.05$) and overestimated MVPA (50.1 min per day (LOA -42.9 to 143.1) using cut-points by Sirard¹⁶⁹ For TPA, it was found the Pre-PAQ over estimated TPA (Reilly: 20.9 min, LOA =-121.9 - 163.7; Sirard: 45.2 min, LOA -103.6 – 194.1) and again had non-significant weak correlations (Reilly: r = 0.16; Sirard: r = 0.05). The final conclusions were both the Pre-PAQ and C-PAQ were suitable to measure PA (TPA and MVPA) of young children at the population level, but only the C-PAQ is suitable to rank individuals MVPA not TPA. What is clear is the accuracy of questionnaires are inferior to objective measures, but researchers should consider the strengths, weaknesses, feasibility and capabilities of each PA measure according to research questions before a measure is decided upon.

In conclusion, there are no current gold standard methods of measuring of PA. Each choice of methods has strengths and limitations, which have been discussed where possible in relation to young children in the second part of this chapter. Considering issues of PA methods and that young children's habitual PA is the main outcome for the original studies of this thesis, the two primary methods of interest for this thesis are accelerometry and proxy reported questionnaires.

CHAPTER 2 – Outline, aim and objectives

<u>2.1. Rationale of thesis</u>

In Chapter 1 a literature review of young children's PA covered the first three stages of the behavioural epidemiological framework (Figure 2.1). Physical activity is a complex behaviour and although the research area within young children's PA is limited in areas, previous research indicates and supports the need to promote and increase PA as a public health priority within western developed countries, such as the UK; which has been through the physical activity transition, and is now suffering the consequences of high levels of inactivity.^{20,23,27,32,42,107,134,221} Currently it is reported many young children do not engage in enough PA, particularly MVPA.^{112,114,130} Previous research suggests engaging in large volumes of PA on a daily basis will not only provide health benefits in the short term²⁷ (during the early years) but also in the medium term;^{118,222} due to the tracking of PA from the early years to the primary school years.^{13,14} Many young children will be entering their fifth birthday and getting ready for school not reaching a minimum of 60 minutes of MVPA on a regular daily basis, meaning the greater likelihood of being inactive throughout the rest of their childhood years, and thus have a greater risk of the health consequences associated with inactivity.^{118,120,222-224} In order to inform future interventions and a greater likelihood of intervention efficacy, an understanding of the correlates and determinants of young children's PA is vital.^{83,84,132-134,225} Previous research has been limited through measurement inconsistencies^{1,127,182,185,196} and a sparse number of studies have been conducted within multi-cultural and deprived communities.^{17,89,226,227} Following an ecological^{132,228} and bio-cultural perspective²²⁹ it is hypothesised that a one size fits all approach for future PA intervention design is illogical; as what influences habitual PA (domains, familial influences and dynamics) is probably different for children from different cultural and ethnic backgrounds.²²⁹ Understanding the correlates of PA in young children of SA ethnicity is particularly of public health concern due to the increase risk South Asian's have of non-communicable diseases.^{17,227,230-232}



Figure 2.1: Behavioural epidemiological framework

This thesis will focus upon two areas of the behavioural epidemiological framework²²⁵ examining aspects of the measurement of PA in early years children and determining the correlates of PA of young children from a multi-cultural, bilingual and low socio-economic status community.

2.2. Aims

The aims of this thesis were:

- I. To systematically review previous published research in order to establish currently known correlates and determinants of PA in the early years (0-6 year olds) and identify gaps within the literature to explore.
- II. To calculate an accelerometer wear-time criteria to reliably measure young children's habitual physical activity.
- III. To investigate the validity and test re-test reliability of the Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire (EY-PAQ), a parental proxy reported questionnaire.
- IV. To investigate the levels and correlates of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity in 2 year old children from a multi-ethnic, multi-linguistic population using the EY-PAQ data from the Born in Bradford Cohort.

2.3. Structure of the thesis

An introduction and critical review of the physical activity literature occurred in Chapter 1. This chapter, Chapter 2 sets out the aims and flow and interconnectivity of the other chapters of the thesis. Chapters 3 to 6 each flow on from one another and contribute to the structure of the thesis (Figure 2.2), but each Chapter can also be read as standalone research studies:

Chapter Three – This chapter is a comprehensive systematic review which synthesized published peer-reviewed research investigating potential correlates and determinants of TPA, MVPA, and LPA of children during the early years (ages 0-6). The review also examined the potential differences in identified associations by measurement method (objective and subjective measures). After the review

process a total of 130 published research articles were included in the evidence synthesis. Key findings of the review were: all studies took place in high income countries, a small number were of high quality (n=9), of the few identified correlates and determinants most were demographical/biological and social/cultural variables/factors; and findings were consistent between objective and subjective measures used. A number of key gaps in the research were identified, which informed the direction of the rest of the studies in the thesis. Gaps in the literature were few studies investigated the correlates of toddlers MVPA, or ethnic differences in MVPA between White and South Asian populations of young children.

Chapter Four –The availability of comprehensive birth cohort data, including a proxy-report MVPA and ST questionnaire of two year old children living in a predominate bi-ethnic community (the city of Bradford, UK), offered an opportunity to address some the research gaps identified in Chapter 3 (i.e. toddlers, MVPA and ethnicity). In order to pursue this opportunity an investigation of the validity and test re-test reliability of proxy-report MVPA questionnaire needed to take place, using accelerometry as the criterion measure. This chapter preluded the validity and reliability investigation (Chapter Five) in order to estimate a population specific accelerometry wear-time, to reliably estimate habitual PA levels of young children living in the city of Bradford. This study, using a simple and clear stepped approach objectively informed an accelerometer wear-time protocol which maximised the sample size of the validity study in Chapter Five, while maintaining high reliability (ICC = 0.7).

Chapter Five – Reported in this chapter is a study which used accelerometry as a criterion measure (and the wear-time criteria calculated in Chapter Four) to examine the validity and test re-test reliability of the previously mentioned MVPA and ST proxy-report questionnaire, called the 'Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire' (EY-PAQ). The study consisted of a sample of 2-4 year old children

who wore a hip-accelerometer for 7 days, and one parent completed the EY-PAQ on two occasions (in English or Urdu-depending on language preference), first when the accelerometer was fitted on the children and second seven days later when the accelerometer was collected. In comparison to other proxy-report questionnaires it was found the EY-PAQ had acceptable validity and test re-test reliability in estimating habitual MVPA of young children living the city of Bradford, whether the questionnaire was completed in English or in Urdu.

Chapter Six – In this chapter a large cross-sectional study, using data from the Born in Bradford birth cohort, was undertaken to investigate the levels and correlates of 2 year old children's MVPA (measured using the EY-PAQ). The large sample size allowed the data to be stratified by ethnicity, and to examine a large number of potential correlates covering different levels of the ecological model. Results of this study are discussed in relation to previous research and how these findings can contribute and inform future research, especially future interventions.

Chapter seven – This final chapter discusses the findings and implications of the previous four studies, and outlines directions for future research.



Figure 2.2: A flow-diagram outlining the interconnectivity of chapters.

2.3. My role

For the duration of the PhD, I Daniel Bingham, was based at the Bradford Institute for Health Research, and was part of the research team working within the Born in Bradford (BiB) Birth Cohort study. BiB is a unique cohort study, which is not only a birth cohort, but is also a cohort which utilises data collected, along with a wellestablished brand in the city of Bradford to apply for funding to pursue separate studies within Bradford, which may not include participants from the birth cohort. One such example is the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) funded study: *Preschoolers in the Playground (PiP) – a feasibility clustered randomised control trial.* The data used for the original studies in this thesis derived from the PiP (chapters 4 and 5) BiB cohort data (chapter 6). My role as a PhD student evolved during the PhD. I first began working with BIB community assistants on the first wave of the PiP project. I helped with the finalising of the protocol, recruitment (consent) of schools and parents, data collection and co-authored the full report. Data collection consisted of visits to parents and young children's homes. During a visit, I measured children's height, weight, upper arm circumference, abdominal circumference, explained the use of an accelerometer to parents, fitted an accelerometer on the child and conducted the PiP questionnaire. My role evolved from being a research assistant in the first wave of data collection (Autumn 2012) to that of research fellow in the final data collections of PiP (Waves 3 and 4, Spring-Winter 2013), which entailed me recruiting schools and co-ordinating and managing other research assistants. I was also a member of the trials management steering group and had the responsibility of the trials accelerometer data processing and cleaning.

For the study presented in Chapter 4, I pooled previously collected accelerometer data (sub sample of the cohort) with PiP baseline accelerometer data. I ensured that the PiP protocol was updated in accordance with the same protocol as the previously collected BiB accelerometer data. This ensured pooling of data could take place. I cleaned, processed and analysed data in accordance with the studies objectives and aims.

For the study presented in Chapter 5, I amended the PiP NHS ethics and included a physical activity questionnaire (Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire) to the trials questionnaire during Waves 2 and 3 of the study (Spring-Summer 2013). I then trained research assistants in the collection of the questionnaire, and I also collected many questionnaires myself. I then inputted questionnaire data, processed, cleaned and analysed all other data in accordance with the studies' objectives and aims. For the study presented in Chapter 6, I utilised the BiB cohort data. I applied and presented the study proposal and analysis to the BiB executive committee. I was successful with my application and the executive committee granted me permission to use cohort data for the proposed study. I then cleaned and analysed data in accordance with the studies objectives and aims.

<u>CHAPTER 3</u> – The correlates and determinants of physical activity during the early years: a systematic review

The study in this chapter has been:

Presented at the International Society of Behavioural Nutrition and Physical Activity (ISBNPA) annual meeting 2015

Published in the American Journal of Preventive Medicine:

Bingham DD, Costa S, Hinkley T, Shire KA, Clemes SA, Barber SE. Physical activity during the early years: a systematic review of correlates and determinants. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 2016;51(3):384–402.

3.1 Introduction

Physical activity (PA) is a key influence upon health across the life course.²³³⁻²³⁶ The "early years" is an umbrella term for an age range that encompasses infants (0-1 years), toddlers (1-3 years), and preschoolers (3-5 years).²⁷ During this period, PA is reported to be associated with multiple health outcomes.²⁷ Evidence suggests PA levels track from early to later childhood,¹¹⁸ and into adulthood,¹²⁰ so establishing optimal levels of this health-related behaviour early in life is crucial.^{237,238} Whether children during the early years are sufficiently active is unclear. Some studies have reported that children largely fail to meet current PA guidelines,¹³⁰ and spend most of their time inactive,^{111,239} while others have reported sufficient activity levels in this age group.^{240,241} Because of the link between PA and health it is important to understand correlates and determinants of PA to enable the development and implementation of effective interventions;²⁴² particularly as previous interventions have had limited efficacy.²⁴³

For the purposes of this review, the term 'correlate' is used when an independent variable is found to be associated with PA in cross-sectional studies and thus causality cannot be determined. The term 'determinant' is used when an association is found between an independent variable and PA in longitudinal studies⁶⁰ where temporal associations over time may be observed, although there is still a risk of bidirectional or reverse causality pathways.²⁴⁴ It is essential for researchers to have an understanding of the correlates and determinants of PA in order to identify possible at risk demographic groups and/or mediators to be targeted in future intervention studies.⁶⁰

Physical activity is a multi-dimensional behavior with correlates and determinants present across different levels of the ecological model (e.g. individual, social and physical environments).^{83,130-134} Identifying variables associated with PA at different

levels of the ecological model allows researchers to intervene at various levels to attempt to increase young children's PA.^{83,130-134}

Previously a large amount of research has already been conducted upon the correlates and determinants of young children's physical activity research. However, PA research is still within its infancy and is constantly evolving, particularly in regard to the greater efficacy of methods being able to measure physical activity, especially objective tools, and the greater accuracy of evolving refinement of data derived from objective tools. Observational studies which lead to identification of correlates and determinants, cannot assert causality but rather associations between exposure variables with physical activity. Only intervention studies which are correctly powered can detect a causal link between an exposure variable and physical activity, but with physical activity being a human behaviour that occurs daily (a human being is either asleep, sedentary or physically active), many variables across the ecological model may have a causal link with physical activity. The benefit of correlates and determinants research is the relative ease of conducting, and most importantly generating hypotheses which inform which exposure variables could be tested within experimental study designs. Therefore, conducting and updating correlate systematic reviews every few years is worthwhile and informs researchers and policy makers planning interventions which exposure variables to consider including and testing. Two previous systematic reviews,^{83,84} which adopted the use of the ecological model, reviewed the correlates of PA in children during the early years. Neither review investigated the correlates or determinants of the different intensities of PA (light-intensity PA [LPA], moderate- to vigorous-intensity PA [MVPA]). Physical activity guidelines for children during the early years place an emphasis upon the promotion of total PA (TPA). However, identifying correlates and determinants of MVPA is also of public health importance as time spent in MVPA has been associated with benefits to bone/skeletal development,²⁴⁵ adiposity⁵⁹ and metabolic status.⁶⁸

Young children's PA is sporadic and intermittent.^{4,246} Because of these patterns subjective and objective measures of PA capture different behaviours/constructs. Subjective measures typically require parents to recall children's PA (e.g. active play and walking) which are susceptible to recall errors and bias, such as social desirability bias.^{2,127,215} Objective measures directly capture parameters of PA such as movement, acceleration, and heart rate.⁴ Objective monitoring avoids the biases associated with subjective measures and is more sensitive to sporadic patterns of PA.^{2,127,215} Thus, the type of measure used by studies should be considered when investigating correlates and determinants.

<u>3.2. Aims</u>

The aims of this systematic review were to synthesize studies investigating potential correlates and determinants of TPA, MVPA, and LPA in children during the early years and investigate potential differences in associations by measurement method.

<u>3.3. Methods</u>

3.3.1. Search Strategy

The search and review process followed guidance from the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA).²⁴⁷ A systematic literature search was conducted within nine electronic databases: Web of Science, SCOPUS, SPORTDiscus, PubMed, Cochrane, Pro-Quest, PyschInfo, Embase and CINHAL. Each database was searched from the year of inception (i.e. the earliest was Web of Science, 1900) until September 2014. Data extraction and interpretation took place between November 2014 and April 2015. Key words relating to behaviour(s) (i.e. physical activity, exercise, play, physical fitness, physical inactivity, sedentary, sport, health behavior and motor movement), in conjunction with population (i.e. child, children, kindergarten, preschool, early years, infant, toddler) were used for the search. Authors' bibliographies and papers which had cited the De Craemer⁸³ and Hinkley⁸⁴ reviews were also searched.

3.3.2. Inclusion Criteria

To be included, studies had to: 1) have an observational design; 2) be written in English; 3) be published in a peer-reviewed journal; 4) explore potential associations between PA as a quantitatively-measured outcome variable and independent variable/s; and 5) have a sample (or sub-group) aged 0-6 years not in statutory/school education. The age range is increased to 6 years of age due to many countries having the age of entering statutory/school education beginning at 6 years of age, so preschoolers in this review were aged 3-6 years of age. An example of search strategy used is found in Appendix 3.1, and example of the inclusion/exclusion form is found in Appendix 3.2.

3.3.3. Reporting of Results

If more than one instrument measured the same PA outcome (e.g. parent-reported and accelerometer-measured MVPA) in a study, only data from the most valid instrument were included. If validity data were not reported, the result from the most objective method was chosen. If two measures were used for separate outcomes, separate associations were included. Studies that used different PA contexts (e.g. recess, physical education) are highlighted in appendices. Similar to a previous review,⁸⁴ this review found no difference in the percentage of null associations per study using multivariate analysis compared with results from bivariate analyses (t-test, p=0.20); therefore, results taken from bivariate and multivariate analyses were included together and marked accordingly. If potential

correlates and determinants of moderate-intensity PA (MPA) and vigorousintensity PA (VPA) were reported separately but in the same direction, the results were combined for one overall association with MVPA. This same process was used to report associations of potential correlates/determinants with TPA: if associations of a variable with LPA, MPA, and VPA were reported separately, but in the same direction, the results were combined. If an association was found for one intensity of PA (e.g. VPA) but not the other (e.g. MPA), associations were reported separately. Result tables report the number of studies in each direction of association (positive, negative or null). Tables also report the overall summary of associations for each variable, along with the separate summaries of studies using an objective or subjective outcome measure. Tables within the appendices provide a detailed overview of the variables included in individual studies.

3.3.4. Search Process

One reviewer (Daniel David Bingham: 'DDB') undertook the initial search of article titles. Two reviewers (DDB and Katy Anna Shire 'KAS') then independently screened the article abstracts. Any discrepancies between the reviewers were discussed until consensus was achieved. If consensus could not be achieved, further discussion was undertaken with a third reviewer (Sally Elizabeth Barber: SEB) to achieve consensus. This process was repeated when reviewing the full articles. Data extraction was undertaken using a standardized form (appendix 3.2).

3.3.5. Selection of variables

Categories of potential correlates/determinants were: 1) demographic and biological, 2) psychological, cognitive and emotional, 3) behavioral, 4) social and cultural, and 5) physical-environment. The overall strength of association between PA and each potential correlate/determinant was assessed by examining the percentage of studies reporting an association in a given direction.¹³² For correlates, if the association with PA was tested <4 times, no classification was graded. If \geq 4 studies had tested an association, and 0-33% reported significant associations in a positive/negative direction, the result was categorized as no association (0). If 34-59% reported significant associations in a consistent direction, the result was categorized as inconsistent (?). If 60-100% reported a significant association in a consistent direction, the result was coded as (+) for positive or (-) for negative associations.

For determinants, a classification was graded even if the potential association was assessed ≤ 4 times. This decision was made due to the greater importance of determinants compared to correlates. The following coding procedure was used to incorporate the quality assessment outlined by Costigan²⁴⁸ and Lubans²⁴⁹: if 60-100% of high quality studies reported consistent findings (positive, negative or null association), the result was coded as strong evidence in that direction (++, -- ,00). A potential correlate/determinant was considered a correlate/determinant when a positive or negative association (+,++,-,--) was found.

3.3.6. Study methodological quality

Two reviewers (DDB and KAS) independently assessed study quality using criteria adapted from the CONSORT²⁵⁰ and STROBE²⁵¹ statements, used in previous systematic reviews.^{33,34} A score for each study was completed on a 6-point scale by assigning a value of zero (absent and/or insufficiently described) or one (present and/or clearly described) to the following questions: Q1) did the study describe participant eligibility criteria? Q2) were participants randomly selected? Q3) did the study report the sources and details of PA assessment and did the instruments have acceptable reliability for the specific age group (e.g. an intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC) of 0.70 or Pearson correlation of 0.80 was considered acceptable)?

Q4) did the study report the sources and details of assessment of correlates/determinants and did all instruments have acceptable reliability? Q5) did the study report a power calculation and was the study adequately powered to detect hypothesized associations? Q6) did the study report the numbers of participants who completed each of the different measures? Studies scoring 0-2 were regarded as low quality/high risk of bias; studies scoring 3–4 were considered moderate quality/risk of bias; and studies scoring 5-6 were considered high quality/low risk of bias.

3.4. Results

3.4.1. Review Process

Figure 3.1 outlines the flow of articles through the review. A total of 22,045 articles were identified and screened; 19,385 were excluded based on the title (mostly due to their sample's age falling outside the inclusion criteria), and a further 1,733 were identified as duplicates and excluded. Of the remaining 927 abstracts, 490 were excluded. 437 full articles were screened and 332 excluded, leaving 105 articles. A further 25 articles were included from hand searching and authors' private libraries, leaving 130 articles for data extraction. Details of the included studies are outlined in Appendix 3.3.



Figure 3.1: Flow diagram of the systematic review literature search.

<u>3.4.2. Study Design</u>

The majority of studies were cross-sectional (n=115, 88%); 11 (9%) were prospective;^{154,155,222,252-259} three (2%) were intervention studies^{210,260,261} (baseline data only) and one was an intervention study reporting no intervention effect; therefore, data from the control and intervention groups were combined and a longitudinal/prospective analysis reported.¹⁵³ Of the 12 prospective studies, three^{155,222,259} had a follow-up period which went beyond the early years, meaning only baseline data were included. Therefore, nine studies^{153,154,252-258} investigating potential determinants were included. In total, 114 studies investigated potential correlates of TPA, 73 investigated correlates of MVPA, and 25 investigated correlates of LPA. For those studies which investigated potential determinants, all nine investigated associations of those potential determinants with TPA, two with MVPA, and one with LPA.

3.4.3 Study Quality and Methodological Risk of Bias

The ICC between the reviewers' quality scores was 0.97. Table 3.1 outlines the quality score (low, moderate, high) for each study. A total of 122 (93%) adequately described eligibility criteria (Q1); 103 (79%) adequately described their process of randomly selecting participants (Q2); 25 (19%) adequately described their assessment of PA (Q3); and 38 (29%) adequately described their assessment of correlates/determinants (Q4). No studies reported the use of a power calculation (Q5), whereas 90 (69%) reported the number of participants with complete measures (Q6). Nine (6%) studies were identified as high quality,^{130,156,157,255,262-267} two of which determinant studies;^{257,263} 78 (60%) were classified were as moderate quality, 4,58,59,153,154,158,159,167,189,199,200,208,210,217,222,239,252,254,256,258,259,261,268-313,63,314-319 of which seven were determinant studies²⁵⁴ ²⁸⁴ ²⁵⁶ ²⁵² ²⁵⁹ ²⁸⁵ ²⁵⁸ and 43 (33%) were classified as low quality,70,103,114,155,183,184,194,206,209,240,241,253,260,320-349 with only one determinant study253 (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1: Included study quality check list and level of quality and study design.

	Question 1	Question 2	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Total		
Study ^[No]	Eligibility	Random	PA Reliability	Correlate Reliability	Power	No.	(0-6)	Level of	Study
		Selection				Participants		Quality*	Design**
Adams ³²⁰	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Anderson ³²¹	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Baranowski ²⁵⁴	1	1	1	1	0	0	4	Moderate	Pro
Barkley ²⁶⁸	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Becker ³⁵⁰	1	0	0	1	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Beets ²⁶²	1	1	1	1	0	1	5	High	Cross
Bellows ²⁶⁰	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Inter-B
Benham-Deal ²⁶⁹	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Blaes ²⁷⁰	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Boldemann ²⁷¹	1	1	0	1	0	0	3	Moderate	Cross
Bower ²⁷²	1	1	0	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
Brasholt ³⁵¹	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	Low	Cross
Brown ²⁷³	1	1	1	0	0	0	3	Moderate	Cross
Brown ³⁵²	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Pro
Burdette ³²²	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Burdette ²⁷⁴	1	1	0	1	0	0	3	Moderate	Cross
Burgi ²⁶³	1	1	1	1	0	1	5	High	Pro
Burgi ²⁵⁵	1	1	1	1	0	1	5	High	Cross
Buss ⁷⁰	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	Low	Cross
Cardon ²⁷⁵	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Cardon ²³⁹	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross

	Question 1	Question 2	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Total		
Study ^[No]	Eligibility	Random	PA Reliability	Correlate Reliability	Power	No.	(0-6)	Level of	Study
		Selection				Participants		Quality*	Design**
Caroli ³²³	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Cespedes ³⁵³	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Inter-B
Chuang ³⁵⁴	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Cliff ¹⁸⁹	1	1	0	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
Collings ⁵⁹	1	0	0	1	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Cox ²⁷⁶	1	1	0	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
Davies ²⁶⁴	1	1	1	1	0	1	5	High	Cross
Dowda ²⁷⁸	1	1	1	1	0	0	4	Moderate	Cross
Dowda ²⁷⁷	1	1	0	1	0	0	3	Moderate	Cross
Driessen ³⁵⁵	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Dwyer ²¹⁷	1	1	1	0	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
Edwards ³⁵⁶	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	Low	Cross
Eriksson ³²⁴	1	0	0	0	0	1	2	Low	Cross
Espana-Romero ³²⁵	1	0	0	0	0	1	2	Low	Cross
Fernald ²⁵³	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Pro
Finn ²⁶⁵	1	1	1	1	0	1	5	High	Cross
Firrincieli ³²⁶	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Fisher ²⁷⁹	1	1	0	1	0	0	3	Moderate	Cross
Gagne ²⁶⁶	1	1	1	1	0	1	5	High	Cross
Grigsby-Toussaint ³²⁷	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Grontved ³²⁸	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Grzywacz ³⁵⁷	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Low	Cross
Gubbels ²⁸¹	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Gubbels ²⁸⁰	1	1	1	0	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross

	Question 1	Question 2	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Total		
Study ^[No]	Eligibility	Random	PA Reliability	Correlate Reliability	Power	No.	(0-6)	Level of	Study
		Selection				Participants		Quality*	Design**
Gunter ³³⁰	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Heelan ²⁸²	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Hesketh ³⁵⁸	1	0	0	0	0	1	2	Low	Cross
Hesketh ³⁵⁹	1	0	0	0	0	1	2	Low	Cross
Hinkley ²⁸³	1	1	1	1	0	0	4	Moderate	Cross
Hinkley ³⁶⁰	1	1	1	1	0	1	5	High	Cross
Hnatiuk ²⁸⁴	1	1	1	0	0	1	4	Moderate	Pro
Hnatiuk ³⁶¹	1	0	0	1	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Iannotti ²⁵⁶	1	1	1	0	0	1	4	Moderate	Pro
Iivonen ³⁶²	1	1	0	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
Jackson ²⁵²	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Pro
Jago ²⁵⁹	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Pro
Janz ²⁸⁵	1	1	1	0	0	1	4	Moderate	Pro
Janz ²²²	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Jimenez-Pavon ³⁶³	1	1	1	0	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
Kambas ²⁸⁶	1	1	0	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
Kelly ²⁸⁷	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Kimbro ²⁸⁸	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Klesges ²⁸⁹	1	1	1	0	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
Kuepper-Nybelen ²⁹⁰	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
LaRowe ³³¹	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Laukkanen ²⁹¹	1	1	0	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
Lawrence ²⁹²	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Loprinzi ²⁹⁵	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross

Ouestion 1	Ouestion 2	Ouestion 3	Ouestion 4	Ouestion 5	Ouestion 6	Total		
Elioihilitu	Random	PA Reliahilitu	Correlate Reliability	Power	No	(0-6)	Level of	Study
Luzionny	Selection	1 11 10111011119	Correlate Reliability	10000	Particinants	(0 0)	Quality*	Design**
1	1	0	1	0	0	3	Moderate	Cross
1	1	0	1	0	0	2	Moderate	Cross
1	1	0	1	0	1	3 ว	Low	Cross
1	1	0	0	0	1	4	Madamata	Pro-
1	1	0	0	0	1	4	Moderate	Pro
1	0	1	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
1	0	0	0	0	1	2	Low	Cross
1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
1	1	1	1	0	1	5	High	Cross
1	1	0	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Inter-B
1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Inter-Pro
1	1	0	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
1	0	0	0	0	1	2	Low	Cross
1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
1	1	0	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
1	0	0	0	0	1	2	Low	Cross
1	1	0	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
	Question 1 Eligibility	Question 1 Question 2 Eligibility Random 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Question 1 Question 2 Question 3 Eligibility Random PA Reliability 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1	Question 1Question 2Question 3Question 4EligibilityRandomPA ReliabilityCorrelate Reliability $Selection$ $Selection$ 11011100110011001100110011001100110011001100110011001100110011001100110011001100110011001100110011001100110011001100	Question 1Question 2Question 3Question 4Question 5EligibilityRandom SelectionPA Reliability Correlate ReliabilityPower1101011010110001100011000110001100011000110001100011000110001100011000110001100011000110001100011000110001100011000110001100011000110001100011000110001100 <td>Question 1 Question 2 Question 3 Question 4 Question 5 Question 6 Eligibility Random PA Reliability Correlate Reliability Power No. 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 1 1</td> <td>Question 1 Question 2 Question 3 Question 4 Question 5 Question 6 Total Eligibility Random PA Reliability Correlate Reliability Power No. (0-6) Selection Participants 1 1 0 1 0 3 1 0 0 1 2 1 0 0 0 1 2 1 0 0 0 1 3 1 0 0 0 1 3 1 0 0 0 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 1 3 1 1 0 0 1 3 1 0 0 0 1 3 1 0 0 0</td> <td>Question 1 Question 2 Question 3 Question 4 Question 5 Question 6 Total Eligibility Random PA Reliability Correlate Reliability Power No. (0-6) Level of Selection Selection 0 3 Moderate 1 1 0 1 0 3 Moderate 1 0 0 0 3 Moderate 1 0 0 0 1 2 Low 1 0 0 0 1 3 Moderate 1 1 0 0 0 1 3 Moderate 1 1 0 0 0 1 3 Moderate 1</td>	Question 1 Question 2 Question 3 Question 4 Question 5 Question 6 Eligibility Random PA Reliability Correlate Reliability Power No. 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 1 1	Question 1 Question 2 Question 3 Question 4 Question 5 Question 6 Total Eligibility Random PA Reliability Correlate Reliability Power No. (0-6) Selection Participants 1 1 0 1 0 3 1 0 0 1 2 1 0 0 0 1 2 1 0 0 0 1 3 1 0 0 0 1 3 1 0 0 0 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 1 3 1 1 0 0 1 3 1 0 0 0 1 3 1 0 0 0	Question 1 Question 2 Question 3 Question 4 Question 5 Question 6 Total Eligibility Random PA Reliability Correlate Reliability Power No. (0-6) Level of Selection Selection 0 3 Moderate 1 1 0 1 0 3 Moderate 1 0 0 0 3 Moderate 1 0 0 0 1 2 Low 1 0 0 0 1 3 Moderate 1 1 0 0 0 1 3 Moderate 1 1 0 0 0 1 3 Moderate 1

	Question 1	Question 2	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Total		
Study ^[No]	Eligibility	Random	PA Reliability	Correlate Reliability	Power	No.	(0-6)	Level of	Study
		Selection				Participants		Quality*	Design**
Raustorp ³³⁸	1	0	0	0	0	1	2	Low	Cross
Rice ³⁶⁹	1	0	1	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
Saakslahti ²⁶⁷	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Sallis ³³⁹	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Sallis ³⁷⁰	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Schary ³⁰⁵	1	1	0	1	0	0	3	Moderate	Cross
Shen ³⁰⁶	1	0	1	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Sigmund ³⁰⁷	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Smith ³⁰⁸	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Spurrier ³⁴⁰	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Sugiyama ³⁰⁹)	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Sundberg ³⁴¹	1	0	0	0	0	1	2	Low	Cross
Tanaka ³¹¹	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Tanaka ³¹⁰	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Tanaka ³⁷¹	0	0	0	1	0	1	2	Low	Cross
Tandon ³¹⁷	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Tandon ³¹⁸	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Taylor ²⁵⁷	1	1	1	1	0	1	5	High	Pro
Taylor ²⁵⁸	0	0	1	1	0	1	3	Moderate	Pro
Temple ³⁴²	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Trost ³¹²	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Vale ²⁴¹	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Vale ³⁴³	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Vale ³⁷²	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross

	Question 1	Question 2	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Total		
Study [No]	Eligibility	Random	PA Reliability	Correlate Reliability	Power	No.	(0-6)	Level of	Study
		Selection				Participants		Quality*	Design**
Vale ³⁷³	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
van Rossem ³¹³	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
van Sluijs ³⁷⁴	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	Low	Cross
Vanderloo ³⁷⁵	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Low	Cross
Vanderloo ³¹⁹	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Vasquez ³⁴⁶	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	Low	Cross
Verbestel ³¹⁴	1	1	0	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
Vorwerg ³¹⁵	1	1	0	0	0	1	3	Moderate	Cross
Wijtzes ³⁷⁶	0	0	1	0	0	1	2	Low	Cross
Williams ⁶³	1	1	0	1	0	0	3	Moderate	Cross
Worobey ³⁴⁸	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	Low	Cross
Yamamoto ³⁴⁹	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Low	Cross
Zecevic ³¹⁶	1	1	0	1	0	1	4	Moderate	Cross
								Low=43(33%)	
Total	122(93%)	103(79%)	25(19%)	38(29%)	0(0%)	90(69%)		Mod=78(60%)	
								High = 9(7%)	

(Q1) Did the study describe the participant eligibility criteria?

(Q2) Were the participants randomly selected?

(Q3) Did the study report the sources and details of physical activity assessment clearly and did the instruments have acceptable reliability for the specific age group (an intra-class correlation coefficient .70 or Pearson correlation .80 was considered acceptable)?

(Q4) Did the study report the sources and details of assessment of biological, demographic, psychological and environmental correlates and did all of the methods have acceptable reliability (e.g. parents physical activity, green space)?

(Q5) Did the study report a power calculation and was the study adequately powered to detect hypothesized relationships?

(Q6) Did the study report the numbers of participants who completed each of the different measures?

*Level of Quality: 5 – 6 = High, 4 – 3 = Moderate, 2 – 0 = Low. Studies in **Bold** are high quality and/or are of prospective design,

** Cross = Cross-sectional, Inter -B= Intervention Baseline results, Pro = prospective study.

3.4.4. Description of Included Studies

A large number of studies were conducted in the USA (n=52, 40%). The age of participants within studies ranged from 0.5²⁹² to 5.95 years²⁹¹ (mean=4.3 years). Four studies (3%) investigated potential correlates of PA with infants, 35 (27%) with toddlers, and 92 (70%) with preschoolers. Sample sizes ranged from 20²⁶⁸ to 10,694²⁶² (median=208). Studies investigated between one and 51²⁸³ potential correlates (median=3).

Most studies (n=104, 80%) used objective measurements of PA, including: accelerometers (n=80, 6 determinant studies); direct observation (n=13, 2 determinant studies); pedometers (n=7); doubly labelled water (n=2), and heart rate monitoring (n=1). Twenty-four studies (1 determinant study) used parental proxy-report. Of the nine high quality studies, six (67%) used accelerometers, ^{130,255,263,265,266,364} one (11%) used doubly-labelled water,²⁶⁴ one used proxy-report,²⁶² and one used accelerometer plus proxy-report.²⁵⁷

3.4.5. Demographic and biological variables

Thirty potential correlates of TPA were identified (Appendix 3.4), 10 of which were investigated \geq 4 times (Table 3.2). Six high quality studies investigated differences of TPA by sex, and overall found boys to be more active than girls. Body mass index (5 high quality studies, 40% with negative associations) was found to be inconsistently associated with TPA. The strength of the associations/the presence of an association between sex, ethnicity and parental education and TPA varied between studies using objective and subjective measures of TPA. Nine potential determinants were identified for TPA (Table 3.2 and Appendix 3.5). The most frequently investigated potential determinants were sex (three studies) and age (four studies). All other variables were investigated once and showed no

associations, apart from maternal depressive symptoms which showed a negative association with TPA.

A total of 19 potential demographic and biological correlates were investigated for associations with MVPA (Appendix 3.6), nine of which were investigated \geq 4 times (Table 3.3). Four high quality studies (75%, strong association) investigated differences in MVPA by sex and found boys were significantly more active than girls. Seven potential determinants of MVPA were identified (Appendix 3.7): only sex was investigated more than once and the association inconsistently associated with MVPA (Table 3.3).

Fourteen potential demographic and biological correlates were investigated for associations with LPA (Appendix 3.8). Only three variables were investigated \geq 4 times (Table 3.4); all had no association with LPA. Four potential demographic and biological variables (sex, ethnicity, BMI and parental education) were investigated as potential determinants of LPA (Appendix 3.9, Table 3.4) in one study.¹⁵³ The study found boys took part in significantly more LPA than girls; all other variables had no association with LPA.

				1 0	2
			Unrelated to		
	Related to TPA		TPA		
	Positive	Negative	No		
	Association	Association	Association	Summary Code	
				n/N (%)	
	No. Studies	No. Studies	No. Studies	Association ^a	High quality
	(No. HQ*)	(No. HQ*)	(No. HQ*)		summary ^b
DEMOGRAPHIC AND BI	OLOGICAL V	ARIABLES			
Correlates					
Age					
- Overall	14(2HQ)	5	20	14/39 (36%) ?	~
- Subjective	1	1	4	1/6 (17%) ?	~
- Objective	13 (2HQ)	4	16	13/33 (39%) ?	~
Sex (male)					
- Overall	42(6HQ)	~	35	42/77 (55%)?	6/6(100%)++
- Subjective	5(1HQ)	~	10	5/15 (33%) 0	~
- Objective	37(5HQ)	~	25	37/62 (60%) +	5/5(100%)++
Ethnicity (white)					
- Overall	6	1	11(1HQ)	6/18 (35%)?	~
- Subjective	2	1	7(1HQ)	1/10(10%) 0	~
- Objective	4	0	4	4/8 (50%) ?	~
Socio-economic status					
- Overall	~	~	7	0/7(0%) 0	~
- Subjective	~	~	5(1HQ)	0/5 (0%) 0	~
- Objective	~	~	4	0/4 (0%) 0	~
Parental education					
- Overall	~	4(1HQ)	14	4/18(22%) 0	~
- Subjective	~	3(1HQ)	6	3/8 (38%) ?	~
- Objective	~	1	8	1/9 (11%) 0	~
Parental age					
- Overall	~	~	7	0/7(0%) 0	~
- Subjective	~	~	4(1HQ)	0/4(0%) 0	~
- Objective	~	~	3	0/3(0%) 0	~
Adiposity - Overall/Objective	1	3	4(1HQ)	3/8(38%) 0	~
Body Mass Index (BMI)					
- Overall	5(1HQ)	6(2HQ)	26(3HQ)	6/37(16%) 0	2/5(40%) ?
- Subjective	1(1HQ)	2(2HQ)	5	2/8(25%) 0	~
- Objective	4	4	21(2HQ)	4/21(19%)0	~
Gross Motor-Skills					
- Overall	9(2HQ)	1	13	9/23(37%) ?	~
- Subjective	1(1HQ)	~	~	1/1(100%) #	~
- Objective	8	1	13	8/22(37%) ?	~

Table 3.2. Summary of potential correlates and determinants of total physical activity.

Parents BMI

~	3	9	3/12(25%) 0	~	
~	1	3	1/4(25%) 0	~	
~	2	6	2/8(25%) 0	~	
~	3	7	3/7(42%) ?	~	
~	~	4	0/4(0%) 0	~	
~	3	4	3/7(43%) ?	~	
~	~	8	0/8(0%) 0	~	
~	~	5	0/5 (0%) 0	~	
~	~	3	0/3(0%) 0	~	
2	~	6	2/8(25%) 0	~	
0	~	2	0/2 (0%) #	~	
2	~	4	2/6(33%) 0	~	
	~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	~ 3 ~ 1 ~ 2 ~ 3 ~ 3 ~ ~ ~ 3 ~ ~ ~ 3 ~ ~ ~ 3 ~ ~ ~ ~	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	\sim 39 $3/12(25\%) 0$ \sim 13 $1/4(25\%) 0$ \sim 26 $2/8(25\%) 0$ \sim 37 $3/7(42\%) ?$ \sim \sim 4 $0/4(0\%) 0$ \sim 34 $3/7(43\%) ?$ \sim \sim 8 $0/8(0\%) 0$ \sim \sim 5 $0/5 (0\%) 0$ \sim \sim 3 $0/3(0\%) 0$ \sim \sim 3 $0/3(0\%) 0$ \sim \sim 2 $0/2 (0\%) \#$ 2 \sim 4 $2/6(33\%) 0$	\sim 3 9 $3/12(25\%) 0$ \sim \sim 1 3 $1/4(25\%) 0$ \sim \sim 2 6 $2/8(25\%) 0$ \sim \sim 3 7 $3/7(42\%) ?$ \sim \sim \sim 4 $0/4(0\%) 0$ \sim \sim \sim 4 $0/4(0\%) 0$ \sim \sim \sim 4 $0/4(0\%) 0$ \sim \sim \sim 4 $0/4(0\%) 0$ \sim \sim \sim 3 4 $3/7(43\%) ?$ \sim \sim \sim 3 4 $3/7(43\%) ?$ \sim \sim \sim 5 $0/5(0\%) 0$ \sim \sim \sim \sim 5 $0/5(0\%) 0$ \sim \sim \sim \sim 3 $0/3(0\%) 0$ \sim \sim \sim \sim 5 $0/5(0\%) 0$ \sim \sim \sim \sim 6 $2/8(25\%) 0$ \sim \sim 2 \sim 4 $2/6(33\%$

DEMOGRAPHIC AND BIOLOGICAL VARIABLES

Determinants

Age – Overall/Objective	1	2	1	2/4(50%)? ~
Sex (male) – Overall/Objective	2	~	1	2/3(66%) + ~
Maternal depressive symptoms				
- Overall/Subjective	~	1	~	1/1(100%) - ~
Ethnicity (White)				
- Overall/Subjective	~	~	2	0/2(0%) 0 ~
Parents education	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0 ~
Adiposity – Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0 ~
Body Mass Index (BMI)				
- Overall/Subjective	~	~	2	0/2(0%) 0 ~
Aerobic fitness				
- Overall/Subjective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0 ~
Gross Motor-Skill Performance				
- Overall/Subjective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0 ~
BEHAVIOURAL VARIA	BLES			
Correlates				

Television viewing (TV)				
- Overall	~	7(1HQ)	9	7/16(44%) ? ~
- Subjective	~	4(1HQ)	4	4/8(50%) 0 ~
- Objective	~	3	5	3/8(38%) 0 ~

SOCIAL AND CULTURAL VARIABLES

Correlates

Parental PA/family interactions					
- Overall	10(2HQ)	1	8	10/17(59%) ?	~
- Subjective	4(1HQ)	1	0	4/5(80%) +	~
- Objective	6(1HQ)	0	6	6/12(50%) ?	~
Parental support					~
- Overall	7	~	7	7/14(50%)?	~
- Subjective	5	~	0	5/5(100%) +	~
- Objective	2	~	7	2/9(22%) 0	
Parent(s) work status					
- Overall	2(2HQ)	4	9(3HQ)	4/15(27%) 0	2/5(40%)?
- Subjective	1(1HQ)	2	5(3HQ)	2/8(25%) 0	1/4(25%)*
- Objective	1(1HQ)	2	4	2/7(29%) 0	~
Parenting Practices					
- Overall	4	1	14	4/19(21%) 0	~
- Subjective	2	~	4	2/6(33%) 0	~
- Objective	2	1	10	2/13(15%) 0	~
Parents perceptions and beliefs					
- Overall	5(1HQ)	~	4	5/9(56%) ?	~
- Subjective	4	~	4	4/8(50%) ?	~
- Objective	1	~	~	1/1(100)% #	~
Parents barriers					
- Overall	~	4	3	4/7(57%) ?	~
- Subjective	~	2	2	2/4(50%) ?	~
- Objective	~	2	1	2/3(66%) #	~

SOCIAL AND CULTURAL VARIABLES

Determinants

Parental PA/family interactions					
- Overall/Objective	1(1HQ)	~	5(1HQ)	1/6(20%) 0	~
Parental PA knowledge					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
Parental PA views					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
Parental PA optimism					
- Overall/Objective	1	~	2	1/3(33%) 0	~
Parental PA self-efficacy					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	2	0/2(0%) 0	~
Parental PA future expectations					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	2	0/2(0%) 0	~
Parental floor concerns					

- Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
Parental TV knowledge					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
Parental TV use					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	2	0/2(0%) 0	~
Parental TV self-efficacy					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	2	0/2(0%) 0	~
Parental screen time					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	2	0/2(0%) 0	~
Time spent playing outside with adult	ts				
- Overall/Objective		~			
	~		2	0/2(0%) 0	~
Tummy time					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	2	0/2(0%) 0	~
Time spent on the floor					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
Time spent playing with parent					
- Overall/Objective	3	~	1	3/4(75%) +	~
Time spent playing with peers similar	age				
- Overall/Objective					
	~	1	4	1/5(20%) 0	~
Time spent with older toddlers or chil	dren				
- Overall/Objective					
	~	~	2	0/2(0%) 0	~
PHYSICAL ENVIRONME	NTAL VAR	IABLES			
Correlates					
Time outdoors/in play spaces					
- Overall	7	~	1	7/8(88%) +	~
- Subjective	-	~	1	0/1(0%) #	~
- Objective	7	~	~	7/7(100%) +	~
Attend childcare					
- Overall	1	1	3	1/4(20%) 0	~
- Subjective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) #	~
- Objective	1	1	2	1/4(25%)0	~
Season (summer)					

5

~

5

2(1HQ)

1(1HQ)

1

3(2HQ)

3(2HQ)

~

5/10(50%) ?

1/1(100%) #

5/9(56%)?

~

~

~

- Overall

- Subjective

- Objective
| Weekday v weekend (weekday) | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------------|--------|---|--------|-------------------|---|
| - Overall | 4 | 6 | 5(1HQ) | 6/15(33%) 0 | ~ |
| - Subjective | ~ | 2 | ~ | 2/2(100%) # | ~ |
| - Objective | 4 | 4 | 5(1HQ) | 4/13(31%) 0 | ~ |
| Time of day (afternoon) | | | | | |
| - Overall/Objective | 2 | ~ | 2 | 2/4(50%) ? | ~ |
| Month of PA data collected | | | | | |
| - Overall/Objective | 1 | ~ | 5 | 1/6(17%) 0 | ~ |
| Frequency of visits to active play spaces | | | | | |
| (per week) | | | | | |
| - Overall/Objective | 1 | 1 | 2 | 1/4(25%) * | ~ |
| Individual preschool | | | | | |
| - Overall | 6(2HQ) | ~ | ~ | 6/6(100%) + | ~ |
| - Subjective | 1 | ~ | ~ | 1/1(100%) # | ~ |
| - Objective | 5(2HQ) | ~ | ~ | 5/5(100%) + | ~ |

PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENTAL VARIABLES

Determinants

Time outdoors/in play spaces					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	2	0/2(0%) 0	~
Play equipment at home					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	2	0/2(0%) 0	~
Time of day (afternoon)					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
TV in home					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	2	0/2(0%) 0	~

HQ = High Quality Studies.

Overall = combined subjective and objective measures.

Subjective = Subjective outcome measure. Objective = Objective outcome measure.

Objective – Objective outcome measure.

Overall/Objective = only objective measures were applied by studies exploring exposure.

Overall/Subjective = only subjective measures were applied by studies exploring exposure.

* = All associations were derived from the same study, so no code was awarded.

~ = No data.

a = association codes: 0 = no association, ? inconsistent, - negative , + positive, # = insufficient data to derive an association.

b = association codes for high quality studies (≥4 studies required): 00 = strong no association, ? inconsistent, ++ strong positive, -- strong negative.

Bold associations are the final grading for each exposure/variable.

Table 3.3. Summary of potential correlates and determinants of moderate-to-vigorous

physical activity.

	Related to MVPA		Unrelated to MVPA		
		Negative	_		
	Positive Association	Association	No Association	Summary Code	
				n/N (%)	High
		No. Studies(No.		Association ^a	quality
	No. Studies(No. HQ*)	HQ*)	No. Studies(No. HQ*)		summary ^b
DEMOGRAPHIC	AND BIOLOGIC	AL VARIABLES	- Correlates		
Age – Overall/Objective	8(1HQ)	2	11(1HQ)	8/21(30%) ?	~
Sex (male) –	33(3HQ)	1	20(1HQ)	33/54(61%) +	3/4(75%) ++
Overall/Objective					
Ethnicity (white)					
- Overall/Objective	1	2	4	2/7(28%) 0	~
Parental education					
- Overall/Objective	1	1	11(1HQ)	1/13(8%) 0	~
Adiposity –	~	3	5	3/8(38%) ?	~
Overall/Objective					
Body Mass Index (BMI)					
- Overall	3	4(1HQ)	23(1HQ)	4/30(14%) 0	~
- Subjective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) #	~
- Objective	3	4(1HQ)	22	4/29(14%) 0	~
Gross Motor-Skills					
- Overall/Objective	11	2	13	11/26(42%) ?	~
Parents BMI					~
- Overall/Objective	~	1	6	1/7(14%) 0	
Physical Health					
- Overall	1	4	4	4/9(44%) ?	~
- Subjective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) #	~
- Objective	1	4	3	4/8(50%)?	~
DEMOGRAPHIC	AND BIOLOGIC	AL VARIABLES	-Determinants		
Sex (male) -	1	1	2	1/2(50%) ?	~
Overall/Objective					
Ethnicity(white)					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
Parents education					
(degree)	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
- Overall/Objective					
Adiposity -	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
Overall/Objective					
Body Mass Index (BMI)					

- Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
Aerobic fitness					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
Gross motor-skills					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
BEHAVIOURAL	VARIABLES	- Correlates			
Television viewing (TV)					
- Overall	1	1	2	1/4(25%) 0	~
- Subjective	~	~	1	0/1 (0%) #	~
- Objective	1	1	1	1/3 (33%) #	~
SOCIAL AND CULTUR	RAL VARIABLES				
Correlates					
Parental PA/family					
interactions	4(1HQ)	~	4(1HQ)	4/8(50%) ?	~
- Overall/Objective					
Parent(s) work status					
- Overall/Objective	3		3	3/6(50%) ?	~
PHYSICAL ENV	IRONMENTA	AL VARIABLES	- Correlates		
Time outdoors/in play					
spaces	2	1	3	2/6(33%) 0	~
- Overall/Objective					
Attend childcare centre					
- Overall/Objective	2	~	3	2/5(40%) ?	~
Season (summer)					
- Overall/Objective	3	1	4	3/8(38%) ?	~
Weekday v weekend					
(weekday)	2	~	4	2/6(33%) ?	~
- Overall/Objective					
Individual preschool					
- Overall/Objective	3	~	1	3/4(75%) +	~
PHYSICAL ENV	IRONMENTA	AL VARIABLES	- Determinants		
Hours spent at preschoo	ıl				
- Overall/Objective			1	0/1(0%) 0	~
HQ = High Quality Studie	S.				
Overall = combined subjective =	tive and objective r	neasures.			
Objective = Objective out	ome measure.				

Overall/Objective = only objective measures were applied by studies exploring exposure.

Overall/Subjective = only subjective measures were applied by studies exploring exposure.

* = All associations were derived from the same study, so no code was awarded.

~ = No data.

a = association codes: 0 = no association, ? inconsistent, - negative , + positive, # = insufficient data to derive an association.

b = association codes for high quality studies (≥4 studies required): 00 = strong no association, ? inconsistent, ++ strong positive, -- strong negative. **Bold** associations are the final grading for each exposure/variable.

			Unrelated to		
	Related to LPA		LPA		
	Positive Association	Negative Association	No Association	Summary Code	
	i obitive nooceation	reguire rissociation		=/NL (9/)	
			No. Challer(No.	n/in (%)	
			No. Studies(No.	Association ^a	High quality
	No. Studies(No. HQ*)	No. Studies(No. HQ*)	HQ*)		summary ^b
DEMOGRAPHI	C AND BIOLOGIC	CAL VARIABLES -	Correlates		
Sex (male)					
- Overall	5	~	9	5/14(35%) 0	~
- Subjective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) #	~
- Objective	5	~	8	5/13(38%) ?	~
Parental education					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	5	0/5(0%) 0	~
Body Mass Index					
(BMI)	~	~	7	0/7(0%) 0	~
- Overall/Objective					
DEMOGRAPHI	C AND BIOLOGIC	CAL VARIABLES -	Determinants	;	
Sex (male)					
- Overall/Objective	1	~	~	1/1(100%) +	~
Parental education					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
Body Mass Index					
(BMI)	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
- Overall/Objective					
Ethnicity(white)					
- Overall/Objective	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
PHYSICAL ENV	IRONMENT VAR	IABLES - Determi	nants		
Hours spent at	~	~	1	0/1(0%) 0	~
preschool					
HQ = High Quality Stud Overall = combined sub Subjective = Subjective of Objective = Objective of Overall/Objective = only Overall/Subjective = only * = All associations wer ~ = No data. a = association codes: 0	dies. jective and objective measu putcome measure. itcome measure. y objective measures were a ly subjective measures were e derived from the same st = no association, ? inconsis	ures. applied by studies explori e applied by studies explo rudy, so no code was awar tent, - negative , + positive	ng exposure. ring exposure. ded. 2, # = insufficient dat	a to derive an associa	tion.

Table 3.4. Summary of potential correlates and determinants of light physical activity.

negative. **Bold** associations are the final grading for each exposure/variable.

111

3.4.6. Psychological, cognitive and emotional variables

Eleven potential psychological, cognitive and emotional correlates were investigated for associations with TPA, nine were investigated for associations with MVPA, and three were investigated for associations with LPA. None of the potential correlates were investigated frequently enough (\geq 4 times) to attribute a grade. No potential psychological determinants were identified for any PA category (Appendices 3.5, 3.7, 3.9).

3.4.7. Behavioural variables

Seven potential behavioural correlates were investigated for associations with TPA, eight were investigated for an association with MVPA, and one was investigated for an association with LPA (Appendices 3.4, 3.6, 3.8). The only variable to be investigated \geq 4 times for both TPA and MVPA was TV viewing (Tables 3.3 and 3.4), which was classified as inconsistent for both types of PA. No potential behavioural determinants were found for any PA category.

3.4.8. Social and cultural variables

Twenty-seven potential social and cultural correlates were investigated for associations with TPA (Appendix 3.4); six were investigated \geq 4 times (Table 3.2). Differences in associations of independent variables with subjectively and objectively measured TPA were found for parental PA (objective = ?; subjective = +) and parental support (objective = 0; subjective = +) (Table 3.2). There were no other associations with either objectively or subjectively measured TPA. Seventeen potential determinants of TPA were identified (Table 3.2, Appendix 3.5): parental PA had no association and time spent playing with parents (four models from one study,¹⁵⁴ 75% positive) had a positive association with TPA. No associations were found with the remaining potential determinants (Table 3.2, Appendix 3.5).

Thirty-seven potential social and cultural correlates were investigated for associations with MVPA (Appendix 3.6) and 18 for LPA (Appendix 3.8). Two variables (parental PA and parents work status) were classified as being inconsistent with MVPA (Table 3.4). For LPA no variables were investigated \geq 4 times. No potential determinants of MVPA or LPA were identified.

3.4.9. Physical environment variables

Seventy-eight potential physical environment correlates (Appendix 3.4) were investigated for associations with TPA, eight were investigated \geq 4 times (Table 3.2). Time outdoors in play spaces and the individual preschool attended were found to have positive associations. There were no differences between studies using subjective and objective measures. Four potential determinants were investigated (time outdoors, play equipment in the home, time of day, television in the home; Table 3.2) all showed no association.

Ninety potential physical environment correlates were investigated for associations with MVPA (Appendix 3.6). Five variables were investigated \geq 4 times (Table 3.3). The individual preschool/childcare setting (type: faith, private, state run) was positively associated with MVPA (four studies, 75%), while the amount of time spent outdoors in play spaces had no association (six studies, 33%) with MVPA. Only one potential determinant of MVPA was investigated (Table 3.3): the number of hours a child spent at preschool was found to have no association with MVPA. No high quality studies investigated any potential physical environment correlates or determinants of MVPA.

Ten potential physical environment correlates were investigated for association with LPA (Appendix 3.8). No variables were investigated \geq 4 times. One potential determinant of LPA (hours spent at preschool) was identified and showed no association (Table 3.4, Appendix 3.9).

3.5. Discussion

This systematic review identified a large number of observational studies that examined the correlates and determinants of PA in the early years. Few studies were of high quality and the number of identified correlates and determinants identified was small. All correlates and determinants found for each of the PA intensities (TPA, MVPA and LPA) were either demographic and biological variables, social and cultural variables or physical environment variables. Boys were found to participate in more TPA, MVPA and LPA than girls. The correlates and determinants found can aid in identifying potential efficacious mediators for the use in interventions aiming to promote TPA, MVPA and LPA of children during the early years, which to date have had little effectiveness.²⁴³

To date, there have been two known systematic reviews conducted specifically within early years children.^{83,84} Like the previous reviews,^{83,84} this review reported findings according to an ecological model, to highlight different levels of influence on PA.^{129,132} There are some similarities and differences between the previous and current reviews (e.g. sex, ethnicity and time-outdoors).^{83,84} Review differences may be due to the current review including more published studies over a longer period of time (Bingham:1900-2014, Hinkley:1980-2007, De Craemer: 1990-2010) and applying a larger age range (Bingham: 0-6 years, Hinkley: 2-5 years; De Craemer: 3-6 years). Like Hinkley⁸⁴ for TPA and De Craemer⁸³ for MVPA, we found sex to be a correlate (with boys more active than girls). Furthermore, sex also was found to be a determinant of LPA, but not MVPA; however, this was based on a small number of studies. Given PA varies between the sexes across the life course, with males mostly being reported to be more active than females,¹³⁴ and correlates of PA differ between boys and girls during the early years,²⁸³ identifying sex-specific strategies to increase PA in future interventions is recommended. The necessity for sexspecific strategies is further strengthened by higher obesity prevalence in girls throughout childhood.59,66,211

Like Hinkley⁸⁴, it was found time spent outdoors in play spaces was positively correlated with TPA, but it was not found to be a determinant (2 studies). It is unclear if young children are more active outside because specific outdoor environments may be more conducive to PA (e.g. green space, playgrounds, and rural/urban areas). This finding suggests that time spent outdoors in play spaces could be a suitable behaviour to target in future interventions promoting TPA. Interestingly, this review found no association between time outdoors and MVPA. This could be because young children may need specific support and encouragement from parents/adults to engage in more intensive activity.¹¹⁴ Attendance at preschool/childcare was found to be a positive correlate of both MVPA and TPA. Studies exploring preschool/childcare (all cross-sectional) found more PA took place within faith-based and private preschools compared to government preschools.^{265,302,328,348} The study authors^{265,302,328,348} speculated this difference was because faith and private preschools had greater space for children to play actively. With many children attending preschool/day-care/nursery (48.5%) of USA³⁷⁷ and 64% of UK children³⁷⁸), and with those environments providing prime opportunities to influence behaviours, it is highly recommended more research is undertaken to clearly identify which characteristics of those environments are associated with children's PA.

This review is the first known to summarize the determinants of children's PA during the early years. Determinants are considered more valuable than correlates because they show associations over time and are from stronger study designs.⁶⁰ Only sex has been previously identified as a determinant of PA in childhood.¹³⁴ This review also found sex to be a determinant of TPA, and maternal depressive symptoms and the time a parent plays with their child were additionally identified as determinants. However, caution must be taken when interpreting these results due to the small number of studies (n=9) investigating determinants. Many of the potential determinants were investigated in only one study;¹⁵⁴ therefore, more high

quality, longitudinal/prospective research is needed to consistently identify determinants and better inform interventions.

A benefit of the large number of studies included within this review is that the findings could be stratified by the type of measure used for PA (objective or subjective). Subjective and objective measures ultimately measure PA differently. Generally, larger errors exist with subjective measures which can falsely inflate the proportion of variance a variable can account for within the outcome (e.g. habitual PA). Despite these differences there were few differences found between the correlates of subjectively and objectively measured PA across most domains of the ecological model. This is an important finding as consistency between the measures strongly supports the direction (or lack thereof) of an association. However, different associations for sex, ethnicity, parental education, parental PA, physical health and parental support were found between objectively and subjectively measured PA. Since few high quality studies were identified and only one used both objective and subjective measures with the same sample²⁵⁷ (measured tracking [age] no difference between measures was found), we cannot say whether the inconsistencies in associations were due to the way PA was measured or other inconsistencies between study methodologies. The majority of studies within this review did use objective measures. Future studies using both objective and subjective measures are warranted in order to further investigate differences between factor associations with PA, between measurement types.

Despite the large number of studies identified in the present review, few (n=9) were of high quality. It may be that it is the reporting of studies which is poor, rather than the study itself. Therefore, a recommendation from this review is that the STROBE guidelines²⁵¹ are followed when reporting studies to ensure necessary information is included. Improving the quality and reporting of future studies could lead to more consistency across studies and greater confidence in the identified correlates and determinants of PA.

<u>3.5.1. Gaps in the Research</u>

The studies reported in this review focused primarily upon potential demographic/biological and social/cultural correlates/determinants of PA. Future research needs to explore potential correlates across the whole spectrum of the ecological model within one study to clearly identify the relative influence of individual correlates/determinants within the broader context of children's lives. The majority of studies included in this review were conducted in high-income Anglo/European nations, with little research conducted in low- to middle-income countries. There was also little research conducted investigating and examining the differences in the correlates and determinants between ethnic groups, particularly WB and SA children, and only a small number of studies examined potential correlates and determinants in children aged two or younger (infants and toddlers).

3.5.2 Limitations

A limitation of this review is the small number of identified longitudinal studies, with findings largely based on cross-sectional research. Most peer-reviewed literature was published in English which means the exclusion of non-English publications may in part account for the lack of studies found in low- and middleincome countries. Another limitation of the current review and all other correlate and determinant reviews is assigning a binary yes/no correlate/determinant category to exposure variables. The whole area of PA research needs to report the individual variance each individual exposure variable has with PA, rather than stating whether an exposure variable is statistically significant or not. By doing this, a future review, similar to the present review, would become more informative for intervention designers and policy makers when deciding which

correlates/determinants to target within future young children's PA interventions and programmes.

3.5.3. Conclusions

Although a large body of research investigating potential correlates/determinants of PA in the early years has been published, few studies are of high quality. Studies included in this review focused predominantly on demographic and biological, and social/cultural correlates and determinants. Future research should focus on: 1) improved reporting of measurement methods so study quality can be accurately assessed; 2) longitudinal/prospective studies to assess temporal associations (determinants); 3) additional ecological domains relevant for PA early in life (e.g., policies, macroeconomics), and 4) the inter-relationship of constructs within and between domains.

<u>CHAPTER 4</u> – Accelerometer data requirements for reliable estimation of habitual physical activity and sedentary time of children during the early years.

The study in this chapter has been published in the Journal of Sport Sciences:

Bingham DD, Costa S, Clemes SA, Routen AC, Moore HJ, Barber SE. Accelerometer data requirements for reliable estimation of habitual physical activity and sedentary time of children during the early years - a worked example following a stepped approach. *Journal of Sports Sciences*. 2016;43(20):2005-10.

<u>4.i. Preface</u>

Of the many findings reported in the systematic review in Chapter 2, the identifying of limited research examining the correlates of MVPA between ethnicities especially WB and SA young children, is a key finding the rest of thesis will explore. To add, because of the availability of comprehensive birth cohort data, including a proxyreport MVPA and ST questionnaire of two year old children living in a predominate bi-ethnic community (the city of Bradford, UK), an opportunity to address these research gaps was available. In order to pursue this opportunity an investigation of the validity and test re-test reliability of proxy-report MVPA questionnaire needed to take place, using accelerometry as the criterion measure. This chapter preluded the validity and reliability investigation (Chapter Five) in order to estimate a population specific accelerometry wear-time, to reliably estimate habitual PA levels of young children living in the city of Bradford.

4.1. Introduction

Physical inactivity is a leading cause of non-communicable diseases worldwide.²⁰ Although non-communicable diseases are rare among young children (< 5 years); it is during the early years that modifiable behaviours such as physical activity (PA) and sedentary time (ST) develop.²³⁷ Young children's PA is difficult to measure due its intermittent and spontaneous nature.¹⁹⁶ Accelerometers provide a valid objective measure of young children's habitual PA/ ST.^{185,197,299} Accelerometers detect and measure acceleration (rate of change of velocity over time) of the human body via piezoelectric transmitters.^{193,195} Movement is measured by accelerometers via the units (counts) of the electrical signal caused by accelerative forces acting upon the piezoelectric transmitter.¹⁹⁵ Different models of accelerometers (uniaxial, biaxial, triaxial, omni-axial) can measure acceleration in different/multiple planes of movement;^{193,195} but the real strength of accelerometers is the ability to measure the frequency, duration, intensity and bouts of PA with sensitivity (some models sample movement up to 100 hertz).^{193,195} Although progress has been made towards

understanding young children's PA and ST through accelerometry, a lack of consistency in its use is evident across the literature,^{110,175} particularly regarding wear-time processing and inclusion criteria.^{203-205,379}

Wear-time and its counter-part non-wear-time are two of the most important aspects of accelerometer measurement researchers must give full consideration to.^{2,110,175} Once initialised accelerometers continually collect data even during periods when the monitor has been removed such as during sleep, naps, or water based activities (bathing, swimming bathing).^{2,175,202} Sometimes it can be difficult to distinguish between non-wear time and sedentary behaviours (television viewing, sitting reading etc).^{2,202} Wear time is the amount of time the accelerometer has been worn for, sufficient wear time durations are required in order for participants to have enough data to provide a reliable measure of habitual PA.^{2,193} Researchers apply parameters, often subjectively, or derived from other samples, to their data including: the minimum duration of a standard day, the minimum number of days required to reliably estimate habitual activity, the inclusion of a weekend-day and the exclusion of the first day of data (limiting potential reactivity).³⁸⁰ The application of previously published wear/inclusion criteria derived from samples that differ (e.g. children from different geographical and cultural settings may have different PA/ST habits,^{88,89} as well as different lengths and start/end of the time they are awake) from those being studied may lead to the unnecessary loss of participants and therefore statistical power if predefined criteria are not met.

<u>4.2. Aims</u>

This aims of this study were to 1) identify the wear-time criteria to reliably estimate habitual PA and ST levels of young children living in Bradford; 2) present the methods used as a worked example in a simple stepped-process to aid researchers when deciding on the number and type of days (weekday and/or weekend) of accelerometer data required to reliably estimate the habitual PA and ST of a sample of young children.

4.3. Methods

4.3.1. Participants and Settings

Participants were drawn from two separate studies run in the city of Bradford in the north of England: the Preschoolers in the Playground (PiP) study (n=216)^{184,381} and a study examining the PA and ST of children taking part in a cohort study (n=83).¹⁸² The studies' accelerometry protocols were identical, and therefore data were pooled, giving a combined sample of 299 children (2.93±0.59 years). The sample was composed of 152 boys (50.8%) and 147 girls (49.2%), 151 white British, 126 (50.5%) South Asian (42.1%) and 22 (7.4%) other ethnicities. Data were collected during the years of 2011-14. Institutional ethical approval was granted for both studies (PiP: NRES committee Yorkshire and the Humber [12/YH/0334]; Loughborough Universities ethics committee).

4.3.2. Procedure and Measurements

Participants wore an ActiGraph GT3X+ accelerometer (ActiGraph LLC, Pensacola, FL, USA) for 7-8 consecutive days on the right hip during waking hours. In order to have enough battery life for 7-8 consecutive days, the sampling rate of 60 hertz was selected. Data were downloaded and initially processed in Actilife v6. The start of a day was recorded as the first consecutive minute of count data >0 counts. Days with <3 hours and >18 hours of wear-time were excluded.^{205,382} Three or fewer hours of wear-time was deemed too little to provide a reliable indicator of daily behaviour. Similarly, a child at such a young age with greater than 18 hours of wear-time per day was deemed unrealistic. These cut-offs follow a recent study of 4 year olds

where the average daily wear time was 14 hours/day.⁵⁹ A valid day was determined as 80% of the period during which 70% of the sample had recorded data (70/80 rule).^{207,383} Non-wear-time was determined as \geq 10 minutes of consecutive zero counts.¹⁹⁶ Raw count data was integrated into 5-second and 15-second epoch data to correspond with original calibration methods of the chosen intensity cut points: Costa Axis-1 ¹⁸⁸ for ST (\leq 5 counts/5-second epoch) and total PA (TPA) (\geq 5 count/5– second epoch); Pate ¹⁹⁷ for moderate-to-vigorous PA (MVPA) (\geq 420 counts/15– second epoch). Because two separate cut-points have been applied the proportions of each intensity will not add up to 100%.

4.3.3. Data analysis

To determine wear-time requirements for generation of reliable estimates of habitual PA/ST, a six-step process based upon previous analyses ¹⁸² was followed (Figure 4.1). Normality of all continuous data was checked with Shaprio-wilk test along with the viewing of histograms- weekday, weekend, single day data were all not normally distributed therefore non-parametric tests were run (Wilcoxon and Friedman). All analyses were conducted in SPSS (version 22). Alpha was set at $p \le 0.05$ for all inferential tests.



Figure 4.1: A six step process to calculate reliable accelerometer daily wear

Step 1: to calculate the minimum length of a required day, the 70/80 ^{207,383} rule was applied to children who had >3 hours and <18h data on at least one day.

Step 2: datasets with <7 complete days of data were excluded to eliminate potential confounding of missing days. Outcome variables of mean/median (based upon normal distribution) ST (5-second epochs), MVPA (15-second epochs) and TPA (5-second epochs); and percentages of wear-time in intensity categories (%ST, %MVPA, %TPA) were then generated (e.g. (100/daily wear-time)×mean minutes of intensity)). Percentage values were derived to control for possible confounding of wear-time.³⁸² Chi-square tests were also run to test if there were any demographic differences (sex, age and ethnicity) between participants who provided seven days of data and those that did not.

Step 3: paired students t-test's or Wilcoxon matched-paired tests assessed differences in mean/median time and proportion (%) time in SB/TPA/MVPA between weekdays and weekend-days. A significant difference between weekdays and weekend days determined if the inclusion of a weekend-day was required.

Step 4: to assess potential reactivity, one-way repeated measures ANOVAs or Friedman's two-way ANOVA by ranks assessed differences in all outcomes across the seven days.

Step 5: to assess reliability of estimates, intra-class correlations were calculated to establish the reliability of a single day (single measure). The single day measure has previously been used before and is comparable to all previous studies.^{203,204,379,382} Due to the need to account for the variability between days (raters) and between participants, two-way random models (ICC[2,1]) were applied.^{191,384} The repeatability of days did not need to be accounted for because no same day was

repeated, therefore the purpose of the ICCs was to evaluate the consistency of accelerometer days.

Step 6: to calculate the number of days required to reach reliability coefficients of 0.7, 0.75 and 0.8, single-day ICCs were input into the Spearman-Brown prophecy formula.³⁸⁵ To establish the minimum days needed for reliable estimates, all results were rounded up to full days (e.g. both 2.1 and 2.7 would be rounded up to 3 days).

4.4. Results

Step 1: in total, 282 (94%) participants had >3 hours and <18 hours of data on one day. Applying the 70/80 rule, 351.1 minutes (5.9 hours) was calculated to represent minimum wear time. This was then rounded up to give a daily minimum required wear-time of 360 minutes (6 hours).

Step 2: a total of 97 (32%) participants met the minimum daily wear-time of 351.1 minutes (Step 1) on seven consecutive days. Median daily (interquartile range (IQR)) wear was 646.5 (IQR: 591.1-700.5) mins/day. Participants spent 298.6 (IQR: 244.7-315.5) mins/day in TPA. As a proportion this was 43.9% (IQR: 39.2-48.0) of daily wear. Participants spent 362.8 (IQR: 315.2-409.9) mins/day in ST, which as a proportion of wear time was 56.6% (IQR: 52.4-61.5). For MVPA participants spent 69.50 (IQR: 55.2-84.9) mins/day of which was 23.3% (IQR:19.4-29.2) of daily wear. Chi-square tests found no difference in sex or ethnicity between participants who provided seven days of data and those that did not.

Steps 3 and 4: no statistically significant differences were observed between weekdays and weekend days (Table 4.1), or between the order of days (Table 4.2) for any of the outcome variables.

Table 4.1: Weekday	verus wee	kend d	ay accel	lerometer
outcome variables.				

	Median	IQR	Z	p-value	
MVPA-Weekday	69.7	50.5-85.9	-0.37	0 72	
MVPA-Weekend	70.7	50.6-85.8	0.07	0.72	
%MVPA-Weekday	9.8	7.8-13.6	-1 70	0.10	
%MVPA-Weekend	11.2	8.4-13.6	1.70	0.10	
TPA-Weekday	286.2	248.2-317.9	-1 26	0.21	
TPA-Weekend	273.0	235.9-318.7	1.20		
%TPA-Weekday	43.5	38.8-47.7	-0 79	0.43	
%TPA-Weekend	44.0	39.2-49.4	0.7 2	0.10	
ST-Weekday	365.3	313.9-414.5	-1 26	0.21	
ST-Weekend	331.7	286.4-405.7	1.20	0.21	
%ST-Weekday	56.5	52.3-61.2	-0 79	0.43	
%ST-Weekend	56.0	50.6-60.8	0.7 7	0.10	

MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity, TPA = total physical activity, ST = sedentary time, % proportional value , IQR = Interquartile range, *z* = Wilcoxons Test statistic

	Friedman	
	χ2	p-value
MVPA (mins per day)	3.6	0.54
TPA (mins per day)	8.6	0.20
ST(mins per day)	8.6	0.20
MVPA%	5.2	0.54
TPA%	5.9	0.43
ST%	5.9	0.43

Table 4.2: Day by day differences of accelerometer outcome variables

* = p ≤0.05

MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity, TPA = total physical activity,

ST = sedentary time, % proportional value

Table 4.3: Number of days required to reliably estimate accelerometer outco	me
variables.	

			Minimum	Minimum	Minimum
			days needed	days	days needed
	single	95% CL	for 0.7	needed for	for 0.8
	day		reliability	0.75	reliability
Outcome (%)	ICC*			reliability	
MVPA (mins per day)	0.51	0.42-0.59	2.24	2.88	3.84
TPA (mins per day)	0.48	0.40-0.57	2.58	3.25	4.33
ST (mins per day)	0.48	0.40-0.57	2.58	3.25	4.33
MVPA%	0.53	0.43-0.61	2.15	2.77	3.69
TPA%	0.52	0.36-0.56	2.07	2.66	3.55
ST %	0.52	0.36-0.56	2.07	2.66	3.55

* Two-way Random ICC, consistency, single.

MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity, TPA = total physical activity, ST = sedentary time, % proportional value

Steps 5 and 6: Single day ICCs (2,1) ranged from 0.48 (TPA/ST) to 0.53 (%MVPA) (Table 4.3). From the Spearman-Brown prophecy formula, a minimum of three days was required to reach a reliability of 0.7 for all outcome variables (Table 4.3). To reach 0.75 three days were required for MVPA, MVPA%, TPA%, ST% and four days were required for TPA and ST (Table 4.3), and to reach 0.8, four days were required for MVPA, MVPA%, TPA%, ST% and five days for TPA and ST (Table 4.3).

4.5. Discussion

The present study is the first to investigate wear-time requirements using 5-second epochs (TPA and ST), which increases sensitivity when measuring young children's PA.^{182,185,188} Following a seven day measurement protocol, this study found no evidence of reactivity nor differences between weekdays and weekend days, meaning a minimum of six hours of data on any three days was sufficient to reliably estimate (ICC=0.7)^{379,382} young children's habitual time (and proportion of time) in TPA, ST and MVPA.

Similarly, six to eight hours of daily wear has been reported to be acceptable in previous studies within young children.^{203,204,382} and is widely adopted in studies measuring PA during the early years.¹⁷⁵ Conversely, Penpraze²⁰⁶ found and recommended a minimum of 10 hours of wear time is required for reliability of ICC=0.80 for young children. However, this study applied 60-second epochs, whereas other studies have utilised 15-second epochs.^{203,204,382}

Like the current study, Hislop²⁰⁴ found no differences in preschool children's activity between weekdays and weekend days, which agrees with studies from elsewhere.¹¹⁴ As such, Hislop and co-workers advise that a sufficient number of any type of days could provide adequate reliability for young children's PA. Activity consistently differs between week and weekends in school-aged children and

adolescents ²¹¹, for who the composition of valid days may be a more vital consideration, but some studies (Addy²⁰³Hinkley³⁸²) have also observed type of day differences in young children's activity, and thus recommend weekend data be included in observations. Differences between studies could be due to how studies have dealt with non-wear time. The current study like Hinkley²⁰⁵ applied the most conservative non-wear criteria of 10 minutes of consecutive zero counts. Hislop²⁰⁴ applied a 20 minute criteria of zero counts whilst Penpraze²⁰⁶ and Addy²⁰³ applied a criteria of 60 minutes of consecutive zero counts. Currently there is no standard approach in defining non-wear time for young children.²⁰² This study applied the more conservative non-wear criteria because of the young age of participants. This age group are likely to exhibit spontaneous and intermittent behaviours and likely to move whilst being sedentary. Not moving for greater than 10 minutes at this age is a strong indicator of non-wear.¹⁹⁶

Differences between studies could be due to cultural differences between samples. The current sample was derived from a deprived multi-ethnic community in northern England, which is socially, economically and environmentally different to that of Melbourne, Australia, ³⁸² Columbia, USA²⁰³ and multiple communities of Scotland.^{204,206} Futhermore, not exploring the wear-time criteria for individual samples and applying criteria found reliable within different populations could lead to unnecessary reduction of sample size, statistical power and reliability. As an example: applying this study's criteria of six hours on three days on our sample led to a sample size of n=237 (79%); if applying six hours on three weekdays plus one weekend day³⁸² the sample would be reduced to n=199(67%). However, because there was no difference in PA/ST time between week and weekend-days this would have made little difference to the resulting average PA/ST estimates, but would have reduced sample size and power for further analyses.

4.5.1. Limitations

Like all studies this study is not without its limitations. This study followed widely used data processing techniques using cut-points, epochs and estimation of non-wear time. Studies are beginning to develop methods to process raw accelerometer data, including adopting different strategies of estimating non-wear time through moving windows approaches.³⁸⁶ These techniques however are in their infancy and require a high level of expertise.³⁸⁷ Current processing techniques will therefore still likely to be commonly applied in the coming years. As the aim of this study was to present a simple process to calculate reliable estimates of wear time, this study did not control for potential confounders such as sex, ethnicity, age, and BMI). Future studies should investigate the effect of confounding variables upon wear-time. Finally, only 32% of the sample provided 7 full days of accelerometer data, and were used in our illustrative example of the step-by-step approach which may raise a question over sampling bias.

4.5.2. Conclusion

This study identified that a minimum of six hours of data on any three days is sufficient to reliably estimate young childrens habitual PA who live in the city of Bradford. The methods presented in this chapter offer readers a practical worked example of how to derive sample specific wear-time criteria. Researchers in the future can follow these methods to calculate wear-time criteria for their individual samples, and have greater confidence that data sets are being used to their full capacity whilst also maintaining measurement reliability.

<u>CHAPTER 5</u> – Reliability and Validity of the Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire (EY-PAQ)

The study in this chapter has been published in Sports:

Bingham DD, Collings PJ, Clemes SA, Costa S, Santorelli G, Griffiths P, Barber SE. Reliability and validity of the early years physical activity questionnaire (EY-PAQ). *Sports*, 2016;4(2):30.

<u>5.i. Preface</u>

The study in Chapter 4 informed a reliable wear-time criterion to be applied for the use of accelerometry measurement of Bradford young children's PA and ST. This chapter applied this criterion in order to conduct a validation analysis of the Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire – a proxy report questionnaire (in English and Urdu languages) which estimates young children's habitual MVPA and ST.

5.1. Introduction

The early years (ages 0-5) are vital for establishing healthy lifestyle behaviours including adequate levels of physical activity (PA) and low levels of sedentary time (ST), both of which can have immediate and long-term health impacts.^{27,106,108} In the short term, total PA and moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) both seem to be positively, and ST negatively, associated with multiple health outcomes in children (bone health, motor development, cardiovascular risk factors, cognitive development, psycho-social health and healthy adiposity).^{27,388} In the long term, low PA and high ST are key risk factors for the onset of non-communicable diseases later in life (i.e. cardiovascular disease and type II diabetes).^{20,223,224,389,390} These long-term influences may partly be explained by levels of PA and ST tracking over time.¹¹⁸

Objective monitoring tools, such as accelerometers, are becoming the first choice for field-based measures of PA and ST in young children.¹⁸⁵ Accelerometers can reliably and accurately measure the frequency, intensity and duration of young children's body movement within everyday settings.^{175,197} Hnatiuk and colleagues ¹¹¹ reviewed the results of studies measuring PA (n=40) and ST(n=31) in young children using accelerometers, and found that the daily proportion of time spent sedentary ranged from 34% to 94% whilst MVPA ranged from 2% to 41%. Although accelerometers are increasingly more common-place in published research,¹⁷⁵ like all methods accelerometers have limitations, including expense, participant burden, and the level of expertise required to process and analyse data.^{185,196,391,392} These

factors may preclude large-scale epidemiological studies of young children's (in)activity behaviours, which are particularly required within multi-ethnic and economically diverse populations, as there is a need to better understand health inequalities.¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁵

In 2010 an epidemiological study called the Born in Bradford birth cohort study (BiB-1000, specifically) began investigating obesity risk factors for young children living in a multi-ethnic and economically diverse city.^{393,394} At the time there were no available methods deemed appropriate to measure MVPA and ST in this population³⁹⁴; and as the use of an objective measure (such as an accelerometer) was not feasible due to the sample size (n = 1500), costs and relevant expertise, a new questionnaire was designed and implemented.

However, developing a new questionnaire may have had a practical use to enable analysis of the BiB1000 data set, but consideration for the use and purpose of a new questionnaire must be considered especially when prior to the current validation study, two new questionnaires were developed and validated to measure young children's PA. The two measures were the Preschool-age Children's Physical Activity Questionnaire (Pre-PAQ)²¹⁷ and Children's Physical Activity Questionnaire (C-PAQ)²¹⁸ The Pre-PAQ asks parents to recall specific intensities of activity such as walking at a slow pace, moderate pace and fast pace, which parents could struggle to distinguish. The C-PAQ asks parents to provide a total volume of time that their child has spent performing activities such as being at sport clubs, which would not be suitable for toddlers who spend much of their time with parents within the home. To add, both the Pre-PAQ and C-PAQ ask parents to distinguish differences between weekdays and weekends; and based upon the findings of Chapter 3 and 4 there appears to be no weekday weekend difference for Bradford young children, therefore such questions are not required. To add, neither the C-PAQ nor Pre-PAQ describe how to deal with questionnaire outliers (parent over reporting), or whether

outliers were considered in data processing, meaning it is unknown whether extreme unrealistic answers were excluded or how they were excluded. Due to these reasons a new questionnaire with less participant burden was required. Having a new questionnaire found to be reliable and valid within a multi-cultural, bi-lingual, low socio-economic population will fill a gap left by a research area dominated by studies and tools measuring mainly White, English speaking middleto-high income populations (see Chapter 3). Developing such a questionnaire would lead to a greater chance of collecting reliable and accurate epidemiological data within such communities. The Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire (EY-PAQ) was developed to fill this gap, and measures the habitual PA and ST of young children in English and Urdu across multiple daily domains such as the home, transportation and wider community.

5.2. Aims

The aims of this study were to assess the EY-PAQ's test re-test reliability, and to determine its validity by comparing EY-PAQ data to accelerometry in a sample of young children from a deprived and multi-ethnic population, where English and Urdu are the predominant languages spoken.

5.3. Methods

5.3.1 Participants and Setting

The study sample consisted of young children aged 18 months to 48 months (4 years) and their parents who resided in the City of Bradford, UK. Parents were already recruited as part of a pilot cluster randomized controlled trial.³⁸¹ Bradford has an approximate population of 500,000 and is the sixth largest metropolitan area in England.³⁹⁵ The city is also one of the most ethnically diverse and deprived areas in the UK.³⁹⁵ Ethical approval for the study was granted by the Bradford Teaching

Hospitals Foundation Trust ethics committee, and informed consent was obtained from parents.

5.3.2 Procedure

Parents and children attended two appointments with a trained researcher. The first appointment included completion of the EY-PAQ, measurement of children's height and weight, and positioning of the Actigraph GT3X+ tri-axial accelerometer (ActiGraph, Pensacola, USA). Parents were instructed on how to fit the accelerometer to their child, which was attached around the waist over the right hip. They were also asked that their child wore the accelerometer during all waking hours for seven consecutive days. The second appointment took place approximately seven days later. Accelerometers were collected and the same researcher-parent pair completed the EY-PAQ.

5.3.3. Measures

5.3.3.1. The Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire (EY-PAQ)

The EY-PAQ is a proxy-reported questionnaire that intends to quantify levels of habitual MVPA and ST in young children. The questionnaire is available in both English and transliterated Urdu (see Appendices 5.1. and 5.2.).³⁹⁵ Parents were asked to report the frequency and duration of different MVPA and ST activities in which their child engaged during a typical week in the previous month. The activities for MVPA were: 1) playing actively in the house, 2) playing actively in the garden, 3) walking from place to place, 4) engaging in active play causing sweating and increased breathing, 5) playing in the park or playground, and 6) playing at indoor play facilities. The sedentary activities were: 1) colouring, drawing and craft, 2) sitting playing with toys, 3) watching TV/DVDS, 4) playing a non-active computer game, 5) sitting listening or singing to music, 6) reading or being read to, 7) travelling in a buggy/pushchair, 8) being carried while travelling, 9) travelling in the car, and 10) using public transport. A three stage process was used to calculate

daily minutes of MVPA and ST. First, the duration of each activity reporting options were: 1) up to 15 mins/day, 2) 16-30 mins/day, 3) 31-60 mins/day, or 4) free-text for >60 mins/day) and this was multiplied by the frequency with which that activity occurred. A pragmatic approach was used with regards to the duration component; as parents tend to over-report PA and under-report ST²¹⁹, unless free-text responses exceeding 60 mins/day were reported, for the calculation of MVPA minimum reported durations were used (i.e. 1 min, 16 mins, or 31 mins) whereas for ST the higher values were used (i.e. 15 mins, 30 mins, and 60 mins). Second, the duration of each activity was summed in order to estimate daily minutes of MVPA and ST. Third, daily minutes of MVPA and ST were converted to the proportions, by dividing summed minutes in MVPA and ST, respectively, by 840 minutes (×100). Fourteen hours is typical of a waking day in preschool aged children⁵⁹, and is in line with sleep diary data that we have collected from similarly aged children from the source population (data not shown). Proportional values were used as the main outcomes in this study because parents completing the EY-PAQ considered the whole day in which an activity may have taken place. The accelerometer measured MVPA and ST only during the time the monitor was worn, which rarely reflected entire waking time; thus to account for disparities in the reference period, proportions of time were used.³⁹⁶

Proxy-reported questionnaires often find large variances in PA and ST due to reporting errors.²¹⁵ To objectively deal with assumed errors, the validity of the questionnaire was examined using 2 approaches, firstly by using all data and secondly only data falling within specific MVPA and ST boundaries (taken from the published literature ¹¹¹). The boundaries for MVPA were 2-41% and for ST 30-94%. The lower boundary for ST was reduced from the reported lower range of 34% to account for non-discretionary sedentary behaviours, such as bathroom or meal times, which accelerometry may have captured but the EY-PAQ did not pose questions about.

5.3.3.2. Accelerometry

The Actigraph GT3X+ is an accurate objective measure that has widely been used to measure young children's PA and ST.188,196,203,284 It has been reported to be the favoured device to objectively measure PA amongst Bradford young children and their mothers.¹⁹⁰ For this study the accelerometer was set to record data at a sampling rate of 60 Hertz. Raw accelerometer data were downloaded and then transformed into both 5 second and 15 second epoch files. The choice of processing into two separate epochs was due to the original aim of using just 5 second epochs. Costa¹⁸² found in a British sample of young children (age 2.9 years (SD 0.60)) both 10 second and 15 second epochs significantly underestimated ST. From these findings a new set of accelerometer cut-points, and the first to do so, were calibrated and validated using 5 second epochs.¹⁸⁸ The Costa cut-points were found to be accurate (criterion measure: direct observation ⁶⁸) in estimating young children's ST, but were found to be inaccurate in measuring MVPA. Therefore, an alternative cutpoint was required to assess MVPA in this study. The Pate MVPA cut-points were chosen because they have been reported to be the most accurate and appropriate to estimate MVPA in young children.^{156,170} As ST and MVPA were treated as independent behaviours the choice of epoch length was set in line with with the procedures of the original calibration studies that developed the ST (Costa: ≤ 5 counts per 5 seconds) and MVPA (Pate: 420 counts per 15 seconds) cut-points.^{188,197} The minimum wear-time for inclusion in the analysis was at least 6 hours on any three days, which has been shown to provide reliable activity estimates (ICC=0.7) in the same population of children as the sample in the present study.³⁹⁷ Non-wear time was defined as ≥10 minutes of consecutive zero counts.¹⁹⁶ In order to calculate proportion-values each child's recorded accelerometer MVPA and ST minutes, respectively, were divided by wear time, and then multiplied by 100.

5.3.4. Data analysis

Descriptive characteristics reported were different for each aspect of the study (ST validation, MVPA validation; test-retest reliability), therefore, descriptive characteristics are presented for all participants recruited to the study and then presented separately for each of the different analysis groups.

For the reliability analysis, test re-test reliability of the EY-PAQ for both MVPA and ST was assessed using a two-way random model intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC(2,1)) with 95% confidence intervals.³⁹⁸ For the purposes of this study, coefficient values of 0.01 indicated 'poor' agreement, 0.01 to 0.20 'slight' agreement, 0.21 to 0.40 'fair' agreement, 0.41 to 0.60 'moderate' agreement, 0.61 to 0.80 'substantial' agreement and 0.81 to 1.00 'almost prefect' agreement.^{399,400}

For the validity analysis, assessment of whether sex, ethnicity and language modified the relationships between the EY-PAQ and accelerometer MVPA and ST estimates was undertaken using multiple linear regression analyses. If any demographic variable was found to modify relationships, subsequent analyses were stratified by the influencing variable. All tests were conducted using the proportion data, with and without boundaries. Spearman rank correlations (rho) were applied to assess the correlations between the EY-PAQ and accelerometer data. Bland-Altman plots ⁴⁰¹ were assembled to assess the agreement between EY-PAQ and accelerometry (before and after applying boundaries). Differences (error) between EY-PAQ and accelerometer estimates of MVPA and ST were calculated (error= EY-PAQ – Actigraph) and plotted against the mean MVPA and ST values of accelerometry and the EY-PAQ. The mean difference and direction of systematic error were examined through Pearson error correlations (error= x-axis, Actigraph= y-axis). Heteroscedasticity was examined using Breusch-Pagan-Cook/Weisburg Tests; where heteroscedasticity was present, heteroscedastic ratio limits of agreement (LOA) were calculated upon the log scale.^{218,402}

All tests (reliability and validity) were conducted on proportions data. In order to give an easier understanding of results and enable comparisons with data from other published questionnaires, proportions were converted into minutes based upon a waking day of 840 minutes.⁵⁹ Analyses were conducted using SPSS for windows (version 22: IBM Corporation) and STATA (version 13), and alpha significance was defined as $p\leq 0.05$.

5.4. Results

The demographic characteristics of children are reported in Table 5.1. In total, 196 children and their parents took part in the validity study and 109 took part in the reliability study. A breakdown of the number of participants in each of the components of the study, including details of exclusions, has been outlined in Figure 5.1. The mean age was 3.2 years (SD \pm 0.8), 50.5% were boys and 49% South Asian (Table 5.1). Most questionnaires were completed in English (79.6%) and with mothers (98%). There were no significant differences in the sex, ethnicity or age of participants included and those excluded in all aspects of the study. Multiple regression models found no significant interactions (sex, ethnicity and language) between the relationships of the EY-PAQ with accelerometry. Therefore, analyses were not stratified by sex, ethnicity or language.



Figure 5.1: Flow diagram outlining the number of included and excluded participants for the validity and reliability analysis.

	All* n = 196			Validity**				Reliability	
			ST (1	ST (n =89)***		(n = 102)****	n 109		
	n(%)	Mean(SD)	n(%)	Mean(SD)	n(%)	Mean(SD)	n(%)	Mean(SD)	
Sex									
Boys	99(50.5)		47(52.8)		56(54.9)		52(48)		
Girls	97(49.5)		42(47.2)		46(45.1)		57(53)		
Ethnicity									
White British	82(41.8)		30(33.7)		37(36.3)		33(30)		
South Asian	96(49)		52(58.4)		55(53.9)		67(62)		
Other	18(9.2)		7(7.9)		10(9.8)		9(8)		
Age									
Years		3.2(0.8)		3.2(0.8)		3.2(0.8)		3.3(0.8)	
Language									
English	156(79.6)		69(77.5)		84(82.4)		82(75)		
Urdu	40(20.4)		20(22.5)		18(17.6)		27(25)		
EY-PAQ									
Proportion values			89(45.4)	47.0(13.6)	102(52)	21.2(11)			
Actigraph GT3X+									
Wear time (mins per day)			89(45.4)	594.8(100.7)	102(52)	582.1(127.3)			
Minutes per day			89(45.4)	344.1(88.0)	102(52)	118.4 (7.5)			
Proportion-values			89(45.4)	57.5(7.9)	102(52)	20.3(7.6)			

Table 5.1: Demographic characteristics of children within the different analyses of the study.

* Values presented are for validity analysis before the application of boundaries.

**Values presented are for the post application of boundaries within the validity analysis.

*** Costa cut-points (≤5 counts per 5 seconds)

**** Pate cut-points (≥420 counts per 15 seconds)

Table 5.2: Intraclass-correlations for moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) and sedentary time (ST) as measured by the early years physical activity questionnaire (EY-PAQ).

		Reliability				
		mean difference-mins per day	95%Confidence			
EY-PAQ Test1 v Test 2	N(%)	(SD)	ICC(2,1)	Interval		
MVPA	104(93.7)	25.5 (253.7)	0.35*	0.17-0.50		
ST	104(93.7)	1.7 (196.6)	0.47*	0.3-0.61		
01	101(20.7)	1.7 (190.0)	0.17	0.0 0.01		

*p≤0.05 **p≤0.05

Table 5.3: Validity of the early years physical activity questionnaire (EY-PAQ) compared to accelerometry.

	Validity						
			Mean daily minute		Error	Heteroskedasicity	
EY-PAQ v Accelerometer	N(%)	rho	difference [95% CI]	LOA†	Correlations (r)	p-value	Ratio LOA†
MVPA: proportion-values	149(76.0)	0.03	106.3 [72.5, 140.2]	-303.7 – 516.4	-0.80*	0.94	1.20(×/÷ 10.6)
MVPA: Boundary applied							
>2%(16.8min)<41%(344.3min)#	102(52.0)	0.30*	7.1 [-12.3, 26.4]	-185.9 – 200.1	-0.37*	< 0.01	1.03(×/÷ 5.8)
ST: proportion-values	147(75.0)	0.02	-160.0 [-189.1, -30.9]	-509.9 - 190.0	-0.67*	< 0.01	1.72(×/÷ 3.6)
ST: Boundary applied							
>30%(252min)<94%(789.6min)#	89(45.4)	0.19	-87.5 [-117.6, -57.4]	-367.6 - 192.7	-0.50*	< 0.01	1.26(×/÷ 1.9)


Figure 5.2: Bland –Altman plots for the difference between time spent in moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) and sedentary time (ST) measured by accelerometry (Actigraph) and the Early Years Physical activity questionnaire (EY-PAQ); plotted against the mean average time spent in MVPA and ST measured by the Actigraph and EY-PAQ. **A**: MVPA plot for EY-PAQ-MVPA no boundaries applied. Mean difference: 106.3 mins/day; 95% limits of agreement (LOA): -303.7, +516.4. **B**: MVPA plot with EY-PAQ-MVPA boundaries applied. Mean difference: 7.1 mins/day; LOA: -185.9, +200.1. **C**: ST plot for EY-PAQ-ST no boundaries applied. Mean difference: -160.0 mins/day; LOA: -509.9, +190.0. **D**: ST plot with EY-PAQ-ST boundaries applied. Mean difference: -37.5 mins/day; LOA: -376.6, +192.7.

5.4.1. Reliability

The average number of days between the completion of the questionnaire at Test 1 and Test 2 was 7.4 days, ranging from 5 to 12 days.

Table 5.2 shows the results of the test re-test reliability analyses. There was fair agreement for test re-test reliability of MVPA measured by the EY-PAQ (ICC(2,1) = 0.35, 95% CI: 0.17-0.50)). For ST, there was moderate reliability (ICC(2,1) = 0.47, 95% CI: 0.30-0.61)).

<u>5.4.2. Validity</u>

Agreement between MVPA and ST estimated by the EY-PAQ and accelerometry are shown in Figure 5.2. For MVPA the mean difference was 7.1 mins/day (LOA: - 185.9±200.1), and for ST the mean difference was -87.5 mins/day (LOA: - 376.6±192.7).

The only significant correlation between the EY-PAQ and accelerometer was the proportion of time spent in MVPA after applying boundaries (Table 5.3). Error correlations for all values were found to be statistically significant (Table 5.3). The significant correlations highlight that systematic error existed. Breusch-Pagan / Cook-Weisburg tests found heteroscedasticity to be present (p<0.05) in the MVPA values and in the ST values. The MVPA mean bias on the ratio scale found MVPA was overestimated by 20%(1.20) and when the boundary-value was applied this was reduced to an overestimation of 3%(1.03). The ratio mean bias for ST found that it was overestimated by 72%(1.72) which was reduced to an overestimation of 26%(1.26) when the EY-PAQ boundaries were applied. The ratio-limits of agreement were wide for all results (Table 5.3).

5.5. Discussion

This study examined the reliability and validity of a new activity questionnaire (EY-PAQ) in a sample of young children from a diverse ethnic background where parents spoke either English or Urdu. Findings of the current study show the EY-PAQ had fair reliability for MVPA and moderate reliability for ST. The validity of the EY-PAQ was assessed against accelerometry. A small mean difference and significant correlation was found for MVPA after applying boundaries; leading to the EY-PAQ being an acceptable population method to measure young children's habitual MVPA. For ST, the mean difference was large and correlation coefficient non-significant. This was true even after applying boundary values, therefore the EY-PAQ is not a suitable population measure of ST.

The EY-PAQ is a new tool which measures the habitual levels of young children's MVPA and ST. Other similar tools which have been compared to accelerometry are the Preschool-age Physical Activity Questionnaire (Pre-PAQ) which was developed in Sydney, Australia and measures MVPA, light activity and ST,²¹⁹ and the Children's Physical Activity Questionnaire (C-PAQ) which was developed in Cambridge, UK and measures MVPA and total PA.²¹⁸ The test retest reliability of the MVPA component of the EY-PAQ was found to be fair and acceptable.^{399,400} Sedentary time had a greater ICC value than MVPA (0.47 and 0.35). In comparison to other published questionnaires the EY-PAQ's ST ICC was similar to that of the Pre-PAQ's²¹⁹ (0.44). The EY-PAQ's MVPA reliability coefficient was lower than the Pre-PAQ's (0.54) and C-PAQ's (0.30).²¹⁸ It is perhaps unsurprising that reliability of all questionnaires were low compared to the 'almost perfect' criteria of ICC=0.8. Children's PA tends to be highly variable,¹¹⁰ which means levels of MVPA and ST could be very different from one week to the next, thus affecting test re-test results.

With regards to validity, like the other questionnaires, differences in MVPA and ST were seen between the EY-PAQ and accelerometer. For MVPA, initial results of the

EY-PAQ validity assessment revealed larger error values in comparison to the Pre-PAQ²¹⁹ and C-PAQ.²¹⁸ The EY-PAQ overestimated MVPA by 12.6% (106.3 minutes/day), compared to the Pre-PAQ which overestimated MVPA by 50.1 minutes/day, while the CPAQ underestimated MVPA by -76.5 minutes. With regards to ST, the EY-PAQ underestimated daily sitting by -19% (160 minutes/day), which was a smaller difference to the Pre-PAQ's mean difference of -208.6 minutes/day. However, when the EY-PAQ boundaries were applied differences with accelerometry were reduced to 0.8% (7.1 minutes) for MVPA and -10.4% (87.5 minutes) for ST. Like the present study, Corder and colleagues²¹⁸ also assessed the heteroscedasticity of the C-PAQ and reported the anti-logged ratio limits of agreement. Results showed the CPAQ at best (depending upon accelerometer cutpoints) underestimated MVPA by 32%. The anti-logged ratio limits of agreement of the EY-PAQ of agreement and ratio limits of agreement of the EY-PAQ, like the Pre-PAQ and CPAQ, were wide; however, the application of boundaries substantially reduced the limits of agreement between the EY-PAQ and accelerometer. Applying the EY-PAQ boundaries also improved the correlation coefficient between the two measures for both MVPA and ST. Before the application of boundaries the EY-PAQ had low, non-significant coefficients (MVPA [rho=0.03, p≥0.05 and ST [rho=0.02, $p \ge 0.05$]) when compared to the accelerometer. After applying boundaries the EY-PAQ's validity coefficients increased (MVPA: rho=0.30; ST=0.19). The MVPA coefficient was statistically significant, thus the EY-PAQ successfully ranked young children's MVPA after applying boundaries. The CPAQ was also found it could rank young children's MVPA (rho=0.42, p≤0.05). The EY-PAQ's ST coefficient after applying boundaries increased to 0.19 but was still statistical non-significant.

There are numerous reasons that could explain the differences in the reliability and validity coefficients seen between the EY-PAQ, CPAQ and Pre-PAQ. One reason is that the instruments vary in design and question structure. Another possible reason could be the differences in socio-demographic characteristics of the samples used in

the three studies. The Pre-PAQ sample consisted of mainly high socio-economic status, white, English-speaking parents and children from Australia. The samples from both the EY-PAQ and C-PAQ validity studies were located in the UK, but the children in the current study were from communities of high deprivation, with a high ethnic mix and two different primary languages. Little is known about the sample of the C-PAQ study, other than the sample was from an affluent part of the UK (Cambridgeshire). Future studies should seek to validate multiple questionnaires in the same sample in order to test which of the questionnaires is the most reliable, valid and also feasible. The current study did explore the impact of demographic variables such as sex, ethnicity and language upon the linear relationship between the two measures. These variables were found not to impact the association between the EY-PAQ and accelerometry within the present sample.

The error for both MVPA and ST were lowest when mean accelerometer MVPA and ST were highest. This meant parents were more likely to over or under report MVPA and ST using the EY-PAQ when children's accelerometer-determined levels of MVPA and ST were low. This finding could be explained by the different measurement properties of a proxy-report questionnaire and accelerometer. Dependent upon the placement of the monitor, accelerometry constantly measures movements of the child when worn. However, proxy-report questionnaires are reliant upon what parents observe and remember when completing the questionnaire. Parents will not remember every 15 seconds of movement or sedentary time their young child has engaged in throughout the day; but the accelerometer (in the current study) recorded the child's movement (or lack thereof) every 15 seconds (the epoch length selected). Therefore, a difference between the two measurements was foreseeable. Despite the differences between the two types of methods, accelerometers are the most widely used comparison measure in which new self-report tools are validated against.²¹⁵ Because of the differences strong

coefficients are seldom reported, with most self-reported validity coefficients with accelerometry ranging between 0.25-0.41.²¹⁵

In the current study the inclusion of boundaries informed by data from a recent systematic review¹¹¹ did narrow the limits of agreement and greater accuracy was observed. However, it has to be noted this could lead to a possible exclusion of participants, and reduced sample sizes if the EY-PAQ was applied to future population-level studies. In this study the percentage of participant loss due to the application of boundaries was 23% (n=47) for MVPA and 30% (n=58) for ST. Large scale studies using accelerometry also need to factor in participant loss due to the processing of data (e.g. not enough valid wear time). In comparison to large scale studies using accelerometry the EY-PAQ's participant loss was similar to that of the Healthy Active Preschool Years study (30%),¹³⁰ and less than half of the Millennium Cohort Study (children aged 7-8 years) (53%).⁶⁹ The use of the EY-PAQ and accelerometry share the limitation of possible sample size reduction; but the implementation of accelerometry and other objective measures are limited by the burden to participants (e.g. seven days wearing of monitor), level of expertise required to process data and financial costs, all of which do not apply to the EY-PAQ. The results of the current study indicate that the EY-PAQ has the smallest limits of agreement after the application of boundaries when measuring MVPA compared to other similar questionnaires'.217,218

The EY-PAQ is not suitable for measuring young children's ST. The Pre-PAQ also measures ST in young children, and like the EY-PAQ it was also found to be a weak measure. Reasons for inaccuracy could include that accelerometry would have likely detected most sedentary behaviours including those not measured by the EY-PAQ (e.g. bathroom and meal times). But also the two measures are measuring two different behaviours. The EY-PAQ is measuring the time and frequency parents report their child sits down doing different activities. Accelerometry measures ST

by quantifying the absence of movement. Another reason for inaccuracy could be the design of the EY-PAQ's questions. By having smaller category options up to 60 minutes could lead to parents underreporting activities which children could spend greater than 60 minutes doing. Future research should investigate the validity and reliability parameters when using a different and more suitable comparison measure (e.g. inclinometers⁴⁰³) and adding more domains of ST within the EY-PAQ (e.g. time spent sitting while eating). Future development of the questions could be done to include categorical variables greater than the current options (e.g. 0-30 minutes, 30-60 minutes, 60-90 minutes).

A strength of the current study was the relatively large sample of children under the age of 5 years compared to previous validation studies in young children.^{217,218} Furthermore, the EY-PAQ sample were from an ethnically diverse and bi-lingual population, thereby adding to the current measurement literature of early years children's PA and ST, which is heavily skewed by white English speaking samples.²¹⁷ However, results from the current study may not be generalisable to other populations, therefore additional validity and reliability studies using this new measure in different populations are required. Although a widely used objective field measure, the use of accelerometry as a comparable measure for ST was a limitation; they do not detect posture and only estimate ST through a lack of movement counts. Accelerometry therefore could be argued to be an unsuitable convergent measure for ST.⁴⁰³ A possible valid direct objective measure of young children's standing and sitting is the Activpal inclinometer.⁴⁰⁴ However, it must be noted that within a study examining the feasibility of the Activpal with Bradford young children and their parents, parents were concern about the possibility of causing discomfort because of the use of stickers in order to wear the Activpal.¹⁸⁰ But the Activpal has been successfully used within in other studies of young children,⁴⁰⁵ therefore future research could look to test the EY-PAQ ST questions using the Activpal as a criterion measure.

5.5.1. Conclusion

The EY-PAQ has acceptable reliability and validity for measuring habitual MVPA of young children from a bi-lingual (English, Urdu), bi-ethnic (White British, South Asian) low socio-economic community. In situations when objective methods are not possible for measurement of MVPA in young children, the EY-PAQ may be a suitable alternative, but only if boundaries are applied. Having such a questionnaire means researchers can explore the early life determinants of MVPA in an ethnically diverse and low SES population, at a low cost. Such evidence will be useful for the development of tailored interventions, with better chances to decrease health inequalities in PA and related health outcomes in young children.

<u>CHAPTER 6</u> – Levels and correlates of moderate to vigorous physical activity of two year old children from a bi-ethnic population.

The study in this chapter is in preparation to submit to the Journal of Physical Activity and Health:

Bingham DD, Clemes SA, Barber SE. The levels and correlates of moderate to vigorous physical activity of two year old children from a bi-ethnic population: A BiB1000 study. Submission Summer 2017.

<u>6.i. Preface</u>

In chapter three, the systematic review conducted identified a number of studies (n=7) which as part of their analysis investigated whether differences in MVPA occurred between young children of different ethnicities.⁷² No differences in levels of MVPA between different ethnic groups were observed amongst the included studies. However, none of the studies had a sample size greater than 450, and no study investigated the differences in physical activity between White British and South Asian young children from the same geographical population. This chapter, using a large sample utilises the Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire, found to have acceptable reliability and validity (Chapter 5)⁴⁰⁶, to investigate the levels of daily MVPA and potential correlates of MVPA in two year old children living in a bi-ethnic highly deprived community.

6.1. Introduction

The early years are considered a critical period for the establishment of obesogenic behaviours that can track into adulthood.²³⁷ One such obesogenic behaviour, PA, has been reported to track moderately throughout different stages of life.¹²¹ A systematic review has reported TPA moderately tracks from the early years into middle childhood (0-5 years to 6-12 years).¹¹⁸ In addition to the tracking of PA throughout childhood, regular PA (TPA) also has health benefits such as reduced adiposity^{27,59}, and leads to improved motor development²⁷, cardio-metabolic health²⁷, psycho-social health^{27,54}, bone and skeletal health²⁷ and cognitive development²⁷ in childhood. Tracking and health outcome association findings support the justification of promoting high levels of PA during the early years. Current guidelines for PA promote as much movement (any intensity of PA) as possible during the early years, with a minimum recommendation of 180 minutes of TPA to be undertaken daily.¹⁰⁶ It has been shown, using accelerometry, that the majority of early-years UK children meet these current recommendations.¹¹⁴

However, it has also been shown that children during the early years spend a high proportion of their total activity time in light intensity activities and ST as opposed to MVPA.^{114,407} Understanding the correlates of MVPA is important for a number of reasons, including: MVPA during the early years has been associated with benefits to bone/skeletal development²⁴⁵ adiposity⁵⁹ and metabolic status⁶⁶; MVPA during the early years has been found to track into older childhood; MVPA is vital for health associations during middle to late childhood in the prevention of obesity and type two diabetes; and as no specific health associations have been identified with LPA, the promotion of MVPA during the early years could be seen as equally or perhaps more important than TPA.

The systematic review reported in Chapter 3 followed an ecological perspective.^{128,129} Although a large number of studies were identified and synthesised, many of the studies had small sample sizes and either used poor methodologies or were poor in the reporting of methodological components.⁷² This resulted in a small number of studies being graded as high quality. Studying correlates of PA is important as correlates research help generate hypotheses and identify possible moderators/target groups to target within future interventions.^{60,408} The importance of correlates research is increased as previous intervention attempts to increase PA levels in children of all ages have generally been ineffective to date.^{243,409} Possible reasons for this could be the lack of understanding of correlates, determinants and the possible lack of quality of previous research. ^{17,18,408} Therefore, despite the large amount of correlates research published previously, correlates research is still of great benefit as it is easy research to undertake and most importantly helps to generate hypotheses to better inform future interventions.

Ethnicity is an important potential correlate and moderator to explore because regular PA has protective effects on the onset of numerous chronic diseases (type II diabetes mellitus, cardio-vascular disease and obesity)⁸: for example South Asian

(SA) and other non-white ethnicities living in the UK have an increased risk of these chronic diseases in comparison with their fellow White British (WB) citizens.91-100,103 Previous research has also strongly suggested intervention and primary prevention during the early years could be vital in reducing health disparities between ethnicities later on in life.¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁵ Across the PA literature it is reported that PA levels of British SA adults and school aged children are substantially lower than those of White British ethnicity.^{87,90,410,411} In Chapter 3⁷² it was found across the early years literature that TPA levels between ethnicities were inconclusive and no-associations with MVPA were found. However, studies identified were heavily skewed investigating mainly American populations (Hispanic, Black and White American populations) and children in the preschool years (3-6 years of age), and no study investigating ethnicity and MVPA had a sample size greater than 450 participants. There is currently no known research which has investigated differences in PA levels between White British and South Asian young children from the same geographical population. Such research is important as multiple large communities in the UK (e.g. Bradford, Birmingham, Leicester and London) have diverse populations with many languages spoken and different cultural practises.^{20,21} In older children previous research has reported White British children have significantly greater levels of PA compared to their South Asian peers.⁸⁷⁻⁹⁰ Furthermore, no known research investigating PA levels and correlates of an ethnically diverse population has been conducted using a large sample of young children, specifically toddlers (1-3 years of age).

In chapter 5 the EY-PAQ was found to have acceptable levels of reliability and validity to measure MVPA of young children living in the highly deprived, ethnically diverse and primarily bi-lingual UK city of Bradford.⁴⁰⁶ The sub-cohort, of the Born in Bradford birth cohort^{412,413}, the BiB-1000 Study^{38,39}, included the EY-PAQ as one of the study's measures when the average age of the cohort was around 24 months. This data set offered the opportunity to examine the differences in

MVPA between White British and South Asian toddlers, and due to the large sample size investigate whether correlates of MVPA are different for different ethnicities.

6.2. Aim and Objectives

The aim of this study was to understand levels of MVPA and correlates of MVPA in a large sample of White British and South Asian toddlers from Bradford.

Because of the broad aim of the study specific objectives were followed in order to achieve the overall aim. The objectives of the study were to:

- To report proxy (parental) reported MVPA levels of two year old children living in Bradford.
- 2. To explore the differences of MVPA between South Asian and White British two year old children.
- 3. To explore potential correlates of MVPA for Bradford two year old children based upon an ecological perspective.
- To explore whether there are differences in the correlates of two year olds MVPA according to their ethnicity (WB & SA).

6.3. Methods

6.3.1. Setting

Participants were mothers and children residing in the city of Bradford. Bradford is located in the North of England, and has 528,200 residents (estimated in 2015), it is the fourth largest metropolitan district in the UK.⁴¹⁴ Many of the urban areas in Bradford are some of the most deprived in the UK, with 60% of babies being born into the poorest 20% of the population in England and Wales.^{413,415} Bradford is ethnically diverse with a majority of people being of WB origin (63.9%) and a large minority being of SA origin (20.3%).⁴¹⁴ It is estimated 90% of the SA origin population stem from Pakistan,^{413,416} which is the largest proportion of people with Pakistani origin in England.⁴¹⁴ The minority SA population are relatively younger and have higher fertility rates compared to the WB majority, this is believed to explain why 50% of babies born in Bradford are of SA (mostly Pakistani) origin.^{39,40}

6.3.2. Participants, recruitment and procedure

Participants in the current study were all part of the Born in Bradford (BiB) birth cohort study, and specifically participating in a sub-sample study BiB1000^{412,413} The BiB study is a longitudinal birth cohort examining the impact of genetic, psychological, social and environmental factors have on the health and well-being of Bradford mothers and children.^{412,413} At 26-28 weeks gestation pregnant women waiting to have a routine glucose tolerance test at the Bradford Royal Infirmary were asked to be part of the Born in Bradford cohort. Recruitment took place between 2007-2010, and a total of 12,453 women during 13,776 pregnancies were recruited.⁴¹³

A subsample of the BiB cohort, called BiB-1000, was established to investigate the patterns and aetiology of childhood obesity.³⁹⁴ Recruitment of mothers and children

took place between August 2008 and March 2009. BiB-1000 was a more intensive study with data being collected at five time points following on from the BiB cohort baseline data collection. The data collection time points took place when children were around 6, 12, 18, 24 and 36 months of age.^{394,413} Data collection consisted of trained community researchers, who at each time point, conducted one interview with each mother in their homes. A total of 1916 mothers were eligible to be in the BiB1000 sub-study and 1,735 consented and were included.³⁹⁴ For the purposes of the current cross-sectional study only data collected at the 24 months' time point were analysed. The reasoning for this was; one, more mothers took part and completed the outcome measure (EY-PAQ) at the 24 month time point compared to the 36 month time point; and two, a wider range of variables, covering more levels of the ecological model were collected at the 24 month time point compared to the 36 month time point. ^{39,40} Because of the greater sample size and wider range of variables collected the 24 months data were more suited from an ecological perspective which informed the cross-sectional analyses undertaken in the current study. All participants (mothers) gave informed consent, and ethical approval was granted by Bradford Teaching Hospitals National Health Service Trust Research Ethics Committee (Ref 07/H1302/112).

6.3.3. Outcome variable – moderate-to-vigorous physical activity

Daily minutes of MVPA were measured using the parental report questionnaire, the EY-PAQ. In chapter 5 it was reported that the test re-test reliability of the EY-PAQ was fair (ICC = 0.35) (CI: 0.17-0.50), and validity (vs accelerometry) was rho = 0.30, $p \le 0.05$; mean error = 7.1 minutes (-185.9, 200.1), but only by applying proportional boundaries.⁴⁰⁶ The EY-PAQ calculates an overall estimate of parent reported daily minutes of MVPA, via parents reporting the frequency and duration of different MVPA activities in which their child engages during a typical week over the previous month. Domains of activity were also collected and included and were 1) playing actively in the house (home-MVPA); 2) playing actively in the garden (garden-MVPA) 3) walking from place to place (walking-for-transport); 4) engaging in active play causing sweating and increased breathing (aka 'sweating-PA); 5) playing in the park or playground (park/playground-MVPA); and 6) playing at indoor play facilities (indoor play-MVPA). In order to maximise measurement accuracy the application of proportional boundaries was undertaken, as described in Chapter 5. Firstly, daily minutes of MVPA were converted into proportions based upon a standardised 840 minute waking day for this age group.⁵⁹ Secondly, participants with proportion values less than 2% or greater than 41% were excluded from the study, as values outside of these proportion boundaries would not be realistic and drastically decrease the accuracy of the EY-PAQ (see Chapter 5).⁴⁰⁶ In order to give an easier understanding of results and enable comparisons with data from other published questionnaires, proportions were converted into minutes per day, which based upon a waking day of 840 minutes; this was applied in chapter 5.59

6.3.4. Potential correlates/ exposure variables

A total of 70 variables were examined as potential correlates. The rationale for selecting a large number of exposure variables (n=70) was because many of the exposure variables measured in the BiB1000 set have never been utilised before (as found in Chapter 3-systematic review), and due to the large sample size of the BiB1000 data set, a large number of these new exposure variables could be utilised within regression models. The 70 variables, following the ecological model, covered the levels of demographic and biological (e.g. age, sex, child's health, living status, index of multiple deprivation), behavioural (e.g. sleep time, TV and dvd viewing) social and cultural (e.g. mothers physical activity, barriers [weather, cost], parenting/household practices [TV at meal times, bed at a regular time] and environmental variables (e.g. attend preschool/nursery, number of passive or active toys the home, season). The full questionnaire used during the 24 month period can be found at http://www.borninbradford.nhs.uk/research-scientific/general-study-documentation-and-questionnaires-2/.

6.3.5. Data Analysis

For all continuous variables histograms were viewed along with skewness and kurtosis statistics. If any variables were not normally distributed or violated any of the assumptions for parametric tests across the different analyses, variables were rectified using natural logarithmic transformations and assumptions were tested again.

Independent t-tests or chi-square tests were conducted to test whether there were significant differences ($p\leq0.05$) in demographic variables between children with or without valid EY-PAQ data. These tests were also applied to test for the presence of any demographic differences between WB children and SA children with valid EY-PAQ data.

Univariate linear regression model accounting for sex, age, language and season were conducted to examine the differences between WB and SA children's proxy reported average daily minutes of MVPA, and the proportion of time spent in MVPA within each of the EY-PAQ's domains.

To identify correlates of MVPA (for the whole sample, and separately for WB and SA children) a series of linear regression analyses were performed. Firstly, univariate associations between all potential correlates and daily MVPA were assessed. In order to protect against possible residual confounding of the final multiple regression model⁴¹⁷, the p-value for univariate regression models were set, as recommended by Maldonado and Greenland (1993)⁴¹⁸ at p<.20. Secondly, variables associated with MVPA with a p-value <0.20 in univariate models were grouped accordingly to groups/levels of the ecological model, and then included in hierarchical multivariable regression models in order to examine the percentage of variance accounted for in daily minutes of MVPA. Variables were entered in four steps: biological and demographic variables were entered first, followed by behavioural variables, social and cultural variables and finally environmental variables. Variance inflation factors in all multiple regression models were all <10 indicating multicollinearity was not a concern. In the multivariable models a + symbol was reported for a significant positive association and - symbol for a significant negative association. All analyses were conducted in Stata version 13.0.

6.4. Results

6.4.1. Descriptive statistics and valid EY-PAQ data

A total of 1228 mothers completed the BIB-1000 questionnaire at the 24 month time point (Table 6.1). After applying EY-PAQ boundaries a total of 837 children had valid MVPA data (68.2%), 391 (31.8%) mothers reported non-valid (out-side of boundaries) levels of MVPA for their children, and thus excluded from further analysis. Mean proxy-reported time in MVPA for the sample as a whole before application of boundaries was 234.2 (SD=194.5) minutes/day. Proxy-reported mean minutes of MVPA were significantly different ($p\leq0.05$) between valid and non-valid EY-PAQ groups. Children with valid EY-PAQ data reportedly spent 18.8% (equating to 157.6 [SD=98.3) minutes/day) of their waking time in MVPA in comparison to children with invalid EY-PAQ data who reportedly spent 47.4% (equating to 398.2 [SD=242.2) minutes/day) in MVPA. The only other significant difference between groups was child's weight, with children in the non-valid group being 0.4kg heavier than children in the valid EY-PAQ group (Table 6.1).

		Valid EY-PAO	Non-valid EY-PAO	
Descriptive variables	Total (n = 1228)	(n = 837)*	(n = 391)***	p-value
MVPA (mins per day) #	234.2 (194.5)	157.6 (98.3)	398.2 (242.2)	0.00*
Sex ##				0.03
Boys	594 (48.4)	387 (46.2)	207 (52.9)	
Girls	634 (51.6)	450 (53.8)	184 (47.1)	
Ethnicity ##				0.47
White	481 (39.2)	319 (38.1)	136 (34.8)	
South Asian	685 (55.8)	457 (54.6)	228 (58.3)	
Other	62 (5.0)	61 (7.3)	27 (6.9)	
Childs Age (months) #	25.3 (0.9)	25.2 (0.9)	25.4 (1.0)	0.85
Weight (kg) #	12.4 (1.6)	12.3 (1.6)	12.7 (1.7)	0.01*
Height (cm) #	86.3 (5.4)	86.2 (4.9)	86.7 (6.1)	0.23
Body Mass Index (kg/cm2) #	16.6 (1.6)	16.7 (1.6)	16.6 (1.5)	0.75
Index of Multiple Deprivation Score#	42.5 (17.9)	42.3 (18.1)	43.2 (17.5)	0.41
Mother Education##				0.58
Higher than A level	296 (24.1)	193 (23.1)	103 (26.3)	
A-level or same	114 (9.3)	74 (8.8)	40 (10.2)	
5 GCSE	387 (31.5)	273 (32.6)	114 (29.2)	
< 5 GCSE	288 (23.5)	198 (23.7)	90 (23.0)	
Other	143 (11.6)	99 (11.8)	44 (11.3)	
Mothers Language ##				0.11
English	981 (79.9)	683 (81.6)	298 (76.2)	
Urdu	245 (20.0)	152 (18.2)	93 (23.8)	
Mirpuri	1 (0.1)	1 (0.1)	0 (0.0)	
Other	1 (0.1)	1 (0.1)	0 (0.0)	
Childs Health (mothers perception) ##				0.99
Excellent	227 (18.5)	154 (18.4)	73 (18.7)	
Very Good	452 (36.8)	310 (37.0)	142 (36.3)	
Good	483 (39.3)	329 (39.3)	154 (39.4)	
Fair	57 (4.6)	38 (4.5)	19 (4.9)	
Poor	9 (0.7)	6 (0.7)	3 (0.8)	
Parents Relationship Status##				0.85
Married	914 (74.4)	618 (73.8)	296 (75.7)	
Re-Married	1 (0.1)	1 (0.1)	0 (0)	
Single (never married)	286 (23.3)	200 (24.0)	86 (22.0)	
Separated (still legally				
married)	19 (1.5)	13 (1.6)	6 (1.5)	
Divorced	7 (0.6)	4 (0.35	4 (1.0)	
Missing Data	1 (0.1)	1 (0.1)	0 (0)	
Regular Childcare arrangements##	·			0.51
Yes	837 (68.2)	269 (32.1)	133 (34.0)	
No	391 (31.8)	568(67.9)	258 (66.0)	

Table 6.1: Descriptive statistics and demographic differences of children with valid EY-PAQ data versus children with non-valid EY-PAQ data.

* = $p \le 0.05$ ** = Included in analysis

*** = excluded in analysis

= Independent T-Test

= Chi-square test

Index of Multiple deprivation score (IMD) - each of England's Lower Super Output Areas are rated between 1 (most deprived) to 32,844 (least deprived).

6.4.2. Levels of daily moderate-to-vigorous physical activity

Table 6.2 shows the proxy-reported mean and median minutes and the proportion of minutes over a standardised waking day (840 minutes) children spent in MVPA; along with standardised minutes and proportion of time spent in MVPA for each domain of the EY-PAQ. For the whole sample children on average spent 18.8% of their standardised waking hours in MVPA (157.6 minutes, SD=98.3). The greatest contributor to daily MVPA was through MVPA accumulated inside the home (see Table 6.2).

			fille to projetem				
activity measured using the Early Years Physical Activity							
Questionnaire.							
		Mean					
n=837	Mean min (SD)	%	Median min (IQR)				
Total MVPA	157.6 (98.3)	18.8*	154.7 (58.6-241.9)				
Home MVPA	111.7 (90.7)	70.9**	120.0 (31.0-180.0)				
Garden MVPA#	21.9 (36.3)	13.9**	8.9 (0.0-31.0)				
Sweating PA#	3.3 (11.3)	2**	0.0 (0.0-0.4)				
Walking MVPA#	9.1 (15.4)	5.8**	2.3 (0.4-16.0)				
Park MVPA#	5.8 (8.1)	3.7**	2.3 (0.1-8.6)				
Indoor Facilities							
MVPA#	5.8 (2.2)	3.7**	2.2 (0.0-8.6)				
*							

Table 6.2: The levels of two year old childrens moderate to physical

* mean proportion based upon waking day

** mean proportion based upon MVPA time

Not normally distributed

6.4.3. Ethnic differences of daily moderate-to-vigorous physical activity

Reported in Table 6.3 are the demographic differences between WB and SA children. Mothers education and index of multiple deprivation score were the only two significant demographic differences ($p \le 0.05$) between the groups of WB (n = 333) and SA (n=470) children (Table 6.3). Ethnic differences in the levels (in terms of minute/day) and proportions of time spent in MVPA are shown in Tables 4 and 5 respectively. There was no significant difference between WB and SA levels of overall MVPA (163.1 minutes v 152.4 minutes) (Table 6.4). However, linear regressions found SA children reportedly took part in significantly more minutes of MVPA in the home compared to WB children (Table 6.4), while WB children took part in significantly more walking for transportation (Table 6.4). Both WB and SA children were found to spend the majority of their reported time in daily MVPA inside the home (WB=57.5% of MVPA; SA=67.7%), followed by the garden (WB=15.8% of MVPA; SA=13.5%). As with the minute data, linear regressions found SA children spent proportionally more time in MVPA in the home compared to WB children, and WB children spent proportionally more time in MVPA walking for transportation than SA children.

Descriptive variables	WB (n=333)	SA (n=470)	p-value
Sex #			0.57
Boys	169 (50.8)	229 (48.7)	
Girls	164 (49.2)	241 (51.3)	
Childs Age (months) ##	25.3 (0.92)	25.3 (0.04)	0.94
Weight (kg) ##	69.9 (16.6)	69.7 (16.0)	0.85
Height (cm) ##	86.2 (6.4)	86.9 (3.7)	0.12
Body Mass Index (kg/cm2) ##	16.6 (1.7)	16.7 (1.5)	0.56
Index of Multiple Deprivation			
Score##	36.7 (19.3)	47.0 (15.0)	0.01*
Mother Education #			0.01*
Higher than A level	83 (24.9)	103 (21.9)	
A-level or same	23 (6.9)	43 (9.1)	
5 GCSE	102 (30.6)	150 (31.9)	
< 5 GCSE	68 (20.4)	139 (7.4)	
Other	57 (17.1)	35 (7.4)	
Mothers Language #			0.17
English	333 (100)	373 (79.4)	
Urdu	0 (0)	97 (20.6)	
Childs Health (mothers			
perception) #			0.35
Excellent	63 (18.9)	86 (18.3)	
Very Good	132 (39.6)	170 (36.2)	
Good	117 (35.1)	194 (41.3)	
Fair	18 (5.4)	16 (3.4)	
Poor	3 (0.9)	4 (0.85)	
Parents Relationship Status #			0.26
Married	234 (70.3)	354 (75.6)	
Re-Married	0 (0)	1 (0.2)	
Single (never married)	94 (28.2)	103 (21.9)	
Separated (still legally			
married)	4 (1.2)	8 (1.7)	
Divorced	1 (0.3)	3 (0.6)	
Regular Childcare			
arrangements #			0.25
Yes	115 (34.5)	144 (30.6)	
No	218 (65.5)	326 (69.4)	

Table 6.3: Descriptive statistics and demographic differences of White British and South Asian two year old children.

* = $p \le 0.05$

= Chi-square test

= Independent T-Test

Index of Multiple deprivation score (IMD) – each of England's Lower Super Output Areas are rated between 1 (most deprived) to 32,844 (least deprived).

Tuble 0.1. The dury minutes of (7) and off emalents in (11) and components of (11) (11).								
	White Br	itish (n=333)	South Asian (n = 470)		Linear Regression-MVPA MINS		Linear Regression-MVPA LOG [#]	
	Mean mins (SD)	Median mins (IQR)	Mean mins (SD)	Median mins (IQR)	β	95%CI-Variable	β	95%CI-Variable
Total MVPA	163.1 (94.2)	159.6 (70.9-245.3)	152.4 (101.7)	148.1 (49.7-240.0)	-10.8	-24.9, 3.3		
Home-MVPA	103.8 (82.24)	120.0 (31.0-180.0)	117.1 (96.4)	120.0 (31.0-180.0)	13.3*	0.29, 26.3		
Garden-MVPA	27.0 (41.7)	12.9 (0.3-31.0)	17.7 (29.5)	6.9 (15-20.4)			0.2	-0.1, 0.4
Sweating-Activity	5.3 (14.2)	0.0 (0.0-4.4)	1.9 (9.1)	0.0 (0.0-0.0)			0.2	-0.3, 0.7
Walking-MVPA	13.7 (18.2)	9.1 (1.0-16.0)	6.0 (12.9)	1.0 (0.3-8.9)			-0.3*	-0.1, - 0.5
Park-MVPA	5.8 (7.0)	4.3 (1.1-8.6)	5.3 (8.0)	2.2 (0.0-8.6)			0.1	-0.1, 0.3
Indoorplay-MVPA	7.5 (9.3)	4.3 (0.0-8.6)	4.5 (7.6)	0.0 (0.0-5.7)			0.1	-0.1, 0.4

Table 6.4: The daily minutes of WB and SA children's MVPA and components of MVPA

Notes:

* p≤0.05

Outcome variable was not normally distributed therefore regression analysis was run on successfully transformed log values (natural log).

60% of WB reported Sweating Q being 0

80% of SA reported Sweating Q being 0

	Table 6.5: The proportio	on of WB and SA childrens	s MVPA which com	ponents of MVPA constitute.
--	--------------------------	---------------------------	------------------	-----------------------------

	WB	SA	Linear Regression -MVPA MINS		S Linear	Linear Regression -MVPA LOG [#]	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	β	95%CI-Variable	β	95%CI-Variable	
Home-MVPA	57.5 (28.1)	67.7 (29.7)	9.9*	5.7, 14.0			
Garden-MVPA	15.8 (19.5)	13.5 (19.4)			-0.1	-0.3, 0.1	
Sweating-Activity	3.9 (10.3)	2.0 (7.8)			-0.1	-0.4, 0.3	
Walking-MVPA	11.6 (14.0)	6.0 (12.5)			-0.7*	-0.9, -0.5	
Park-MVPA	4.7 (7.6)	4.8 (8.6)			0.2	-0.2, 0.3	
Indoorplay-MVPA	6.5 (10.4)	6.0 (14.8)			0.2	-0.1, 0.4	

Notes:

* p≤0.05

Outcome variable was not normally distributed therefore regression analysis was run on successfully transformed log values (natural log).

60% of WB reported Sweating Q being 0

80% of SA reported Sweating Q being 0

6.4.4. The correlates of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity

Results of the univariate analyses are presented in Appendix 6. Reported in Tables 6.6, 6.7 and 6.8 are the findings of the hierarchical multiple regression models for the whole sample, WB children and SA children.

Simple linear regressions (Appendix 6) for the whole sample (n=837) found 21 variables to be statistically significant (p<0.2). The 21 variables along with language and BMI z-score were included in multiple linear regressions (Table 6.6). Of the 23 variables six were biological and demographical variables, two behavioural variables, eleven social and cultural variables and three environmental variables.

In the hierarchical regression models (Table 6.6), Model A (biological and demographic variables) accounted for 2.7% of the variance which was not statistically significant [F(18,818) = 1.23, p ≥ 0.05]. Significant individual variables were child's health [excellent(reference) versus fair], which was positively associated (+) with MVPA, and mothers education [higher than A-level(reference) versus A-Levels) was negatively associated (-) with MVPA.

In step two (Model B) behavioural variables added a further 1.4% to the explained variance, which was not significant [F(28,808) = 1.21, p ≥ 0.05]. The variable 'how often child watches TV/DVD at meal time' [never(reference) versus 1-3 times a month) was negatively associated with MVPA (p ≤ 0.05).

In step three (model C) social and cultural variables added a further 5.9% to the explained variance, which was not statistically significant [F(68,767) = 1.13, p ≥ 0.05]. Individual variables that were found to be significant were; 'child's weight compared to others' [about the same(reference) versus 'much heavier' (-)]; 'barrier for child to be active: the weather' [never(reference) versus 'once a week' (-)];

'limited time watching TV/DVD's in the last month' [Everyday(reference) versus '5-6 times a week' (+) and 'once a week' (+)].

In step four (Model D-final model) environmental variables added a further 3.6% of explained variance which lead to the model significantly accounting for 10% of the variance [F(74,767) = 1.65, p≤0.01]. Significant individual variables were mothers education [higher than A-level(reference) versus A-Levels, +); 'limited time watching TV/DVD's in the last month' [Everyday(reference) versus '5-6 times a week'(+) 2-4 times a week (+) and 'once a week' (+)]; 'barrier for child to be active: the weather' [never(reference) versus 'once a week' (-)]; 'number of active toys in the home' (+); season [summer(reference) versus spring (-), autumn (-) and winter (-)].

Table 6.6: Multivariable associations of potential correlates with two year old children's MVPA.

	All daily MVPA (n=837)				
	Model A	Model B	Model C	Model D	
POTENTIAL CORRELATES	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)	
BIOLOGICAL AND DEMOGRAPHICAL VAL	RIABLES	p (10/0 00)	p (1010 01)	p (10 / 0 02)	
Sex					
Boys (Ref)					
Cirls	-74(-19849)	-71(-19654)	-38(-16792)	-67(-194,61)	
Age (months)	30(-35,95)	27(-3992)	3.0 (-3.7.9.8)	-0.5 (-7.5, 6.5)	
	5.0 (-5.5, 9.5)	2.7 (-3.9, 9.2)	5.0 (-5.7, 5.8)	-0.3 (-7.3, 0.3)	
Etinicity					
Carath A size	24(154107)	11(147,10E)	20(12110)	11(100145)	
South Asian	-2.4 (-15.4, 10.7)	-1.1(-14.7, 12.5)	2.0(-12.1, 10.2)	1.1 (-12.3, 14.5)	
Other	7.1 (-21.1, 35.2)	7.4 (-21.7, 36.4)	12.6 (-17.4, 42.5)	7.5 (-21.6, 36.6)	
Excellent (Ker)		E 0 (14 4 0(1)	0.0 (00 (01 0)	1 4 (10 0 00 1)	
Very Good	6.2 (-13.9, 26.2)	5.8 (-14.4, 26.1)	0.3 (-20.6, 21.2)	1.4 (-19.3, 22.1)	
Good	14.9 (-5.7, 35.6)	13.5 (-7.5, 34.4)	7.9 (-14.0, 29.7)	8.4 (-13.2, 30.1)	
Fair	40.0 (5.0, 74.9)*	37.7 (2.4, 73.0)*	28.1 (-9.2, 65.3)	20.4 (-16.1, 57.0)	
	58.2 (-12.6,		52.4 (-21.3,		
Poor	128.9)	54.6 (-16.5, 125.8)	126.2)	56.6 (-16.5, 129.7)	
Mother Health					
Excellent (Ref)					
Very Good	13.0 (-11.8, 37.8)	11.6 (-13.5, 36.7)	13.2 (-12.6, 39.1)	11.9 (-13.6, 37.4)	
Good	-0.5 (-25.1, 24.0)	-2.3 (-27.2, 22.6)	-4.3 (-29.9, 21.3)	-8.5 (-34.0, 17.1)	
Fair	-18.8 (-48.8, 11.2)	-21.0 (-51.3, 9.3)	-22.3 (-54.0, 9.5)	-25.3 (-56.5, 5.9)	
Poor	-6.6 (-56.2, 43.0)	-9.3 (-59.0, 40.4)	-8.6 (-60.8, 43.5)	-10.1 (-61.4, 41.1)	
BMIz Score	-0.2 (-8.9, 8.5)	0.1 (-8.7, 8.7)	0.2 (-8.4, 9.1)	0.2 (-9.1, 8.5)	
Mothers education					
Higher than A-level (Ref)					
	-27.1 (-52.1, -				
A-level	2.2)*	-26.8 (-51.8, -1.8)*	-22.4 (-48.8, 3.9)	-27.2 (-53.3, -1.1)*	
5 GCSE	-10.4 (-27.3, 6.5)	-10.8 (-27.8, 6.2)	-3.4 (-21.1, 14.3)	-5.4 (-22.9, 12.1)	
<5 GCSE	-11.1 (-28.9, 6.7)	-12.3 (-30.2, 5.6)	-6.5 (-25.1, 12.0)	-8.4 (-26.7, 9.9)	
Other	-19.9 (-41.8, 1.9)	-19.9 (-42.0, 2.2)	-15.0 (-37.8, 7.9)	-17.4 (-39.8, 5.0)	
BEHAVIOURAL VARIABLES					
TV Screen Time before 6 pm on Weekend days					
None (Ref)					
<1 hour	~	2.1 (-16, 20.7)	3.1 (-16.3, 22.4)	0.5 (-18.4, 19.5)	
1-2 hours	~	3.6 (-16.0, 23.1)	5.0 (-15.3, 25.3)	1.1 (-18.9, 21.0)	
2-3 hours	~	-2.4 (-27.1, 22.3)	2.5 (-23.7, 28.6)	0.8 (-25.0, 26.7)	
3-4 hours	~	-26.1 (-57.7, 5.5)	-27.6 (-60.4, 5.20	-28.3 (-60.6, 3.9)	
>4 hours	~	4.9 (-37.0, 46.7)	8.7 (-35.5, 52.8)	5.8 (-36.8, 48.3)	
How often child watched TV at meal times					
Never (Ref)	~				
1-3 times this month	~	-23.4 (-48.0, -1.3)*	-24.9 (-50.6, 0.9)	-23.1 (-48.4. 2.1)	
once a week	~	-22.4 (-48.4, 3.5)	-18.7 (-45.8, 8.5)	-18.6 (-45.4, 8.2)	
2-4 times a week	~	-10.5 (-29.2, 8.2)	-14.1 (-33.7, 5.5)	-11.6 (-30.9. 7.7)	
5-6 times a week	~	12.6 (-16.4, 41.6)	13.3 (-17.0, 43.5)	10.9 (-18.8, 40.6)	
Everyday	~	-1.3 (-18 4, 15 7)	-3.9 (-21 9, 14 1)	-0.2 (-17 9, 17 4)	
SOCIAL AND CULTURAL VARIARIES		1.0 (10.1/ 10.7)	(, 11.1)		
Mothers weekly VPA minutes	~	~	-01(-0206)	-0.03 (-0.2 0.1)	
Childs weight compared to others			0.1 (0.2, 0.0)	0.00 (0.2, 0.1)	
About the same (Rof)					
much thinner	~	~	99(-333 531)	10 1 (-33 4 53 7)	
a little bit thinner	~	~	10 (-11 2 10 2)	23.1(-33.4, 33.7)	
a little bit beavier			4.0 (-11.3, 17.2) 0 2 (10 / 10 0)	2.3(-12.7, 17.2)	
a mue on neavier	~	~	-0.3 (-17.4, 18.8)	0.3 (-10.3, 19.0)	
much boardor			-112.4 (-219.2, -	0 = 0 (2010, 1100)	
	~	~	5.7)*	->3.0 (-201.9, 11.90)	
rerceptions of child being as active as peers					
Similarly active (Ket)			1 4 (40 0 00 4)		
generally more active	~	~	-1.4 (-42.2, 39.4)	6.2 (-7.2, 19.7)	
generally less active	~	~	8.5 (-5.1, 22.0)	8.4 (-31.8, 48.5)	

How often has mother or partner encouraged				
child to play active games in the last month				
Every day (Ref)				
5-6 times a week	~	~	-18.7 (-49.1, 11.8)	-16.6 (-46.8, 13.6)
2-4 times a week	~	~	1.8 (-18.3, 21.9)	1.1 (-18.7, 21.0)
once a week	~	~	-9.5 (-38.6, 19.6)	-4.0 (-32.5, 24.5)
1-3 times this month	~	~	1.3 (-48.8, 51.3)	5.0 (-46.6, 56.7)
Never	~	~	11.2 (-11.3, 33.7)	13.8 (-8.3, 35.9)
How often has mother or partner played an				
actively with child in the last month				
Every day (Ref)				
5-6 times a week	~	~	-4.4 (-30.5, 21.7)	-47(-304 211)
2-4 times a week	~	~	6.4(-13.3, 26.1)	10.8(-9.1, 30.7)
onco a wook	~	~	14.4(42.1, 13.2)	86(360,188)
1.2 times this month			=14.4(-42.1, 15.2) 8.0(48.1.22.0)	-0.0(-50.0, 10.0)
Never	~	~	-6.0(-46.1, 32.0)	-4.4(-44.7, 55.6)
	~	~	1.8 (-30.0, 33.6)	3.0 (-29.3, 35.2)
How often mother or partner taken child to				
places to be physically active in the last month				
Every day (Ref)				
5-6 times a week	~	~	29.5 (-6.5, 65.5)	26.3 (-9.0, 61.6)
2-4 times a week	~	~	12.6 (-13.7, 39.0)	10.5 (-15.2, 36.2)
once a week	~	~	-1.4 (-29.2, 26.4)	-1.1 (-28.4, 26.2)
1-3 times this month	~	~	10.2 (-19.6, 40.0)	8.6 (-20.8, 38.0)
Never	~	~	15.0 (-18.1, 48.0)	18.6 (-14.1, 51.2)
Limited time watching TV/DVDs in the last				
month				
Every day (Ref)				
5-6 times a week	~	~	38.4 (4.6, 72.2)*	36.0 (3.3, 68.8)*
2-4 times a week	~	~	21.7 (-0.3, 43.7)	22.7 (1.4, 44.0)*
once a week	~	~	41.2 (13.1, 69.2)*	39.1 (11.8, 66.4)*
1-3 times this month	~	~	12.8 (-24.1 49.8)	162(-200, 525)
Never	~	~	14.3(-3.3, 32.0)	65(-106, 237)
Limited time playing outside in the last			14.0 (0.0, 02.0)	0.5 (10.0, 20.7)
month				
Nover (ref)				
			PP(11, 0, 0(0))	0.4(10.0, 27.7)
1-3 times this month	~	~	7.7 (-11.0, 26.3)	9.4 (-18.8, 37.7)
once a week	~	~	-5.2 (-30.9, 20.6)	-3.9 (-30.0, 22.2)
2-4 times a week	~	~	7.7 (-11.0, 26.3)	8.0 (-10.8, 26.8)
5-6 times a week	~	~	13.0 (-18.4, 44.3)	11.8 (-19.8, 43.2)
Everyday	~	~	5.9 (-13.5, 25.3)	6.7 (-12.7, 26.2)
Barrier for child to be active: weather				
Never (Ref)				
1-3 times this month	~	~	-8.0 (-27.6, 11.6)	-4.2 (-23.5, 15.1)
			-21.6 (-42.6, -	
once a week	~	~	0.6)*	-20.8 (-41.4, -0.3)*
2-4 times a week	~	~	5.5 (-12.5, 23.5)	4.9 (-12.5, 22.3)
5-6 times a week	~	~	-11.8 (-48.8, 25.3)	-2.7 (-39.2, 33.8)
Everyday	~	~	-12.0 (-40.4, 16.4)	1.2 (-27.4, 29.8)
Parenting: feeling depressed				
None of the time (Ref)				
A little of the time	~	~	83(-90,255)	72 (-98 242)
Some of the time	~	~	183(-64, 429)	186(-57,430)
Most of the time	~	~	60(-417537)	0.6(-46.3, 47.4)
All of the time	~	~	125(521,771)	15.8(.47.5,.79.0)
Parenting: feeling honologeness			12.0 (-02.1, / / .1)	10.0 (-11.0, 19.0)
None of the time (Def)				
None of the time (Ker)			00(17(010)	
A little of the time	~	~	3.2 (-17.6, 24.0)	5.4 (-15.2, 26.0)
Some of the time	~	~	0.5 (-25.6, 26.5)	0.6 (-25.4, 26.7)
Most of the time	~	~	-30.9 (-89.1, 27.3)	-15.6 (-73.5, 42.3)
			-69.3 (-169.9,	
All of the time	~	~	31.3)	-51.8 (-150.5, 46.9)

ENVIRONMENTAL VARIABLES

Amount of time spent at nursery/preschool each week

Do not attend (Ref)				
Part time	~	~	~	-15.4 (-32.7, 1.9)
Full time	~	~	~	-2.6 (-30.1, 24.8)
No Active toys in the home	~	~	~	4.7 (0.7, 8.6)*
Season				
Summer (Ref)				
Spring	~	~	~	-16.3 (-32.5, -0.2)*
Autumn	~	~	~	-29.1 (-59.3, -1.2)*
Winter	~	~	~	-50.9 (-70.6, -31.2)*
Increment increase in R^2	0.027	0.014	0.059	0.036*
Total R ²	0.027	0.041	0.100	0.136*

Notes: * **p≤0.05**

 β represent the difference in MVPA per 1 unit increase in continuous variables or relative difference to reference group in categorical variables. 95% CI = confidence intervals.

Univariate linear regressions (Appendix 6) for WB children (n=333) found 10 variables to be statistically significant (p<0.2). The 9 variables along with sex and BMI z-score were included in multiple linear regressions (Table 6.7). Of the 12 variables four were biological and demographic variables, five social and cultural variables and three environmental variables.

The hierarchical regression models for WB are reported in Table 6.7. Model A (biological and demographic variables) accounted for 1% of the variance which was not statistically significant [F(9,323) = 0.48, p ≥ 0.05]. No individual variables were found to be statistically significant.

In step two (model B) social and cultural variables inputted added a further 12.1% to the explained variance, which was statistically significant [F(29,302) = 1.60, $p \le 0.05$]. Individual variables that were found to be significant were; 'how often mother or partner encouraged play activities in the last month' [everyday(reference) versus 5-6 times a week (-) and once a week (-)]; 'limiting time watching TV/DVD in the last month' [everyday(reference) versus 5-6 times a week (+) and once a week (+)].

In step three (Model C-final model) environmental variables added a further 5.2% of explained variance which lead to the model significantly accounting for 18.4% of variance [F(36,297) = 1.65, p ≤ 0.01]. Significant individual variables were; 'how often mother or partner encouraged play activities in the last month' [everyday(reference) versus 5-6 times a week (-)]; 'limiting time watching TV/DVD in the last month' [everyday(reference) versus 5-6 times a week (+)] and once a week (+)]; 'amount of time child spends in preschool/nursery' [do not attend(reference versus part time (-); and season [summer(reference) versus spring (-), autumn (-) and winter (-)].

Table 6.7: Hierarchical multivariable associations of potential correlates with White British children's MVPA.					
▲	Whit	e British: daily MVPA (n=333)		
	Model A	Model B	Model C		
POTENTIAL CORRELATES	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)		
BIOLOGICAL AND DEMOGRAPHICAL VARIABLES					
Sex					
Boys (Ref)					
Girls	-6.0 (-25.4, 13.4)	-7 2 (-27 1, 12 6)	-10.5 (-30.1, 9.1)		
Age (months)	-25(-130.80)	-29(-140.82)	-72(-18641)		
BMIz Scoro	2.0(637232)	2.5 (15.9.10.7)	37(173.99)		
Mothers education	-2.0 (-03,7, 23.2)	-2.0 (-13.9, 10.7)	-5.7 (-17.5, 9.9)		
Higher than A level (Ref)					
A lovel	20.8(72.5,10.8)	10 1 (62 1 25 0)	178(610 254)		
5 CCSE	-30.0(-72.3, 10.0) 8.6(24.7, 17.4)	-19.1(-00.1, 20.0)	-17.0(-01.0, 20.4)		
	-0.0(-34.7, 17.4) 7 4 (26 2, 21 5)	(-27, 1, 27, 0)	-0.3(-27.4, 20.0)		
Other	-7.4(-30.3, 21.3) 178(482, 125)	-4.9(-34.1, 24.4) 10.2($41.4, 21.1$)	-4.9 (-33.9, 24.1) 8 2 (20 2 - 22 7)		
	-17.8 (-48.2, 12.3)	-10.2 (-41.4, 21.1)	-0.3 (-39.3, 22.7)		
Mothers number of activity sessions		18(4510)	17(4410)		
		-1.8 (-4.3, 1.0)	-1.7 (-4.4, 1.0)		
now otten has mother or partner encouraged child to play					
acuve games in the last month					
Every day (Ker)	~				
o-o times a week	~	-00.0 (-111.5, -24.6)*	-55.U (-98.5, 11.5)*		
2-4 times a week	~	4.4 (-21.4, 30.2)	(-19.4, 31.3)		
once a week	~	-43.7 (-89.7, -2.1)*	-38.2 (-81.7, 5.3)		
1-3 times this month	~	-17.1 (-148.2, 114.0)	14.7 (-115.1, 144.5)		
Never	~	3.8 (-28.7, 36.2)	9.3 (-23.0, 41.5)		
How often mother or partner taken child to places to be					
physically active in the last month					
Every day (Ref)	~				
5-6 times a week	~	28.9 (-26.7, 84.6)	18.7 (-36.1, 73.6)		
2-4 times a week	~	-0.9 (-41.5, 39.7)	-5.1 (-45.9, 35.6)		
once a week	~	16.8 (-25.4, 59.0)	9.6 (-33.3, 52.5)		
1-3 times this month	~	-15.0 (-60.4, 30.4)	-21.4 (-67.9, 25.1)		
Never	~	-7.1 (-59.4, 45.3)	-11.4 (-65.1, 42.3)		
Limited time watching TV/DVDs in the last month					
Every day (Ref)	~				
5-6 times a week	~	61.2 (5.2, 117.3)*	70.6 (14.8, 126.4)*		
2-4 times a week	~	29.5 (-2.9, 61.9)	29.1 (-3.0, 61.2)		
once a week	~	45.1 (9.3, 80.9)*	50.2 (14.9, 85.4)*		
1-3 times this month	~	-12.0 (-65.0, 40.9)	-5.4 (-57.8, 47.0)		
Never	~	10.7 (-16.2, 37.5)	14.3 (-12.3, 40.8)		
Barrier for child to be active: mother can not take on her own					
Never (Ref)	~				
1-3 times this month	~	13.5 (-26.0, 52.9)	8.8 (-31.4, 49.1)		
once a week	~	26.3 (-32.2, 84.9)	29.0 (-29.8, 87.9)		
2-4 times a week	~	-16.0 (-69.8, 37.7)	-13.0 (-67.8, 41.7)		
5-6 times a week	~	88.3 (-1.0, 177.6)	79.2 (-10.3, 168.7)		
Everyday	~	-1.4 (-48.7, 45.8)	3.9 (-44.1, 52.0)		
ENVIRONMENTAL VARIABLES					
Amount of time spent at nursery/preschool each week					
Do not attend (Ref)	~	~			
Part time	~	~	-40.6 (-67.9, -13.2)*		
Full time	~	~	6.6 (-31.9, 45.2)		
No Active toys in the home	~	~	1.5 (-4.5, 7.5)		
Season					
Summer (Ref)	~	~			
Spring	~	~	-3.6 (-27.3, 20.2)		
Autumn	~	~	-54.9 (-101.4, -8.5)*		
Winter	~	~	-31.5 (-61.6, -1.5)*		
Increment increase in \mathbb{R}^2	0.010	0 101*	0.052*		
Total D2	0.010	0.121	0.002		
10tal K-	0.010	0.131*	0.184*		

Notes: * $p \le 0.05$; β represent the difference in MVPA per 1 unit increase in continuous variables or relative difference to reference group in categorical variables.; 95% CI = confidence intervals.

Univariate linear regressions for SA children (n=470) (Appendix 6) found 15 variables to be statistically significant (p<0.2). The 15 variables along with sex and BMI z-score were included in hierarchical multiple linear regressions (Table 6.8). Of the 17 variables four were biological and demographical variables, three behavioural variables, nine social and cultural variables and one environmental variable.

In the hierarchical regression models (Table 6.8), Model A (biological and demographic variables) accounted for 2.3% of the variance which was not statistically significant [F(10,460) = 1.20, p ≥ 0.05]. Model B (behavioural variables) added a further 4.2% of explained variance, which was not significant [F(25,445) = 1.28, p ≥ 0.05]. There were no significant individual variables in either Model A or B.

In step three (model C) social and cultural variables added a further 8.1% to the explained variance, which was not statistically significant [F(53,416) = 1.28, p ≥ 0.05]. Individual variables that were found to be significant were; 'perceptions of child being as active as peers' [similarly active(reference) versus generally more active (+)]; 'limited time watching TV/DVD's in the last month' [Everyday(reference) versus '5-6 times a week' (+)] and 'barrier for child to be active: the weather' [never(reference) versus 'once a week' (-)].

In step four (Model D-final model) environmental variables added a further 2.8% of explained variance which lead to the model significantly accounting for 17.4% of variance [F(56,413) = 1.54, p≤0.01]. Significant individual variables were perceptions of child being as active as peers' [similarly active(reference) versus generally more active (+)]; 'barrier for child to be active: the weather' [never(reference) versus 'once a week' (-)] and season [summer(reference) versus spring (-) and winter (-)].

	SA daily MVPA (n=470)				
	Model A	Model B	Model C	Model D	
POTENTIAL CORRELATES	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)	
BIOLOGICAL AND DEMOGRAPHICAL VA	ARIABLES				
Sex					
Boys (Ref)	0.1(2(1.78))	0 = (260, 78)	47(226122)	(())	
Age (months)	-9.1(-20.1, 7.0)	-9.3(-20.9, 7.0)	-4.7 (-22.0, 13.3)	-0.0 (-24.3, 11.0)	
BMIz Score	-0.4 (-11.4, 10.6)	3.8 (-8.8, 16.3)	47(-89183)	46(-87, 182)	
Mothers education	0.4 (11.4, 10.0)	0.0 (0.0, 10.0)	4.7 (0.9, 10.9)	4.0 (0.7, 10.2)	
Higher than A-level (Ref)					
A-level	-19.1 (-52.2, 13.9)	-20.2 (-53.8, 13.4)	-13.1 (-48.4, 22.2)	-13.2 (-48.1, 21.7)	
5 GCSE	-10.2 (-33.4, 13.1)	-9.5 (-33.1, 14.1)	-9.1 (-34.2, 16.1)	-10.4 (-35.2, 14.4)	
<5 GCSE	-12.0 (-35.7, 11.7)	-10.5 (-34.7, 13.7)	-4.4 (-30.1, 21.2)	-4.7 (-30.0, 20.6)	
Other	-33.0 (-68.5, 2.6)	-29.7 (-66.2, 6.8)	-25.2 (-63.7, 13.2)	-21.2 (-59.2, 17.0)	
Mother ever smoked					
No (ref)					
Yes	17.8 (-6.5, 42.2)	-19.2 (-44.0, 5.7)	-25.7 (-51.6, 0.2)	24.5 (-0.9, 49.8)	
BEHAVIOURAL VARIABLES					
How often child watched TV at meal times					
Never (Ref)					
1-3 times this month	~	-22.8 (-57.8, 12.2)	-9.6 (-45.9, 26.6)	-11.9 (-47.6, 23.8)	
once a week	~	-28.9 (-63.3, 5.4)	-23.3 (-58.9, 12.2)	-25.8 (-61.0, 9.3)	
2-4 times a week	~	-1.5(-28.2, 25.3) 12.8(264, 54.1)	-2.4 (-30.6, 25.8)	-2.6 (-30.4, 25.1)	
5-6 times a week	~	13.8(-20.4, 54.1) 51(180, 200)	7.8 (-35.0, 50.6) 1.8 (-32.5, 27.1)	0.3(-42.2, 42.8) 0.1(24.9, 24.9)	
TV Screen Time before 6nm on Weekend	~	5.1 (-16.9, 29.0)	1.6 (-23.3, 27.1)	-0.1 (-24.9, 24.9)	
dave					
None (Ref)					
<1 hour	~	75 (-186.335)	41(-229,310)	21(-246, 288)	
1-2 hours	~	6.1 (-21.9, 34.1)	7.6 (-21.1, 36.4)	4.4 (-24.0, 32.8)	
2-3 hours	~	-25.9 (-59.6, 7.9)	-25.5 (-60.8, 9.8)	-24.3 (-59.2, 10.7)	
3-4 hours	~	-33.3 (-76.3, 9.8)	-34.5 (-78.5, 9.6)	-34.7 (-78.0, 8.6)	
>4 hours	~	-37.1 (-96.1,21.9)	-26.2 (-86.6, 34.2)	-24.2 (-84.3, 35.8)	
TV Screen Time after 6pm on Weekend days					
None (Ref)					
<1 hour	~	-16.5 (-36.6, 3.7)	-15.5 (-36.4, 5.3)	-15.1 (-35.8, 5.5)	
1-2 hours	~	-9.3 (-35.9, 17.3)	-8.3 (-36.4, 19.8)	-8.8 (-36.5, 18.9)	
2-3 hours	~	27.4 (-32.2, 86.9)	26.9 (-34.3, 88.1)	24.6 (-35.6, 84.7)	
3-4 hours	~	-17.7 (-154.6, 119.1)	-57.4 (-199.1,84.5)	-69.8 (-209.4, 69.8)	
>4 hours	~	84.6 (-96.1, 21.9)	75.0 (-41.1, 191.2)	80.4 (-34.2, 195.1)	
SOCIAL AND CULTURAL VARIABLES					
Childs weight compared to others					
About the same (Ref)				0.0 (54.4 54.0)	
much thinner	~	~	-8.9 (-63.9, 46.1)	-0.2 (-54.4, 54.0)	
a little bit thinner	~	~	6.4(-14.9, 27.7)	6.8 (-14.2, 27.7) 7.8 (17.2, 22.8)	
A bit neavier	~	~	0.3(-19.0, 31.7)	7.8 (-17.3, 32.8)	
Mothers weekly WPA minutes	~	~	-0.2 (-0.4, 0.1)	-0.2(-0.4, 0.3)	
Borcontions of shild being as active as poors	~	~	-0.04 (-0.2, 0.2)	0.1 (-0.2, 0.2)	
Similarly active (Ref)					
generally more active	~	~	21 4 (2 7 40 2)*	189(02376)*	
generally less active	~	~	12.1 (-42.3, 66.5)	4.7 (-49.0, 58.4)	
Important child does not watch too much TV				(10.0, 00.1)	
Agree (Ref)					
neither agree or disagree	~	~	10.5 (-26.3, 47.2)	13.4 (-22.8, 49.6)	
disagree	~	~	-15.7 (-42.5, 11.2)	-13.5 (-39.8, 12.8)	
How often has mother or partner played an			/		
actively with child in the last month					
Every day (Ref)					
5-6 times a week	~	~	0.4 (-32.8, 33.5)	5.9 (-26.9, 38.7)	

Table 6.8: Hierarchical multivariable associations of potential correlates with South Asian children's MVPA.

2-4 times a week	~	~	12.9 (-10.3, 36.1)	17.9 (-5.0, 40.9)
once a week	~	~	-24.2 (-57.3, 8.9)	-15.0 (-47.6, 17.5)
1-3 times this month	~	~	-17.7 (-69.9, 34.5)	-16.4 (-68.0, 35.3)
Never	~	~	19.7 (-17.7, 57.1)	21.1 (-15.4, 57.5)
Limited time watching TV/DVDs in the last				
month				
Every day (Ref)				
5-6 times a week	~	~	42.1 (0.5, 83.8)*	33.4 (-7.8, 74.7)
2-4 times a week	~	~	30.2 (-1.6, 62.1)	26.7 (-4.7, 58.2)
once a week	~	~	7.0 (-36.9, 51.0)	-0.1 (-43.7, 43.4)
1-3 times this month	~	~	31.1 (-27.2, 89.4)	25.4 (-32.1, 82.9)
Never	~	~	17.3 (-5.4, 39.9)	7.5 (-14.7, 29.7)
Barrier for child to be active: weather				
Never (Ref)				
1-3 times this month	~	~	-10.1 (-38.5, 18.3)	-3.9 (-32.0, 24.1)
once a week	~	~	-39.2 (-69.1, -9.4)*	-34.3 (-63.9, -4.7)*
2-4 times a week	~	~	4.4 (-20.1, 29.0)	3.3 (-20.2, 26.8)
5-6 times a week	~	~	-27.7 (-76.6, 21.2)	-16.4 (-64.9, 32.1)
Everyday	~	~	-24.0 (-61.9, 14.0)	-10.0 (-47.9, 27.8)
Parenting: feeling depressed				
None of the time (Ref)				
A little of the time	~	~	2.2 (-20.0, 24.4)	4.6 (-17.3, 26.5)
Some of the time	~	~	25.2 (-2.4, 52.9)	26.7 (-0.5, 53.9)
Most of the time	~	~	-3.4 (-53.1, 46.3)	1.2 (-47.9, 50.3)
All of the time	~	~	-33.6 (-120.5, 53.2)	-23.7 (-109.2, 62.1)
ENVIRONMENTAL VARIABLES				
Season				
Summer (Ref)				
Spring	~	~	~	-23.5 (-46.1, -0.9)*
Autumn	~	~	~	3.3 (-40.7, 47.3)
Winter	~	~	~	-52.1 (-79.6, -24.7)*
Increment increase in R ²	0.023	0.042	0.081	0.028*
Total R ²	0.023	0.065	0.146	0.174*

Notes: * $p \le 0.05$ β represent the difference in MVPA per 1 unit increase in continuous variables or relative difference to reference group in categorical variables.; 95% CI = confidence intervals.

6.5. Discussion

This study is the first known to investigate habitual MVPA and correlates of MVPA in a bi-ethnic sample of toddlers (2-4 years). Findings of this cross-sectional study indicate that toddlers living in the city of Bradford reportedly took part in high levels of daily MVPA, and ethnic differences in habitual MVPA seen between WB and SA children⁸⁷⁻⁹⁰ may not begin in toddlerhood. However, the context of where MVPA was undertaken did differ between ethnicities and although few correlates of MVPA were identified, different correlates were found for SA and WB children.

6.5.1. Levels of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity

The current study found Bradford toddlers spent a reported 18% of their waking day in MVPA. The 18% equates to 157 minutes of MVPA daily, which is near to three hours (180 minutes). This level of daily MVPA is extremely high when considering previous research has found that activity of young children increases year by year until the age of five.^{111,118} At age five a drop of activity begins and occurs then throughout childhood^{118,419}, meaning for the current study such high levels of MVPA during toddlerhood would suggest this cohort of children will be extremely active once five years of age. Such a reported high level of MVPA could be because of the subjective nature of the EY-PAQ, and even after considering potential outliers parents could well be biased in reporting children as more active than they are, or are reporting LPA as MVPA, and therefore an inflated value has been reported. When considering findings from energy expenditure studies,^{12,420} the idea that the current results are inflated and unrealistic are strengthened, as such energy expenditure studies (gold standard measurement) report young children have low levels of daily energy expenditure and the ability to undergo nearly three hours of MVPA appears to be unrealistic. However, when transforming the value of 157 minutes into a proportion (18%) and comparing to other studies of the thesis, 18%

is lower than both accelerometry (20.3%) and EY-PAQ (21.2%) proportions reported in Chapter 5, and higher than MVPA proportions reported in Chapter 4 (mean: 9.8% and median: 11.2%). But, having high confidence in the actual levels of MVPA accumulated by toddlers is difficult across the literature due to differences in measurement techniques adopted across studies. A systematic review investigating the objective levels of young children's PA levels, by Hnatiuk¹¹¹, identified 37 unique samples from 40 studies. The main findings were young children spent between 2% and 41% of their waking hours in MVPA, which translates to a range of 15 minutes to 320 minutes of daily MVPA, when standardised across expected waking hours for this age group. It should be noted that as the EY-PAQ boundaries implemented (Chapter 5) to exclude extreme values were 2% to 41%, proportional levels reported in the present study were never going to be higher than 41% (320 minutes-based on a 840 minute waking day). The majority of studies in the Hnatiuk¹¹¹ review reported preschool children's levels of PA. Only three studies are known to report toddler's levels of MVPA.281,376,407 Gubbels281 using direct observation, found toddlers (n=75 two year olds) engaged in MVPA for 5% of the time spent indoors at a childcare centre and 21% of the time when outdoors. Wijtzes³⁷⁶ and Hnatiuk⁴⁰⁷ like the current study measured habitual levels of MVPA. Wijtzes³⁷⁶ assessed 2 year old Dutch children's physical activity via accelerometry and found children spent 5% of their daily waking time in MVPA. Hnatiuk⁴⁰⁷ assessed 19 month old Australian children's levels of activity and found 8.2% of waking hours (mean) were spent in MVPA, with a range of 2.6% to 18.5%. Measurement of MVPA and PA is difficult to gage particularly when different studies use different measurements (direct observation, accelerometry, heart rate monitoring)¹¹¹ and studies using accelerometry use different data reduction choices (e.g. wear-time, non-wear-time, cut-points; see sections 1.2.2.6.5. and 1.2.2.6.6.). It is also important to note that proxy report questionnaires, as used herein, are likely to be confounded by social desirability bias and recall error.¹⁹⁶ Nevertheless, as there are no comparable studies (using the EY-PAQ) reporting levels of toddlers habitual
MVPA, and both Hnatiuk⁴⁰⁷ reported proportions of MVPA to be lower than 10%; in the current study Bradford toddlers were found to be highly active, especially when converting 18% of MVPA in to minutes (157.6 minutes), which is nearly three times the recommended 60 minutes of daily MVPA for older children.

<u>6.5.2. Levels of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity – differences</u> <u>between ethnicities</u>

Bradford toddlers being found to be highly active is a good public health finding. However, such positive news does not mean promotion of PA particularly MVPA should become less of a public health priority. Physical activity levels reduce as age increases¹²¹ and also track from the preschool years into the primary pre-puberty years.¹¹⁸ Therefore, maintaining and maximising levels of MVPA is important, particularly for communities like Bradford which have a high number of people of SA ethnicity who have been reported to take part in significantly less PA and MVPA than their WB peers in older childhood,^{87,89} which could contribute to a potential public health crisis due to SA's having a higher predisposition for chronic diseases which high levels of PA can help prevent (type II diabetes mellitus, cardio-vascular disease and obesity).⁹¹⁻¹⁰⁰

The current study found no significant differences between habitual levels of MVPA between WB and SA children. This is in line with the findings of the systematic review in Chapter 3⁷²; which reported no difference of MVPA levels between young children of different ethnicities. However, studies identified were with mainly American populations and compared differences between Hispanic, Black and White American preschool populations. This is the first study to examine ethnic difference between WB and SA British populations during toddlerhood. Although no differences were found between ethnicity and habitual MVPA, previous research in older children has consistently found WB children to have significantly greater levels of PA compared to their SA peers.⁸⁷⁻⁹⁰ Therefore, future

research of a longitudinal design should seek to investigate when differences between WB and SA children occur and understand the factors associated with any differences.

The current study used the EY-PAQ, a proxy-report questionnaire found to have acceptable validity and reliability in Bradford young children (See Chapter 5⁴⁰⁶), as the measure of MVPA. A strength of the EY-PAQ is the contextual information which describes the different activities, which summed together, calculate overall MVPA. After taking into account season, sex, BMIz and age, SA children spent significantly more time taking part in activity inside the home than WB children, and WB children spent significantly more time being active while walking for transportation. Although clear limitations surrounding proxy report questionnaires should always be considered, this is an important finding as it indicates what constitutes MVPA may well be different for WB and SA young children, and future research targeting specific contexts of MVPA.

6.5.3. Correlates of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity

The present study examined a wide range of potential correlates covering the different levels of the ecological model. For the sample as a whole the found correlates were mother's education, limited time watching TV/DVD's in the last month, barrier for child to be active: the weather, number of active toys in the home and season. When the sample was stratified by ethnicity correlates varied between WB and SA children. For WB children correlates found were how often mother or partner encouraged play activities in the last month, limiting time watching TV/DVD in the last month, the amount of time the child spends in preschool/nursery and season. For SA children correlates found were child being as active as peers, barrier for child to be active: the weather and season. As correlates of PA differed for different ethnicities future studies may need to recruit sufficiently

large samples to ensure adequate power to stratify analyses by ethnicity, especially in communities like Bradford where the population is predominately made up of two ethnic groups. Future research should explore this issue more closely and aim to understand the possible cultural differences of PA between ethnic groups. This is so future interventions can apply suitable strategies to increase the likelihood of successful outcomes.

There were a number of interesting individual findings. Firstly it was reported in chapter 3 (systematic review) that child's sex is a correlate of TPA and MVPA. In the current study boys were found to be significantly more active than girls for the whole group and for SA children, but only in univariate analyses. The association ceased to be significant in any of the hierarchical multiple regression models. Wijtzes³⁷⁶ and Foweather⁴²¹both examined differences in MVPA between toddler boys and girls. Wijtzes³⁷⁶ found boys to be significantly more active and Foweather⁴²¹ did not. However, Foweather⁴²¹ like the current study did not observe significant differences between boys and girls MVPA, but the direction of associations were trending towards boys being significantly more active than girls. In light of sex being the only consistently reported correlate and determinant of children's PA in previous published research¹³⁴, and correlates of PA differ for preschool children by sex,²⁸³ future research should be aware of this, even though the current study did not find any differences between sexes. Future studies should seek to identify sex-specific strategies to be implemented in future interventions. Although sex differences for SA children in the current study were only found to be significant in univariate models, future research should investigate the sex differences of young SA children using a more objective accurate measure of MVPA.

A consistent correlate of MVPA for the whole sample and for both SA and WB toddlers was season, with significantly less MVPA being reported for toddlers

whose mothers completed the questionnaire in the winter months (December, January and February) compared to mothers completing the questionnaire in the summer months (June, July and August). Carson⁶⁴ reported in a review that seasonal differences (winter PA being less than summer) were consistently found regardless of the region, measure of PA, or the study design. However, as the present study was cross-sectional and compared MVPA between toddlers measured in each season, future longitudinal research should be undertaken in this age group to further examine these findings, and also seek ways to increase PA during the winter months.

A novel finding of this study was that parents who limited their child's TV/DVD viewing to fewer times in a week reported higher levels of MVPA for their child, compared to parents who limited TV/DVD use on a daily basis. This finding does not appear to be logical, however no known study has found a similar association with restricting TV/DVD use being associated with greater PA. However, as the EY-PAQ is a proxy reported questionnaire, social desirability bias could be a confounding issue explaining this association. With TV and screens being a common fixture in modern homes more research is needed to understand the relationship between toddlers MVPA and screen viewing, particularly regarding parental rules around screen viewing.

6.5.4. Limitations

This study like all studies had a number of limitations. Firstly, because of the crosssectional design, causality cannot be assigned to any finding. Secondly, this study was a secondary analysis of data being collected as part of birth cohort study, because of this a large range of variables hypothesized to be associated with health were measured, which were not based upon any particular theory or model. Such approach increases the risk of researchers 'data dredging/P-hacking'. To overcome such a risk the approach of the current study's analysis was to include as many possible variables from the full data set only excluding variables with missing data, then pursing with the analysis which was conducted. The data analysis was also designed and pre-registered with the Born in Bradford executive committee (http://www.borninbradford.nhs.uk/research-scientific/how-to-request-access-to-<u>raw-bib-data/</u>). A third limitation was that many variables measured as part of the BiB1000 study were selected out of convenience and for exploratory reasons, and not based upon whether particular questions/measures had good reliability or validity, therefore this should be considered when interpreting the results. A fourth limitation, was the subjectivity of many the variables being measured. Like the outcome measure most of the potential correlates were measured via proxy report (answered by mothers), as required when assessing children of such a young age. Therefore, social desirability bias, poor recall and in the case of the EY-PAQ, subjective determination of activity could have led to high inaccuracy across the outcome measure and independent variables.¹⁹⁶ A fifth limitation was the current study like previous correlates research has assigned a binary yes/no correlate category to exposure variables, meaning no further explanation or further understanding of the level of association of exposure variables is reported/known. The choice of continuing with this type of analysis was because this was the first known study to explore correlates separately for different ethnicities of toddlers; and with the large amount of explorative exposure variables following a similar analysis to previous correlates research would help fill the ethnicity correlate gap reported in Chapter 3. Future research should aim to conduct an analysis with fewer exposure variables, along with testing the level of explained variance for each of the exposure variables. Such analysis would better inform future interventions.

6.5.5. Strengths

Despite the limitations this study has a number of strengths. Firstly, this study has the largest sample size of any known study measuring PA in toddlers, specifically MVPA. Although the use of a proxy report questionnaire to measure MVPA is a limitation and increases the risk of inflated estimates of MVPA, the EY-PAQ has been found to have acceptable validity and reliability in the Bradford population and also in both Urdu and English languages, meaning without the use of the EY-PAQ such a large sample would not have been feasible and Urdu speakers could well have been excluded if another questionnaire was used. Another strength of the use of the EY-PAQ is the extra contextual information gained. Habitual MVPA was measured by the EY-PAQ but so were the components which make up MVPA. Because of the large sample size of a population with large proportion of SA inhabitants the current study had the power to be able to stratify the sample by ethnic group and examine the correlates of MVPA for each ethnic group individually – providing information which could be used in the planning of and designing of future interventions.

6.6. Conclusions

This study found Bradford toddlers to be highly active, with no difference between WB and SA toddlers levels of habitual MVPA. However, SA children spent more of their MVPA time in the home compared to WB children, and WB children spent significantly more of their MVPA time walking for transportation. A small number of correlates of MVPA were identified, with different correlates found separately for WB and SA toddlers; meaning to maintain and maximise high levels of toddlers MVPA, future interventions should seek to tailor interventions by ethnicity.

Findings of this study help to increase the understanding of MVPA levels of 2 year old children living in a predominately bi-ethnic low socio-economic class city; and can help inform the development of future interventions aiming to maintain and/or increase high levels of young children's MVPA.

<u>CHAPTER 7</u> – Conclusions

7.1. Key Findings and Implications

The studies in this thesis were standalone studies but with a thread linking the studies together. Outlined in Chapter 2 is the flow and interconnection of the different chapters of the thesis (see figure 2.2). As the studies in Chapters 3 to 6 had individual discussion, limitations and conclusion sections, this chapter will reiterate and summarise key findings, and then present the implications of the studies within the thesis and report directions for future research.

7.1.1. Chapter 3

The aims of the systematic review in this chapter was to synthesize studies investigating potential correlates and determinants of TPA, MVPA, and LPA in children during the early years and investigate potential differences in associations by measurement method. A large number of studies were identified in this deliberately broad reaching review. The key findings of the review were few studies were graded as high quality (based upon the STROBE guidelines^{249,251}), and all studies took place in high income countries. Identified correlates of TPA were sex (boys more active than girls), parental PA and time outdoors. The only identified correlate for MVPA was sex, and no correlate was identified for LPA. Determinants of TPA were again sex (boys more active than girls) and time spent playing with parents. No determinants of MVPA or LPA were found. PA correlates/ determinants were relatively consistent between objective and subjective PA measures, however only one study used both objective and subjective measures in the same sample.

Although a large number of studies investigated potential correlates and determinants of PA, few correlates and determinants (modifiable and non-modifiable) were identified and overall quality of studies was deemed low. A small number of demographic/biological and social/cultural factors were associated with the different intensities of PA. Of the many findings of the review the remainder of

the chapters within this thesis concentrated on the findings of little research investigating and examining the differences in correlates between ethnic groups of WB and SA children, and the observation of only a small number of studies examining potential correlates in toddlers of MVPA.

7.1.2. Chapter 4

The study in this chapter was undertaken in order to clarify an accelerometer weartime criteria in order to undertake a validation study of the Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire (EY-PAQ), a proxy reported questionnaire which estimates young children's habitual MVPA and ST. The aims of this study were to firstly identify the wear-time criteria to reliably estimate habitual PA and ST levels of young children living in Bradford; and secondly present the methods used as a worked example in a simple stepped-process to aid researchers when deciding on the number and type of days (weekday and/or weekend) of accelerometer data required to reliably estimate the habitual PA and ST of a sample of young children. Findings of the study identified that reactivity did not occur, there were no differences between weekdays and weekend days, leading to a minimum of six hours of data on any three days as sufficient to reliably estimate young children's habitual PA who live in the city of Bradford.

7.1.3. Chapter 5

The aims of this study were to assess the EY-PAQ's test re-test reliability, and to determine its validity by comparing EY-PAQ data to accelerometry in a sample of young children from the city of Bradford, a deprived and multi-ethnic population; where English and Urdu are the predominant languages spoken. Within the accelerometry data the processing rules for the wear-time criteria presented in chapter 4 were applied in this study.

The EY-PAQ was found to have unacceptable validity for ST, but had acceptable test re-test reliability and validity for measuring habitual MVPA of young children from a bi-lingual (English, Urdu), bi-ethnic (White British, South Asian) low socio-economic community. However, MVPA validity was only deemed acceptable after converting EY-PAQ values in to proportions (based upon a waking day) and excluding proportions outside of the boundary values 2% to 41%. The proportion values 2%-41% were based upon previous studies using objective measures.¹¹¹

In situations when objective methods such as accelerometry are not possible for measurement of MVPA in young children, the EY-PAQ could be a suitable alternative, but only if the processing methods of data outlined in the study are followed and applied. Although the EY-PAQ was deemed suitable in English and Urdu in the study's sample, the sample came from a unique population, therefore the findings of this study are not generalizable to other samples from different populations.

<u>7.1.4. Chapter 6</u>

Because the EY-PAQ was found to have acceptable reliability and validity in a sample of Bradford 2-3 year olds, it meant the use of the BiB1000 cohort data could be utilised to undertake a large correlates study of Bradford toddlers. The aim of the study in chapter 6 was to increase understanding of levels of MVPA and correlates of MVPA in a large sample of WB and SA toddlers from Bradford.

Findings of the study indicated that Bradford toddlers were highly active, and no ethnic differences in habitual levels of MVPA were observed. However, ethnic differences were found between the domains of MVPA. South Asian children spent more of their MVPA time in the home compared to WB children, and WB children spent significantly more of their MVPA time walking for transportation.

For the whole sample (n=837) individual observed correlates were mothers education, limited time watching TV/DVD's in the last month, the weather, number of active toys in the home and season. For WB children individual observed correlates were how often mother or partner encouraged play activities in the last month, limiting time watching TV/DVD in the last month, the amount of time child spends in preschool/nursery and season. For SA children individual correlates were mother seeing child being as active as peers, the weather and season. The only multivariable regression models (whole sample, WB and SA) to be statistically significant were the final hierarchical models which included multiple layers of the ecological model.

The findings of the current study could aid the development and design of future interventions seeking to maintain and maximise the high levels of MVPA of Bradford toddlers found in the current study.

7.2. Future Research

The studies of this thesis have pragmatically investigated topics within two stages of the behavioural epidemiological framework for young children's PA measurement and correlates/determinants. The systematic review presented in chapter 3 identified a large number of studies and thus recommended a large number of areas for future research to investigate. Many recommendations were made for future research in this chapter and can be found in the discussion and conclusion sections of chapter 3. The most important findings of the systematic review was the small number of correlates and determinants found across the literature for TPA, MVPA and LPA, particularly few modifiable correlates. This finding was surprising for correlates as a large number of studies examined the cross-sectional differences between independent variables/potential correlates and measures of PA. As for found determinants it was not surprising few were identified because only a small number of longitudinal studies had taken place. The reason for a small number of correlates could be because of the lack of high quality studies across the literature. However, many studies may have been of higher quality then what was graded by the two reviewers but instead the reporting of results was poor. This issue of poor reporting has also been identified by a leading journal (International Society of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity) of PA epidemiology⁴²², and the journal has recommended following the STROBE guidelines for cross-sectional studies for any future papers submitted to the journal.²⁵¹ Future cross-sectional and correlates research should aim to follow this recommendation.

Another key finding of the systematic review in Chapter 3, was there was no found difference between correlates of studies using objective measures (accelerometers, heart rate monitors, pedometers etc.) and subjective measures (proxy-report questionnaires). This is an interesting finding which could be viewed from two perspectives. The first perspective is both types of measures confirming a no and/or

a positive/negative association of a correlate and determinant, increases the confidence in the found association. The second perspective is the value of subjective measures is strengthened in identifying direction of associations, because the same association has been found by studies using more accurate objective measures. However, although objective measures such as accelerometers are conceptually superior at measuring PA compared to the subjectivity of questionnaires, especially proxy-reported questionnaires, objective measures are still hindered by numerous issues. An example is accelerometry and the subjective choices researchers need to make when using accelerometers to measure PA including, monitor placement, intensity cut-points, non-wear time, epoch length and wear-time. For the first perspective it must be noted only one study used both objective and subjective measures. Future research should aim to use both types of measures in the same sample, even if objective measurement is collected for a subsample within a large sample study which uses subjective measurement (questionnaires) as the main outcome measure. For the second perspective future research should aim to refine the limitations of objective measures to increase confidence and validity and reliability.

Chapter 4 aimed to investigate one of the subjective choices researchers make while processing accelerometer data – wear-time criteria. The decision of accelerometer wear-time criteria is still an unclear issue for the early years PA literature (see section 1.2.2.6.6.). The study in Chapter 4 found there was no reactivity, no differences between weekend days and weekend days and a minimum of six hours on any three days was enough to reliably estimate the TPA, CPM, LPA, MPA, MVPA and ST of young Bradford children. Issues such as reactivity, weekday difference and number of days required to reliably estimate PA should be a priority for researchers to justify in future studies. Not one of the methods applied in the previous wear-time reliability studies^{203,204,382} were statistically incorrect or weaker from one another; however methods were/are difficult to follow, this is why a

simple stepped process was presented in this chapter. The findings across the studies show the nature of PA is different between populations and different countries, which means a universal wear-time criteria does not appear to be obtainable. Therefore, researchers in the future could use the simple stepped process presented in chapter 4 in future studies to get the most out of their own accelerometer data and calculate a specific wear-time criteria for individual samples, this will lead to higher quality studies which are less likely to under or overestimate PA.

The study in chapter 5 found the EY-PAQ to have acceptable test re-test reliability and validity in estimating young children's average daily MVPA over a seven day period, compared to accelerometry. Future research should seek to test the validity of the EY-PAQ with parents and young children from different communities. This is because of the uniqueness of the Bradford population compared to the rest of the United Kingdom. Moving away from the PA interest of this thesis, the EY-PAQ was not found to be valid in estimating young children's habitual ST. Future research could seek to amend the questions and domains of the EY-PAQ which measure ST.

In chapter 6 it was found toddlers (two years of age) were highly active and there was no difference between WB and SA children's levels of MVPA; however, from previous research in older children a greater proportion of the wider UK population become more inactive, and WB children are more active than SA children (8-9⁴²³ and 11-14⁸⁷ years of age). Future longitudinal research is required to establish the age and developmental stage when activity declines, and when a difference between WB and SA children's PA (MVPA and TPA) first occurs.

Although the results of Chapter 6 offer promise in that Bradford toddlers were highly active, future research should still aim to measure Bradford young children's MVPA levels using both objective and subjective measures. This recommendation not only follows on from the findings in Chapter 3, but also because both the EY-PAQ and accelerometry can provide reliable and valid estimates of habitual MVPA but only accelerometry can provide a measure of whether children are meeting PA guidelines. Future research should also use both types of measurement because subjective measures, like the EY-PAQ, can provide contextual information. This is important, because as the results in Chapter 6 found, habitual MVPA may not have differed between SA and WB Bradford toddlers, but the domains of where and how toddler took part in MVPA did differ. In regards to the specific findings of Chapter 6, future research (correlates, determinants and qualitative [barriers, facilitators]), in the pursuit of developing future interventions, should further examine why SA toddlers spent more of their daily MVPA in the home compared to WB toddlers, and also why WB toddlers spent more time of their MVPA walking for transport compared to SA toddlers. Understanding factors associated with MVPA domains such as MVPA in the home could lead to the refinement of future interventions.

The study in Chapter 6 was the first known study to utilise the ecological model to examine correlates of PA with Bradford children (of any age). It was found multipleregression models only predicted MVPA significantly better than the mean average as a model, when multiple levels of the ecological model were inputted into regression models. This finding adds support to the ecological perspective upon PA (see section: 1.1.8). However, the measurement quality of many of the potential correlates was unknown and must be taken into consideration when interpreting results. Future research should build upon the results of the study in Chapter 6 by conducting more observational (cross-sectional/prospective) studies using more valid and reliable measures of both the outcome and predictor variables (potential correlates and determinants), and to examine the relationship between different layers of the ecological perspective and build upon the work by Spence⁴²⁴ to develop a more refined and comprehensive ecological model specific to PA during the early years. In chapter 6, correlates found for SA and WB toddlers were not as numerous as correlates found for the whole sample. However, the correlates found for WB toddlers were different than correlates found for SA toddlers. Researchers planning and designing protocols for cross-sectional, longitudinal and intervention studies in communities with large ethnic groups such as Bradford, should be mindful of this finding. For cross-sectional and longitudinal research future studies will need to recruit large samples to ensure adequate power to stratify analyses by ethnicity. For future intervention studies, strategies to tailor interventions by ethnicity must be considered. However, what strategies to apply and consider is unknown and future research should seek to investigate this further, first through observational research (quantitative and qualitative research) and then through piloting of strategies.

There were multiple individual correlates of toddler's MVPA found in Chapter 6. Two individual correlates of interest were sex and season. Children's sex is the most widely reported correlate and determinant of pre-pubertal children,¹³⁴ and was found to be a correlate of young children's (0-6 years) TPA and MVPA in the systematic review in Chapter 3. In chapter 6, levels of MVPA were not found to be significantly different between boys and girls in any of the multivariable models; but boys were found to be significantly more active than girls in the univariate analysis for the whole sample and SA toddlers. Future research should further investigate the sex differences of toddlers, especially SA children, in light of the large amount of evidence showing boys are more active than girls, and that correlates of TPA differ between preschool boys and girls.⁴²⁵ Like the recommendations for ethnicity, future interventions should consider applying strategies to tailor interventions by sex, if strategies are unknown further observational and pilot work will also be required. Season was consistently found to be a correlate of toddler's MVPA in Chapter 6, with greater levels of MVPA being

reported by mothers in the summer months compared to mother reporting MVPA levels in the winter months. Because of the subjectivity of the EY-PAQ and the crosssectional nature of the study in Chapter 6, future longitudinal research using an objective measure with Bradford young children is needed to strengthen this seasonal difference hypothesis. If a seasonal difference becomes more evident then future research should further investigate why a seasonal difference occurs and to also prioritise times of the year to implement interventions to maintain or increase MVPA of young children.

7.3. Implications

The findings of the review in Chapter 3 and novel findings in the studies in Chapters 4, 5 and 6 have all contributed and have had/will have significant implications on PA research during the early years.

Chapter 3 offers researchers a vast systematic review which synthesised published research which reported cross-sectional (correlates) and longitudinal (determinants) associations of young children's TPA, MVPA and LPA. The systematic review also synthesised associations according to the type of PA measurement used (objective and subjective). The implication of the systematic review is researchers and policy makers now have an important resource (see: ⁷² (particularly the appendices [appendix 3]) which can inform future research and public health policies.

There are two implications which come from the wear-time reliability study in Chapter 4. The first is future studies which have a sample of young children from Bradford now have a wear-time criteria which can reliably estimate accelerometer TPA, MVPA, LPA and ST. An example of this implication in action is the wear-time criteria applied in the study in Chapter 5 which has been peer reviewed and published.⁴⁰⁶ The second implication, is as the methods of the study were clearly presented in six-steps, researchers can now easily follow these steps to calculate a sample-specific wear-time criteria; thus researchers and readers alike can have greater confidence that the full potential of data is being used and also have greater confidence in the accuracy of accelerometer PA levels.

Objectives methods such as accelerometers are and should be the first choice for the surveillance of PA levels. However, expertise required to process data, financial cost and feasibility means the use of objective measures are only really available to be used by PA researchers. The results in Chapter 5 showing the EY-PAQ has acceptable validity and reliability means an alternative tool which is cheap, easier to distribute and easier to derive and process data, is now available to estimate MVPA levels of young children living in Bradford and other similar bi-ethnic (predominately SA and WB) communities. The implications of the availability (see: Bingham⁴⁰⁶) and strengths of the EY-PAQ means not only researchers but also health practitioners and other institutions interested in young children's MVPA (e.g. preschools, children centres), now have a suitable tool to measure MVPA levels. The EY-PAQ is also a tool which can not only estimate young children's habitual MVPA levels, but can also rank children's habitual MVPA levels and break down MVPA into different domains. The implications of this is the EY-PAQ could be used to determine correlates, determinants and refine MVPA levels into different domains, which all can inform future intervention and policy development. An example of the use of the EY-PAQ in reporting levels and correlates of MVPA was shown in the study in Chapter 6.

Results of Chapter 6 add to the small but growing literature of levels and correlates of toddlers MVPA. The finding that high levels of MVPA in toddlers, informs researchers and policy makers that although toddlers in Bradford may be highly active, future public health priorities should not move away from PA promotion in toddlers. Instead a priority should be that PA levels are maximised and maintained into preschool and school-aged children; especially in light of the first years of life being critical for the growth and development process⁷⁸, and also to begin to halt and reverse the rise of non-communicable diseases being found in younger children.²³⁷

Results of Chapter 6 (different correlates and contexts of MVPA for different ethnicities) adds support to the view modifiable correlates of health behaviours may not be the same for one ethnic group compared to another,^{79,80} thus researchers, local authorities and other policy makers should consider developing strategies to tailor interventions in accordance to ethnicity. This issue is of great importance because people of ethnic minorities, particularly of SA ethnicity, have a higher predisposition for chronic diseases (type II diabetes mellitus, cardio-vascular disease and obesity),⁹¹⁻¹⁰⁰ of which markers of onset have been observed in children.^{118,119} The addition of early health interventions, such as PA interventions, could aid in the prevention and even reverse disparities in health seen in many ethnic minorities.^{82,102-105}

7.4. Conclusion

In conclusion, this PhD thesis ultimately aimed to enhance the understanding of young children's physical activity. Findings from this thesis have provided evidence and greater understanding of this growing research area, particularly regarding ethnicity and measurement. Through a comprehensive correlates and determinants systematic review, and three novel studies (two measurement, one epidemiological) utilizing data from a novel and unique sample (Bradford – a bilingual and bi-ethnic population), the key findings were; an increased need for more high-quality studies exploring correlates/determinants across all layers of the ecologic model, and that research investigating MVPA correlates/determinants of toddlers and between ethnicities is sparse. Knowledge of young children's objective physical activity measurement and subjective physical activity measurement is now enhanced through a new accelerometer wear-time calculation and a validated bilingual (English and Urdu) parental questionnaire (EY-PAQ)- both acceptable and suitable for future investigation of young children's physical activity. Levels of toddlers' MVPA were found to be unusually high, did not differ by ethnicity but most interestingly the contexts and correlates did. This means future interventions should seek to maintain and maximise levels of toddlers' MVPA and tailor interventions by ethnicity. The research conducted within this thesis will inform the development of surveillance, interventions and public health policies to improve young children's PA levels, particularly children living in a bi-ethnic community.

References

1. Corder K. Physical activity measurement in young people. Cambridge: University of Cambridge; 2007.

2. Corder K, Ekelund U, Steele RM, Wareham NJ, Brage S. Assessment of physical activity in youth. J Appl Physiol (1985) 2008;105(3):977-87.

3. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep 1985;100(2):126-31.

4. Baquet G, Stratton G, Van Praagh E, Berthoin S. Improving physical activity assessment in prepubertal children with high-frequency accelerometry monitoring: a methodological issue. Prev Med 2007;44(2):143-7.

5. Maffeis C, Schutz Y, Schena F, Zaffanello M, Pinelli L. Energy expenditure during walking and running in obese and nonobese prepubertal children. J Pediatr 1993;123(2):193-9.

6. Patel AV, Bernstein L, Deka A, Feigelson HS, Campbell PT, Gapstur SM, et al. Leisure time spent sitting in relation to total mortality in a prospective cohort of US adults. Am J Epidemiol 2010;172(4):419-29.

7. Tudor-Locke C, Washington TL, Ainsworth BE, Troiano RP. Linking the American Time Use Survey (ATUS) and the Compendium of Physical Activities: methods and rationale. J Phys Act Health 2009;6(3):347-53.

8. Ainsworth BE, Haskell WL, Herrmann SD, Meckes N, Bassett DR, Jr., Tudor-Locke C, et al. 2011 Compendium of Physical Activities: a second update of codes and MET values. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2011;43(8):1575-81.

9. Pate RR, O'Neill JR, Lobelo F. The evolving definition of "sedentary". Exerc Sport Sci Rev 2008;36(4):173-8.

10. Sedentary Behaviour Research N. Letter to the editor: standardized use of the terms "sedentary" and "sedentary behaviours". Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2012;37(3):540-2.

11. Puyau MR, Adolph AL, Liu Y, Wilson TA, Zakeri IF, Butte NF. Energy Cost of Activities in Preschool-Aged Children. J Phys Act Health 2016;13(6 Suppl 1):S11-6.

12. Torún B, Chew F, Mendoza RD. Energy costs of activities of preschool children. Nutrition Research 1983;3(4):401-406.

13. McMurray RG, Butte NF, Crouter SE, Trost SG, Pfeiffer KA, Bassett DR, et al. Exploring Metrics to Express Energy Expenditure of Physical Activity in Youth. PLoS One 2015;10(6):e0130869.

14. Gabel L, Obeid J, Nguyen T, Proudfoot NA, Timmons BW. Short-term muscle power and speed in preschoolers exhibit stronger tracking than physical activity. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2011;36(6):939-45.

15. Butte NF, Wong WW, Wilson TA, Adolph AL, Puyau MR, Zakeri IF. Revision of Dietary Reference Intakes for energy in preschool-age children. Am J Clin Nutr 2014;100(1):161-7.

16. (WHO). WHO. The definition of health. New York; 1946.

17. Yusuf S, Reddy S, Ounpuu S, Anand S. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases: part I: general considerations, the epidemiologic transition, risk factors, and impact of urbanization. Circulation 2001;104(22):2746-53.

18. WHO. GLOBAL STATUS REPORT on noncommunicable diseases; 2014.

19. Organisation. WH. [cited 2015 20/09/2015]; Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs355/en/

20. Lee IM, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, Puska P, Blair SN, Katzmarzyk PT, et al. Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. Lancet 2012;380(9838):219-229.

21. Scarborough P, Bhatnagar P, Wickramasinghe KK, Allender S, Foster C, Rayner M. The economic burden of ill health due to diet, physical inactivity, smoking, alcohol and obesity in the UK: an update to 2006-07 NHS costs. J Public Health (Oxf) 2011;33(4):527-35.

22. Popkin BM. Urbanization, Lifestyle Changes and the Nutrition Transition. World Development 1999;27(11):1905-1916.

23. Katzmarzyk PT, Mason C. The physical activity transition. J Phys Act Health 2009;6(3):269-80.

24. Onywera VO, Adamo KB, Sheel AW, Waudo JN, Boit MK, Tremblay M. Emerging evidence of the physical activity transition in Kenya. J Phys Act Health 2012;9(4):554-62.

25. Caspersen CJ. Physical activity epidemiology: concepts, methods, and applications to exercise science. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 1989;17:423-73.

26. Caspersen CJ, Nixon PA, DuRant RH. Physical activity epidemiology applied to children and adolescents. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 1998;26:341-403.

27. Timmons BW, Leblanc AG, Carson V, Connor Gorber S, Dillman C, Janssen I, et al. Systematic review of physical activity and health in the early years (aged 0-4 years). Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2012;37(4):773-92.

28. Sperhac AM, Salzer JL. The Denver II. Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners 1991;3(4):152-157.

29. Frankenburg WK, Dodds JB. The Denver Developmental Screening Test. The Journal of Pediatrics 1967;71(2):181-191.

30. Malina RM. Motor Development during Infancy and Early Childhood: Overview and Suggested Directions for Research. International Journal of Sport and Health Science 2004;2:50-66.

31. Pate RR, Pratt M, Blair SN, Haskell WL, Macera CA, Bouchard C, et al. Physical activity and public health. A recommendation from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American College of Sports Medicine. JAMA 1995;273(5):402-7.

32. Katzmarzyk PT. Physical Activity, Sedentary Behavior, and Health: Paradigm Paralysis or Paradigm Shift? Diabetes 2010;59(11):2717-2725.

 33.
 Organization. WH. Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health.
 2004

 [cited
 2015;
 Available
 from:

 http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/strategy/eb11344/strategy
 english
 web.pdf?ua=

 1

34. Janssen I, Leblanc AG. Systematic review of the health benefits of physical activity and fitness in school-aged children and youth. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2010;7:40.

35. Hupin D, Roche F, Gremeaux V, Chatard JC, Oriol M, Gaspoz JM, et al. Even a lowdose of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity reduces mortality by 22% in adults aged >/=60 years: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med 2015;49(19):1262-7.

36. Strong WB, Malina RM, Blimkie CJR, Daniels SR, Dishman RK, Gutin B, et al. Evidence based physical activity for school-age youth. Journal of Pediatrics 2005;146(6):732-737.

37. Kamangar F, Dores GM, Anderson WF. Patterns of cancer incidence, mortality, and prevalence across five continents: Defining priorities to reduce cancer disparities in different geographic regions of the world. Journal of Clinical Oncology 2006;24(14):2137-2150.

38. Warburton DER, Nicol CW, Bredin SSD. Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. Canadian Medical Association Journal 2006;174(6):801-809.

39. Kesaniemi YK, Danforth E, Jr., Jensen MD, Kopelman PG, Lefebvre P, Reeder BA. Dose-response issues concerning physical activity and health: an evidence-based symposium. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001;33(6 Suppl):S351-8.

40. Garcia-Aymerich J, Lange P, Benet M, Schnohr P, Anto JM. Regular physical activity reduces hospital admission and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a population based cohort study. Thorax 2006;61(9):772-778.

41. Liese AD, Ma X, Maahs DM, Trilk JL. Physical activity, sedentary behaviors, physical fitness, and their relation to health outcomes in youth with type 1 and type 2 diabetes: A review of the epidemiologic literature. Journal of Sport and Health Science 2013;2(1):21-38.

42. Lee IM, Sesso HD, Gurna Y, Paffenbarger RS. Relative intensity of physical heart activity and risk of coronary disease. Circulation 2003;107(8):1110-1116.

43. Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. New England Journal of Medicine 2002;346(6):393-403.

44. Whelton SP, Chin A, Xin X, He J. Effect of aerobic exercise on blood pressure: A meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. Annals of Internal Medicine 2002;136(7):493-503.

45. Ross R, Dagnone D, Jones PJH, Smith H, Paddags A, Hudson R, et al. Reduction in obesity and related comorbid conditions after diet-induced weight loss or exercise-induced

weight loss in men - A randomized, controlled trial. Annals of Internal Medicine 2000;133(2):92-103.

46. Harris AHS, Cronkite R, Moos R. Physical activity, exercise coping, and depression in a 10-year cohort study of depressed patients. Journal of Affective Disorders 2006;93(1-3):79-85.

47. Trost SG, Loprinzi PD. Exercise-Promoting healthy lifestyles in children and adolescents. J Clin Lipidol 2008;2(3):162-8.

48. Hale DE. Type 2 diabetes and diabetes risk factors in children and adolescents. Clin Cornerstone 2004;6(2):17-30.

49. Brown CL, Halvorson EE, Cohen GM, Lazorick S, Skelton JA. Addressing Childhood Obesity: Opportunities for Prevention. Pediatric clinics of North America 2015;62(5).

50. Street SJ, Wells JCK, Hills AP. Windows of opportunity for physical activity in the prevention of obesity. Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity 2015;16(10).

51. Goran MI, Reynolds KD, Lindquist CH. Role of physical activity in the prevention of obesity in children. International Journal of Obesity 1999;23:S18-S33.

52. Cordero MJA, Pinero AO, Villar NM, Garcia JCS, Verazaluce JJG, Garcia IG, et al. PHYSICAL ACTIVITY PROGRAMMES TO REDUCE OVERWEIGHT AND OBESITY IN CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS; A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW. Nutricion Hospitalaria 2014;30(4):727-740.

53. Floriani V, Kennedy C. Promotion of physical activity in primary care for obesity treatment/prevention in children. Current Opinion in Pediatrics 2007;19(1):99-103.

54. Hinkley T, Teychenne M, Downing KL, Ball K, Salmon J, Hesketh KD. Early childhood physical activity, sedentary behaviors and psychosocial well-being: A systematic review. Preventive Medicine 2014;62:182-192.

55. Wells JCK, Ritz P. Physical activity at 9-12 months and fatness at 2 years of age. American Journal of Human Biology 2001;13(3):384-389.

56. Mo-suwan L, Pongprapai S, Junjana C, Puetpaiboon A. Effects of a controlled trial of a school-based exercise program on the obesity indexes of preschool children. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1998;68(5):1006-1011.

57. Ku LC, Shapiro LR, Crawford PB, Huenemann RL. BODY-COMPOSITION AND PHYSICAL-ACTIVITY IN 8-YEAR-OLD CHILDREN. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1981;34(12):2770-2775.

58. Moore LL, Lombardi DA, White MJ, Campbell JL, Oliveria SA, Ellison RC. Influence of parents' physical activity levels on activity levels of young children. J Pediatr 1991;118(2):215-9.

59. Collings PJ, Brage S, Ridgway CL, Harvey NC, Godfrey KM, Inskip HM, et al. Physical activity intensity, sedentary time, and body composition in preschoolers. Am J Clin Nutr 2013;97(5):1020-8.

60. Bauman AE, Sallis JF, Dzewaltowski DA, Owen N. Toward a better understanding of the influences on physical activity: the role of determinants, correlates, causal variables, mediators, moderators, and confounders. Am J Prev Med 2002;23(2 Suppl):5-14.

61. Hakeem R, Thomas J, Badruddin SH. Urbanisation and activity pattern of south Asian children. J Pak Med Assoc 2002;52(9):402-7.

62. Ojiambo RM, Easton C, Casajus JA, Konstabel K, Reilly JJ, Pitsiladis Y. Effect of urbanization on objectively measured physical activity levels, sedentary time, and indices of adiposity in Kenyan adolescents. J Phys Act Health 2012;9(1):115-23.

63. Williams HG, Pfeiffer KA, O'Neill JR, Dowda M, McIver KL, Brown WH, et al. Motor skill performance and physical activity in preschool children. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2008;16(6):1421-6.

64. Carson V, Spence JC. Seasonal variation in physical activity among children and adolescents: a review. Pediatr Exerc Sci 2010;22(1):81-92.

65. Stodden DF, Goodway JD, Langendorfer SJ, Roberton MA, Rudisill ME, Garcia C, et al. A Developmental Perspective on the Role of Motor Skill Competence in Physical Activity: An Emergent Relationship. Quest 2008;60(2):290-306.

66. Bingham DD, Varela-Silva MI, Ferrao MM, Augusta G, Mourao MI, Nogueira H, et al. Socio-demographic and behavioral risk factors associated with the high prevalence of overweight and obesity in Portuguese children. Am J Hum Biol 2013;25(6):733-42.

67. Saakslahti A, Numminen P, Varstala V, Helenius H, Tammi A, Viikari J, et al. Physical activity as a preventive measure for coronary heart disease risk factors in early childhood. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports 2004;14(3):143-149.

68. Puhl J, Greaves K, Hoyt M, Baranowski T. Children's Activity Rating Scale (CARS): Description and Calibration. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport 1990;61(1):26-36.

69. Griffiths LJ, Cortina-Borja M, Sera F, Pouliou T, Geraci M, Rich C, et al. How active are our children? Findings from the Millennium Cohort Study. BMJ Open 2013;3(8).

70. Buss DM, Block JH, Block J. Preschool Activity Level: Personality Correlates and Developmental Implications. Child Development 1980;51(2):401.

71. Eysenck MW. A2 Level Psychology. United Kingdom: Routledge 2009.

72. Bingham DD, Costa S, Hinkley T, Shire KA, Clemes SA, Barber SE. Physical Activity During the Early Years: A Systematic Review of Correlates and Determinants. Am J Prev Med 2016;51(3):384-402.

73. Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gotzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. Lancet 2007;370.

74. Janz KF, Kwon S, Letuchy EM, Eichenberger Gilmore JM, Burns TL, Torner JC, et al. Sustained effect of early physical activity on body fat mass in older children. Am J Prev Med 2009;37(1):35-40.

75. Herrmann D, Pohlabeln H, Gianfagna F, Konstabel K, Lissner L, Marild S. Association between bone stiffness and nutritional biomarkers combined with weight-

bearing exercise, physical activity, and sedentary time in preadolescent children. A casecontrol study. Bone 2015;78:142 - 9.

76. Sibley BA, Etnier JL. The relationship between physical activity and cognition in children: A meta-analysis. Pediatric Exercise Science 2003;15(3):243-256.

77. Tomporowski P, Davis C, Miller P, Naglieri J. Exercise and Children's Intelligence, Cognition, and Academic Achievement. Educational Psychology Review 2008;20(2):111-131.

78. Cameron N, Demerath EW. Critical periods in human growth and their relationship to diseases of aging. Am J Phys Anthropol 2002;Suppl 35:159-84.

79. Malina RM. Biocultural factors in developing physical activity levels. Uinted States of America: Human Kinetics; 2008.

80. Council. NR. Children's Health, The Nation's Wealth: Assessing and Improving Child Health. In: (US) IoM, editor. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2004.

81. Steinberg L, Dornbusch SM, Brown BB. Ethnic differences in adolescent achievement. An ecological perspective. Am Psychol 1992;47(6):723-9.

82. Nazroo JY. The structuring of ethnic inequalities in health: economic position, racial discrimination, and racism. Am J Public Health 2003;93(2):277-84.

83. De Craemer M, De Decker E, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Vereecken C, Deforche B, Manios Y, et al. Correlates of energy balance-related behaviours in preschool children: a systematic review. Obes Rev 2012;13 Suppl 1:13-28.

84. Hinkley T, Crawford D, Salmon J, Okely AD, Hesketh K. Preschool children and physical activity: a review of correlates. Am J Prev Med 2008;34(5):435-441.

85. Statistics OfN. Ethnicity and National Identity in England and Wales 2011. London; 2012.

86. Statistics. OfN. 2011 Census Release 2.1 : Key Statistics for Local Authorities Bradford District; 2012.

87. Duncan MJ, Woodfield L, Al-Nakeeb Y, Nevill AM. Differences in physical activity levels between white and South Asian children in the United Kingdom. Pediatr Exerc Sci 2008;20(3):285-91.

88. Owen CG, Nightingale CM, Rudnicka AR, Cook DG, Ekelund U, Whincup PH. Ethnic and gender differences in physical activity levels among 9–10-year-old children of white European, South Asian and African–Caribbean origin: the Child Heart Health Study in England (CHASE Study). International Journal of Epidemiology 2009;38(4):1082-1093.

89. Eyre ELJ, Duncan MJ. The Impact of Ethnicity on Objectively Measured Physical Activity in Children. ISRN Obesity 2013;2013:15.

90. Pollard TM, Hornby-Turner YC, Ghurbhurrun A, Ridgers ND. Differences between 9-11 year old British Pakistani and White British girls in physical activity and behavior during school recess. BMC Public Health 2012;12:1087. 91. Whincup PH, Gilg JA, Papacosta O, Seymour C, Miller GJ, Alberti KGMM, et al. Early evidence of ethnic differences in cardiovascular risk: cross sectional comparison of British South Asian and white children. BMJ 2002;324(7338):635.

92. Whincup PH, Nightingale CM, Owen CG, Rudnicka AR, Gibb I, McKay CM, et al. Early Emergence of Ethnic Differences in Type 2 Diabetes Precursors in the UK: The Child Heart and Health Study in England (CHASE Study). PLoS Medicine 2010;7(4):e1000263.

93. Williams ED, Stamatakis E, Chandola T, Hamer M. Physical activity behaviour and coronary heart disease mortality among South Asian people in the UK: an observational longitudinal study. Heart 2011;97(8):655-9.

94. Balarajan R. Ethnicity and variations in the nation's health. Health Trends 1995;27(4):114-9.

95. Ehtisham S, Crabtree N, Clark P, Shaw N, Barrett T. Ethnic differences in insulin resistance and body composition in United Kingdom adolescents. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005;90(7):3963-9.

96. Saxena S, Ambler G, Cole TJ, Majeed A. Ethnic group differences in overweight and obese children and young people in England: cross sectional survey. Archives of Disease in Childhood 2004;89(1):30-36.

97. Cappuccio FP, Cook DG, Atkinson RW, Strazzullo P. Prevalence, detection, and management of cardiovascular risk factors in different ethnic groups in south London. Heart 1997;78(6):555-63.

98. Cruickshank JK, Cooper J, Burnett M, MacDuff J, Drubra U. Ethnic differences in fasting plasma C-peptide and insulin in relation to glucose tolerance and blood pressure. Lancet 1991;338(8771):842-7.

99. Lane D, Beevers DG, Lip GY. Ethnic differences in blood pressure and the prevalence of hypertension in England. J Hum Hypertens 2002;16(4):267-73.

100. Bhopal R, Unwin N, White M, Yallop J, Walker L, Alberti KGMM, et al. Heterogeneity of coronary heart disease risk factors in Indian, Pakistani, Bangladeshi, and European origin populations: cross sectional study. BMJ 1999;319(7204):215-220.

101. Ehtisham S, Barrett TG, Shaw NJ. Type 2 diabetes mellitus in UK children--an emerging problem. Diabet Med 2000;17(12):867-71.

102. Taveras EM, Gillman MW, Kleinman K, Rich-Edwards JW, Rifas-Shiman SL. Racial/Ethnic Differences in Early Life Risk Factors for Childhood Obesity. Pediatrics 2010;125(4):10.1542/peds.2009-2100.

103. Misra A, Khurana L, Vikram NK, Goel A, Wasir JS. Metabolic syndrome in children: current issues and South Asian perspective. Nutrition 2007;23(11-12):895-910.

104. Bhopal R. Epidemic of cardiovascular disease in South Asians : Prevention must start in childhood. BMJ : British Medical Journal 2002;324(7338):625-626.

105. Bhopal R. What is the risk of coronary heart disease in South Asians? A review of UK research. J Public Health Med 2000;22(3):375-85.

106. Reilly J, Okely A, Almond L, Cardon G, Prosser L. Making the case for UK Physical Activity Guidelines for Early Years: Recommendations and draft summary statements based on the current evidence. In: DOH, editor. London: UK government; 2011.

107. Tremblay MS, LeBlanc AG, Carson V, Choquette L, Connor Gorber S, Dillman C, et al. Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines for the Early Years (aged 0–4 years). Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism 2012;37(2):345-356.

108. Ageing AGDoHa. Physical Activity Recommendations for Children 0-5. 2009.

109. Education NAfSaP. Active start: A statement of Physical Activity Guidelines for children from birth to age 5.: American Alliance for Health, Physical Educatio, Recreation and Dance.; 2009.

110. Cliff D, Reilly J, Okely A. Methodological considerations in using accelerometers to assess habitual physical activity in children aged 0-5 years. J Sci Med Sport 2009;12(5):557 - 67.

111. Hnatiuk JA, Salmon J, Hinkley T, Okely AD, Trost S. A review of preschool children's physical activity and sedentary time using objective measures. Am J Prev Med 2014;47(4):487-97.

112. Bornstein DB, Beets MW, Byun W, McIver K. Accelerometer-derived physical activity levels of preschoolers: a meta-analysis. J Sci Med Sport 2011;14(6):504-11.

113. Beets MW, Bornstein D, Dowda M, Pate RR. Compliance with national guidelines for physical activity in U.S. preschoolers: measurement and interpretation. Pediatrics 2011;127(4):658-64.

114. Hesketh KR, McMinn AM, Ekelund U, Sharp SJ, Collings PJ, Harvey NC, et al. Objectively measured physical activity in four-year-old British children: a cross-sectional analysis of activity patterns segmented across the day. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2014;11(1):1.

115. Craig R, Mindell J. Health Survey for England 2012. London: The Health and Social Care Information Centre; 2013.

116. Basterfield L, Adamson AJ, Parkinson KN, Maute U, Li PX, Reilly JJ, et al. Surveillance of physical activity in the UK is flawed: validation of the Health Survey for England Physical Activity Questionnaire. Archives of Disease in Childhood 2008;93(12):1054-1058.

117. Sallis JF, Berry CC, Broyles SL, McKenzie TL, Nader PR. Variability and tracking of physical activity over 2 yr in young children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1995;27(7):1042-9.

118. Jones RA, Hinkley T, Okely AD, Salmon J. Tracking physical activity and sedentary behavior in childhood: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2013;44(6):651-8.

119. Telama R. Tracking of physical activity from childhood to adulthood: a review. Obes Facts 2009;2(3):187-95.

120. Malina RM. Physical activity and fitness: pathways from childhood to adulthood. Am J Hum Biol 2001;13(2):162-72.

121. Williams HG, Pfeiffer KA, O'Neill JR, Dowda M, McIver KL, Brown WH, et al. Motor Skill Performance and Physical Activity in Preschool Children. Obesity 2008;16(6):1421-1426.

122. Barker DJ. The origins of the developmental origins theory. J Intern Med 2007;261(5):412-7.

123. Hanson MA, Gluckman PD. Developmental origins of health and disease: new insights. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 2008;102(2):90-3.

124. Dattilo A, Birch L, Krebs N, Lake A, Taveras E, Saavedra J. Need for Early Interventions in the Prevention of Pediatric Overweight: A Review and Upcoming Directions. Journal of Obesity 2012;2012:18.

125. Nader PR, Huang TT, Gahagan S, Kumanyika S, Hammond RA, Christoffel KK. Next steps in obesity prevention: altering early life systems to support healthy parents, infants, and toddlers. Child Obes 2012;8(3):195-204.

126. Welk GJ. The Youth Physical Activity Promotion Model: A Conceptual Bridge Between Theory and Practice. Quest 1999;51(1):5-23.

127. Welk GJ, Corbin CB, Dale D. Measurement issues in the assessment of physical activity in children. Res Q Exerc Sport 2000;71(2 Suppl):S59-73.

128. McLeroy KR, Bibeau D, Steckler A, Glanz K. An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. Health Educ Q 1988;15(4):351-77.

129. Brofenbrenner U. The Ecology of Human Development. Cambridge, Massachusetts

Harvard University Press; 1979.

130. Hinkley T, Salmon J, Okely AD, Crawford D, Hesketh K. Preschoolers' physical activity, screen time, and compliance with recommendations. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012;44(3):458-65.

131. Ridgers ND, Salmon J, Parrish AM, Stanley RM, Okely AD. Physical activity during school recess: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2012;43(3):320-8.

132. Sallis JF, Prochaska JJ, Taylor WC. A review of correlates of physical activity of children and adolescents. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000;32(5):963-75.

133. Van der Horst K, Paw M, Twisk JWR, Van Mechelen W. A brief review on correlates of physical activity and sedentariness in youth. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 2007;39(8):1241-1250.

134. Bauman AE, Reis RS, Sallis JF, Wells JC, Loos RJF, Martin BW. Correlates of physical activity: why are some people physically active and others not? The Lancet 2012;380(9838):258-271.

135. Trost SG. State of the Art Reviews: Measurement of Physical Activity in Children and Adolescents. American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine 2007;1(4):299-314.

136. McClain JJ, Tudor-Locke C. Objective monitoring of physical activity in children: considerations for instrument selection. J Sci Med Sport 2009;12(5):526-33.

137. Loprinzi PD, Lee H, Cardinal BJ, Crespo CJ, Andersen RE, Smit E. The relationship of actigraph accelerometer cut-points for estimating physical activity with selected health outcomes: results from NHANES 2003-06. Res Q Exerc Sport 2012;83(3):422-30.

138. Butte NF, Ekelund U, Westerterp KR. Assessing physical activity using wearable monitors: measures of physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012;44(1 Suppl 1):S5-12.

139. Esliger DW, Tremblay MS. Physical activity and inactivity profiling: the next generation. Can J Public Health 2007;98 Suppl 2:S195-207.

140. Guinhouya BC, Samouda H, de Beaufort C. Level of physical activity among children and adolescents in Europe: a review of physical activity assessed objectively by accelerometry. Public Health 2013;127(4):301-311.

141. Murgatroyd PR, Shetty PS, Prentice AM. Techniques for the measurement of human energy expenditure: a practical guide. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1993;17(10):549-68.

142. Ainslie P, Reilly T, Westerterp K. Estimating human energy expenditure: a review of techniques with particular reference to doubly labelled water. Sports Med 2003;33(9):683-98.

143. Levine JA. Measurement of energy expenditure. Public Health Nutr 2005;8(7A):1123-32.

144. Haugen HA, Chan LN, Li F. Indirect calorimetry: a practical guide for clinicians. Nutr Clin Pract 2007;22(4):377-88.

145. Sirard JR, Pate RR. Physical activity assessment in children and adolescents. Sports Med 2001;31(6):439-54.

146. Pate RR, O'Neill JR, Mitchell J. Measurement of physical activity in preschool children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2010;42(3):508-12.

147. Kohl Iii HW, Fulton JE, Caspersen CJ. Assessment of Physical Activity among Children and Adolescents: A Review and Synthesis. Preventive Medicine 2000;31(2):S54-S76.

148. Fulton JE, Burgeson CR, Perry GR, Sherry B, Galuska DA, Alexander MP, et al. Assessment of physical activity and sedentary behavior in preschool-age children: priorities for research. Pediatric Exercise Science 2001;13(2):113-126.

149. Schoeller DA. Measurement of energy expenditure in free-living humans by using doubly labeled water. J Nutr 1988;118(11):1278-89.

150. Schoeller DA, Ravussin E, Schutz Y, Acheson KJ, Baertschi P, Jequier E. Energy expenditure by doubly labeled water: validation in humans and proposed calculation. Am J Physiol 1986;250(5 Pt 2):R823-30.

151. Schoeller DA. Recent advances from application of doubly labeled water to measurement of human energy expenditure. J Nutr 1999;129(10):1765-8.

152. Butte NF, Wong WW, Lee JS, Adolph AL, Puyau MR, Zakeri IF. Prediction of energy expenditure and physical activity in preschoolers. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2014;46(6):1216-26.

153. Durant RH, Baranowski T, Puhl J, Rhodes T, Davis H, Greaves KA, et al. EVALUATION OF THE CHILDRENS ACTIVITY RATING-SCALE (CARS) IN YOUNG-CHILDREN. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 1993;25(12):1415-1421.

154. Costa S, Barber SE, Cameron N, Clemes SA. Calibration and validation of the ActiGraph GT3X+ in 2-3 year olds. J Sci Med Sport 2014;17(6):617-22.

155. Evenson KR, Catellier DJ, Gill K, Ondrak KS, McMurray RG. Calibration of two objective measures of physical activity for children. J Sports Sci 2008;26(14):1557-65.

156. Janssen X, Cliff DP, Reilly JJ, Hinkley T, Jones RA, Batterham M, et al. Predictive validity and classification accuracy of ActiGraph energy expenditure equations and cutpoints in young children. PLoS One 2013;8(11):e79124.

157. O'Hara NM, Baranowski T, Simons-Morton BG, Wilson BS, Parcel G. Validity of the observation of children's physical activity. Res Q Exerc Sport 1989;60(1):42-7.

158. Puhl J, Greaves K, Hoyt M, Baranowski T. CHILDRENS ACTIVITY RATING-SCALE (CARS) - DESCRIPTION AND CALIBRATION. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport 1990;61(1):26-36.

159. Puyau MR, Adolph AL, Vohra FA, Butte NF. Validation and calibration of physical activity monitors in children. Obes Res 2002;10(3):150-7.

160. Tudor-Locke C, Bassett DR, Jr. How many steps/day are enough? Preliminary pedometer indices for public health. Sports Med 2004;34(1):1-8.

161. Tudor-Locke C, Hatano Y, Pangrazi RP, Kang M. Revisiting "how many steps are enough?". Med Sci Sports Exerc 2008;40(7 Suppl):S537-43.

162. Tudor-Locke C, Craig CL, Beets MW, Belton S, Cardon GM, Duncan S, et al. How many steps/day are enough? for children and adolescents. The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 2011;8:78-78.

163. Vale S, Trost SG, Duncan MJ, Mota J. Step based physical activity guidelines for preschool-aged children. Prev Med 2015;70:78-82.

164. Cardon G, Bourdeaudhuij ID. Comparison of Pedometer and Accelerometer Measures of Physical Activity in Preschool Children. Pediatric Exercise Science 2007;19(2):205-214.

165. Gabel L, Proudfoot NA, Obeid J, MacDonald MJ, Bray SR, Cairney J, et al. Step count targets corresponding to new physical activity guidelines for the early years. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2013;45(2):314-8.

166. Pagels P, Boldemann C, Raustorp A. Comparison of pedometer and accelerometer measures of physical activity during preschool time on 3- to 5-year-old children. Acta Paediatr 2011;100(1):116-20.

167. Reilly JJ, Coyle J, Kelly L, Burke G, Grant S, Paton JY. An objective method for measurement of sedentary behavior in 3- to 4-year olds. Obes Res 2003;11(10):1155-8.

168. Pate RR. Physical activity assessment in children and adolescents. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 1993;33(4-5):321-6.

169. Sirard JR, Trost SG, Pfeiffer KA, Dowda M, Pate RR. Calibration and Evaluation of an Objective Measure of Physical Activity in Preschool Children. Journal of Physical Activity & Health 2005;2(3):345.

170. Trost SG, Fees BS, Haar SJ, Murray AD, Crowe LK. Identification and validity of accelerometer cut-points for toddlers. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2012;20(11):2317-9.

171. Brown WH, Pfeiffer KA, McLver KL, Dowda M, Almeida MJ, Pate RR. Assessing preschool children's physical activity: the Observational System for Recording Physical Activity in children-preschool version. Res Q Exerc Sport 2006;77(2):167-76.

172. Ridgers ND, Stratton G, McKenzie TL. Reliability and validity of the System for Observing Children's Activity and Relationships during Play (SOCARP). J Phys Act Health 2010;7(1):17-25.

173. Finn KJ, Specker B. Comparison of Actiwatch activity monitor and Children's Activity Rating Scale in children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000;32(10):1794-7.

174. LaPorte RE, Montoye HJ, Caspersen CJ. Assessment of physical activity in epidemiologic research: problems and prospects. Public Health Reports 1985;100(2):131-146.

175. Cain KL, Sallis JF, Conway TL, Van Dyck D, Calhoon L. Using accelerometers in youth physical activity studies: a review of methods. J Phys Act Health 2013;10(3):437-50.

176. Douglas A, Bhopal R, Bhopal R, Forbes J, Gill J, Lawton J, et al. Recruiting South Asians to a lifestyle intervention trial: experiences and lessons from PODOSouth Asian (Prevention of Diabetes & Obesity in South Asians). Trials. 2011;12:220.

177. Pollard T, Guell C. Assessing physical activity in muslim women of South Asian origin. J Phys Act Health 2012;9(7):970 - 6.

178. Freedson PS, Melanson E, Sirard J. Calibration of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1998;30(5):777-81.

179. McClain J, Tudor-Locke C. Objective monitoring of physical activity in children: considerations for instrument selection. J Sci Med Sport 2009;12(5):526 - 33.

180. Costa S, Barber S, Griffiths P, Cameron N, Clemes S. Qualitative feasibility of using three accelerometers with 2-3-year-old children and both parents. Res Q Exerc Sport 2013;84(3):295 - 304.

181. Rooney L, Bhopal R, Halani L, Levy M, Partridge M, Netuveli G, et al. Promoting recruitment of minority ethnic groups into research: qualitative study exploring the views of South Asian people with asthma. J Public Health (Oxf) 2011;33(4):604 - 15.

182. Costa S. The Measurement of Physical Activity and Sedentary behaviour in a sample of 2 to 3 year old South Asian and White British Children: Loughborough University 2014.

183. Yusuf S, Reddy S, Ounpuu S, Anand S. Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases: Part II: Variations in Cardiovascular Disease by Specific Ethnic Groups and Geographic Regions and Prevention Strategies. Circulation 2001;104(23):2855 - 64.

184. Costa S, Barber S, Cameron N, Clemes S. The objective measurement of physical activity and sedentary behaviour in 2-3 year olds and their parents: a cross-sectional

feasibility study in the bi-ethnic Born in Bradford cohort. BMC Public Health 2015;15(1):1109.

185. Cliff DP, Reilly JJ, Okely AD. Methodological considerations in using accelerometers to assess habitual physical activity in children aged 0-5 years. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport 2009;12(5):557-567.

186. Rowlands, Eston. The Measurement and Interpretation of Children's Physical Activity. Journal of Sports Science & Medicine 2007;6(3):270-276.

187. Loprinzi PD, Cardinal BJ. Measuring Children's Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviors. Journal of Exercise Science & Fitness;9(1):15-23.

188. Costa S, Barber SE, Cameron N, Clemes SA. Calibration and validation of the ActiGraph GT3X+ in 2-3 year olds. J Sci Med Sport 2013.

189. Cliff DP, Okely AD, Smith LM, Kim M. Relationships Between Fundamental Movement Skills and Objectively Measured Physical Activity in Preschool Children. Pediatric Exercise Science 2009;21(4):436-449.

190. Costa S, Barber SE, Griffiths PL, Cameron N, Clemes SA. Qualitative feasibility of using three accelerometers with 2-3-year-old children and both parents. Res Q Exerc Sport 2013;84(3):295-304.

191. Trost SG, McIver KL, Pate RR. Conducting accelerometer-based activity assessments in field-based research. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2005;37(11 Suppl):S531-43.

192. Barber SE, Akhtar S, Jackson C, Bingham DD, Hewitt C, Routen A, et al. Preschoolers in the Playground: a pilot cluster randomised controlled trial of a physical activity intervention for children aged 18 months to 4 years. Southampton UK: Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2015. ; 2015.

193. Ridgers ND, Fairclough S. Assessing free-living physical activity using accelerometry: Practical issues for researchers and practitioners. European Journal of Sport Science 2011;11(3):205-213.

194. Berman N, Bailey R, Barstow TJ, Cooper DM. Spectral and bout detection analysis of physical activity patterns in healthy, prepubertal boys and girls. Am J Hum Biol 1998;10(3):289-297.

195. Chen KY, Bassett DR, Jr. The technology of accelerometry-based activity monitors: current and future. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2005;37(11 Suppl):S490-500.

196. Oliver M, Schofield GM, Kolt GS. Physical activity in preschoolers: understanding prevalence and measurement issues. Sports Med 2007;37(12):1045-70.

197. Pate RR, Almeida MJ, McIver KL, Pfeiffer KA, Dowda M. Validation and calibration of an accelerometer in preschool children. Obesity 2006;14(11):2000-2006.

198. Reilly JJ, Coyle J, Kelly L, Burke G, Grant S, Paton JY. An objective method for measurement of sedentary behavior in 3-to 4-year olds. Obesity Research 2003;11(10):1155-1158.

199. Van Cauwenberghe E, Labarque V, Trost SG, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Cardon G. Calibration and comparison of accelerometer cut points in preschool children. International Journal of Pediatric Obesity 2011;6(2-2):E582-E589.

200. Trost SG, Fees BS, Haar SJ, Murray AD, Crowe LK. Identification and Validity of Accelerometer Cut-Points for Toddlers. Obesity 2012;20(11):2317-2319.

201. Ward D, Evenson K, Vaughn A, Rodgers A, Troiano R. Accelerometer use in physical activity: best practices and research recommendations. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2005;37(Suppl 11):S582 - 8.

202. Warren JM, Ekelund U, Besson H, Mezzani A, Geladas N, Vanhees L. Assessment of physical activity - a review of methodologies with reference to epidemiological research: a report of the exercise physiology section of the European Association of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2010;17(2):127-39.

203. Addy CL, Trilk JL, Dowda M, Byun W, Pate RR. Assessing Preschool Children's Physical Activity: How Many Days of Accelerometry Measurement. Pediatric Exercise Science 2014;26(1):103-109.

204. Hislop J, Law J, Rush R, Grainger A, Bulley C, Reilly JJ, et al. An investigation into the minimum accelerometry wear time for reliable estimates of habitual physical activity and definition of a standard measurement day in pre-school children. Physiological Measurement 2014;35(11):2213-2228.

205. Hinkley T, O'Connell E, Okely A, Crawford D, Hesketh K, Salmon J. Assessing volume of accelerometry data for reliability in preschool children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012;44(12):2436 - 41.

206. Penpraze V, Reilly JJ, MacLean CM, Montgomery C, Kelly LA, Paton JY, et al. Monitoring of physical activity in young children: How much is enough? Pediatric Exercise Science 2006;18(4):483-491.

207. Ward DS, Evenson KR, Vaughn A, Rodgers AB, Troiano RP. Accelerometer use in physical activity: best practices and research recommendations. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2005;37(11 Suppl):S582-8.

208. John R. Sirard SGT, Karin A. Pfeiffer, Marsha Dowda, Russell R. Pate. Calibration and Evaluation of an Objective Measure of Physical Activity in Preschool Children. Journal of Physical Activity & Health 2007.

209. Inskip HM, Godfrey KM, Robinson SM, Law CM, Barker DJ, Cooper C, et al. Cohort profile: The Southampton Women's Survey. Int J Epidemiol 2006;35(1):42-8.

210. Pate RR, Almeida MJ, McIver KL, Pfeiffer KA, Dowda M. Validation and calibration of an accelerometer in preschool children. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2006;14(11):2000-6.

211. Collings PJ, Wijndaele K, Corder K, Westgate K, Ridgway CL, Dunn V, et al. Levels and patterns of objectively-measured physical activity volume and intensity distribution in UK adolescents: the ROOTS study. The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 2014;11:23-23.

212. Bratteby LE, Sandhagen B, Fan H, Samuelson G. A 7-day activity diary for assessment of daily energy expenditure validated by the doubly labelled water method in adolescents. Eur J Clin Nutr 1997;51(9):585-91.

213. Weston AT, Petosa R, Pate RR. Validation of an instrument for measurement of physical activity in youth. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1997;29(1):138-43.

214. Corder K, van Sluijs EMF, McMinn AM, Ekelund U, Cassidy A, Griffin SJ. Perception versus reality: awareness of physical activity levels of British children. American journal of preventive medicine 2010;38(1):1-8.

215. Helmerhorst HJ, Brage S, Warren J, Besson H, Ekelund U. A systematic review of reliability and objective criterion-related validity of physical activity questionnaires. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2012;9:103.

216. Oliver M, Schofield GM, Kolt GS. Physical activity in preschoolers - Understanding prevalence and measurement issues. Sports Medicine 2007;37(12):1045-1070.

217. Dwyer GM, Hardy LL, Peat JK, Baur LA. The validity and reliability of a home environment preschool-age physical activity questionnaire (Pre-PAQ). Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011;8:86.

218. Corder K, van Sluijs EMF, Wright A, Whincup P, Wareham NJ, Ekelund U. Is it possible to assess free-living physical activity and energy expenditure in young people by self-report? American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 2009;89(3):862-870.

219. Dwyer GM, Hardy LL, Peat JK, Baur LA. The validity and reliability of a home environment preschool-age physical activity questionnaire (Pre-PAQ). International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 2011;8.

220. Treuth MS, Schmitz K, Catellier DJ, McMurray RG, Murray DM, Almeida MJ, et al. Defining accelerometer thresholds for activity intensities in adolescent girls. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2004;36(7):1259-66.

221. Timmons BW, Naylor PJ, Pfeiffer KA. Physical activity for preschool children--how much and how? Can J Public Health 2007;98 Suppl 2:S122-34.

222. Janz KF, Burns TL, Levy SM, Iowa Bone Development S. Tracking of activity and sedentary behaviors in childhood: the Iowa Bone Development Study. Am J Prev Med 2005;29(3):171-8.

223. Telama R, Yang X, Leskinen E, Kankaanpaa A, Hirvensalo M, Tammelin T, et al. Tracking of physical activity from early childhood through youth into adulthood. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2014;46(5):955-62.

224. Telama R, Yang X, Viikari J, Valimaki I, Wanne O, Raitakari O. Physical activity from childhood to adulthood: a 21-year tracking study. Am J Prev Med 2005;28(3):267-73.

225. Sallis JF, Owen N, Fotheringham MJ. Behavioral epidemiology: A systematic framework to classify phases of research on health promotion and disease prevention. Annals of Behavioral Medicine 2000;22(4):294-298.

226. Brown T, Smith S, Bhopal R, Kasim A, Summerbell C. Diet and Physical Activity Interventions to Prevent or Treat Obesity in South Asian Children and Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 2015;12(1):566-594.

227. Yusuf S, Reddy S, Ounpuu S, Anand S. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases: Part II: variations in cardiovascular disease by specific ethnic groups and geographic regions and prevention strategies. Circulation 2001;104(23):2855-64. 228. Sallis JE, Cervero RB, Ascher W, Henderson KA, Kraft MK, Kerr J. An ecological approach to creating active living communities. In: Annual Review of Public Health; 2006. p. 297-322.

229. Larsen B, Gilmer T, Pekmezi D, Napolitano MA, Marcus BH. Cost effectiveness of a mail-delivered individually tailored physical activity intervention for Latinas vs. a mailed contact control. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2015;12.

230. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. BMJ 2009;339.

231. Ball K. Traversing myths and mountains: addressing socioeconomic inequities in the promotion of nutrition and physical activity behaviours. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2015;12:142.

232. Boer MR, Waterlander WE, Kuijper LD, Steenhuis IH, Twisk JW. Testing for baseline differences in randomized controlled trials: an unhealthy research behavior that is hard to eradicate. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2015;12.

233. Andersen LB, Harro M, Sardinha LB, Froberg K, Ekelund U, Brage S, et al. Physical activity and clustered cardiovascular risk in children: a cross-sectional study (The European Youth Heart Study). Lancet 2006;368(9532):299-304.

234. Penedo FJ, Dahn JR. Exercise and well-being: a review of mental and physical health benefits associated with physical activity. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2005;18(2):189-93.

235. Ahn S, Fedewa AL. A meta-analysis of the relationship between children's physical activity and mental health. J Pediatr Psychol 2011;36(4):385-97.

236. Oja P. Dose response between total volume of physical activity and health and fitness. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 2001;33(Supplement):S428-S437.

237. Reilly JJ. Physical activity, sedentary behaviour and energy balance in the preschool child: opportunities for early obesity prevention. Proc Nutr Soc 2008;67(3):317-25.

238. Birch LL, Fisher JO. Development of eating behaviors among children and adolescents. Pediatrics 1998;101(3 Pt 2):539-49.

239. Cardon GM, De Bourdeaudhuij IM. Are preschool children active enough? Objectively measured physical activity levels. Res Q Exerc Sport 2008;79(3):326-32.

240. Forouhi N, Sattar N, Tillin T, McKeigue P, Chaturvedi N. Do known risk factors explain the higher coronary heart disease mortality in South Asian compared with European men? Prospective follow-up of the Southall and Brent studies, UK. Diabetologia 2006;49(11):2580 - 8.

241. Vale S, Silva P, Santos R, Soares-Miranda L, Mota J. Compliance with physical activity guidelines in preschool children. Journal of Sports Sciences 2010;28(6):603-608.

242. Mehtala MA, Saakslahti AK, Inkinen ME, Poskiparta ME. A socio-ecological approach to physical activity interventions in childcare: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2014;11:22.

243. Metcalf B, Henley W, Wilkin T. Effectiveness of intervention on physical activity of children: systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials with objectively measured outcomes (EarlyBird 54). BMJ 2012;345.
244. Bauman A, Phongsavan P, Schoeppe S, Owen N. Physical activity measurement--a primer for health promotion. Promot Educ 2006;13(2):92-103.

245. Lachat C, Hawwash D, Ocké MC, Berg C, Forsum E, Hörnell A, et al. Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology—Nutritional Epidemiology (STROBE-nut): An Extension of the STROBE Statement. PLoS Med 2016;13.

246. Ellery CVL, Weiler HA, Hazell TJ. Physical activity assessment tools for use in overweight and obese children. Int J Obes 2014;38(1):1-10.

247. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gotzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. J Clin Epidemiol 2009;62(10):e1-34.

248. Costigan SA, Barnett L, Plotnikoff RC, Lubans DR. The health indicators associated with screen-based sedentary behavior among adolescent girls: a systematic review. J Adolesc Health 2013;52(4):382-92.

249. Lubans DR, Morgan PJ, Cliff DP, Barnett LM, Okely AD. Fundamental movement skills in children and adolescents: review of associated health benefits. Sports Med 2010;40(12):1019-35.

250. Moher D, Hopewell S, Schulz KF, Montori V, Gotzsche PC, Devereaux PJ, et al. CONSORT 2010 explanation and elaboration: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. BMJ 2010;340:c869.

251. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gotzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: Guidelines for reporting observational studies. Preventive Medicine 2007;45(4):247-251.

252. Jackson DM, Reilly JJ, Kelly LA, Montgomery C, Grant S, Paton JY. Objectively measured physical activity in a representative sample of 3- to 4-year-old children. Obes Res 2003;11(3):420-5.

253. Fernald LC, Jones-Smith JC, Ozer EJ, Neufeld LM, DiGirolamo AM. Maternal depressive symptoms and physical activity in very low-income children. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2008;29(5):385-93.

254. Baranowski T, Thompson WO, DuRant RH, Baranowski J, Puhl J. Observations on physical activity in physical locations: age, gender, ethnicity, and month effects. Res Q Exerc Sport 1993;64(2):127-33.

255. Burgi F, Meyer U, Granacher U, Schindler C, Marques-Vidal P, Kriemler S, et al. Relationship of physical activity with motor skills, aerobic fitness and body fat in preschool children: a cross-sectional and longitudinal study (Ballabeina). Int J Obes (Lond) 2011;35(7):937-44.

256. Iannotti RJ, Sallis JF, Chen R, Broyles SL, Elder JP, Nader PR. Prospective Analyses of Relationships Between Mothers' and Children's Physical Activity. Journal of Physical Activity & Health 2005;2(1):16-34.

257. Taylor RW, Murdoch L, Carter P, Gerrard DF, Williams SM, Taylor BJ. Longitudinal study of physical activity and inactivity in preschoolers: the FLAME study. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2009;41(1):96-102.

258. Taylor RW, Williams SM, Farmer VL, Taylor BJ. Changes in physical activity over time in young children: a longitudinal study using accelerometers. PLoS One 2013;8(11):e81567.

259. Jago R, Baranowski T, Baranowski JC, Thompson D, Greaves KA. BMI from 3-6 y of age is predicted by TV viewing and physical activity, not diet. Int J Obes (Lond) 2005;29(6):557-64.

260. Bellows LL, Davies PL, Anderson J, Kennedy C. Effectiveness of a physical activity intervention for Head Start preschoolers: a randomized intervention study. Am J Occup Ther 2013;67(1):28-36.

261. O'Dwyer MV, Fairclough SJ, Knowles Z, Stratton G. Effect of a family focused active play intervention on sedentary time and physical activity in preschool children. The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 2012;9.

262. Beets MW, Foley JT. Association of father involvement and neighborhood quality with kindergartners' physical activity: a multilevel structural equation model. Am J Health Promot 2008;22(3):195-203.

263. Burgi F, Meyer U, Niederer I, Ebenegger V, Marques-Vidal P, Granacher U, et al. Socio-cultural determinants of adiposity and physical activity in preschool children: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 2010;10:733.

264. Davies PS, Gregory J, White A. Physical activity and body fatness in pre-school children. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1995;19(1):6-10.

265. Finn K, Johannsen N, Specker B. Factors associated with physical activity in preschool children. J Pediatr 2002;140(1):81-5.

266. Gagne C, Harnois I. The contribution of psychosocial variables in explaining preschoolers' physical activity. Health Psychol 2013;32(6):657-65.

267. Saakslahti A, Numminen P, Niinikoski H, Rask-Nissila L, Viikari J, Tuominen J, et al. Is physical activity belated to body size, fundamental motor skills, and CHD risk factors in early childhood? Pediatric Exercise Science 1999;11(4):327-340.

268. Barkley JE, Salvy SJ, Sanders GJ, Dey S, Von Carlowitz KP, Williamson ML. Peer influence and physical activity behavior in young children: an experimental study. J Phys Act Health 2014;11(2):404-9.

269. Benham-Deal T. Preschool children's accumulated and sustained physical activity. Percept Mot Skills 2005;100(2):443-50.

270. Blaes A, Baquet G, Van Praagh E, Berthoin S. Physical activity patterns in French youth--from childhood to adolescence--monitored with high-frequency accelerometry. Am J Hum Biol 2011;23(3):353-8.

271. Boldemann C, Blennow M, Dal H, Martensson F, Raustorp A, Yuen K, et al. Impact of preschool environment upon children's physical activity and sun exposure. Prev Med 2006;42(4):301-8.

272. Bower JK, Hales DP, Tate DF, Rubin DA, Benjamin SE, Ward DS. The childcare environment and children's physical activity. Am J Prev Med 2008;34(1):23-9.

273. Brown WH, Pfeiffer KA, McIver KL, Dowda M, Addy CL, Pate RR. Social and environmental factors associated with preschoolers' nonsedentary physical activity. Child Dev 2009;80(1):45-58.

274. Burdette HL, Whitaker RC. A national study of neighborhood safety, outdoor play, television viewing, and obesity in preschool children. Pediatrics 2005;116(3):657-62.

275. Cardon G, Van Cauwenberghe E, Labarque V, Haerens L, De Bourdeaudhuij I. The contribution of preschool playground factors in explaining children's physical activity during recess. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2008;5:11.

276. Cox R, Skouteris H, Rutherford L, Fuller-Tyszkiewicz M, Dell' Aquila D, Hardy LL. Television viewing, television content, food intake, physical activity and body mass index: a cross-sectional study of preschool children aged 2-6 years. Health Promot J Austr 2012;23(1):58-62.

277. Dowda M, Brown WH, McIver KL, Pfeiffer KA, O'Neill JR, Addy CL, et al. Policies and characteristics of the preschool environment and physical activity of young children. Pediatrics 2009;123(2):e261-6.

278. Dowda M, Pate RR, Trost SG, Almeida MJ, Sirard JR. Influences of preschool policies and practices on children's physical activity. J Community Health 2004;29(3):183-96.

279. Fisher A, Reilly JJ, Kelly LA, Montgomery C, Williamson A, Paton JY, et al. Fundamental movement skills and habitual physical activity in young children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2005;37(4):684-8.

280. Gubbels JS, Dave HHVK, Jansen MWJ. Play Equipment, Physical Activity Opportunities, and Children's Activity Levels at Childcare. Journal of Environmental and Public Health 2012:326520.

281. Gubbels JS, Kremers SP, van Kann DH, Stafleu A, Candel MJ, Dagnelie PC, et al. Interaction between physical environment, social environment, and child characteristics in determining physical activity at child care. Health Psychol 2011;30(1):84-90.

282. Heelan KA, Eisenmann JC. Physical Activity, Media Time, and Body Composition in Young Children. Journal of Physical Activity & Health 2006;3(2):200-209.

283. Hinkley T, Salmon J, Okely AD, Hesketh K, Crawford D. Correlates of preschool children's physical activity. Am J Prev Med 2012;43(2):159-67.

284. Hnatiuk J, Ridgers ND, Salmon J, Campbell K, McCallum Z, Hesketh K. Physical activity levels and patterns of 19-month-old children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012;44(9):1715-20.

285. Janz KF, Burns TL, Levy SM, Torner JC, Willing MC, Beck TJ, et al. Everyday activity predicts bone geometry in children: the iowa bone development study. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2004;36(7):1124-31.

286. Kambas A, Michalopoulou M, Fatouros IG, Christoforidis C, Manthou E, Giannakidou D, et al. The relationship between motor proficiency and pedometerdetermined physical activity in young children. Pediatr Exerc Sci 2012;24(1):34-44.

287. Kelly LA, Reilly JJ, Fisher A, Montgomery C, Williamson A, McColl JH, et al. Effect of socioeconomic status on objectively measured physical activity. Arch Dis Child 2006;91(1):35-8.

288. Kimbro RT, Brooks-Gunn J, McLanahan S. Young children in urban areas: links among neighborhood characteristics, weight status, outdoor play, and television watching. Soc Sci Med 2011;72(5):668-76.

289. Klesges RC, Eck LH, Hanson CL, Haddock CK, Klesges LM. Effects of obesity, social interactions, and physical environment on physical activity in preschoolers. Health Psychol 1990;9(4):435-49.

290. Kuepper-Nybelen J, Lamerz A, Bruning N, Hebebrand J, Herpertz-Dahlmann B, Brenner H. Major differences in prevalence of overweight according to nationality in preschool children living in Germany: determinants and public health implications. Arch Dis Child 2005;90(4):359-63.

291. Laukkanen A, Pesola A, Havu M, Sääkslahti A, Finni T. Relationship between habitual physical activity and gross motor skills is multifaceted in 5- to 8-year-old children. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports 2014;24(2):e102-e110.

292. Lawrence M, Lawrence F, Durnin JV, Whitehead RG. A comparison of physical activity in Gambian and UK children aged 6-18 months. Eur J Clin Nutr 1991;45(5):243-52.

293. Loprinzi PD, Schary DP, Beets MW, Leary J, Cardinal BJ. Association Between Hypothesized Parental Influences and Preschool Children's Physical Activity Behavior. American Journal of Health Education 2013;44(1):9-18.

294. Loprinzi PD, Schary DP, Cardinal BJ. Adherence to active play and electronic media guidelines in preschool children: gender and parental education considerations. Matern Child Health J 2013;17(1):56-61.

295. Loprinzi PD, Trost SG. Parental influences on physical activity behavior in preschool children. Prev Med 2010;50(3):129-33.

296. Marino AJ, Fletcher EN, Whitaker RC, Anderson SE. Amount and environmental predictors of outdoor playtime at home and school: a cross-sectional analysis of a national sample of preschool-aged children attending Head Start. Health Place 2012;18(6):1224-30.

297. McKee DP, Boreham CAG, Murphy MH, Nevill AM. Validation of the Digiwalker (TM) pedometer for measuring physical activity in young children. Pediatric Exercise Science 2005;17(4):345-352.

298. Montgomery C, Reilly JJ, Jackson DM, Kelly LA, Slater C, Paton JY, et al. Relation between physical activity and energy expenditure in a representative sample of young children. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 2004;80(3):591-596.

299. Oliver M, Schofield GM, Schluter PJ. Parent influences on preschoolers' objectively assessed physical activity. J Sci Med Sport 2010;13(4):403-9.

300. Pate RR, Dowda M, Brown WH, Mitchell J, Addy C. Physical activity in preschool children with the transition to outdoors. J Phys Act Health 2013;10(2):170-5.

301. Pate RR, McIver K, Dowda M, Brown WH, Addy C. Directly observed physical activity levels in preschool children. J Sch Health 2008;78(8):438-44.

302. Pate RR PK, Trost S, Ziegler P, Dowda M. Physical Activity Among Children Attending Preschools. Pediatrics and Neonatology 2004;114(5).

303. Pfeiffer KA, Dowda M, McIver KL, Pate RR. Factors related to objectively measured physical activity in preschool children. Pediatr Exerc Sci 2009;21(2):196-208.

304. Poest CA, Williams JR, Witt DD, Atwood ME. Physical activity patterns of preschool children. Early Childhood Research Quarterly 1989;4(3):367-376.

305. Schary DP, Cardinal BJ, Loprinzi PD. Parental support exceeds parenting style for promoting active play in preschool children. Early Child Development and Care 2012;182(8):1057-1069.

306. Shen B, Reinhart-Lee T, Janisse H, Brogan K, Danford C, Jen KL. African American preschool children's physical activity levels in Head Start. Res Q Exerc Sport 2012;83(2):168-74.

307. Sigmund E, De Ste Croix M, Miklankova L, Fromel K. Physical activity patterns of kindergarten children in comparison to teenagers and young adults. Eur J Public Health 2007;17(6):646-51.

308. Smith BJ, Grunseit A, Hardy LL, King L, Wolfenden L, Milat A. Parental influences on child physical activity and screen viewing time: a population based study. BMC Public Health 2010;10:593.

309. Sugiyama T, Okely AD, Masters JM, Moore GT. Attributes of Child Care Centers and Outdoor Play Areas Associated With Preschoolers' Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior. Environment and Behavior 2012;44(3):334-349.

310. Tanaka C, Hikihara Y, Ohkawara K, Tanaka S. Locomotive and Non-Locomotive Activity as Determined by Triaxial Accelerometry and Physical Fitness in Japanese Preschool Children. Pediatric Exercise Science 2012;24(3):420-434.

311. Tanaka C, Tanaka S. Daily Physical Activity in Japanese Preschool Children Evaluated by Triaxial Accelerometry: The Relationship between Period of Engagement in Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity and Daily Step Counts. Journal of PHYSIOLOGICAL ANTHROPOLOGY 2009;28(6):283-288.

312. Trost SG, Sirard JR, Dowda M, Pfeiffer KA, Pate RR. Physical activity in overweight and nonoverweight preschool children. International Journal of Obesity 2003;27(7):834-839.

313. van Rossem L, Vogel I, Moll HA, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, et al. An observational study on socio-economic and ethnic differences in indicators of sedentary behavior and physical activity in preschool children. Preventive Medicine: An International Journal Devoted to Practice and Theory 2012;54(1):55-60.

314. Verbestel V, Van Cauwenberghe E, De Coen V, Maes L, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Cardon G. Within- and between-day variability of objectively measured physical activity in preschoolers. Pediatr Exerc Sci 2011;23(3):366-78.

315. Vorwerg Y, Petroff D, Kiess W, Blueher S. Physical Activity in 3-6 Year Old Children Measured by SenseWear Pro (R): Direct Accelerometry in the Course of the Week and Relation to Weight Status, Media Consumption, and Socioeconomic Factors. Plos One 2013;8(4).

316. Zecevic CA, Tremblay L, Lovsin T, Michel L. Parental Influence on Young Children's Physical Activity. International journal of pediatrics 2010;2010:468526-468526.

317. Tandon PS, Garrison MM, Christakis DA. Physical activity and beverages in homeand center-based child care programs. J Nutr Educ Behav 2012;44(4):355-9.

318. Tandon PS, Zhou C, Christakis DA. The frequency of outdoor play for preschool age children cared for at home-based child care settings. Acad Pediatr 2012;12(6):475-80.

319. Vanderloo LM, Tucker P, Johnson AM, van Zandvoort MM, Burke SM, Irwin JD. The influence of centre-based childcare on preschoolers' physical activity levels: a cross-sectional study. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2014;11(2):1794-802.

320. Adams A, Prince R. Correlates of physical activity in young American Indian children: lessons learned from the Wisconsin Nutrition and Growth Study. J Public Health Manag Pract 2010;16(5):394-400.

321. Anderson SE, Economos CD, Must A. Active play and screen time in US children aged 4 to 11 years in relation to sociodemographic and weight status characteristics: a nationally representative cross-sectional analysis. BMC Public Health 2008;8:366.

322. Burdette HL, Whitaker RC, Daniels SR. Parental report of outdoor playtime as a measure of physical activity in preschool-aged children. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2004;158(4):353-7.

323. Caroli M, Malecka-Tendera E, Epifani S, Rollo R, Sansolios S, Matusik P, et al. Physical activity and play in kindergarten age children. Int J Pediatr Obes 2011;6 Suppl 2:47-53.

324. Eriksson B, Henriksson H, Lof M, Hannestad U, Forsum E. Body-composition development during early childhood and energy expenditure in response to physical activity in 1.5-y-old children. Am J Clin Nutr 2012;96(3):567-73.

325. Espana-Romero V, Mitchell JA, Dowda M, O'Neill JR, Pate RR. Objectively measured sedentary time, physical activity and markers of body fat in preschool children. Pediatr Exerc Sci 2013;25(1):154-63.

326. Firrincieli V, Keller A, Ehrensberger R, Platts-Mills J, Shufflebarger C, Geldmaker B, et al. Decreased physical activity among Head Start children with a history of wheezing: use of an accelerometer to measure activity. Pediatr Pulmonol 2005;40(1):57-63.

327. Grigsby-Toussaint DS, Chi SH, Fiese BH, Group SKPW. Where they live, how they play: neighborhood greenness and outdoor physical activity among preschoolers. Int J Health Geogr 2011;10:66.

328. Grontved A, Pedersen GS, Andersen LB, Kristensen PL, Moller NC, Froberg K. Personal characteristics and demographic factors associated with objectively measured physical activity in children attending preschool. Pediatr Exerc Sci 2009;21(2):209-19.

329. Bhopal R. What is the risk of coronary heart disease in South Asians? A review of UK research. J Public Health 2000;22(3):375 - 85.

330. Gunter KB, Rice KR, Ward DS, Trost SG. Factors associated with physical activity in children attending family child care homes. Prev Med 2012;54(2):131-3.

331. LaRowe TL, Adams AK, Jobe JB, Cronin KA, Vannatter SM, Prince RJ. Dietary intakes and physical activity among preschool-aged children living in rural American Indian communities before a family-based healthy lifestyle intervention. J Am Diet Assoc 2010;110(7):1049-57.

332. Louie L, Chan L. The Use of Pedometry to Evaluate the Physical Activity Levels among Preschool Children in Hong Kong. Early Child Development and Care 2003;173(1):97-107.

333. McKee DP, Murtagh EM, Boreham CA, Nevill AM, Murphy MH. Seasonal and annual variation in young children's physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012;44(7):1318-24.

334. Metallinos-Katsaras ES, Freedson PS, Fulton JE, Sherry B. The association between an objective measure of physical activity and weight status in preschoolers. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2007;15(3):686-94.

335. Mickle KJ, Cliff DP, Munro BJ, Okely AD, Steele JR. Relationship between plantar pressures, physical activity and sedentariness among preschool children. J Sci Med Sport 2011;14(1):36-41.

336. O'Dwyer MV, Foweather L, Stratton G, Ridgers ND. Physical activity in nonoverweight and overweight UK preschool children: Preliminary findings and methods of the Active Play Project. Science and Sports 2011;26(6):345-349.

337. Whincup P, Gilg J, Papacosta O, Seymour C, Miller G, Alberti K, et al. Early evidence of ethnic differences in cardiovascular risk: cross sectional comparison of British South Asian and white children. BMJ 2002;324(7338):635.

338. Raustorp A, Pagels P, Boldemann C, Cosco N, Soderstrom M, Martensson F. Accelerometer measured level of physical activity indoors and outdoors during preschool time in Sweden and the United States. J Phys Act Health 2012;9(6):801-8.

339. Sallis JF, Patterson TL, McKenzie TL, Nader PR. Family variables and physical activity in preschool children. J Dev Behav Pediatr 1988;9(2):57-61.

340. Spurrier NJ, Magarey AA, Golley R, Curnow F, Sawyer MG. Relationships between the home environment and physical activity and dietary patterns of preschool children: a cross-sectional study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2008;5:31.

341. Sundberg F, Forsander G, Fasth A, Ekelund U. Children younger than 7 years with type 1 diabetes are less physically active than healthy controls. Acta Paediatr 2012;101(11):1164-9.

342. Temple VA, Naylor PJ, Rhodes RE, Higgins JW. Physical activity of children in family child care. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2009;34(4):794-8.

343. Vale S, Santos R, Soares-Miranda L, Silva P, Mota J. The importance of physical education classes in pre-school children. Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health 2011;47(1-2):48-53.

344. Whincup P, Nightingale C, Owen C, Rudnicka A, Gibb I, McKay C, et al. Early Emergence of Ethnic Differences in Type 2 Diabetes Precursors in the UK: The Child Heart and Health Study in England (CHASE Study). PLoS Med 2010;7(4):e1000263.

345. Bhatia V, Diseases IAPNTFfCPoA. IAP National Task Force for Childhood Prevention of Adult Diseases: insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes mellitus in childhood. Indian Pediatr 2004;41(5):443-57.

346. Vasquez F, Salazar G, Andrade M, Vasquez L, Diaz E. Energy balance and physical activity in obese children attending day-care centres. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 2006;60(9):1115-1121.

347. Khunti K, Samani NJ. Coronary heart disease in people of south-Asian origin. Lancet 2004;364(9451):2077-8.

348. Worobey J, Worobey HS, Adler AL. Diet, Activity and BMI in Preschool-Aged Children: Differences across Settings. Ecology of Food and Nutrition 2005;44(6):455-466.

349. Yamamoto S, Becker S, Fischer J, De Bock F. Sex differences in the variables associated with objectively measured moderate-to-vigorous physical activity in preschoolers. Prev Med 2011;52(2):126-9.

350. Becker DR, McClelland MM, Loprinzi P, Trost SG. Physical activity, self-regulation, and early academic achievement in preschool children. Early Education and Development 2014;25(1):56-70.

351. Brasholt M, Chawes B, Kreiner-Moller E, Vahlkvist S, Sinding M, Bisgaard H. Objective assessment of levels and patterns of physical activity in preschool children. Pediatr Res 2013;74(3):333-8.

352. Brown JE, Broom DH, Nicholson JM, Bittman M. Do working mothers raise couch potato kids? Maternal employment and children's lifestyle behaviours and weight in early childhood. Social Science & Medicine 2010;70(11):1816-1824.

353. Cespedes EM, McDonald J, Haines J, Bottino CJ, Schmidt ME, Taveras EM. Obesityrelated behaviors of US- and non-US-born parents and children in low-income households. Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics 2013;34(8):541-548.

354. Chuang R-J, Sharma S, Skala K, Evans A. Ethnic differences in the home environment and physical activity behaviors among low-income, minority preschoolers in Texas. American Journal of Health Promotion 2013;27(4):270-278.

355. Driessen LM, Jong Kiefte-de JC, Wijtzes A, de Vries SI, Jaddoe VWV, Hofman A, et al. Preschool physical activity and functional constipation: the Generation R study. Journal Of Pediatric Gastroenterology And Nutrition 2013;57(6):768-774.

356. Edwards NM, Khoury PR, Kalkwarf HJ, Woo JG, Claytor RP, Daniels SR. Tracking of accelerometer-measured physical activity in early childhood. Pediatric Exercise Science 2013;25(3):487-501.

357. Grzywacz JG, Suerken CK, Zapata Roblyer MI, Trejo G, Arcury TA, Ip EH, et al. Physical activity of preschool-aged latino children in farmworker families. American Journal of Health Behavior 2014;38(5):717-725.

358. Hesketh KR, Goodfellow L, Ekelund U, McMinn AM, Godfrey KM, Inskip HM, et al. Activity levels in mothers and their preschool children. Pediatrics 2014;133(4):e973-80.

359. Hesketh KR, McMinn AM, Ekelund U, Sharp SJ, Collings PJ, Harvey NC, et al. Objectively measured physical activity in four-year-old British children: A cross-sectional analysis of activity patterns segmented across the day. The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 2014;11.

360. Hinkley T, Salmon JO, Okely AD, Crawford D, Hesketh K. Preschoolers' Physical Activity, Screen Time, and Compliance with Recommendations. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise 2012;44(3):458-465.

361. Hnatiuk J, Salmon J, Campbell KJ, Ridgers ND, Hesketh KD. Early childhood predictors of toddlers' physical activity: longitudinal findings from the Melbourne InFANT Program. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2013;10:123.

362. Iivonen KS, Saakslahti AK, Mehtala A, Villberg JJ, Tammelin TH, Kulmala JS, et al. Relationship between fundamental motor skills and physical activity in 4-year-old preschool children. Percept Mot Skills 2013;117(2):627-46.

363. Jimenez-Pavon D, Konstabel K, Bergman P, Ahrens W, Pohlabeln H, Hadjigeorgiou C, et al. Physical activity and clustered cardiovascular disease risk factors in young children: a cross-sectional study (the IDEFICS study). BMC Med 2013;11:172.

364. Niederer I, Kriemler S, Zahner L, Burgi F, Ebenegger V, Marques P, et al. BMI grouprelated differences in physical fitness and physical activity in preschool-age children: a cross-sectional analysis. Res Q Exerc Sport 2012;83(1):12-9.

365. O'Connor TM, Cerin E, Hughes SO, Robles J, Thompson DI, Mendoza JA, et al. Psychometrics of the preschooler physical activity parenting practices instrument among a Latino sample. The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 2014;11.

366. O'Dwyer MV, Fairclough SJ, Ridgers ND, Knowles ZR, Foweather L, Stratton G. Effect of a school-based active play intervention on sedentary time and physical activity in preschool children. Health Education Research 2013;28(6):931-942.

367. Olesen LG, Kristensen PL, Korsholm L, Froberg K. Physical activity in children attending preschools. Pediatrics 2013;132(5):e1310-8.

368. Ostbye T, Malhotra R, Stroo M, Lovelady C, Brouwer R, Zucker N, et al. The effect of the home environment on physical activity and dietary intake in preschool children. Int J Obes (Lond) 2013;37(10):1314-21.

369. Rice KR, Trost SG. Physical Activity Levels Among Children Attending Family Day Care. Journal of Nutrition Education & Behavior 2014;46(3):197-202.

370. Sallis J, Nader P, Broyles S, Berry C, Elder J, McKenzie T, et al. Correlates of physical activity at home in mexican-american and anglo-american preschool children. Health Psychol 1993;12:390 - 398.

371. Tanaka C, Tanaka S. Objectively-measured physical activity and body weight in Japanese pre-schoolers. Ann Hum Biol 2013;40(6):541-6.

372. Vale S, Trost S, Ruiz JJ, Rego C, Moreira P, Mota J. Physical activity guidelines and preschooler's obesity status. Int J Obes (Lond) 2013;37(10):1352-5.

373. Vale S, Ricardo N, Soares-Miranda L, Santos R, Moreira C, Mota J. Parental education and physical activity in pre-school children. Child: Care, Health and Development 2014;40(3):446-452.

374. van Sluijs EMF, McMinn AM, Inskip HM, Ekelund U, Godfrey KM, Harvey NC, et al. Correlates of light and moderate-to-vigorous objectively measured physical activity in four-year-old children. Plos One 2013;8(9):e74934-e74934.

375. Vanderloo LM, Tucker P, Johnson AM, Holmes JD. Physical activity among preschoolers during indoor and outdoor childcare play periods. Applied Physiology, Nutrition & Metabolism 2013;38(11):1173-1175.

376. Wijtzes AI, Kooijman MN, Kiefte-de Jong JC, de Vries SI, Henrichs J, Jansen W, et al. Correlates of physical activity in 2-year-old toddlers: the generation R study. J Pediatr 2013;163(3):791-9 e1-2.

377. United Cenus Bureau. Who's Minding the Kids? Child Care Arrangements: Spring 2011. In: U.S. Department of Commerce, editor.; 2013.

378. Department of Education. Childcare and early years survey of parents: 2012 to 2013. In; 2014.

379. Mattocks C, Ness A, Leary S, Tilling K, Blair SN, Shield J, et al. Use of accelerometers in a large field-based study of children: protocols, design issues, and effects on precision. J Phys Act Health 2008;5 Suppl 1:S98-111.

380. Clemes SA, Matchett N, Wane SL. Reactivity: an issue for short-term pedometer studies? Br J Sports Med 2008;42(1):68-70.

381. Barber SE, Jackson C, Akhtar S, Bingham DD, Ainsworth H, Hewitt C, et al. "Preschoolers in the playground" an outdoor physical activity intervention for children aged 18 months to 4 years old: study protocol for a pilot cluster randomised controlled trial. Trials 2013;14:326.

382. Hinkley T, O'Connell E, Okely AD, Crawford D, Hesketh K, Salmon J. Assessing volume of accelerometry data for reliability in preschool children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012;44(12):2436-41.

383. Catellier DJ, Hannan PJ, Murray DM, Addy CL, Conway TL, Yang S, et al. Imputation of missing data when measuring physical activity by accelerometry. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2005;37(11 Suppl):S555-62.

384. Kim H-Y. Statistical notes for clinical researchers: Evaluation of measurement error 1: using intraclass correlation coefficients. Restorative Dentistry & Endodontics 2013;38(2):98-102.

385. Stanley JC. Reliability in education measurement. Washington (DC): Thorndike RL; 1971.

386. Zhou S-M, Hill RA, Morgan K, Stratton G, Gravenor MB, Bijlsma G, et al. Classification of accelerometer wear and non-wear events in seconds for monitoring freeliving physical activity. BMJ Open 2015;5(5).

387. Rowlands, Rennie, Kozarski, Stanley, Eston, Parfitt, et al. Children's physical activity assessed with wrist- and hip-worn accelerometers. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2014;46(12):2308-16.

388. Tremblay MS, LeBlanc AG, Kho ME, Saunders TJ, Larouche R, Colley RC, et al. Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health indicators in school-aged children and youth. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 2011;8(1):1-22.

389. Wilmot EG, Edwardson CL, Achana FA, Davies MJ, Gorely T, Gray LJ, et al. Sedentary time in adults and the association with diabetes, cardiovascular disease and death: systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetologia 2012;55(11):2895-905.

390. Biswas A, Oh PI, Faulkner GE, Bajaj RR, Silver MA, Mitchell MS, et al. Sedentary time and its association with risk for disease incidence, mortality, and hospitalization in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 2015;162(2):123-32.

391. Lee I-M, Shiroma EJ. Using accelerometers to measure physical activity in largescale epidemiological studies: issues and challenges. British Journal of Sports Medicine 2014;48(3):197-201.

392. Fulton JE, Burgeson CR, Perry GR, Sherry B, Galuska DA, Alexander MP, et al. Assessment of Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior in Preschool-Age Children: Priorities for Research. Pediatric Exercise Science 2001;13(2):113.

393. Wright J, Small N, Raynor P, Tuffnell D, Bhopal R, Cameron N, et al. Cohort Profile: the Born in Bradford multi-ethnic family cohort study. Int J Epidemiol 2013;42(4):978-91.

394. Bryant M, Santorelli G, Fairley L, West J, Lawlor DA, Bhopal R, et al. Design and characteristics of a new birth cohort, to study the early origins and ethnic variation of childhood obesity: the BiB1000 study. 2013 2013;4(2):17.

395. Raynor P. Born in Bradford, a cohort study of babies born in Bradford, and their parents: protocol for the recruitment phase. BMC Public Health 2008;8:327.

396. Saint-Maurice PF, Welk GJ, Beyler NK, Bartee RT, Heelan KA. Calibration of self-report tools for physical activity research: the Physical Activity Questionnaire (PAQ). BMC Public Health 2014;14(1):1-9.

397. Bingham DD, Costa S, Clemes SA, Routen AC, Moore HJ, Barber SE. Accelerometer data requirements for reliable estimation of habitual physical activity and sedentary time of children during the early years - a worked example following a stepped approach. J Sports Sci 2016;34(20):2005-10.

398. Streiner DL, Norman GR. Health Measurement Scales: A Practical Guide to Their Development and Use. OUP Oxford; 2008.

399. Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics 1977;33(1):159-74.

400.London KC. Q9.10 What size of index indicates "good reliability"?[cited 2016 2ndFebruray];Availablefrom:http://www.kcl.ac.uk/ioppn/depts/biostatistics/SAS/faqs9.aspx#a9_22

401. Bland JM, Altman DG. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. Lancet 1986;1(8476):307-310.

402. Atkinson G, Nevill AM. Statistical methods for assessing measurement error (reliability) in variables relevant to sports medicine. Sports Med 1998;26(4):217-38.

403. Hart TL, Ainsworth BE, Tudor-Locke C. Objective and subjective measures of sedentary behavior and physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2011;43(3):449-56.

404. Atkin AJ, Gorely T, Clemes SA, Yates T, Edwardson C, Brage S, et al. Methods of Measurement in epidemiology: sedentary Behaviour. Int J Epidemiol 2012;41(5):1460-71.

405. Davies G, Reilly JJ, McGowan AJ, Dall PM, Granat MH, Paton JY. Validity, practical utility, and reliability of the activPAL in preschool children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012;44(4):761-8.

406. Bingham D, Collings P, Clemes S, Costa S, Santorelli G, Griffiths P, et al. Reliability and Validity of the Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire (EY-PAQ). Sports 2016;4(2):30.

407. Hnatiuk J, Ridgers N, Salmon J, Campbell K, McCallum Z, Hesketh K. Physical activity levels and patterns of 19-month-old children. Med sci Sport Exerc 2012;44(9):1715 - 20.

408. Atkin AJ, van Sluijs EM, Dollman J, Taylor WC, Stanley RM. Identifying correlates and determinants of physical activity in youth: How can we advance the field? Prev Med 2016;87:167-169.

409. Metcalf B, Henley W, Wilkin T. Republished research: Effectiveness of intervention on physical activity of children: systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials with objectively measured outcomes (EarlyBird 54). British Journal of Sports Medicine 2013;47(4):226.

410. Williams E, Stamatakis E, Chandola T, Hamer M. Assessment of physical activity levels in South Asians in the UK: findings from the Health Survey for England. J Epidemiol Community Health 2011;65(6):517 - 21.

411. Owen C, Nightingale C, Rudnicka A, Cook D, Ekelund U, Whincup P. Ethnic and gender differences in physical activity levels among 9-10-year-old children of white European, South Asian and African-Caribbean origin: the Child Heart Health Study in England (CHASE Study). Int J Epidemiol 2009;38(4):1082 - 93.

412. Raynor P. Born in Bradford, a cohort study of babies born in Bradford, and their parents: Protocol for the recruitment phase. BMC Public Health 2008;8(1):327.

413. Wright J, Small N, Raynor P, Tuffnell D, Bhopal R, Cameron N, et al. Cohort Profile: the Born in Bradford multi-ethnic family cohort study. Int J Epidemiol 2013;42(4):978 - 91.

414. City of Bradford Metropolitan Distrci Council. Population figures. Available from: https://www.bradford.gov.uk/bmdc/community_and_living/population

415. Townsend P, Phillimore P, Beattie A. Health and Deprivation: Inequality and the North. London; 1988.

416. Small N. Infant Mortality and Migrant Health in Babies of Pakistani Origin Born in Bradford, UK. Journal of Intercultural Studies 2012;33(5):549-564.

417. Vittinghoff E, Glidden DV, Shiboski SC, McCulloch CE. Regression Methods in Biostatistics: Linear, Logistic, Survival, and Repeated Measures Models. New York: Springer; 2005.

418. Maldonado G, Greenland S. Simulation study of confounder-selection strategies. Am J Epidemiol 1993;138(11):923-36.

419. Malina RM. Adherence to Physical Activity From Childhood to Adulthood: A Perspective From Tracking Studies. Quest 2001;53(3):346-355.

420. Reilly JJ, Jackson DM, Montgomery C, Kelly LA, Slater C, Grant S, et al. Total energy expenditure and physical activity in young Scottish children: mixed longitudinal study. Lancet 2004;363(9404):211-2.

421. Foweather L, Knowles Z, Ridgers ND, O'Dwyer MV, Foulkes JD, Stratton G. Fundamental movement skills in relation to weekday and weekend physical activity in preschool children. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport.

422. Jago R, Wood L. IJBNPA in 2016: Strategy for advancing the science of behavior change in nutrition and physical activity, and associated editorial priorities. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 2016;13(1):1-2.

423. Eyre E, Duncan M, Smith E, Matyka K. Objectively measured patterns of physical activity in primary school children in Coventry: the influence of ethnicity. Diabet Med 2013;30(8):939 - 45.

424. Spence JC, Lee RE. Toward a comprehensive model of physical activity. Psychology of Sport and Exercise 2003;4(1):7-24.

425. Hinkley T, Salmon J, Okely A, Hesketh K, Crawford D. Correlates of preschool children's physical activity. Am J Prev Med 2012;43(2):159 - 67.

Appendices

ARTICLE IN PRESS

Physical Activity During the Early Years A Systematic Review of Correlates and Determinants

Daniel D. Bingham, MSc,^{1,2} Silvia Costa, PhD,³ Trina Hinkley, PhD,⁴ Katy A. Shire, BSc Hons,⁵ Stacy A. Clemes, PhD,¹ Sally E. Barber, PhD²

Context: Being physically active during the early years (age 0-6 years) is vital for healthy development. Identifying correlates and determinants of physical activity (PA) is crucial to guide effective interventions. This systematic review synthesized studies investigating potential correlates and determinants of PA during the early years, accounting for different types of PA assessment.

Evidence acquisition: Nine electronic databases were searched from inception year (1900) until September 2014; data were analyzed/interpreted in April 2015. The following inclusion criteria were used: written in English, published in peer-reviewed journals, participants not in statutory/school education, and an observational design investigating associations between an exposure/variable, and a quantitative measure of PA. Correlates/determinants of total, moderate to vigorous, and light PA were reported using an ecologic model.

Evidence synthesis: Of 22,045 identified studies, 130 were included. All took place in highincome countries and few (6%) were of high quality. Correlates of total PA were sex (male, ++); parental PA (+); parental support (+); and time outdoors (+). Determinants of total PA were sex (+) and time spent playing with parents (+). The only correlate of moderate to vigorous PA was sex (male, ++). No determinants of moderate to vigorous or light PA were found. PA correlates/ determinants were relatively consistent between objective and subjective PA measures.

Conclusions: Numerous studies investigated potential correlates and determinants of PA, but overall quality was low. A small number of demographic/biological and social/cultural factors were associated with PA. There is a need for high-quality studies exploring correlates/determinants across all domains of the ecologic model.

(Am J Prev Med 2016;1(1):111-111) © 2016 American Journal of Preventive Medicine. Published by Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.



SHORT COMMUNICATION

Accelerometer data requirements for reliable estimation of habitual physical activity and sedentary time of children during the early years - a worked example following a stepped approach

Daniel D. Bingham Dah, Silvia Costa O, Stacy A. Clemes^b, Ash C. Routen^b, Helen J. Moore^d and Sally E. Barber O^a

^aBradford Institute for Health Research, Bradford Teaching Hospitals Foundation Trust, Bradford, UK; ^bSchool of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences, Loughborough University, Leicestershire, UK; ^cInstitute of Child Health, University College London, London, UK; ^aSchool of Medicine, Pharmacy and Health, Durham University, Durham, UK

ABSTRACT

This study presents a worked example of a stepped process to reliably estimate the habitual physical activity and sedentary time of a sample of young children. A total of 299 children (2.9 \pm 0.6 years) were recruited. Outcome variables were daily minutes of total physical activity, sedentary time, moderate to vigorous physical activity and proportional values of each variable. In total, 282 (94%) provided 3 h of accelerometer data on \geq 1 day and were included in a 6-step process: Step-1: determine minimum weartime; Step-2: process 7-day-data; Step-3: determine the inclusion of a weekend day; Step-4: examine day-to-day variability; Step-5: calculate single day intraclass correlation (ICC) (2,1); Step-6: calculate number of days required to reach reliability. Following the process the results were, Step-1: 6 h was estimated as minimum wear-time of a standard day. Step-2: 98 (32%) children had \geq 6 h wear on 7 days. Step-3: no differences were found between weekdays and weekend days ($P \geq 0.05$). Step-4: no differences were found between day-to-day variability ($P \geq 0.05$). Step-5: single day ICC's (2,1) ranged from 0.48 (total physical activity and sedentary time) to 0.53 (proportion of moderate to vigorous physical activity). Step-6: to reach reliability (ICC = 0.7), 3 days were required for all outcomes. In conclusion following a 7 day wear protocol, \geq 6 h on any 3 days was found to have acceptable reliability. The stepped-process offers researchers a method to derive sample-specific wear-time criterion.

ARTICLE HISTORY

Accepted 28 January 2016

KEYWORDS

Acclererometry; measurement; reliability; young children; physical activity; sedentary time





Article Reliability and Validity of the Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire (EY-PAQ)

Daniel D. Bingham^{1,2,*}, Paul J. Collings¹, Stacy A. Clemes², Silvia Costa³, Gillian Santorelli¹, Paula Griffiths² and Sally E. Barber¹

- ¹ Bradford Institute for Health Research, Bradford BD9 6RJ, UK; Paul Collings@bthft.nhs.uk (P.J.C.); Gillian.Santorelli@bthft.nhs.uk (G.S.); sally.barber@bthft.nhs.uk (S.E.B.)
- ² School of Sport, Exercise and Health Sciences, Loughborough University, Leicestershire LE11 3TU, UK; S.A.Clemes@lboro.ac.uk (S.A.C.); P.Griffiths@lboro.ac.uk (P.G.)
- ³ Centre for Diet and Activity Research (CEDAR), MRC Epidemiology Unit, University of Cambridge, School of Clinical Medicine, Cambridge CB2 0QQ, UK; sc808@medschl.cam.ac.uk
- * Correspondence: daniel.bingham@bthft.nhs.uk; Tel.: +44-1274-383935

Academic Editor: Eling Douwe de Bruin Received: 8 February 2016; Accepted: 11 May 2016; Published: 26 May 2016

Abstract: Measuring physical activity (PA) and sedentary time (ST) in young children (<5 years) is complex. Objective measures have high validity but require specialist expertise, are expensive, and can be burdensome for participants. A proxy-report instrument for young children that accurately measures PA and ST is needed. The aim of this study was to assess the reliability and validity of the Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire (EY-PAQ). In a setting where English and Urdu are the predominant languages spoken by parents of young children, a sample of 196 parents and their young children (mean age 3.2 ± 0.8 years) from Bradford, UK took part in the study. A total of 156 (79.6%) guestionnaires were completed in English and 40 (20.4%) were completed in transliterated Urdu. A total of 109 parents took part in the reliability aspect of the study, which involved completion of the EY-PAQ on two occasions (7.2 days apart; standard deviation (SD) = 1.1). All 196 participants took part in the validity aspect which involved comparison of EY-PAQ scores against accelerometry. Validty anaylsis used all data and data falling with specific MVPA and ST boundaries. Reliability was assessed using intra-class correlations (ICC) and validity by Bland-Altman plots and rank correlation coefficients. The test re-test reliability of the EY-PAQ was moderate for ST (ICC = 0.47) and fair for moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA)(ICC = 0.35). The EY-PAO had poor agreement with accelerometer-determined ST (mean difference = -87.5 min day⁻¹) and good agreement for MVPA (mean difference = 7.1 min day⁻¹) limits of agreement were wide for all variables. The rank correlation coefficient was non-significant for ST (rho = 0.19) and significant for MVPA (rho = 0.30). The EY-PAQ has comparable validity and reliability to other PA self-report tools and is a promising population-based measure of young children's habitual MVPA but not ST. In situations when objective methods are not possible for measurement of young children's MVPA, the EY-PAQ may be a suitable alternative but only if boundaries are applied.

Keywords: physical activity; sedentary behaviour; measurement; self-report; preschool; children; accelerometry; ethnicity

Appendix 3. – Systematic review supplementary materials

Appendix 3.1. – Example of search strategy (Pub Med)

PUB MED- Search Strategy – Bingham et al early years correlates review

- #1 "physical activity"[All Fields]
- #2 "exercise"[MeSH Terms] #3/OR "exercise"[All Fields])
- #4 "play"[All Fields]
- #5 "physical fitness"[All Fields]
- #6 "physical inactivity" [All Fields]
- #7 "sedentary" [All Fields]
- #8 "sports" [MeSH Terms] #9/OR "sports" [All Fields] #10/OR "sport" [All Fields]
- #11 "health behaviour" [All Fields] #12/OR "health behavior" [MeSH Terms]
- #13 "motor movement"[All Fields]
- #14 "child"[MeSH Terms] #15/OR "child"[All Fields]
- #16 "children"[All Fields]
- #17 kindergarten[All Fields]
- #18 preschool[All Fields]
- #19 "early years" [All Fields]
- #20 "humans" [MeSH Terms]
- #21 English[lang]
- #22 "child, preschool"[MeSH Terms]
- #23 "infant" [MeSH Terms:noexp]

Appendix 3.2. –Systematic review inclusion/exclusion form

Author & year

Today's date:Reviewer:

Question	Yes	Not Clear	No	Further inforn	nation:		
Is the study published in a peer-review journal?				State Journal	:		
Is the study written in English?							
Is the study an observational (cross or pro) study / baseline intervention study ?				State the type	e of stu	dy:	
Is the age group studied preschool mean age<6?				Mean age of	the sa	mple:	
Do the participants <u>attend</u> formal/statuary schooling ?							
Is physical activity measured using quantitative methods? I.e. electronic and/or direct observation				State the prin applied (e.g A	nary me Actigrap	easure bh):	
Is physical activity the main outcome/dependant PA; VPA; MVPA)				State Outcom variable:	ne/Depo	endant	
Are associations investigated between physical activity and correlates/determinants/factors?				State correlates/det	termina	ints/facto	rs:
Are participants unable to be physically active (i.e. disabled or ill)							
Does the sample have a special need or health condition? (asthma, learning difficulties, autism etc).				If yes please	state:		
IF THE ANSWER TO ANY OF THE ABOVE WITHIN THE REVIEW MEETING.IF ANY AN THE R	E IS SH NSWEF EVIEW	ADED B RS ARE ' ING MEE	OX, <u>E</u> 'NOT ETING	<u>XCLUDE</u> THE S CLEAR" PLEAS	STUDY (SE DISC	OR DISCU CUSS WIT	JSS HIN
This study is:	Inclu	ded		Excluded		<u>Not</u> sure	
	Detai	ils:					
Other information	•						

<u>Appendix 3.3. – Description table of included studies within chapter 3 systematic review.</u>

Study	Design	Country	Aims	Correlates Investigated	Analyses	Sample Demographics	PA Measurement	Measurement Period	Validity and Reliability of PA Measure	Reported PA level	Notes
Sallis et al. (1993) ¹	Cross- sectional	USA	Investigate the different correlates of children's physical activity.	Ethnicity, SES, sex, skinfolds, motor co-ordination, TV hours per week, play rules, mothers activity, familial interaction, parent activity control, convenient play spaces, availability of toys, frequency in play spaces.	Correlations, regression.	n = 347; mean age 4.4 years (SD = 0.5) 201 Mexican American; 146 Anglo-American.	Observation (BEACHES).	4 x 1 hour in home evening visit, 30 min prior to evening meal: coded 1 min.	Inter- observer: agreement was 90%-95%. Reliability was reported for many different measures.	Not reported.	
Adams et al. (2010) ²	Cross- sectional	USA	Examine the associations of age, sex, weight status and children's proxy reported physical activity levels.	3-4 year olds: sex differences of number of times a week playing outside.	T-tests.	n = 421; mean age 6.4 years (SD 1.2); 3-4 year olds = 21, 5-6 = 240, 7-8 = 138.	Proxy questionnaire.	One screening appointment to complete questionnaire and body measures.	Test-retest reliability was completed for 80 children, r = 0.88.	Playing outside for the whole sample was reported 2-3 hours. For 3-4 year olds only number of times playing outside weekly was reported.	
Anderson et al. (2008) ³	Cross- sectional	USA	Estimate the proportion of children aged 4 - 11 years who are participating in low levels of active play and high levels of screen time.	4-5 year olds sex, weight status (BMI) stratified by sex and ethnicity.	Wald-chi tests for univariant analyse.	Total sample n = 2964, mean age 8.9 years. Sample was stratified by age. 4-5 year old n = 777, mean age 4.9 years.	Proxy questionnaire, number of occasions a week a child takes part in exercise that causes sweating and hard breathing.	One occasion completing a questionnaire.	Cited sources but no reliability or validity statistics.	Adjusted for study design. Boy's median 6.9 (percentiles 6.3-7.4) times a week active, girls 7.3 (6.2-8.3).	

Yamamoto et al. (2011) ⁴	Cross- sectional	Germany	Examine variables associated with every day, objectively measured PA in preschool children.	Age, educational status of parents, immigrant background, number of siblings, child's BMI, Mothers BMI, Fathers BMI, child's general health, child's desire to be active, TV viewing, time spent outside, organised sports, environmental opportunities and parents PA.	Multivariate regression models stratified by sex.	n = 1134, age 3 - 6 years, recruited from 52 preschools.	Actiheart, MVPA.	Monitor worn for 4 days. Minimum requirement was 1 weekday and 1 weekend day. 13.4 mean hours wear time on weekdays, and 12.8 mean hours wear time weekends.	Not reported, no reference.	Not reported.
Williams et al. (2008)⁵	Cross- sectional	USA	Examine the relationship between level of motor skills and PA.	Gross motor skill performance; locomotors skills and object control skills.	Correlations and ANCOVAs.	n = 198, mean age 4.2 years (SD 0.5). 53.5% African American, 34.9% White.	Uniaxial Accelerometer (Actigraph model 7164) - 15 sec epoch, PATE cut point. %of intensity was used. %LPA, %MVPA, %VPA.	Monitor worn for 8-10 days. Mean 12.7 hours.	Acceleromete r validity cited elsewhere. Reliability cited elsewhere. No statistics applied but laboratory work referred to shows near perfect reliability.	Total 90 min MVPA, no report for total PA.

Tanaka et al. (2009) ⁶	Cross- sectional	Japan	Evaluate MVPA using tri-axial accelerometer.	Sex.	Student's T- Test.	n = 212, mean age 5.8 years (SD 0.6).	Accelerometer - Tri-axial (ActivTracer), Uniaxial (Life order EX).	Monitor worn for 6 days.	This study is a validation study. Reliability not reported.	13037 step counts/day; boys 13650, girls 12255. Time in MVPA min/day 102; boys 112.3, girls 88.8. Physical Activity Level (PAL) 1.54; boys 1.55, 1.51. Time in PAR \geq 4 (Physical activity ratio, min/day) 19.9; boys 22.6, girls 16.4.
Vorwerg et al. (2013) ⁷	Cross- sectional	Germany	Investigate different variable associations with objective PA.	Sex, weekday's vs weekends, obesity, more time outside, Preschool quiet activities, parent weight status, and screen time.	Wilcoxon test, spearman rank correlation, chi-square test.	119 children, only 92 met all measurement criteria. Boys mean age 5.3 years, girls mean age 5.0 years.	Sense Wear Pro 2 Accelerometer	Worn for 7 consecutive days, included at least 1 weekend day. Mean daily wear time was, 21.8 hours/day.	Validity cited elsewhere. 1.7% error versus metabolic analyser. Reliability not mentioned.	Mean daily PA was 4.4hours.
Vasquez et al. (2006) ⁸	Cross- sectional	Chile	Assess energy intake, energy expenditure and physical activity patterns of obese children at children's centres and at home.	Sex, times of day at children's centre, at home and weekday.	Descriptive, difference tested or non- parametric alternative, Wilcoxon.	24 obese children (12 boys, 12 girls) were selected from first come first serve basis from a group of 252 children's centres. Boys mean age 4.3 years (SD 0.05), girls mean age 4.2 (SD 0.7).	Tritrac-RD Research Ergometer, axial accelerometer.	Three full days (2 weekdays) and 1 weekend day.	Not reported.	Not reported.

Vale et al. (2011) ⁹	Cross- sectional	Portugal	Analyse differences in TPA and MVPA of preschool children during school days when children attend the PE class compared with school days without PE.	Sex, physical education class.	Independent t-tests and general linear model (GLM).	193 children, mean age 4.8 years (SD 0.8), from kindergarten.	Actigraph Uniaxial Accelerometer GTM1 model.	Five consecutive days. Monitor was placed and fitted by teachers when the children arrived at school, and removed when leaving.	Validity cited elsewhere. Cut points ranged from r = 0.46-0.70 (Sirard cut- points). Heart rate vs accelerometer r = 0.50-0.74.	Mean daily TPA on Physical education days (PED) was 66.40(SD 22.08) min; boys 70.49(SD 24.28) min, girls 62.28(SD 19.38). Mean daily MVPA on PED days was 26.55 (SD 12.18) min; boys 29.39(SD 13.14) min, girls 24.08(SD 11.11) min. Mean daily TPA on non PED was 55.45(SD 17.17) min; boys 59.14(SD 17.25) min, girls 52.14(SD 16.06). Mean daily MVPA on non PED was 20.16(SD 9.12) min; boys 22.03(SD 9.14), girls 18.27(SD8.28).	
Vale et al. (2010) ¹⁰	Cross- sectional	Portugal	 Document differences in TPA and MVPA between sexes on weekdays and weekend days. Assess compliance to physical activity recommendation s. 	Sex, weekdays vs. weekends.	Descriptive, independent samples t-test, general linear model, chi- square comparison tests.	245 preschool children, from kindergartens. Mean age 5.2 years (SD 0.8).	Uniaxial Accelerometer (GTM1- model).	Seven consecutive days, 10 hours of wear time per day. Three weekdays and 1 weekend day was used in the analysis.	Validity reported elsewhere.	TPA mean weekday daily min 143.8(SD 43.3); boys 155.4(SD 45.4), girls 128.2(SD34.8). TPA mean weekend day daily min 123.9(SD41.8); boys 131.59(SD45.7), girls 113.9(SD 33.6).	
Spurrier et al. (2008) ¹¹	Cross- sectional	Australia	Describe the characteristics of preschool children's home environment, what may influence children's physical activity,	Parental physical activity (frequency of walking >30min per day-both paternal and maternal), Mother's frequency of organised sport,	Descriptive and multiple ANOVA's with bonferoni multiple comparison technique.	Out of 516 parents screened during recruitment, 280 agreed to participate in the study (54% response rate). Child mean age 4.8 years (SD 0.21).	Parental questionnaire - outdoor physical activity play.	One home visit.	Validity cited elsewhere.	Not reported.	Only significant results were reported.

sedentary presence of behaviour and dietary patterns. participation in organised sports, dog ownership.

	0	110.4	c 4	T47 + 1	-	001 1 11 1		01111	37 11 11. 6	3.6
Trost et al.	Cross-	USA	Compare the	Weight status.	Two-way	281 children	MT17164	Children were	Validity for	Mean activity rating:
$(2003)^{12}$	sectional		physical activity		ANCOVA,	recruited. After	uniaxial	observed for 1	accelerometer	males: overweight
			levels of		with sex and	deletions of	accelerometer	hour on 3	and OSRAP	2.40(0.20), not
			overweight and		weight status	missing data,	(15 sec	randomly selected	reported	overweight 2.60(0.19).
			non-overweight		as group	sample was 245	epochs).	separate days.	elsewhere.	Females: overweight
			3-to-5 year old		variables.	children (127 girls;	Direct	Accelerometer	ICC for	2.50(0.19), not
			children while		Parent	118 boys) and	observation	was worn ranging	OSRAP was	overweight 2.49(0.20).
			attending		education was	parents (242	system for	from 1-11 days.	reported as	%Time in MVPA: males:
			preschool.		the co-variant.	mothers; 173	recording	Three days of	0.91 - 0.98.	overweight 39.0(12.5),
					Fisher exact	fathers). 51.1% of	activity in	wear time was	Percent	not overweight
					tests and	parents did not	preschools	selected.	agreement for	47.6(12.7). Females:
					contingency	have college	(OSRAP).		five day	overweight 42.2(12.8),
					tables were	education and			activity	not overweight
					used in group	60% were African			categorization	41.6(12.5). Total
					differences.	American.			s was 75% -	counts/h: males:
									99%.	overweight 50.5(14.4),
										not overweight
										60.0(14.5). Females:
										overweight 42.2(12.8),
										not overweight
										41.6(12.5).
Hinkley et	Cross-	Australia	Investigate	Numerous	T-Tests.	1036 children age	Actigraph	Eight-day	Weekday and	Boys: total week 17.3% in
al. (2012)13	sectional		possible	correlates across	Generalized	3-5 years from 71	Uniaxial	accelerometer	weekend days	TPA, weekdays 17%
			correlates of pre-	the socio-	linear models	child care centres	Accelerometer	measurement	together	TPA, weekends 18.2%.
			schoolers	ecological model	(GLM) to test	and 65 preschools.	GTM1 model.	period. In this	equalled a	Girls: total week 15.4%
			physical activity	(individual,	for correlates.	Sample with data	15 sec epoch.	period	reliability of	TPA, weekdays 15.3%,
			across all levels	behavioural,		completed were	-	questionnaire and	(ICC) 0.7.	weekend days 15.8%.
			of the socio-	psychological,		1004 children and		measurements	Weekdays =	Wear time was at least 7
			ecological model,	social, physical		parent(s). Final		were taken.	0.7. Weekend	hours. Total week was
			for boys and girls	environment).		accelerometer			days = 0.61.	any 3 weekdays and 1
			separately, and			sample once wear			Correlates	weekend days.

			differences for weekdays and weekends.			time was applied equalled 705 children.			survey was found to be reliable and is reported elsewhere.		
Hnatiuk et al. (2012) ¹⁴	Cross- sectional	Australia	Describe the current PA levels and patterns of toddlers and to determine compliance with existing Australian PA recommendation s.	Sex, parent educational differences.	Descriptive statistics, one- way ANOVA and chi- square.	Consent from 542 parents was obtained. Complete data set were obtained (including wear time) from 295 children (158 boys, 137 girls) mean age 19.1(SD 2.3) months.	Actigraph Uniaxial Accelerometer GTM1 model. 15 sec epoch.	As part of an intervention, no statement of how long the measurement period was.	Reliability for LPA was 0.7 and MVPA and CPM were 0.80.	Total: LPA 184.5(30.7), MVPA 47.9(16.2), 90.5% met guidelines. Boys: LPA 186.5(31.6), MVPA 49.6(16.3) 91.1% met guidelines. Girls: LPA 182.3(29.7), MVPA 46(16), 89.8% met guidelines.	
Jackson et al. (2003) ¹⁵	Prospective	Scotland	Quantitatively describe levels of habitual PA in 3 to 4 year old children, describe normal developmental changes in PA longitudinally and assess tracking of PA over 1 year.	Sex, weekday vs. weekend, BMI, age, and SES.	ANOVA, student t tests and correlations.	112 subjects originally. Final sample of 104 (52 boys 52 girls) for cross-sectional sample age (boys mean age 3.8 years SD 0.4; girls 3.7 SD 0.4). 60 children (30 boys, 30 girls) were followed up after 1 year.	CSA WAM- 7164 accelerometer.	Two weeks.	Cited previously reported.	Boys 777(207) CPM; girls 651(172) CPM.	Prospectiv e
Kimbro et al. (2011) ¹⁶	Cross- sectional	USA	Assess whether activity patterns are associated with weight status and are children's residential contexts associated with activity patterns.	Numerous correlates across the socio- ecological model (individual, behavioural, psychological, social, physical environment).	OLS regression and binomial regression models.	Sample derived from a birth cohort sample. 1975 children with no missing home survey data were included in the analysis. Child mean age 63.5 months (5.3 years).	Self-report (proxy report).	One home visit.	Not reported.	Weekday hours of outdoor play = 2.05(SD 1.89). Days per week mother takes child outside to play = 3.78 (SD 2.18).	

Sigmund et al. (2007) ¹⁷	Cross- sectional	Czech Republic	Examine the age and sex associated differences in PA using energy expenditure in preschool children, teenagers and young adults. To also compare the activity energy expenditure to PA recommendation s.	Weekday vs. weekend, sex, and attending kindergarten or nursery.	MANOVA's and correlations.	122 children from 11 kindergartens were recruited. 104 (51 boys) had full complete data. Age 5-7. Data that was previously collected from a further 1961 subjects' age 12-24 years was used to make comparisons across age.	Uni-axial accelerometer to measure total and activity energy expenditure, along with parent/teacher report. Caltrac.	Seven-days.	Not reported.	Girls weekday activity energy expenditure = 12(kcalkg-1day-1), weekend = 12.3(kcalkg- 1day-1). Boys weekday activity energy expenditure = 13.4(kcalkg-1day-1), weekend = 14.2(kcalkg- 1day-1. Weekday leisure time activity expenditure vs. school activity expenditure (kcalkg- 1day-1) was 8.2 vs. 3.8. Weekend leisure time activity expenditure vs. school activity expenditure (kcalkg- 1day-1) was 9.5 vs. 3.9.
Smith et al. (2010) ¹⁸	Cross- sectional	Australia	To investigate how parental self-efficacy and perceived barriers are associated with children's PA and screen time and how these relationships differ according to children's age and house-hold socio-economic demographic characteristics.	Sex, age, parent's barriers, region of home, maternal education, and parental self- efficacy of influencing children to be active.	Bivariate analyses (chi- square), multivariate analysis (logistic regression models), Bonfronni adjustments were made for the number of comparisons.	16 preschools and 24 long day care centres were randomly selected. Small children centres with 20 or less children and those that cater for children with special needs were excluded. 764 preschool children, mean age 3.9 years (1.7- 5.6 range), 50.3% were boys.	Parental questionnaire - pre-schooler participating in organised PA, participating in non- organised PA. Meeting PA guidelines (3hours of TPA).	One meeting.	Cited elsewhere, Kappa agreement poor to moderate.	Not reported.

Hinkley et al. (2012) ¹⁹	cross- sectional	Australia	 Identify the percent of time a sample of Australian children spend being physically active Investigate how much time preschool children spend in screen based behaviours Investigate differences in physical activity and screen-based behaviours by sex and age Determine the prevalence of adherence to published recommendation s for physical activity and screen-based entertainment in preschool children. 	Age, sex.	Generalized linear modelling.	1004 children recruited from 16 child care centres and 16 randomly selected preschools. After wear time criteria the sample was reduced to 703 (388 boys, 315 girls). Mean age was 4.5 years (95%CL = 4.5-4.6).	Actigraph Uniaxial Accelerometer GTM1 model.	Eight day period with some having greater.	Validity reported elsewhere. Reliability for wear time (3weekdays, 1 weekend day) was 0.8.	CPM: total 708.3 (SD 182) ranges 318.3-1469.5. Boys = 730.2 (SD 181.2) range 361.0-1415.0. Girls 681.4 (SD 179.6). %LPA: Total 11.7 (SD 2.4) boys = 12.2 (SD 2.4). Girls 11.1 (2.4). %MPA: Total 3.4 (SD 1.9) boys = 3.7 (SD 2.0). Girls 3.0 (1.6). %VPA: Total 1.4 (SD 0.9) boys = 1.4 (SD 1.0). Girls 1.3 (0.9). %TPA: Total 16.4 (SD 4.2) boys = 17.3 (SD 4.1). Girls 15.4 (4.0).	
Gunter et al. (2012) ²⁰	Cross- sectional	USA	Determine the relationship between family child care homes characteristics and practices using objectively measured PA in 2-5 year olds.	Children's centres that provide 4 or more significant physical activity promoting polices/practices.	Mixed ANOVA's.	56 children's centres were recruited. 45 had completed data. 136 children from the 45 had valid data and took part. 73 boys, 63 girls.	Actigraph Uniaxial Accelerometer GTM1 model.	Wore accelerometers during time at children's centres.	Cited elsewhere.	A children's centres s = 32.3(SE 1.1min/h; Non PPA children's centres = 28.8(1.2).	

Blaes et al. (2011) ²¹	Cross- sectional	France	Analyse changes in habitual PA of boys and girls from preschool to junior school and assess differences between school days and school free days with high frequency accelerometer.	Sex and PA levels during preschool days vs. school days.	Descriptive and multiple ANOVA's.	362 children for the whole sample. For the preschool children section 94 pre-schoolers (44 boys, 50 girls) mean age 4.4 years.	Actigraph Uniaxial Accelerometer GTM1 model.	Seven days.	Cited elsewhere.	Reported for whole sample only. Preschool children (min per day) LPA = 762 (SD20); MPA 50 (SD 18); VPA 17 (SD 10); VPA+VHPA (very high PA) 28 (SD 17); MVHPA 78 (SD 20).	Boys were more active (p < 0.05) then girls across all intensities (LPA, MPA, MVPA, VPA), the sex difference has been reported as Total Physical for this study in the association table, and separately for LPA, and MVPA.
Cardon et al. (2008) ²²	Cross- sectional	Belgium	Determine which environmental factors contribute to PA levels during recess in preschool boys and girls.	Sex, recess variables: no. of children per m2; no. of supervising teachers; aiming equipment; playing equipment; recess duration, type ground surface; playground markings; vegetation; height	Univariate regression analyses. Girls and boys were stratified with single- predictor two- level (school- pupil) model was used. Z Scores were calculated in order to test	415 boys and 368 girls from 39 preschools were randomly selected. Boys mean age 5.2 years (SD 0.4); girls mean age 5.3 years (SD 0.4).	Pedometer- Yamax Digi- walker TYPE SW-200.	Each child wore the pedometer for a familiarization period 90-120 minutes before registration. Each child then wore the monitor (reset to zero) for the duration of recess.	Reported pedometer has 0.73 correlations with accelerometer data.	Boys 65 (36) steps per minute, girls 54 (28) steps per minute.	

differences; and for availability of toys. significance of variance.

Brown et al. (2009) ²³	Cross- sectional	USA	 Describe physical activity behaviours and accompanying social and environmental events to these behaviours using direct observation. Determine which contextual conditions where predictors of MVPA and none sedentary PA (Total PA) for children during outdoor play during play periods at preschool. 	Preschool outdoor context- balls and objects, open space, fixed equipment, wheel toys, socio problems; indicator of activities- children, adults, groups comparison- solitary, one-to- one with peer, group without adults, adult present.	Logistic regressions.	476 children observed outside, 50% boys, 54% African American, 38% European American, mean age 4.2 years (SD 0.7). 372 children observed inside, 51% boys, 52% African American, 40% European American.	Direct Observation. Observational system for recording physical activity in children- Preschool version.	Indoor children were observed for a mean of 327.5 minutes. Outdoor children were observed 34 min per child.	80% Inter- observer agreement. Validation and development detailed elsewhere.	Indoor PA levels were 94% sedentary based, with 1% being recorded as MVPA. Outdoor PA 56% sedentary, 27% light PA and 17% MVPA.
Collings et al. (2013) ²⁴	Cross- sectional	England	To examine independent associations between a range of accelerometer- derived PA intensities and sedentary time	Sex.	Comparison tests (chi- square, ANOVA, Wilcoxon) correlation and linear regression.	398 preschool children; 202 boys, 196 girls; mean age 4.10 years (SD 0.08).	Actiheart, only accelerometer data is used.	Seven consecutive days.	Reported elsewhere.	TPA (min/d) 423.6 ± 63.0; MPA (min/d) 58.8 ± 28.2; VPA (min/d) 23.6 ± 21.3; MVPA (min/d) 84.7 ± 46.4.

with body composition.

Dowda et al. (2009) ²⁵	Cross- sectional	USA	Examine polices and characteristics of preschools that may influence the time children spend in physical activity and sedentary behaviours.	Playground equipment, playground size, use of electronic media, physical activity promoting polices, number of field trips, number of community organisation visits, teacher PA, time outside, teacher education level, PA opportunities, teacher PA training, children per classroom, and class room size.	Mixed model ANOVA.	20 preschools, 11 commercial, 6 faith based, and 3 head start (government funded for low SES). 299 children, 50% male, 49% black, 42% white.	Accelerometer Uniaxial, Actigraph model 7164.	Two weeks.	Cited elsewhere.	Not reported.	Child care setting, MVPA is outcome variable.
Dwyer et al. (2011) ²⁶	Cross- sectional, validation study.	Australia	Outline the development and socio ecological framework of the Preschool Physical Activity Questionnaire (PrePAQ) and to report its validity and reliability.	Sex and age.	Comparison tests, Bland- Altman plots and correlations.	67 children for the validity aspect of the study. 52% boys; 3 year olds 27%, 4 year olds 33%, 5 year olds 24% and ethnicity = white 91%.	Three days parent recall questionnaire and uniaxial accelerometer.	Three days with 6 hours accelerometer, uniaxial. Actigraph MTI 7164.	Reported elsewhere.	Reilly cut points = SED (min/hr.) 46.3 (cl: 45.4 - 77.1); TPA (min/hr.) 13.7 (cl 12.9-14.6). Sirard cut points = SED (min/hr.) 48.9 (cl 48.0 - 49.6), LPA (min/hr.) 7.1 (cl 6.6 - 7.5), MVPA (min/hr.) 4.1 (CL 3.6 - 4.6), TPA (min/hr.) = 11.2 (cl 10.3 - 12.0).	LPA, MPA, VPA, MVPA.

Sallis et al. (1988) ²⁷	Cross- sectional	USA	Identify correlates of PA in very young children with an emphasis on family related variables.	Family CVD risk, parent VPA, father BMI, child BMI, mother BMI, and type A behaviour.	Multiple regression.	33 children, 39% male, 3.9 years (SD 0.7); 45% black 27% Hispanic, 3% white.	Direct Observation - Fargo activity time sampling survey (FATS).	Thirty minute unstructured free- play sessions on the preschool playground during 2 consecutive days.	Cited elsewhere.	58% in light activity (sedentary based), 31% in moderate activity, 11% vigorous activity.	Light activity, moderate activity and vigorous activity were outcome variables in models conducted. But due to light activity meaning sedentary behaviours and vigorous calculation s being "unreliable " only moderate results were conducted and hence only included in results table.
Deal (2005) ²⁸	sectional	UJA	characteristics of young children's physical activity patterns.	weekend, and time of day (morning, afternoon, evening).	repeated measures ANOVA.	girls, 19 boys) mean age 4.3 years (SD 0.7).	monitoring and parental log.	weekdays and 1 weekend day.	elsewhere, no r-value reported.	20.7% MVPA, afternoon 23.5% MVPA, evening 20.7% MVPA. Weekend: morning 23.2%, 23.8%, 15.5%	

Gubbels et al. (2012) ²⁹	Cross- sectional	Netherland s	Examine the association of several physical activity facilities in the physical childcare environment with physical activity levels of 2 - 3 year old children during childcare.	Play equipment inside and outside in a childcare environment. Policy assessments.	Cohen's kappa, t-test, backward regression analyses and step-wise multilevel linear model analyses with 3 levels.	175 children from 9 preschools, 89 (50.9% -boys), mean age 2.6 years.	Direct observation - Observational system for recording physical activity in children - preschool version (OSRAC-P).	Fifteen second observations followed by 30 seconds recording multiplied by 4 over 3 minutes multiplied by 2 for each child.	Validity cited elsewhere, Inter-rater reliability = 0.7.	5.5% of indoor PA = MVPA; 59.4% sedentary behaviour indoor. Outdoor = 21.3% MVPA, 31.2% sedentary.	Childcare setting.
Grigsby- Toussaint et al. (2011) ³⁰	Cross- sectional	USA	Examine whether living in neighbourhoods with high levels of greenness is associated with PA levels of pre- schoolers.	Neighbourhood greenness, sex, parental support (spending time playing with child), and parental education.	Linear regression.	33 day centres across five counties in central Illinois. 90% (30 centres) took part. Sample = 365 children age 2-5 years.	Parental proxy report for outdoor PA.	Parents asked question once.	Reported elsewhere.	Mean average 60 minutes of outdoor play.	Childcare setting.
Fernald et al. (2008) ³¹	Prospective	Mexico	Explore the associations between maternal depressive symptoms and physical activity of children aged 4 to 6 years.	Maternal depressive symptoms - depressed mood, loss of interest and/or pleasure in activities, fatigue, feelings of excessive guilt and/or worthlessness, sleep and appetite disturbances and social difficulties, child age, sex, mothers age, family SES, child TV viewing, maternal PA, child weight status, and	Comparison tests, logistic regressions.	Mothers and children were originally recruited as part of a RCT. A sub sample of the RCT (n = 242) was used with this study. The first measurements were taken at 15months of age and then again at age 4-6 years.	Parental proxy report - international physical activity questionnaire.	Questions answered at 15 months and then at 4-6 years of age of the child.	Cited elsewhere.	30% of mothers reported that children had low activity (less than 20 minutes) 7 days a week.	Prospectiv e

maternal weight status.

Baranowski et al. (1993) ³²	Prospective	USA	Investigates whether physical activity varies by physical environment and other demographics.	Age, ethnicity, sex, and weather.	Mixed ANOVA.	191 children, 90 boys, 101 girls, age 3-5 years, Anglo- American, African American, and Mexican American.	Direct observation - Children activity rating scale (CARS).	Four days per year for 3 consecutive days.	Validity cited elsewhere. Reliability: 97% interobserver agreement in PE classes and 84% in open field observations.	Low 2 on scale of 1 - 5.
Beets et al. (2008) ³³	Cross- sectional	USA	Examine effects of father-child involvement and neighbourhood with young children's PA.	Sex, weight status, motor skills, parental education, family support for sports, father and child time, parental perceived neighbourhood safety, ethnicity, TV viewing, mothers education, no siblings, poverty status, father work	Multi-level modelling.	10,694 children, boys = 5454, girls = 5240, age 5-6 years, white 67.1%, Hispanic 16.6%, African American 7.1%, Asian 4.5%.	Parental proxy questionnaire.	1998-1999 - national survey.	Cronbachs' reliability = 0.74.	Four questions with rating scale being 0 to 7. 0 lowest 7 highest. Q1 - Structured activity = boys 2.2 (SD 0.50), girls 2.2 9SD 0.50); Q2 Free activity boys 2.2 (SD 0.52), girls 2.2 (SD 0.53); Q3 Aerobic activity boys 2.1 (SD 0.51), girls 2.1 (SD 0.52); Vigorous activity boys 4.2 (SD 2.24), girls 3.7 (SD 2.24).

status, and mother work status.

Bellows et al. (2013) ³⁴	RCT - baseline	USA	To test the efficacy of the intervention.	Weekday vs. weekend day PA at baseline.	T-test.	201 children, age 4.4 years.	Pedometer.	Parents place pedometer on the child on 6 days (4 weekdays and 2 weekends).	Cited in reference section but no mention.	9,509 (SD 3,599) mean daily step count.	
Boldemann et al. (2006) ³⁵	Cross- sectional	Sweden	Study the impact of different preschool environments upon children's spontaneous physical activity and sun exposure.	Environment category, sex, and age.	T-test, correlations, linear mixed models.	11 preschools - 197 children, age 4-6 years.	Pedometer - Yamax digi- walker SW- 200.	Twelve days.	Cited elsewhere.	Step/min 21.5; girl's step/min range 8.9 - 30.0; boy's range 8.8-37.2.	Childcare setting.
Bower et al. (2008) ³⁶	Cross- sectional	USA	Determine the relationship between the social and physical activity environment in childcare centres.	Activity opportunities, port play environment, PA training and education, fixed play environment, and sedentary environment.	Correlations, ANOVA, ANCOVA, comparison texts, regression analyses.	20 children centres, 33% black, 59% white, 4% Hispanic, 80 children were enrolled across the 20 centres.	Direct observation - environment and policy assessment for childcare instrument (OSRAP).	Three day period.	Intra-class correlations between observers are 0.90; percent of agreement ranged from 75% to 99%.	15% of monitored period was MVPA; 55% classified as sedentary. Mean Activity level was 2.55 (0.22). Scale was 1 = stationary/motionless, 2 = stationary/movement of limbs, 3 = slow/easy movement, 4 = moderate movement, 5 = fast movement.	Childcare setting.

Brown et al. (2010) ³⁷	Prospective	Australia	Assess if children's lifestyle behaviours at 4-5 years or 6-7 years are associated with their weight status	TV viewing.	Four path models.	Two waves. Wave 1 children 4-5 years, Wave 2 children aged 6-7 years. The study was an obesity outcome paper, but did test the association between PA and TV viewing, 2560 children (4-5 years), boys 52.3%.	Parental Diary.	Two 24 hour dairies for randomly selected weekday and weekends.	Not reported.	Wave 1 children aged 4-5 years = 72 min (average), MVPA 2.1 hours/days.
Burdette et al. (2005) ³⁸	Cross- sectional	USA	Expand whether higher prevalence of obesity, spend less time playing outdoors and spend more time watching TV when living in neighbourhoods mothers perceived to be unsafe.	Weekday vs. weekend, and mothers perceived neighbourhood safety.	T-tests, ANOVA.	Birth cohort study (n = 3141), 20 large cities. Mean age 39 months, 53% boys, 35% lived in low poverty households, 50% non-Hispanic black, 25% non- Hispanic white, 25% Hispanic.	Parental recall of outdoor play - 1 question on weekdays, 2nd question on weekends.	Survey.	Cited elsewhere.	Outdoor play weekday = 156 (SD 120). Weekend = 26 (SD 149).
Burdette et al. (2004) ³⁹	Cross- sectional	USA	Compare direct measure of PA in preschool-aged childcare with 2 parental-report measures of children's outdoor play time.	Season, TV, and sex.	Correlations.	250 preschool children, 44 months, 87.7% white, 12.35 black, 57% boys.	Accelerometer Uniaxial and parental recall. Used accelerometer as more superior method. RT3 Triaxial.	Three days for every waking minute.	Cited elsewhere.	Total PA = 667 (SD 186); Boys 693 (SD 184), Girls 630 (SD 183).

Burgi et al. (2011) ⁴⁰	Prospective	Switzerlan d	Investigate the relationship of objectively measured PA with motor skills, aerobic fitness and %body fat in young children.	Sex, aerobic fitness, gross motor skills, and % body fat.	Mixed linear models.	217 children, 4-6 years (mean age 5.2 years (SD 0.6)), 48% boys.	Accelerometer uniaxial, GT1M Actigraph.	Three days of recording (2 weekdays, 1 weekend days) minimum 6 hours.	Reported r = 0.82 between VO2 max + Actigraph counts/epoch 6 hr. validity was highly correlated with 10hr validity r = 0.92 P < 0.001.	Not reported.
Bürgi et al. (2010) ⁴¹	Cross- sectional	Switzerlan d	Assess the differences in adiposity, objectively measured PA, sedentary behaviour and agility performance in preschool children according to different determinants.	Ethnicity, parental education, work status, and region of country.	Comparison tests, regression models.	40 preschools; (n = 542) 20 in German speaking part of Switzerland, and 20 in French part of Switzerland.	Accelerometer uniaxial, GT1M Actigraph.	Three days of recording (2 weekdays, 1 weekend days) minimum 6 hours. Mean wear time = 10.8 hour/day.	r = 0.82 for validity between accelerometer and V02max.	German speaking preschool = TPA 771 (SD 169); MVPA 400 (SD 100). French speaking preschool TPA = 684 (SD 151); MVPA = 361 (SD 101).
Buss et al. (1980) ⁴²	Cross- sectional	USA	 Examine the ordinal consistency of activity level across time using 2 different methods of measurement. Examine the relationship of these two measurement methods. 	Sex, IQ, and personality.	Correlations.	129 children (65 boys, 64 girls) 3-4 year olds.	Actometer modification of a winding watch.	Wore on wrist for two hours for 3 days.	r = 0.86 at 3 years and r = 0.62 at 4 years.	Not reported.
Cardon et al. (2008) ⁴³	cross- sectional	Belgium	Describe accelerometer- based physical activity levels in 4 and 5 year old children.	Sex, age, weekday vs. weekend, and different preschools.	Comparison tests, ANOVA.	Five random preschools, 76 children; boys 37, mean age 5.01 years (SD 0.6); girls 39, mean age 4.95 years (SD 0.5).	Accelerometer uniaxial, Actigraph model 7164.	Four days, 2 weekends and 2 weekdays, minimum wear time 6 hours.	Cited elsewhere.	TPA = 701 cpm (SD = 74), 120min TPA.
-----------------------------------------	---------------------	------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Caroli et al. (2011) ⁴⁴	Cross- sectional	Denmark, Italy, Poland	Assess preschool children's physical activity habits in three different European countries.	Three different countries, Denmark, Italy and Poland.	Comparison tests.	Denmark 325 - boys 171, girls 154 mean age 50.7 months (SD 10.8); Italy 471 - boys 261, girls 210 mean age 61.4 months (SD 10.4); Poland 298- boys 154, girls 144 mean age 57.8 months (SD 16.7); total sample was 1094 children.	Parent proxy report.	Parents asked a series of questions on one occasion.	Not reported.	Playing outside home during weekdays and weekend, yes or no. Weekday = Denmark children 22.7% yes, Italy children 35.7% yes, Poland children 35% yes. Weekend = Denmark children 11.8% yes, Italy children 22.1% yes, Poland children 7.9% yes.
Chuang et al. (2013) ⁴⁵	Cross- sectional	USA	Evaluate ethnic differences in the home physical activity and screen time environment of pre-schoolers enrolled in head start.	Ethnicity.	Mixed model linear and logistic regression.	706 pre-schoolers, 54% Hispanic, 46% African- American.	Parental proxy report - health home survey.	Questionnaire completed once.	Validity cited elsewhere, reliability 55.6% - 95.6%.	0-2 a week PA over 30min = 6.91%.
Lawrence et al. (1991) ⁴⁶	Cross- sectional	Gambia and Scotland	Determine whether Gambian children are relatively inactive compared to UK children in the UK and whether this is related to	Nationality/region, age, weight status, and illness.	Kruskal- wallis, mann- whitney U Test.	Gambia, 81 children (39 boys, 42 girls). Scotland, 21 boys and 32 girls. Measured children at 6month, 12 months and 18months.	Activity diary and direct observation.	One day for Gambian children. Field worker every 2.5 minutes in Gambia. No field worker to assess PA in the Scottish children, mother did this role.	Not reported.	Scotland children = 5 hour/day playing; Gambian children spent 1.5-2.5 hour/day playing.

their poorer nutritional status. Instead of 1 day, 5 days every measurement every 10 minutes by mothers.

Davies et al. (1995) ⁴⁷	Cross- sectional	England	Investigate the relationship between levels of physical activity and body fatness in a group of preschool children.	Body fat.	Correlation, regression.	77 children, boys mean age 3.09 years, girls mean age 3.08 years.	Doubly labelled water.	Single urine sample was collected before the administration isotope. Urine samples taken every day for 10 days.	Validity was cited.	Boys PAL = 1.44 (SD 0.31), Girls PAL = 1.40 (SD 0.27).
Cliff et al. (2009) ⁴⁸	Cross- sectional	Australia	Examine the cross-sectional relationship between process- measured fundamental movement skills and objectively measured habitual PA, and if the relationship differs by sex and FMS sub domain, fundamental movement skills.	Age, sex, BMI, object control scores, gross motor quotient. Stratified by sex.	Comparison tests, correlations and regression models.	138 children from 11 children's centres - final sample was 25 boys and 21 girls, mean age 4.3 years (SD 0.7).	Accelerometer uniaxial, Actigraph 7164 model.	Seven day monitoring, 3 days with min wear time of 6 hours.	Cited elsewhere.	MVPA = 23min for the whole sample.

Cox et al. (2012) ⁴⁹	Cross- sectional	Australia	Explore the relationships between preschool children's TV habits, physical activity and their BMI.	Energy intake whilst watching TV, servings of obsegenic foods, BMI, TV viewing weekday, TV viewing weekend, commercial viewing, and non- commercial viewing.	Correlation.	135 children, mean age 4.5 years (SD 0.84), 60% girls, 3.7% obese, 85.2% not overweight or obese.	Parental questionnaire – PrePAQ.	One of subjective measure.	Cited elsewhere.	Three day average - LPA (57.5 (SD 37.4), MVPA (104.1 (SD 60.4).	
Dowda et al. (2004) ⁵⁰	Cross- sectional	USA	Determine if physical activity levels of preschool children vary with differences in polices/practices and overall quality of preschools.	No. of field trips, teacher education, time outdoors, free time, type of preschool, class size, computer use, and preschool quality.	Mixed model ANOVA.	Nine preschools were randomly selected. Three types of preschool; private, church- related and head start (government funded). Three from each type were selected. 266 children were observed, 126 males, 140 females, 62.4%African- American, and 32.7% White.	Direct observation (OSRAP).	One hour - 2 to 3 days - 15 seconds observations.	ICC = 0.91 - 0.98.	%MVPA in childcare = 5- 8%, %MVPA Outside = 26-29%.	Childcare setting.
Eriksson et al. (2012) ⁵¹	Cross- sectional	Sweden	Study the development of body composition during early childhood between physical activity and body fat.	Total Body fat.	Comparison tests, correlations and linear regressions.	44 children, 23 boys and 21 girls mean age 1.5 years.	Doubly labelled water.	Two urine samples were collected and handed in by parents to a measurement session. Child given stable isotope and had seeping metabolic rate measured by	Not reported.	Physical Activity level SMR (total energy expenditure / sleeping metabolic rate) = 1.44 (SD 0.77) girls 1.35 (SD 0.16) boys, and 1.39(SD 0.17) all.	

								indirect		
España- Romero et al. (2013) ⁵²	Cross- sectional	USA	Examine the association between objectively measured sedentary behaviour and moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) with body mass index and waist circumference in preschool children.	Sex.	Comparison tests, linear regression (MVPA was used as an independent variable in regressing models).	357 children, 183 boys, mean age 4.5years (SD 0.4). 174 girls, mean age 4.6 years (SD 0.3), 44.8% African American, 37.7% white.	Accelerometer uniaxial, GT1M Actigraph, GT3 Actigraph.	Five days, 2 weekdays and 1 weekend day, at least 6 hours required.	Not reported.	Boys MVPA (min/h) = 8.2 (SD 2.2) ; Girls MVPA (min/h) = 7.3 (SD2.0)
Finn et al. (2002) ⁵³	Cross- sectional	USA	Identify factors associated with physical activity in young children.	Age, childcare centre, season, sex, BMI, preterm birth, participation in organised sports, parental BMI, and parental education.	Regression models.	214 children, 106 boys, mean age 3.95 years (SD 0.06). 108 girls, mean age 3.90 years (SD 0.06).	Accelerometer uniaxial, model AW16.	48 hour period.	Subsample of 40 was measured using direct observation CARS. Comparison between CARS and accelerometer was r = 0.74.	Girls TPA (CPM) = 26,000.3 (SD = 0.7), girls day time PA (9am-5pm) = 14,000.1 (SD 0.5), girls %VPA = 4.5 (SD 0.2). Boys TPA (CPM) = 28,000.5 (SD = 0.8), boys day time PA (9am-5pm) = 15,000.3 (SD 0.5), boys %VPA = 4.5 (SD 0.2).
Firrincieli et al. (2005) ⁵⁴	Cross- sectional	USA	Investigate the association between physical activity and wheezing among a population of inner city children enrolling in head start.	History of wheezing.	ANOVA.	54 children, mean age 3.7 years, 61% girls, 77.8% African-American, 5.5% white, 4 Hispanic (7.4%).	Actiwatch.	Six-7 days.	Not reported.	Wheezers = 607 Count (TPA), non-wheezers = 695 counts (TPA).

Fisher et al. (2005) ⁵⁵	Cross- sectional	Scotland	To test the relationship between objectively measured habitual PA and fundamental movement skills.	Sex and fundamental movement skills.	Correlations, comparison tests.	482 children randomly selected from a cohort of 545. 394 children were the final sample. Mean age 4.2 years (SD 0.5).	Accelerometer uniaxial, 7164 Actigraph.	Six days.	Validity cited, reliability not reported.	CPM (TPA) = 769 (SD 192); %LPA = 20.3% (SD 5.3); %MVPA = 3.4% (SD 2.2).
Gagne et al. (2013) ⁵⁶	Cross- sectional	Canada	Verify whether psychosocial variables of day- care workers influence pre- schoolers physical activity in day care centres and determine how these variables combine with other factors to explain children's physical activity.	Day care workers theory of planned behaviour variables (intention, perceived behaviour, descriptive norm and past behaviour), and sex.	Multi-level modelling.	242 children, 46 educators from 20 childcare centres. Median age is 4 (3- 5), age of day care workers = 35 (21- 54).	Accelerometer uniaxial, 7164 Actigraph.	Four days measured. Children needed 2 days with at least 2 hours of data each day.	Validity cited elsewhere, reliability = 2 days ICC = 0.92, 4 hours = 0.89.	53 min (SD 23.55) TPA during childcare.
Grontved et al. (2009) ⁵⁷	Cross- sectional	Denmark	Identify and distinguish independent associations between personal and demographic characteristics and physical activity levels in 3-6 year old children attending preschool.	Sex, age, individual preschool/childcar e, location, and PA promoting polices.	Mixed models, multiple linear regression models.	146 children, 66 boys, 80 girls. Age 3-6 year olds.	Accelerometer uniaxial, 7164 Actigraph.	Five consecutive days at preschool.	Validity cited, reliability not reported.	MVPA boys = 19.9% in child care, MVPA girls = 15.7% in child care. TPA in child care boys = 260.5 counts/15secs, girls 205 counts/15secs.

Gubbels et al. (2011)⁵ ⁸	Cross- sectional	Netherland s	Examine the influence of the social and physical child- care environment on physical activity intensity in 2-3 year olds.	Age, positive prompts by staff, positive prompts by peers, sex, and group size.	T-tests, multilevel linear models.	175 children 89 boys (50.9%), 75 two year olds (42.9%), 100 three year olds (57.15%).	Direct observation during child care (OSRAC- P).	15 second observations followed by 30 seconds to record. This was repeated 4 times over a period of 3 minutes for each child.	Not reported.	5.5% of indoor time was spent in MVPA and 21.3% of outdoor PA was spent in MVPA.
Heelan et al. (2006) ⁵⁹	Cross- sectional	USA	Provide additional information on the associations between physical activity and body composition among children aged 4-7 years old.	BMI, Body %, fat free mass.	T-tests, correlations.	100 children (52 girls, 48 boys) 87% white, mean age 5.8 years (SD 1.3).	Accelerometer uniaxial.	Seven days, 3 weekdays, 1 weekend day, 8 hours.	Citations but not mentioned.	TPA (CPM) = 820.6 (SD 219.1), MVPA = 273.8 (SD 59.1).
Iannotti et al. (2005) ⁶⁰	Prospective	USA	Determine if there is a relationship between mother's PA and child's PA.	Mother's PA.	Autoregressiv e models.	149 children, mean age 4.4 years (SD 0.5) 82 boys, 67 girls (total n = 149).	Direct observation.	60min observation period at home, 25 seconds observations and 35 seconds for recording.	Validity is cited, Inter- observer agreement for PA = average 95%.	Not clear.
Jago et al. (2005) ⁶¹	Prospective	USA	Examine whether variables affect PA is a triathic- cohort over a 3 year period.	Sex, TV viewing, ethnicity, parental encouragement.	ANOVA, paired t-tests.	149 children, 73 boys 76 girls, mean age 4 years (SD 0.6) 37% African-American, 37% white, 26.6% Hispanic.	Direct observation - CARS, heart rate monitoring.	Six-12 hour observations same time as heart rate monitoring.	Reliability of heart rate cited elsewhere. The validity of heart rate and validity and reliability of direct observation tool not mentioned.	Baseline MVPA = 7.6min/hour (SD 4.2min).

Janz et al. (2005) ⁶²	Prospective	USA	Examine the tracking of PA and sedentary behaviour in relation to adiposity during middle childhood.	Sex.	ANOVA, correlations.	Baseline = 378 children (176 boys, mean age 5.6 years (SD 0.5); 202 girls, mean age 5.7 years (SD 0.5).	Accelerometer uniaxial.	Four consecutive days including weekend days, at least 8 hours on 3 days.	Cited elsewhere.	Baseline: boys TPA (CPM) = 782 (SD 164), boys VPA = 37(SD18) min.day-1; boys MPA 267(43) min.day-1. Girls TPA (CPM) = 719 (SD 159), girls VPA = 29 (SD48) min.day-1; girls MPA 262(43) min.day-1.
Janz et al. (2004) ⁶³	Cross- sectional	USA	Investigate the association between physical activity and bone structural measure of proximal femur.	Sex.	T-tests, correlations.	218 boys, mean age 5.2 years (SD 0.4); 249 girls, mean age 5.3 years (SD 0.4); total group was n = 467. 96% White.	Accelerometer uniaxial, questionnaire.	Four consecutive days including 1 weekday, 8hours on 3 days.	Three day reliability r= 0.67 (CL = 0.59 - 0.74), validity is cited for accelerometer . Reliability for questionnaire was r = 0.70 (CL $0.56 -$ 0.80), validity cited elsewhere.	MPA; boys = 267 (SD 44) midway, girls 262 (SD 44) midway. VPA: boys 38 (SD 19) midway, girls 28 (SD 14) midway.
Kambas et al. (2012) ⁶⁴	Cross- sectional	Greece	Examine the relationship between motor proficiency and pedometer determined PA.	Gross motor skills and sex.	Correlations, ANOVA + post hoc tests.	232 children (114 girls. 118 boys) recruited from 30 randomly selected kindergartens in north Greece. Mean age 5.4 years (SD 0.28).	Pedometer, Omron walking Style Pro. HJ-720It- E2.	Wore pedometer for 7 consecutive days.	Cited elsewhere.	Aerobic walking time = 12.8 (SD 17.5). Step.day-1 = 7676 (1893), Aerobic steps days 1486 (1995).
Kelly et al. (2006) ⁶⁵	Cross- sectional	Scotland	Test the hypothesis that habitual PA is associated with SES in young Swedish children.	Age, sex, ethnicity, BMI, and SES.	ANOVA, ANCOVA, backward stepwise multivariate model.	339 children, mean age 4.2 years (SD 0.3), BMI 0.40 (SD 0.89).	Accelerometer uniaxial.	Six days, 6 hours of accelerometer over 6 days.	Cited elsewhere.	3% in MVPA (>3200CPM).

Klesges et al. (1990) ⁶⁶	Cross- sectional	USA	Examine demographic, environmental and parent -child correlates of physical activity.	Sex, BMI, familial interaction, time outdoors, parental OW, parental encouragement, and parental discouragement.	ANOVA, regression.	222 children, 3- 6years, 4.4 years (0.5) 46% upper- middle class, 35% overweight and 29% parents overweight.	Direct observation, SCAN CATS.	One hour late afternoon-early evening, 10second observation followed by 10 second recording.	Inter-rater reliability was 0.91 (0.83- 1.00). Validity not cited.	Not reported.	
Kuepper- Nybelen et al. (2005) ⁶⁷	Cross- sectional	Germany	Investigate the prevalence of overweight according to nationality and establish determinants responsible.	Ethnicity.	Multiple logistic regressions, odds ratios.	1974 children, 990 boys and 989 girls aged 5-6 years.	Parent proxy report - no. of times in organised sport/played outside.	Recall for 1 week.	Not reported.	58% of German children do sports or play outside at least once a week or less.	
LaRowe et al. (2010) ⁶⁸	Cross- sectional	USA	Report the baseline dietary intake and physical activity in preschool aged children in rural American Indian communities.	BMI.	Comparison tests.	135 children, 52.6% boys, 47.45% girls, 94% American Indian.	Accelerometer – Tri-axial, Actical.	Waking hours for 5 days, mean wear time = 4.0 (SD 1.9 days).	Not reported.	Two-3 year olds MVPA = 14.5 (SD 1.6 minutes) min/day. Four-5 years olds MVPA = 19.2 (SD 2.0) min/day.	LPA results for 2-3 years and 4-5 years were in the same direction so results were included as one sample.
Loprinzi et al. (2013) ⁶⁹	Cross- sectional	USA	Examine the influence of various hypothesized parental influence variables on children's physical activity.	Parental practices.	Correlations, multivariate regression.	176 children, mean age 4 years (SD 1.3). 46.8% boys, 89.1% white.	Online survey - parental proxy report. Physical activity and exercise questionnaire for children, PAEC-Q.	Recall.	Reliability is not reported. Validity for weekday PA = r = 0.35; weekend PA = r=0.33 both P<0.05.	PA hours per week was reported as 8.2 (SD 2.6) hours a week.	If association of weekday and weekend were the same, one result was documente d.

Loprinzi et al. (2013) ⁷⁰	Cross- sectional	USA	Examine adherence to current active play and electronic media use guidelines in a sample of US preschool-age children and to examine differences across sex and parental education.	Sex, parental education level, and media use.	ANOVA, chi- square test, logistic regression - odds ratio.	1674 children, 44.5% boys. Mean age 4.0 years (SD 0.1).	Proxy reported, PAEC-Q.	Recall.	Reliability is not reported. Validity for weekday PA = r = 0.35; weekend PA = r=0.33 both P<0.05.	Active play weekday (hours/day) = 3 (SD 0.2), boys 3.0 (SD 0.2), girls 3.1 (SD 0.3). Active weekend (hour/day) 3.7 (SD 0.2), boys 3.6 (SD 0.3), girls = 3.7 (SD 0.2).	
Loprinzi et al. (2010) ⁷¹	Cross- sectional	Australia	Examine the hypothesis that parents with favourable orientations towards PA will provide level of support for PA which in turn results in greater participation in PA.	Parental support, parental perception of competence of child's ability, parent activity, age, and sex.	Observed variable path analysis.	156 children and parents, 51.9% boys, mean age 3.7 years (SD 0.8), BMI = 16.8 (SD 2.2) 30.8% overweight/obesit y.	Parental proxy report for home PA, accelerometer uniaxial for child care PA.	2.4 (SD 0.7) days of wear time and 5.5 (SD 0.5) average hours of wear time.	Validity cited, reliability not reported.	Home PA questionnaire (scale 1-7): boys 3.0 (2-5), girls 2.9 (2-3.6). Child care objective MVPA: boys 9.3 (SD 3.9) mins/day, girls 9.0 (SD 3.2).	
Louie et al. (2003) ⁷²	Cross- sectional	Hong Kong	Investigate trends of physical activity among children aged 3, 4, and 5 using pedometry in preschools.	Age, sex, play space, BMI, and urban housing.	Descriptive, correlations comparison tests, ANOVA.	148 children (86 boys-62 girls), mean age 4.2 years (SD 0.9) from 3 different preschools, rural, Newtown, established town.	Pedometer and CARS.	PA is measured within a 25 minute physical activity class.	Subsample wore pedometers on both left and right hip, no significant difference was found. CARS inter- observer agreement was 96%.	Boys 1470 (SD 638) steps, girls 11147(SD 544) steps.	Child care setting.

Marino et al. (2012) ⁷³	Cross- sectional	USA	Determine the amount of time low income US preschool aged children spend playing outdoors at home and at school.	Ethnicity, yard near home, region of preschool, playground, mothers education, sex, age, single parent, weight status, full day childcare, half day child care, and region of country.	Logistic regression, linear regression, comparison tests.	National representative survey - 2529, mean age 4.4 years (4.3 - 4.5) 51.1% boys, 22% White, 35.7% Hispanic, 33.1% Black.	Proxy report - parent interview for playing outside at home, teacher interview playing outside in childcare.	Both parents and teachers interviewed.	Not reported.	37.5% 2h< playing outside at home, 40.6% 1.2h < playing outside at home. Teacher reported that children spent 36.3 (33.5-39.1) min/day.	Home and child care setting separate.
McKee et al. (2005) ⁷⁴	Cross- sectional	Northern Ireland	Validate a pedometer using direct observation and investigate activity levels in young children.	Sex.	Comparison tests, linear regression, and multilevel modelling.	30 children (13 boys, 17 girls).	Pedometer (Digiwalker) and CARS.	One hour within childcare/prescho ol (61.4 min).	Reliability- each child was recorded and analysis of CARS took place. The agreement between observers was 83%. Validity was cited.	CARS score was 1.7 (SD 0.59), boys 66.8(SD 64.0) steps, girls 47.4 (SD 61.3) steps.	Child care setting.
McKee et al. (2012) ⁷⁵	Cross- sectional	Northern Ireland	Examine the influence of season and age on objectively measured PA.	Season, father's daily play, access to safe place to play, weekday vs. weekend, and sex.	ANOVA, t- tests, correlation.	85 children (52 boys) 3-4 years of age.	Pedometer, digiwalker DW-200.	Six days (4 weekdays and 2 weekend days) 9 hours of measurement on 3 weekdays and 1 weekend day.	Not reported.	Winter boys = 9790 steps, girls 8656 steps. Spring boys = 11,417 steps, girls 11,064 steps.	
Metallinos- Katsaras et al. (2007) ⁷⁶	Cross- sectional	USA	Determine the association between PA and BMI among diverse low- income pre- schoolers.	Sex and BMI.	Linear model regression, logistic regression, odds ratio.	56 children, 30 girls 26 boys. 30.4% African- American, 32.2% Hispanic, 21% White, 23.2% BMI 95th< percentile.	Accelerometer	Seven consecutive days, 4.5 days, Average wear time was 6.6 days.	Validity cited, reliability not reported.	TPA boys = 685.5 (SD 62.8) min/daily, TPA girls 682.2 (SD 81) min/daily, VPA boys = 29.5 (SD 15.1) min/daily, VPA girls = 20.1 (SD 11.3).	

Mickle et al. (2011) ⁷⁷	Cross- sectional	Australia	Determine whether plantar pressure distributions generated by preschool children were correlated with objectively measured time spent in PA and sedentary behaviour.	Sex and peak plantar pressure.	Comparison tests, correlations.	33 preschool children mean age 4.3 years (SD 0.6), 17 boys.	Accelerometer Actigraph 7164 uniaxial.	Seven days, 6 hours on at least 3 days.	Validity cited, reliability not reported.	TPA (CPM): boys 911 (SD 254), girls 809 (SD 133); %LPA: boys 13.1 (SD 4.2), girls 11.8 (SD 3.5); %MVPA: boys 6.0 (SD 4.5), girls 3.9 (SD 2.5).
Montgomer y et al. (2004) ⁷⁸	Cross- sectional	Scotland	Assess relations between total energy expenditure and physical activity level measured using doubly labelled water during engagement in different intensities of PA measured by accelerometer.	Sex, age, and sedentary behaviour.	Correlations, multiple regression.	104 children, 52 boys, 52 girls, 4-5 years, 36 in preschool, 68 in school.	Accelerometer (CSA uniaxial) and doubly labelled water.	Waking hours, 3 days for preschool, 7-10 days for primary. Median 30.3 hours measured in preschool children, 78.3 hours in school children.	Reliability cited, validity not reported.	TPA (CPM): boys 848 (398-1328); girls 719 (332- 1154); %MVPA: boys = 4 %(1%-14%); girls 3% (0- 8%).
Moore et al. (1991) ⁷⁹	Cross- sectional	USA	Determine the relationship between activity levels of parents and children.	Parental PA.	Contingency table, odds ratio.	100 children, 63 boys, 37 girls, 4-7 years.	Accelerometer uniaxial for both children's and parent's PA.	Ten hours/day for children 8.6 hours for 1 day. 8.3 hours for mothers and 7.7 hours for fathers.	Validity = r = 0.35 and reliability is cited.	Not reported.
Niederer et al. (2012) ⁸⁰	Cross- sectional	Switzerlan d	Investigate whether BMI- group related differences in physical activity fitness and PA were present in	Age, sex, and BMI.	ANCOVA.	613 children, mean age 5.2 years (SD 0.06), 49.8% girls and 20.1% overweight.	Accelerometer uniaxial, GT1M Actigraph.	Two weekdays and 1 weekend day. Mean wear time was 10.9 hours/day.	Correlation between 6 hours wear time and 10 hours wear time was r=0.92	TPA (CPM) = Age 4 years, normal weight 712 (SD 139); overweight 728 (SD 153). Age 5 years, normal weight 7402 (SD 181); overweight 682 (SD 130). Age 6 years, normal

4-6 year old children.

O'Dwyer et al. (2012) ⁸¹	Intervention study- baseline	England	Investigate the effect of a family focused intervention on preschool children's physical activity.	Sex.	Correlations, step wise backward regression, multi-level modelling.	58 families from 24 sure-start children centres. Baseline – mean age 3.8 years (SD 0.6), 51.9% male.	Accelerometer uniaxial, GT1M Actigraph.	Three days including 1 weekend day, 521 min weekday, 483 min weekend.	Validity cited, reliability not reported.	TPA weekday = 113.2 (SD 24.9), TPA weekend = 101.6 (SD 30.1).	
O'Dwyer et al. (2011) ⁸²	Cross- sectional	England	Compare activity levels of overweight and non-overweight preschool children.	Weight status.	T-tests.	50 children, mean age 4.4years (SD 0.5), 54% Boys.	Accelerometer Uniaxial, GT1M Actigraph.	Seven days worn, wear time = 3 days (2 weekdays, 1 weekend day).	Validity cited, reliability not reported.	MVPA weekday: OW boys 38.6 (SD 18.1); non- OW boys 45.2 (SD 20.3); OW girls 38.0 (SD 10.5); non-OW girls 43.3 (SD 17.0). MVPA weekend: OW boys 34.0 (SD 11.9); non-OW boys 58.0 (SD 10.4); OW girls 28.9 (SD 9.5); non-OW girls 42.2 (SD 26.4).	Weekday and weekend results were combined if in the same direction (MPA, VPA = MVPA).
Oliver et al. (2010) ⁸³	Cross- sectional	New Zealand	Examine the relationship between accelerometer derived PA in pre-schoolers and their parents.	Age, parent PA, BMI, waist circumference, attend an outdoor play ground, maternal BMI, maternal waist circumference, paternal BMI, paternal waist circumference, TV restrictions, encouragement, and being	Regression.	78 children 4-5 year olds, 62 mothers, 20 fathers. 23% overweight, New Zealand European 81%, Maori 6%, Chinese 4%.	Accelerometer Uniaxial, Actical.	6.5-7 days.	Validity cited, reliability not reported.	PA rates - Children 5.70 (1.27 - 17.64); Mothers - 3.19 (0.63 - 22.19); Fathers 3.00 (0.35 - 22.4).	,

physically active with child.

Pate et al. (2013) ⁸⁴	Cross- sectional	USA	Determine PA levels of preschool children following the transition from indoor to outdoor settings.	Sex, BMI, and outdoor play.	Linear regression models, growth analysis.	102 children, mean age 4.2 years (SD0.7), BMI 17.5 (SD4.4), 58.8% African American, 37.3% European, 36.6% BMI < 85th% percentile.	Direct observation - outdoor setting, (OSCRAC-P).	30 minute observation session with each child observed for 10-12 sessions across 10 days.	Validity cited, reliability = 0.82.	Outdoor mean activity = girls = 2.5 (SD 0.5), boys 2.7 (SD 0.5), scale from 1 to 7, 1 sedentary and 7 most active.	
Pate et al. (2008) ⁸⁵	Cross- sectional	USA	Describe physical activity levels of children attending preschools and describe demographic correlates of physical activity in pre-schoolers.	Sex, BMI, ethnicity, age, preschool type.	ANOVA, regression.	438 children, 59% African American, 50% boys, 4.2 (SD = 0.7) years, 41% 3 years old, 59% 4-5 years old.	Direct observation.	Five second observations - 25 seconds record. 30 minute sessions, each child measured 10 - 12 times.	Reliability assessed during 12% of the total observations Inter-observer = Kappa = 0.82 (0-80-0- 95).	MVPA = 3.4% (SD 1.9); TPA = 13.9% (SD 6.3).	Child care setting.
Pate et al. (2004) ⁸⁶	Cross- sectional	USA	Describe the physical activity levels of preschool children, identify demographic variables and determine variation among preschools.	Sex, preschool attended, ethnicity, age, parent education, and sex.	ANOVA, linear regression, 2- step regression.	247 children, 115 boys, 132 girls, 3-5 years, 65% black, BMI = 16.1 (SD 1.8).	Accelerometer uniaxial, 7164 Actigraph.	4.4 hour/day for 6.6 days.	Validity cited, reliability not reported.	MVPA = 7.7 (SD 3.11) min/hr.; VPA 1.9 (SD 1.1) min/hr.	Child care setting.

Penpraze et al. (2006) ⁸⁷	Cross- sectional	Scotland	Investigate the number of days and hours of monitoring required to obtain represented measures of PA of younger children.	Sex, weekday vs. weekend.	ANOVA.	76 children (40 boys, 36 girls) sub sample of a larger study, mean age 5.6 years (SD 0.4).	Accelerometer uniaxial, Actigraph.	Seven days.	Validity cited, reliability not reported.	TPA (CPM) boys = 870 (SD 187), girls 771 (SD 161).	SPARKLE STUDY.
Pfeiffer et al. (2009) ⁸⁸	Cross- sectional	USA	Determine correlates of physical activity in a large diverse sample of preschool children using accelerometer as a measure of PA.	Ethnicity, miles to park, adults VPA, BMI z score, parent's perceived child athleticism competence, physical activity equipment at home, family support, park safety, attend a park, and family support.	T-tests, ANOVA's, linear mixed models (regression).	331 children, 51.4% African- American - 40.2% white, mean age 4.3 years (SD 0.6).	Accelerometer uniaxial.	Eight-10 days.	Validity cited as a measure.	MVPA = 7.6 (SD 2.1), TPA = 27.2 (SD 3.9).	
Poest et al. (1989) ⁸⁹	Cross- sectional	USA	Describe preschool physical activity.	Weather, sex, preschool, parents PA exercise, and teacher education.	Frequency distributions, Pearson's correlation coefficient, T- tests.	514 children, 269 boys, 245 girls. Nursery children = 279, childcare children = 235.	Parent and teacher proxy report.	Questions covering 1 week.	Not reported.	25.4 hours a week being active.	
Raustorp et al. (2012) ⁹⁰	Cross- sectional	USA & Sweden	Compare pre- schoolers PA in Sweden and US settings to objectively examine the differences in preschool boys and girls indoor and outdoor PA regarding	Outdoor vs. indoor, and nationality.	T-tests, Mann Whitney U tests.	50 children, 2 preschools from USA and 2 preschools from Sweden. Mean age 4.3 years (SD 5.8).	Accelerometer uniaxial, GT1M Actigraph.	Five days of activity. If 1 day was missing then the mean daily average was used.	Both cited elsewhere.	Total: TPA (CPM) outdoor = 1098; indoor = 493. USA preschools TPA (CPM): outdoor = 1114, indoor = 406; Sweden Schools TPA (CPM): outdoors = 1081; indoors = 586.	Child care setting.

different intensity levels and sedentary behaviour.

Saakslahti et al. (1999) ⁹¹	Cross- sectional	Finland	Examine physical activity over 48 hours on one weekend.	Sex and movement skills.	Correlations, t-tests, Wilcoxon 2- sample test, multiple regression.	105 children, 55 boys, 50 girls, age 3-4 years, mean age 3.75 years (SD 0.6).	Parental observations, PA diary.	48 hours over one weekend from midnight Friday to midnight Sunday.	Previously reported.	Two hours 44 minutes (SD 2 hours 34 minutes).	
Schary et al. (2012) ⁹²	Cross- sectional	USA	Explore the link between parent style, support and preschool children's active play behaviour.	Parental support, sex, age, and parenting style.	T-test, ANOVA, multiple linear regression.	195 children, mean age 4.0 years (SD 1.9) 46.3% boys.	Parental proxy report: PAEC-Q.	Ask parents to report no. of hour's child spends in active play (running, jumping and climbing) during a normal weekday and weekend day.	Validity cited elsewhere, weekday = r 0.35; weekend = r0.33.	8.2 hours per week.	
Shen et al. (2012) ⁹³	Cross- sectional	USA	Investigate the PA behaviour of urban, African American children while they attend a government funded child care program (Head Start).	Sex, age, preschool, morning childcare sessions, and preschool.	ANOVA.	158 children, 80 boys, 78 girls, 3 years = 58 children, 4 years = 100 children.	Accelerometer , tri-axial accelerometer (RT-3).	2.3 hours on 3.9 days.	Both cited elsewhere. Intra-class correlation = 0.90.	3.09 min/hr. LPA; 0.89 min/hr. MVPA.	Childcare setting.

Sugiyama et al. (2012) ⁹⁴)	Cross- sectional	Australia	 Examine organised attributes of children centres associated with pre-schoolers physical activity and sedentary behaviour while in childcare 2) Examine what environmental attributes of outdoor play areas are associated with outdoor physical activity and sedentary behaviour. 	Child-staff ratio, staff training, fixed play equipment, natural outdoor surface, size of play area, outside vegetation, shadow and gradient of outdoor space.	Multi-level linear regression analysis.	89 children, mean age 4.1 years (SD 0.6), 46% girls.	Accelerometer uniaxial, GT1M Actigraph.	397.5 min/day (SD 81.1) on at least 3 days.	Not reported.	MVPA in childcare = 23.3 min/day (SD 12.6); MVPA outside in childcare = 13.5 min/day (SD 10).	Childcare setting.
Sundberg et al. (2012) ⁹⁵	Cross- sectional	Sweden	Examine if children younger than 7 years with type 1 diabetes are less active than healthy children.	Season, sex, age, type 1 diabetes, and BMI.	ANOVA, mixed linear models.	Diabetes group: 12 boys, mean age 4.3 years (SD 1.6), 12 girls, mean age 4.7 years (SD 1.9); non diabetic group: 12 boys, mean age 4.9 years (SD 1.4), 14 girls, mean age 4.4 years (SD 1.8).	Actiheart - accelerometer s data only.	Two periods across the year. > 120 min (>84%) per 24 hour period. Mean 12.3 days per child.	Validity cited; reliability not cited.	Reported in figures and difficult to replicate.	
Tanaka et al. (2012)%	Cross- sectional	Japan	Examine the potential relationship between health- related and skill- related physical fitness habitual PA in preschool childcare.	Sex and motor skills.	ANCOVA, correlation.	136 children, mean age 5.5 years (SD 0.6), 65 girls, 71 boys.	Accelerometer uniaxial, Activtracer.	Six days, 2 hours+ on 2 weekdays and 1 weekend day.	Both cited elsewhere.	LPA = 160 (SD 30); MVPA = 95 (SD 29).	Childcare setting.

Taylor et al. (2009) ⁹⁷	Longitudina 1	New Zealand	1) Investigate patterns of activity and inactivity in a birth cohort of children followed from 3 to 5 years. 2) Investigate whether changes in inactivity occur overtime.	Parental PA, age, days of the week, weekday vs. weekend day, sex, season, no. of hours in childcare, birth order, no of siblings, and weight status.	Intra class correlation, coefficient models.	244 children (44% female), age 3-5 years.	Accelerometer (Actical) and parental proxy questionnaire.	266-252 minutes/day.	Validity cited, reliability 3y 0.80(4.9days); 4 y 0.79 (51. days); 5y 0.84 (6.1 days).	Reported in figures.	
Temple et al. (2009) ⁹⁸	Cross- sectional	Canada	 Examine levels f physical	Sex.	ANOVA.	65 children (32 girls, 33 boys) 79% age 3 to 4 years.	Accelerometer uniaxial, Actical.	Seven hours (SD0.83).	Not reported.	TPA (CPM) = 104.6 (SD 31.6); MVPA = 1.76(SD0.90).	Childcare setting.
van Rossem et al. (2012) ⁹⁹	Cross- sectional	Holland	Study associations between social disadvantage and indicators of sedentary behaviour and physical activity at preschool.	Ethnicity, mothers education, single mother, financial difficulties, mother's job status, no. of days of child care, mother pre- pregnancy BMI, and breastfeeding.	Multiple logistic regression.	2337, boys 49.9%, girls 3.01 years, 67.4% Dutch, 9.5% other western, 23.1% other western.	Questionnaire - playing outside.	Survey parent recalls over 1 week.	Not reported.	Playing outside: < 36.4% 1hour/day, 1-2 hours/day 38.4%, 2-3hours/day 17%, > 3 hours/day 8.1%.	
Verbestel et al. (2011) ¹⁰⁰	Cross- sectional	Belgium	Explore within- day variability of objectively measured physical activity during weekday and weekends.	Age, recess, time of day, sex, and weekday vs. weekend.	ANOVA and post hoc.	213 children, mean age 4.98 years (SD 0.88).	Accelerometer uniaxial, GT1M Actigraph.	Six consecutive days.	Both cited.	586.42 CPM/day (SD 147.36).	

Worobey et al. (2005) ¹⁰¹	Cross- sectional	USA	Explore whether diet, physical activity or BMI differed across two-groups of preschool age children who attended different preschool programs.	Preschool type.	Not reported.	Forty; 4-7 years of age.	Accelerometer uniaxial, 7164 Actigraph.	Not reported.	Cited for ankle. Validity between ankle and waist = $r =$ 0.81.	Actometer-measured activity counts: 111,661 (61,235).
Zecevic et al. (2010) ¹⁰²	cross- sectional	Canada	Examine parents influence on their young children's physical activity.	Sex, age, TV/video, parental support, parental enjoyment, parental PA habit, parent age, married parents, income, education, linguistic group, and parents belief on the importance of physical activity.	Logistic regressions.	102 preschool- aged children, 54 boys, 48 girls. Mean age 3.75 years (SD 0.80). Parents age 34 years (SD 7.0).	Questionnaire - parents proxy report.	Interviewed once.	Not reported.	Not reported.
Barkley et al. (2014) ¹⁰³	Cross- sectional	USA	Assess the effect of the presence of a friend or being alone on the intensity of and amount of physical activity.	Sex and playing with a friend or being alone.	T-tests and mixed-effects models.	20 preschool children, 10 girls, mean age 5.3 years (SD 1.1).	Accelerometer Uniaxial, GT1M Actigraph.	Children participated in 2 separate 30 minute sessions. Children were able to sample each activity before the 30 minute sessions. One session children were asked to play alone (solo). The other session the children were	Not reported.	Boys CPM for solo play = 1892 (SD 1063); girls = 1522 (SD 972). boys CPM for friend play = 2478 (SD 1276), girls 2780 (SD 884).

asked to play with a friend(s).

Becker et al. (2014) ¹⁰⁴	Cross- sectional	USA	 Examine whether children's level of active play is related to self- regulatory skills. Examine the direct connection between level of active play and academic achievement. Examine whether self- regulation mediates relations between active play and academic achievement. 	Emergent literacy achievement, Self- regulation (Heads- toes-knees- shoulders task), Math achievement Sex and age.	T-tests and bivariate correlates.	51 children preschool children, 22 girls, 29 boys. Mean age 4.8 years.	Accelerometer Uniaxial, GT1M Actigraph.	Correlates were measured in phase 1.2 months later active play (MVPA) was measured during one outdoor play session.	Not reported.	MVPA (Active play): 8.17 minutes (SD 4.30).	
Brasholt et al. (2013) ¹⁰⁵	Cross- sectional	Denmark	Examine levels and patterns in preschool children's physical activity and the effects of gender and BMI on activity.	Weekday vs. weekend; season, BMI, age, and sex.	Regression, T- tests and chi- square comparison tests.	411 children recruited. 253 children provided enough accelerometer data. Mean age 5.2 years (SD 0.7). 126 were boys (50%).	Uni-axial accelerometer, Actical.	Monitor placed on the ankle for 4 weeks. The monitor was asked not to be taken off for the 4 weeks.	Intra-monitor reliability 0.78 (95% confidence interval: 0.68- 0.85).	Total group = 877±233 counts/min. Boys = 942±241 count/min; girls = 814±206 counts/min.	Analysis was adjusted for child being asthmatic or not.

Cespedes et al. (2013) ¹⁰⁶	Cross- sectional. RCT, but only used baseline for analysis.	USA	Examine differences in obesity-related behaviours between native born parents and immigrant born parents.	Place of birth of parent (immigrant vs. non- immigrant).	Bivariate comparison tests and regression models.	57 children with US born parents. 28(49.1%) girls, mean age 4.04 years. 64 children with parents who were not born in the US. 36 (56.3%) girls and mean age 3.92 years.	Parental questionnaire (Active play).	One question, baseline of an RCT.	Not reported.	Native born parent group took part in 1.4 (SD 0.3) hours of active play a day. Non native born parents group took part in 1.2 (SD 0.4) hours a day.	Active play was not defined as MVPA within the paper, so the Active play will be reported as total physical activity.
Driessen et al. (2013) ¹⁰⁷	Cross- sectional	Netherland s	Examine the link between physical activity and functional constipation.	Functional constipation.	Univariate and multivariate.	347 children, 182 boys (52%), mean age 3.34 years.	Uniaxial accelerometer. Actigraph.	One weekday, 1weekend.	Not reported.	73 ± 23 minutes spent in TPA.	Generation R study.
Edwards et al. (2013) ¹⁰⁸	Cross- sectional	USA	Determine the extent of PA tracking between ages 3 and 7.	Age.	MANCOVA, correlations.	234 children. 109 (85%) girls and 199 White.	Tri-axial accelerometer, RT3.	Three days the monitor was worn, 2 weekdays and 1 weekend day.	Not reported.	Age 3: TPA per day(CPM):443,000±114,0 00 MVPA per day: 85±38 LPA per day:380±45 Age 4: TPA per day(CPM):461,000±114,0 00 MVPA per day:90±37 LPA per day:382±42 Age 5: TPA per day(CPM):473,000 MVPA per day:94±37 LPA per day:381±42.	

Grzywacz et al. (2014) ¹⁰⁹	Cross- sectional	USA	Describe time spent being sedentary and MVPA by children in Latino farmworker families; and delineate sources of variation in sedentary MVPA.	Sex, mother employment status, farmworker status, attends government program, season, BMI, street traffic make it difficult to walk, dogs allowed to run loose, play equipment/toys, house has an enclosed play space, parental limits on screen time, child taken to play spaces and concern about child's level of activity.	Regression.	248 children from Latino farmworker households. 131 children are 2 year olds, 117 children are 3 year olds. 119 boys, 129 girls.	Uniaxial Accelerometer , Actical.	Eight hours of activity on 5 days with at least 1 on a weekend day.	Not reported.	Median average of 6 minutes of MVPA per day.	
Hesketh et al. (2014) ¹¹⁰	Cross- sectional	England- UK	 Investigate the association between objectively measured maternal and preschool children's PA. Determine how the association of mothers PA and preschooler's differ by demographic and temporal factors. 	Mothers PA.	Regression.	554 children and mothers (284 girls (51.3%), mean age 4.1 years (SD 0.1). Mean age of mothers 35.2 (SD 3.6).	Actiheart, only acclererometr y was used.	Actiheart was worn for 7 days, including sleep and bathing.	Not reported.	Average daily CPM = 130 (SD 45.8). Average daily LPA = 496.1 (SD 88.1). Average MVPA = 68.8 (SD 41.0).	Results include LPA and MVPA separately. Due to LPA and MVPA both showing the correlate direction, results were added together to create TPA.

											Southampt
											on
											Womens
											Survey.
Hesketh et	Cross-	England-	Determine how	Sex, BMI, fulltime	Regression.	593 children. 300	Actiheart,	Actiheart was	Not reported.	TPA daily = 568.5(SD	Southampt
al. (2014)111	sectional	UK	children's	child care, age		girls (51%), mean	only	worn for 7 days,		72.2).	on
			differing	when mother left		age 4.1 years (SD	acclererometr	including sleep		LPA daily = 498.9 (SD	Womens
			intensities of	education, time of		0.1), 17% non-	y was used.	and bathing.		65.8)	Survey.
			activity change	the week		white.				MVPA daily = 69.6 (30.7).	Correlates
			throughout the	(weekend vs.							are
			day and how	weekday), and							explored
			temporal and	season.							further by
			demographic								time of the
			factors influence								day.
			this activity.								Results are
											included
											totals The
											difference
											of
											correlates
											by the
											segmented
											day is
											discussed
											in the
											discussion.
Hnatiuk et	Prospective	Australia	Examine early	Correlates at	Regression.	206 children,	Uniaxial	Accelerometer	Not reported.	TPA(LVPA) = 233.5 (SD	Melbourne
al. (2013)112			childhood	4months		53.4% male; time	accelerometer,	was worn for		41.0).	InFANT
			predictors of	predicting 19		one mean age, 3.5	GT1M	seven days at the			program.
			toddler's	month TPA(Light-		months; time two	Actigraph.	third time point			
			physical activity	to-moderate-		mean age 8.8		(19 months).			
			across domains	vigorous PA).		months; time three		Monitor was			
			of maternal	Maternal PA		mean age 18.7		taken off for			
			beliets and	knowledge,		months.		bathing and			
			behaviours and	maternal PA				sleeping.			
			ine nome	views, waternal							
			environment.	solf officery							
				maternal futuro							
				maternarfuture							

expectations, maternal floor concerns, maternal TV knowledge, maternal TV use, maternal TV selfefficacy, maternal PA, maternal screen time, time spent playing games with adults, time spent being active with mum, time spent having tummy time, time spent on the floor, time spent with other babies of similar age, time spent with older toddlers or children, time spent outside, PA equipment in the home, and TVs in home. Correlates at 9months predicting 19 month TPA(Lightto-moderatevigorous PA). Maternal PA optimism, PA selfefficacy, maternal future expectations, maternal TV use, maternal TV self-

				efficacy, maternal PA, maternal screen time, time spent playing games with adults, time spent being active with mum, time spent having tummy time, time spent on the floor, time spent with other babies of similar age, time spent with older toddlers or children, time spent outside, PA equipment in the home, and TVs in home.							
livonen et al. (2013) ¹¹³	Cross- sectional	Finland	Examine the relationship between objectively measured PA and outcomes of balance, locomotor and manipulative skills in 4 year old preschool children.	Sex, BMI, motor skills total score, static balance, dynamic balance, standing broad jump, sliding and galloping, kicking ball at target, throwing and catching combination, and throwing at target.	Regressions and Mann- Whitney tests.	37 children, 17 boys, mean age 4.2 years (SD 0.3) and 20 girls, mean age 4.0 years (SD 0.3).	Tri-axial accelerometer, only the vertical plan was used, so uni-axial accelerometer, GT3X Actigraph.	Five consecutive days.	Not reported.	TPA(CPM) 680.20(SD 173.78), LPA 38.82(7.21) mins per day, MVPA 60.64(SD 19.09), TPA(LVPA) 99.46(SD 25.14).	

Laukkanen et al. (2014) ¹¹⁴	Cross- sectional	Finland	Examine the relationship between habitual PA and gross motor skills in primary and preschool children.	Sex and gross motor skills.	T-tests and Correlations.	Preschool children only for this review. 53 preschool children, 28 preschool girls (mean age 5.95 years, SD 0.47), 25 preschool boys (mean age 5.92 years, SD 0.45).	Tri-axial accelerometer, X6-1a.	No protocol was stated for the length of time participants were asked to wear the accelerometer. 5.47 days was the average length children wore monitors and only a minimum of 500 minutes on at least 3 days with two weekdays and 1 weekend days.	Not reported.	Girls LPA = 4.65 (SD 1.05) min per day. MPA = 2.74 (SD 0.82) min per day. VPA = 2.44 (SD 1.18) min per day. Boys LPA = 5.73 (SD 1.33) min per day. MPA = 3.41 (SD 1.33) min per day. VPA = 3.05 (SD 1.93) min per day.	More specific motor skills were tested, however an overall gross motor skill score was examined with PA variables, so only overall gross motor skills were included in rosslts
O'Connor et al. (2014) ¹¹⁵	Cross- sectional	USA	 Develop a multi- dimensional self- report measure of pre-schoolers PA parenting practices Examine the psychometric properties of the report among a Latino sample. 	Parental Practices; encouragement of PA, lack of money to participate in sports clubs, outdoor toys available, safety concerns, promote inactivity, promote screen time, and psychological control.	Correlations.	94 children for accelerometer sub sample. Mean age 4.4 years (SD 0.8), 47 boys (56%) and 47 girls (44%).	Tri-axial accelerometer, only the vertical plan was used, so uni-axial accelerometer. GT3X Actigraph.	The accelerometer was worn for 7 days.	Not reported.	LPA 247(SD 36.6) mins per day. MVPA 83.4(SD 38.3) mins per day, CPM (TPA) 611.8(SD230.5).	results.
O'Dwyer et al. (2013) ¹¹⁶	Intervention	England- UK	To investigate the effect of curricular active play intervention on PA levels.	Sex, hours in school, BMI, wear time, parents education, and ethnicity.	T-tests and multi-level models.	Total of 156 children in the Intervention group, age 4.7 (SD 0.5) years. Control group man age 4.5 years (SD 0.6).	Uniaxial accelerometer, GT1M Actigraph.	Worn for seven consecutive days.	Not reported.	Refer to study for full levels of PA. Levels are segregated by time points of the intervention and gender.	This study although an interventio n was included due to the non-effect

											of the interventio n, and the multi-level model analysis which explored correlates of the group as a whole and not segregated by interventio n group.
Olesen et al. (2013) ¹¹⁷	Cross- sectional	Denmark	Investigate multiple potential correlates expected to be associated with preschool children's MVPA during preschool attendance.	Sex, age, BMI, motor coordination, ethnicity, born preterm, supervised trips, pre-schooler educational leader PA enjoyment, pre-schooler educational leader PA education, pre-schooler educational leader meets PA guidelines(>30min MVPA daily), staff PA enjoyment, staff PA education, staff MVPA levels, staff sex, staff young assistants, staff initiate	ICC, Multi level mixed modelling.	Data for 426 children (49.5% boys) mean age 5.8 years (SD 0.3) from 42 pre- schools had eligible data for final analysis.	Uni-axial and tri-axial accelerometer s were used. Only the vertical plane function was applied, GT1M and GT3X Actigraph.	Four weeks in order to capture a minimum of 3 hours of wear time during 3 days of attending preschool. Only time during preschool was taken into account.	Not reported.	15% (SD 5.0) of preschool time was spent in MVPA for boys and 12.2% (SD 3.9) for girls.	The sum scores of natural environme nt, fixed toys and portable toys were only included in univariate results. For multi-level model results the specific variables are stated.

				activities, location of preschool building (N sides around the building is accessible to playground), open space, natural environment, portable toys, fixed toys, PA rooms, and access to computer							
Ostbye et al. (2013) ¹¹⁸	Intervention RCT, supplement cross- sectional study.	USA	Examine the role of the home physical activity and food environment on corresponding outcomes in young children and assess maternal education/work status as a moderator.	Age, sex, ethnicity, BMI, mother education, accessible to PA equipment, role modelling of PA, and parental policy promoting PA.	Bivariate correlations and Linear regression models.	208 children, 56% male, 55% under the age of 5, 85% White ethnicity.	Uniaxial Accelerometer , Actical.	Worn for 7 days and only taken off for bathing and sleeping. 6 hours on 3 days, 1 weekend day and 2 weekdays.	Not Reported.	17 minutes of MVPA per day.	Cross sectional sub study of a RCT.
Rice et al. (2014) ¹¹⁹	Cross- sectional	USA	 Objectively measure PA characteristics of a large and age diverse sample of children attending family day care. Examine the influence of age, sex, and weight status on PA participation. 	Age, BMI, and sex.	ANOVA's.	47 family day care homes. Final sample of 114 children, 52.6% boys. Mean age 3.7 years (SD 1.1).	Uniaxial Accelerometer , GT1M Actigraph.	Worn during day care. Inclusion criteria of 2 days with >75% of attendance time.	Acceleromete r intraclass reliability was 0.73-0.84.	MVPA = 5.8(SD 3.2) min/hour. TPA (LVPA) = 10.4(SD 4.4) min/hour.	

Tanaka et al. (2013) ¹²⁰	Cross- sectional	Japan	Examine the relationship between weight status and habitual physical activity in pre- school children.	Sex and weight status.	ANCOVA.	Final sample was 425 children (202 girls, 223 boys). Mean age 5.8 years (SD 0.6).	Triaxial Accelerometer , all three planes of movement were applied, Activ Tarcer.	Worn for 6 days, 4 weekdays and 2 weekend days.	Not reported.	For all groups; LPA = 157 min per day (SD 0.6). MVPA = 101 min (SD 30). Physical activity level (PAL) energy expenditure minus base metabolic rate, PAL = 1.54(SD 0.08).
Taylor et al. (2013) ¹²¹	Prospective	New Zealand	Examine the changes in PA both overall and by categories of intensity of activity that occur in boys and girls from preschool (age 3 years) to two years after school.	Sex, age, weekday vs. weekend, rainfall, and cold weather.	Regression.	242 children (105 girls, 137 boys) had accelerometer data available for 3 years to 7 years. Only 3 to 5.5 years were inputted in the review.	Uniaxial accelerometer, Actical.	Worn for 24 hours and sleep time was subtracted by researcher. 3 hours on 5 days was the wear time criteria.	Not reported.	Girls Counts per minute (TPA) 3y:773 (SD 264) 4y: 522 (SD 220) 5y: 506 (SD 212) 5.5y: 382 (SD 128). Boys Counts per minute (TPA) 3y:813 (SD 249) 4y: 532 (SD 200) 5y: 542 (SD 244) 5.5y: 444 (SD 165).
Vale et al. (2014) ¹²²	Cross- sectional	Portugal	1) Objectively assess preschool children's PA patterns and compliance with guidelines of TPA and MVPA 2) Examine differences to parent's education.	Sex, weekday vs. weekend, and parental education.	T-test, ANCOVA, regression	509 healthy preschool children, 48.5% girls, mean age 5.2 years (SD 0.8).	Uniaxial accelerometer, GT1M Actigraph.	The monitor was worn for 7 days with 10 hours on each day included for analysis.	Not reported.	TPA = 141 (SD 36.3) min per day, weekday. 124.3 (SD 40.3) min per day, weekend. MVPA = 101.6 (SD 27.9) min per day, weekday. 88.1 (SD 31.0) min per day, weekend.

Vale et al. (2013) ¹²³	Cross- sectional	Portugal	 Determine compliance with current PA guidelines in Portuguese preschool children Examine the association between meeting daily PA recommendation s and weight status. 	Sex and weight status.	T-test, chi square tests, regression.	607 children, 170 girls, 172 boys. Mean age 5.1 years (SD 0.8).	Uniaxial accelerometer, GT1M Actigraph.	The monitor was worn for 7 days with 10 hours on each day included for analysis.	Not reported.	TPA = 295 (SD 51) minutes per week. MVPA 96 (SD26) minutes per week.	
van Sluijs et al. (2013) ¹²⁴	Cross sectional	UK – England	Investigate associations between a range of personal, social and environmental factors and objectively measured LPA and MVPA in four year old children.	Personal Level: Sex, BMI z scores, enjoyment of PA, restless, and well- behaved Social/cultural level: Maternal age, maternal BMI z score, age of mother, finished education, home ownership, young siblings, older siblings, maternal PA, maternal screen use, short transportation mode, parental support (rules and restrictions) TV at meal times, bedtime, snack at TV, PA-related indoor rules, play in garden, restrict	Regression models.	487 were included in the final sample. Mean age 4.1 years (SD 0.1), 47% male.	Actiheart, only acclererometr y was used.	Actiheart was worn for 7 days, including sleep and bathing. Data measured during 6am to 10pm were included for analysis.	Not reported.	LPA = 502.6 (SD 63.8) min per day. MVPA = 70.3 (SD 30.9) mins per day.	Southampt on Women's Survey.

				computer use, restrict TV watching, restrict playing outside, and general barriers Environmental level: Environmental barriers, concern about road safety, park availability, other children to play with in the neighbourhood, and season.							
Vanderloo et al. (2013) ¹²⁵	Cross- sectional	Canada	Examine the differences in peschoolers objectively measured PA levels accumulated indoors and outdoors during childcare hours.	Outdoor vs. indoor play.	Wilcoxon signed-ranked tests.	31 preschoolers (17 boys, 14 girls) mean age 4.10 years (0.85).	Uniaxial Accelerometer , Actical.	One full day during childcare.	Not reported.	Mean wear time was 451.77 (SD 81.12). Average indoor MVPA was 0.54 (SD 0.59) min per hours, and TPA was 14.42 (SD 6.78). Average outdoor MVPA was 5.03 (SD 4.92) min per hours, and TPA was 31.68 (SD 10.83).	
Wijtzes et al. (2013) ¹²⁶	Cross- sectional	Netherland s	Describe and identify correlates of objectively measured physical activity and sedentary behaviour in 2 year old toddlers.	Sex, age, preterm birth, birth weight, infant temperament, gross motor development delay, BMI z score, TV time weekdays, TV weekend days, age of mother, BMI of mother, breastfeeding,	Linear regression models.	347 children, 182 boys (52.4%), 165 girls (47.6%), mean age 2.09 years.	Uniaxial Accelerometer , Actigraph AM-7164.	Worn for at least 1 weekday and 1 weekend day. 400 minutes minimum wear time.	Not Reported.	CPM = 41.8 (11.4) MVPA% = 0.5% (0.2).	Generation R study.

				marital status, number of siblings, smoking in households, day care attendance, educational level of mother, and weekend vs. weekdays.							
Jimenez- Pavon et al. (2013) ¹²⁷	Cross- sectional	Multi- European countries (Italy, Estonia, Cyprus, Belgium, Sweden, Germany, Hungary, Spain)	Evaluate the associations between objectively- measured PA intensities and clustered CVD risk factors in a large sample of European children aged 2 to 9 years, and to provide evidence for the development of gender-specific recommendation s of PA for this young population.	Sex.	T-test.	994 (2 to 6 year old children). 524 boys, 470 girls. Mean age 4.4 (SD 0.08) years.	Uniaxial Accelerometer , GT1M Actigraph.	Monitor was worn during waking hours for 4-5days. 6 hours on 3 days (2 weekdays and 1 weekend day) was the minimum wear time to be included in analysis.	Wear time reliability was cited as 80%.	CPM = 598 (174) LPA = 395 (SD 65) MVPA = 36 (SD 20).	Health outcome paper (CVD risk) but sex differences were assessed.
Tandon et al. (2012) ¹²⁸	Cross- sectional	USA	To compare the PA and beverage characteristics of a group of licensed center- and home-based child care programs with each other and with NAP SACC guidelines.	Type of child care, presence of indoor play area, hours of daily TV exposure, educational attainment of care provider.	Chi-Square, multivariate linear regression.	168 child care providers (owners, directors) provided information upon the toddlers and preschoolers enrolled in their programme. 94 were home based, 74 centre based.	Telephone survey, questionnaire.	Length of interview.	A source was cited but no mention of validity or reliability statistics.	Toddlers: 1.6 (SD 0.8) hours a day playing outside. Preschoolers: 1.7(SD 1.2) hours per day playing outside.	

Tandon et al. (2012) ¹²⁹	Cross- sectional	USA	 to characterize the daily outdoor play frequency of preschoolers cared for at home-based child acre settings. To examine the factors associated with outdoor play for these children. 	Age, sex, no. regular playmates, screen time, highest education level in the house, mothers ethnicity, employment, exercise frequency of parent, hours in child care, care providers educational attainment, perceptions of neighbourhood safety, type of care, care provider is relative, care provider is a non- relative, 3 regular	Chi-square, Ordinal logistics regression.	1900 children, mean age 4.4 (SD 0.01) years, 48% girls.	Survey, questionnaire.	Length of questionnaire.	A source was cited, which stated "significant" correlation with accelerometry , however, no mention of statistics.	Play outside once or more a week = 50% (n=950) children. Play outside few times a week = 35% (n=665) children. Go outside to play a few times a month or rarely at all = 15% (n=285).	Sample part of a the ECLS-B longitudin al study.
Vanderloo et al. (2014) ¹³⁰	Cross- sectional	Canada	To measure the objective PA levels of preschoolers in childcare was well as assessing which attributes within the centre-based child care environment influenced PA.	Variables derived from the environment and policy assessment observation (EPAO) Active opportunities, Sedentary environment, Portable play equipment, Fixed play equipment, Staff behaviors, PA training and education.	Multiple regression analysis.	31 preschoolers (mean n=4.10, SD=0.85), 17 were boys.	Actical Accelerometer	Accelerometer was worn for 1 day during child care.	A source cited "accepted" validity and reliability.	TPA = 132.60 min during child care. MVPA = 11.45 min during a child care.	

Appendix 3.4. –Key for Appendices: 3.5-3.11

Study number and first author, **BOLD** refers to high quality studies. Determinant studies (*D*).

000					
1	Sallis, et al.	48	Cliff, et al.	95	Sundberg, et al.
2	Adams, et al.	49	Cox, et al.	96	Tanaka, et al.
3	Anderson, et al.	50	Dowda, et al.	97	Taylor, et al. (D)
4	Yamamoto, et al.	51	Eriksson, et al.	98	Temple, et al.
5	Williams, et al.	52	España-Romero, et al.	99	van Rossem, et al.
6	Tanaka, et al.	53	Finn, et al.	100	Verbestel, et al.
7	Vorwerg, et al.	54	Firrincieli, et al.	101	Worobey, et al.
8	Vasquez, et al.	55	Fisher, et al.	102	Zecevic, et al.
9	Vale, et al.	56	Gagne, et al.	103	Barkley, et al.
10	Vale, et al.	57	Grontved, et al.	104	Becker, et al.
11	Spurrier, et al.	58	Gubbels, et al.	105	Brasholt, et al.
12	Trost, et al.	59	Heelan, et al.	106	Cespedes, et al.
13	Hinkley, et al.	60	Iannotti, et al. (D)	107	Driessen, et al.
14	Hnatiuk, et al.	61	Jago, et al.	108	Edwards, et al.
15	Jackson, et al. (D)	62	Janz, et al.	109	Grzywacz, et al.
16	Kimbro, et al.	63	Janz, et al.	110	Hesketh, et al.
17	Sigmund, et al.	64	Kambas, et al.	111	Hesketh, et al.
18	Smith, et al.	65	Kelly, et al.]	112	Hnatiuk, et al. (D)
19	Hinkley, et al.	66	Klesges, et al.	113	Iivonen, et al.
20	Gunter, et al.	67	Kuepper-Nybelen, et al.	114	Laukkanen, et al.
21	Blaes, et al.	68	LaRowe, et al.	115	O'Connor, et al.
22	Cardon, et al.	69	Loprinzi, et al.	116	O'Dwyer, et al. (D)
23	Brown, et al.	70	Loprinzi, et al.	117	Olesen, et al.
24	Collings, et al.	71	Loprinzi, et al.	118	Ostbye, et al.
25	Dowda, et al.	72	Louie, et al.	119	Rice, et al.
26	Dwyer, et al.	73	Marino, et al.	120	Tanaka, et al.
27	Sallis, et al.	74	McKee, et al.	121	Taylor, et al. (D)
28	Benham-Deal	75	McKee, et al.	122	Vale, et al.
29	Gubbels, et al.	76	Metallinos-Katsaras, et al.	123	Vale, et al.
30	Grigsby-Toussaint, et al.	77	Mickle, et al.	124	van Sluijs, et al.
31	Fernald, et al. (D)	78	Montgomery, et al.	125	Vanderloo, et al.
32	Baranowski, et al. (D)	79	Moore, et al.	126	Wijtzes, et al.
33	Beets, et al.	80	Niederer, et al.	127	Jimenez-Pavon, et al.
34	Bellows, et al.	81	O'Dwyer, et al.	128	Tandon, et al.
35	Boldemann, et al.	82	O'Dwyer, et al.	129	Tandon, et al.
36	Bower, et al.	83	Oliver, et al.	130	Vanderloo, et al.
37	Brown, et al.	84	Pate, et al.		
38	Burdette, et al.	85	Pate, et al.		
39	Burdette, et al.	86	Pate, et al.		
40	Burgi, et al. (D)	87	Penpraze, et al.		
41	Bürgi, et al.	88	Pfeiffer, et al.		
42	Buss, et al.	89	Poest, et al.		
43	Cardon, et al.	90	Raustorp, et al.		
44	Caroli, et al.	91	Saakslahti, et al.		
45	Chuang, et al.	92	Schary, et al.		
46	Lawrence, et al.	93	Shen, et al.		
47	Davies, et al.	94	Sugiyama, et al.		

Appendix 3.5. – Correlates of Total Physical Activity: Full Table

	Related to physical activity		Unrelated to physical activity	Summary (Codeª	Additional coding for
	Positive Association	Negative Association	No Association		Associatio	high quality studies ९
Variables	Reference no.	Reference no.	Reference no.	n/N ^b for row (%) ^c	n ^d	
DEMOGRAPHIC AN	ND BIOLOGICAL VARIABLES	•				
Age	18f(meeting guidelines), 46, 54, 56 f, 57f, 58f(outdoor), 72(PA class), 83g, 93, 95, 97 , 100, 108, 119(childcare-normal weight)	13 f, 15h, 19, 102f, 121	15i, 16f(model1), 26, 32, 43, 46, 47, 48, 65, 69f, 71f, 73(outside PA @ home), 78f, 85f, 88, 105, 113g(LVPA), 119(childcare-ow/ob), 126f, 129f(frequency play outside)	14/39(36%)	?	
Sex (male)	1, 6, 9, 10, 13, 15, 17(activity EE), 18f(meeting PA guidelines), 19 , 21, 22 (recess), 30(outdoor PA), 32, 33 f, 35g, 39, 42, 53g, 54, 56 f, 57f, 62, 65, 72(PA class), 74, 78f, 80 , 84(outdoor PA), 87, 88f, 89, 91, 93, 95, 97 f, 102g, 103,105, 109, 119(child care), 122, 123, 127		2, 3(no. times playing outside), 7, 8(obese children), 14, 16f(model1) 26, 31g, 42(3years), 48, 58f, 61, 64, 66f, 69f, 70(active play), 71f(home PA), 73(outside PA @ home), 73(outside PA @ preschool), 75, 76, 77,81(LPA+MVPA), 83, 85f, 92, 96, 98, 100, 114, 116g(LPA+MVPA), 121, 124f(LPA+MVPA), 126f, 129f(frequency play outside)	42/77(55%)	?	6/6(100%) ++
Ethnicity (White)	1g, 67(playing sport/outside), 73(outside PA @ home), 85f, 99(model1-playing outside), 99(model2-playing outside)	16f(model1)	3hi(no. times playing outside), 30(outdoor PA), 32, 33 f, 45f(African-American vs. Hispanic), 61, 65, 73(outside PA @ preschool), 116g(LPA+MVPA), 129g(frequency play outside - mothers ethnicity)	6/17(335%)	?	
Socio-economic status			1f, 15, 16f(model2), 31g, 33 f, 48, 65	0/7(0%)	0	
Parents education		18fk(meeting PA guidelines), 33 f, 73k(outside PA @ home), 122(weekday)	14, 16fk(model1), 30(outdoor PA), 41 , 70(active play), 86(LPA+MVPA), 99k(playing outside), 102f, 111fk(LPA+MVPA), 116f(LPA+MVPA), 122(weekend days), 124(LPA+MVPA), 126k, 129g(frequency play outside)	4/18(22%)	0	
Household income		18f(meeting PA guidelines)	16f(model1), 102	1/3(33%)		
Fat free-mass			59	0/2(0%)		
Preterm birth		53g, 53g(childcare PA)	126	2/2(100%)		

Birth weight	88		126f	1/1(100%)		
Adiposity		47, 51h, 83	1f, 40 , 51i, 59	3/8(38%)	0	
Body Mass Index (BMI)	12h, 33 f, 66f, 85, 88f	33 f(underweight), 33 f(overweight), 46(low weight- 6months), 83, 119(childcare-4- 5years), 120(thinness)	 3hi(no. times playing outside), 12i, 31g, 46(low weight-12months), 46(low weight-18months), 48, 49, 53, 59, 65, 68, 73(outside PA @ home), 73(outside PA @ preschool), 76, 80, 82i(LPA+MVPA), 84(outdoor PA), 95, 97f, 105, 111f(LPA+MVPA), 114f(LVPA), 116f(LPA+MVPA), 119(childcare), 123, 124f(LPA+MVPA), 126 	6/37(14%)	0	2/5(40%) ?
Breastfed			99(playing outside), 126f	0/1(0%)		
Smoking during pregnancy			99(playing outside)	0/1(0%)		
Mother's pre-pregnancy BMI			99(playing outside)	0/1(0%)		
Nationality	44(playing outside), 46, 90			3/3(100%)		
Aerobic fitness	40			1/1(100%)		
Gross Motor-Skill Performance	33 f, 40 , 48h(object control scores), 54, 55, 64, 113f(total score), 113f(throwing & catching), 114h	9	48h(locomotor score), 48h(gross motor quotient), 48i(gross motor quotient), 48i(object control), 48i(locomotor score), 113f(LVPA(static balance)), 113f(LVPA(dynamic balance)), 113f(LVPA(sliding & galloping)), 113f(LVPA(standing broad jump)), 113f(LVPA(kick ball at target)), 113f(LVPA(throwing at target)), 114i, 126f	9/23(37%)	0	
Linguistic/language group			102f	0/1(0%)		
Physical Health		77h(Plantar pressures), 95(Type1 Diabetes), 107g(4y; functional constipation),	16f(model1;general health), 31g(stunting Status), 46(ill), 54 (history of wheezing), 77i(Plantar pressures), 91(history of wheezing), 107g(3y; functional constipation)	3/7(42%)	?	
Physical disorder scale	16fk(model4)			1/1(100%)		
Parents psychological wellbeing			16fk(model1)	0/1(0%)		
High maternal depressive symptoms		31g(@age15months)	31g(@age4-6years)	1/2(50%)		
Education mothers partner			126	0/1(0%)		
Immigrant background (native born parent)		106g(active play)	41(TPA), 41(time play outdoors)	1/3(33%)		
Family structure			16f(model2-no of residents in home), 16fk(model1-parents living together), 126,	0/8(0%)	0	

16fk(model1-single parent family), 73(outside PA

			@ home-single parent family), 99k(playing outside-single parent family), 13fi(parents martial			
			status), 126f(parents marital status)			
Siblings(no. and order)	13fi(no.), 126g(no.)		4fhi(model4;no), 33 f, 97(no.) , 124f(LPA+MVPA; younger), 16f(model1;older), 97 (older)	2/8(25%)	0	
Parents age			16fk(model1), 31gk, 33 fj, 88, 102, 124f(LPA+MVPA), 126, 16fk(model1-single parent family), 73(outside PA @ home-single parent family), 99k(playing outside-single parent family), 13fi(parents martial status), 126f(parents marital status)	0/7(0%)	0	
Family financial difficulties			99(playing outside)	0/1(0%)		
Parents Body Mass Index		16fk(model1)(overweight), 53j, 66f	16fk(model1)(obese),30f(outdoor PA), 31gk, 53k(TPA), 53(childcare PA), 83, 88, 124fk(LPA+MVPA), 126f	3/12(25%)	0	
Parents waist circumference			83j, 83k	0/2(0%)		
PSYCHOLOGICAL, O	COGNITIVE AND EMO	FIONAL VARIABLES				
Active by themselves	13fh(weekend days)		13fh(weekdays)	1/2(50%)		
Personality			42	0/1(0%)		
IQ			42	0/1(0%)		
Child is more likely to play inside/draw/do crafts than be active?		13fi		1/1(100%)		
Child constraints		13fi(weekend days)	13fi(weekdays)	1/2(50%)		
Enjoyment of PA			124f(LPA+MVPA	0/1(0%)		
Restless			124f(LPA+MVPA)	0/1(0%)		
Well behaved			124f(LPA+MVPA)	0/1(0%)		
Infant temperament			126	0/1(0%)		
Internalizing behaviours (withdrawal behaviours)			31g	0/1(0%)		
Externalizing behaviours			31g	0/1(0%)		
BEHAVIORAL VARIABLES						
Prompts/request from child	1f, 58f(indoor), 58f(outdoor)			3/3(100%)		
Participation in organized sports/activities			1f, 11, 53(childcare PA)	0/3(0%)		
TV Viewing		13fh(weekdays), 31f, 33 f, 39, 61, 102f	1f, 7, 13fh(weekend days), 37, 49, 61, 70(active play), 126, 128f(outdoor play,childcare), 129g(frequency play outside)	7/17(41%)	?	
------------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------	---	----------------
Objective sedentary behaviour		78f				
Quiet activities (in preschool)			7	0/1(0%)		
Bedtime			124fk(LPA+MVPA)	0/1(0%)		
Daily Sleep	13fh(weekdays)		13fh(weekend days)	1/2(50%)		
SOCIAL AND CULTU	URAL VARIABLES					
Parental PA/familial interaction	1, 11,11k 13fhk, 33 fj, 58f, 66f, 69f, 75, 79, 83g,88i, 89, 97 , 102f, 110fk9(LPA+MVPA)	31gk	1f, 13fij, 60k, 66f, 71f(home PA), 83, 88h	10/17(58%)	?	3/4(75%) ++
Parental Practices	1f, 13fh(no rough games), 30f(outdoor PA), 69f(monitoring of PA),	83(take to playground)	61, 66, 69f, 83, 69f(style of parenting), 92f(model3), 69f(pattern of parenting), 124fk(Snack@TV), 124fk(PA indoor games), 124fk(play in garden), 124fk(restrict computer), 124fk(restrict TV), 124fk(restrict outside play), 126(smoking in home)	4/19(21%)	0	
Parents perceptions and beliefs	18f(meeting PA guidelines-self efficacy), 33f, 71f(home PA; PA competence perception), 88(competence perception), 102f(father PA enjoyment)		16f(model2; fear play outside), 18(organised PA- self efficacy), 18f(non-organised PA-self efficacy), 102f(PA importance),	5/9(21%)	0	
Parent(s) work status	33fk(full-time), 41k(part-time)	13fik(part-time-weekday), 13fik(fulltime-weekend), 16fk(model1)(part-time), 16fk(model1) (fulltime)	13fik(part-time-weekend), 13fik(fulltime- weekday), 33fj(full-time), 33 fj(part-time), 33 fk(part-time), 99k(playing outside), 126k, 126(partner), 129g(frequency play outside)	4/15(27%)	?	
Parental barriers		13fh(weekdays),18f(meeting PA guidelines), 18(organised PA), 115	13fh (weekends),18f(non-organised PA), 124fk(LPA+MVPA)	4/7(57%)	?	
Parental support	13fi(weekend days), 30(outdoor PA), 69f, 71f(home PA), 88, 92f(model1), 102		1f, 13 fi (weekdays), 61, 66f, 83, 115(LPA+MVPA) 124fk(LPA+MVPA)	7/14(50%)	?	
Collective efficacy	16fk(model3)			1/1(100%)		
Frequency child sees parent being active			13fi	0/1(0%)		
Frequency child sees other adults being active			13fi	0/1(0%)		
Peers to be active with	13fh		129f(frequency of play outside)	1/1(100%)		

Same activities as siblings		13fh (weekdays)	13fh(weekend days)	1/2(50%)
Attendance to social gatherings			13f	0/1(0%)
Social gatherings that are not active in nature			13fh	0/1(0%)
Number of cars in the home			13fh, 102f	0/2(0%)
Parental work-load (high)			41	0/1(0%)
Dog ownership			11	0/1(0%)
Teacher's/day care worker education/training	88, 36g		56f, 129(frequency playing outside)	2/3(66%)
Teacher/day care worker age		56f		1/1(100%)
Teacher/day care worker INTENTION of engaging to get children to be active.	56f			1/1(100%)
No. days child is in the care of others			99(playing outside)	0/1(0%)
Democratic interventions of teachers/day care workers	56f			1/0(100%)
Teachers/day care workers DECRIPTIVE NORM (perceived fewer educators engage children in physical activity)		56f		1/1(100%)
Teachers/day care worker PAST BEHAVIOR - (engaging children to be active).			56f	0/1(0%)
Highest education of child care provider			128f(outdoor play)	0/1(0%)
Playing with friends vs. alone	103, 129(frequency play outside- parental childcare, n=≥3 friends), 129(frequency play outside- parental childcare, n=≥3 friends)			3/3(100%)
House ownership			124f(LPA+MVPA)	0/1(0%)
Family exercise frequency			129f(frequency play outside)	0/1(0%)
PHYSICAL ENVIRON	IMENTAL VARIABLES			

Time outdoors/in play spaces	1f, 7, 35i, 66, 72(PA class), 90, 125		73f(outside PA @ preschool)	7/8(89%)	+
				+	
Attend	21	43	16fk(model1), 17, 126g	1/4(20%)	0
nursery/kindergarten/childre n's centre/preschool					
Nursery/kindergarten/childre n's centres have PA promoting policies and practices	20(childcare)			1/1(100%)	
Convenient play spaces	1f		11(presence of playground near to home), 73f(outside PA @ home-presence of playground near home)	1/3(33%)	
Family lives in public/social housing		16f(model2)		1/1(100%)	
Frequency in play spaces	1f			1/1(100%)	
Play equipment at home	88f			1/2(5%)	
Presence of playground at preschool	73f(outside PA @ preschool)			1/1(100%)	
Weather conditions	89			1/1(100%)	
Availability of toys			1f, 115(LPA+MVPA)	0/2(0%)	
Distance to park (miles)			88f	0/1(0%)	
Attend/go to a park			88	0/1(0%)	
Park safety			88	0/1(0%)	
Safe place to play	75			1/1(100%)	
Have desktop computer in home		13fh(weekend days)	13fh(weekdays)	1/2(50%)	
Season (summer)	39, 75, 95, 105, 126g	16fk(model1), 53(childcare PA)	53, 97, 124fk(LPA+MVPA)	5/10(50%)	?
Region of house (urban)	18f(meeting PA guidelines)	72(PA class)		1/2(50%)	
Region of preschool/child care centre	73(outside PA @ preschool)		57	1/2(50%)	
Region of country	41(TPA), 41(time play outdoor)		73(outside PA @ home)	4/8(50%)	?
No. hours of childcare/preschool	116f		97	0/1(0%)	
Housing type (apartment(A),row house(RH), other housing)		16f(model2)	16f(model2)	1/2(50%)	

Weekday versus weekend (weekday)	7, 10, 34, 122	13, 38(outdoor PA), 87, 105, 121, 126	17(activity EE), 75, 97, 100, 111f(LPA+MVPA)	6/15(33%)	?
Days of week			97	0/1(0%)	
Preschool-PE classes	9			1/1(100%)	
Time at preschool (full day)			73(outside PA @ home)	0/1(0%)	
Time at preschool (half day)			73(outside PA @ home)	0/1(0%)	
Time of day (afternoon)	28, 100		32, 93	2/4(50%)	?
Month of PA data collected	13fi(aug-weekend days)		13fi(aug-weekdays), 13fi(sep), 13fi(oct), 13fi(nov), 13fi(dec)	1/6(17%)	0*
No footpaths in neighbourhood		13 fi		1/1(100%)	
Size of backyard/garden	11			1/1(100%)	
Yard near home	73f(outside PA @ home)			1/1(100%)	
No. items of outdoor play equipment	11			1/1(100%)	
Time outdoors on weekends	13fh(weekdays)		13fi	1/2(50%)	
No. visits to shopping centres _per week			13fh	0/1(0%)	
Use of balls and objects (preschool outside)	23f			1/1(100%)	
Childcare physical activity promoting polices			57	0/1(0%)	
Open space outside at preschool	23f			1/1(100%)	
Childcare Fixed play equipment		130	23f	1/2(50%)	
Wheel toys outside at preschool	23f			1/1(100%)	
Playing one-to-one with peers	23f			1/1(100%)	
Playing in a group without an adult	23f			1/1(100%)	
Playing solitary at preschool	23f			1/1(100%)	
Children initiator of activities	23f			1/1(100%)	
Neighbourhood vegetation	30f(outdoor PA)			1/1(100%)	
Neighbourhood quality			33 f	0/1(0%)	

Neighbourhood safety (perceived)	33 f		38, 128f(frequency of play)	1/3(33%)	
Frequency of visits to active play spaces (per week)	13fh(weekdays)	13fi(weekend days)	13fh(weekend days), 13fi(weekdays)	1/4(25%)	0
Recess (take part)	100			1/1(100%)	
Recess - no. children per m2		22(steps(p/m))		1/1(100%)	
Recess - no. supervising teachers		22i(steps(p/m))	22h(steps(p/m))	1/2(50%)	
Recess - aiming equipment			22h(steps(p/m)), 22i(steps(p/m))	0/2(0%)	
Recess - playing equipment			22h(steps(p/m)), 22i(steps(p/m))	0/2(0%)	
Recess - recess duration		22h(steps(p/m)), 22i(steps(p/m))		2/2(100%)	
Recess - ground surface type		22h(steps(p/m))	22I(steps(p/m))	1/2(50%)	
Recess - playground markings			22h(steps(p/m)), 22i(steps(p/m))	0/2(100%)	
Recess - vegetation			22h(steps(p/m)), 22i(steps(p/m))	0/2(100%)	
Recess- height differences			22h(steps(p/m)), 22i(steps(p/m))	0/2(100%)	
Recess - outdoor play time		84(20min<)		1/1(100%)	
Recess - availability of toys			22h(steps(p/m)), 22i(steps(p/m))	0/2(0%)	
Childcare-type (Centre v home)	129(outdoor play-non-relation care provider in child home)		128(outdoor play), 129(frequency play outside-non realtion care in another home), 129(outdoor play- family relation care provider)	1/4(25%)*	
Childcare-indoorplay			128f(outdoor play)	0/1(0%)	
Childcare - leisure time activities	35i			1/1(100%)	
Childcare - outdoor environment quality	35i			1/1(100%)	
Childcare - portable play environment	36g, 130			2/2(100%)	
Childcare - sedentary environment		36g(mean PA)		1/1(100%)	
Childcare – active opportunities	36g, 58f(indoors), 58f(outdoors)			3/3(100%)	
Childcare - sedentary opportunities			130	0/0(0%)	
Group size in child care - peers (large)		58g(indoors), 58(outdoors)		2/2(100%)	

Group size in child care - staff (large)		58g(indoors), 58(outdoors)		2/2(100%)	
Childcare staff behaviours			130	0/0(0%)	
Childcare indoor PA promoting space layout			56f	0/1(0%)	
Childcare PA promoting materials available	56f			1/1(100%)	
Individual preschool/childcare	53, 53(childcare PA), 57f, 89, 93, 101			6/6(100%)	+
Rain		121		1/1(100%)	
Weather (temperature)		121		1/1(100%)	
Environmental barriers			124fk(LPA+MVPA)	0/1(100%)	
Concern about safety			124fk(LPA+MVPA)	0/1(100%)	
Park availability			124fk(LPA+MVPA)	0/1(100%)	
Environment and Policy Assessment and Observation (EPAO) Total score			130	0/0(0%)	

a = summary code is an overall summary of finding for each variable

b N = number of studies that have investigated and reported on possible associations between the variable and physical activity; n = number of studies that report support for the direction of the hypothesized association.

c N = association shows the direction of the individual/summary association (+/-/?/0) – codes in **bold** are the final result for each correlate

d = additional coding for studies that scored a moderate to high quality rating (++/--/oo/?) – codes in **bold** are the final result for each correlate

e = additional coding for studies that scored a high quality rating (++/--/oo/?) - codes in **bold** are the final result for each correlate

f = reported in a multivariate analysis

g = reported in a multivariate and univariate analysis

h = association for boys only

i = association for girls only

j = paternal behaviour

k = maternal behaviour.

l = correlate at 4 months of age predicting physical activity at 19 months of age.

m = correlate at 9 months of age predicting physical activity at 19 months of age.

MPA = moderate physical activity.

VPA = vigorous physical activity.

MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity.

LVPA = light to vigorous physical activity.

* one study testing different months so no additional coding is awarded. N in **Bold** = High quality studies.

Appendix 3.6. – Determinants of Total Physical Activity: Full Table

	Related to physical activity		Unrelated to physical activity	Summa	Summary Code ^a	
	Positive Association	Negative Association	No Association		-	
		0		n/N for	Associatio	
Determinant	Reference no.	Reference no.	Reference no.	row (%) ^ь	n ^c	
DEMOGRAPHIC AN	ND BIOLOGICAL VARI	ABLES				
Age	15	97 , 121	32	2/4(50%)	?	
Sex (male)	32, 121		97f	2/3(66%)	+	
Ethnicity (White)			32, 116g(LPA+MVPA)	0/2(0%)	0	
Parents education			116f(LPA+MVPA)	0/1(18%)	0	
Adiposity			40	0/1(0%)	0	
Body Mass Index (BMI)			97 f, 116f(LPA+MVPA)	0/2(0%)	0	
Aerobic fitness			40	0/1(0%)	0	
Gross Motor-Skill			40	0/1(0%)	0	
Performance						
High maternal depressive symptoms		31g		1/1(100%)	-	
SOCIAL AND CULT	URAL VARIABLES					
Parental PA	97j		60k, 97 k, 112fkl(modelA), 112fkm(modelA)	1/6(20%)	0	
Parental PA knowledge	ł.		112fkl(modelA)	0/1(0%)	0	
Parental PA views			112fkl(modelA)	0/1(0%)	0	
Parental PA optimism	112fkm(modelA)		112fkl(modelA), 112fkm(modelB)	1/3(33%)	0	
Parental PA self-efficacy			112fkl(modelA), 112fkm(modelA)	0/2(0%)	0	
Parental PA future			112fkl(modelA), 112fkm(modelA)	0/2(0%)	0	
expectations						
Parental floor concerns			112fkl(modelA)	0/1(0%)	0	
Parental TV knowledge			112fkl(modelA)	0/1(0%)	0	
Parental TV use			112fkl(modelA), 112fkm(modelA)	0/2(0%)	0	
Parental TV self-efficacy			112fkl(modelA), 112fkm(modelA)	0/2(0%)	0	
Parental screen time			112fkl(modelA), 112fkm(modelA)	0/2(0%)	0	
Time spent playing outside with adults			112fl(modelA), 112fm(modelA)	0/2(0%)	0	

Time spent playing with parent	112fkm(modelA), 112fkm(modelB), 112fkm(modelC)		112fkl(modelA)	3/4(75%)	+
Tummy time			112fl(modelA), 112fm(modelA)	0/2(0%)	0
Time spent on the floor			112fl(modelA)	0/1(0%)	0
Time spent with peers of the similar age		112fm(modelA)	112fl(modelA), 112fl(modelB), 112fl(modelC), 112fm(modelB)	1/5(20%)	0
Time spent with older toddlers or children			112fl(modelA), 112fm(modelA)	0/2(0%)	0
PHYSICAL ENVIRO	ONMENTAL VARIABLES				
Time outdoors/in play spaces	5		112fl(modelA), 112fm(modelA)	0/2(0%)	0
				+	
Play equipment at home			112fl(modelA) 112fm(modelA)	0/2(0%)	0
Time of day (afternoon)			22	0/2(0%)	0
TV in home			112fl(model A) $112fm(model A)$	0/1(0%)	0
a = summary code is an over	all summary of finding for each variable		11211(IIIodeIA), 112111(IIIodeIA)	0/2(078)	0
h N = number of studies that	have investigated and reported on passi	ble acceptions between the year	able and physical activity n - number of studies that renew	t cummont for the dines	tion of the
hypothesized association.	nave investigated and reported on possi	ble associations between the vari	able and physical activity; n = number of studies that report	support for the direct	tion of the
c N = association shows the d	lirection of the individual/summary asso	ciation (+/-/?/0) – codes in bold a	re the final result for each correlate		
d = additional coding for stud	lies that scored a moderate to high quali	ty rating $(++/-/00/?)$ – codes in b	old are the final result for each correlate		
e = additional coding for stud	lies that scored a high quality rating (++/-	/00/?) – codes in bold are the fi	nal result for each correlate		
f = reported in a multivariate	analysis				
g = reported in a multivariate	and univariate analysis				
h = association for hows only					
i = association for girls only					
i – paternal behaviour					
k = maternal behaviour					
k = finite final behaviour.	te predicting physical activity at 19 mont	hs of age			
m = correlate at 9 months of ag	age predicting physical activity at 19 mor	the of age			
MPA = moderate physical act	tivity.				

VPA = vigorous physical activity. MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity.

LVPA = light to vigorous physical activity.

* one study testing different months so no additional coding is awarded.

N in **Bold** = High quality studies.

Appendix 3.7. – Correlates of Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity: Full Table

	Related to physical activity		Unrelated to physical activity	Summa	ary Code ^a	Additional
	Positive Association	Negative Association	No Association	n/N ^b for		coding for high
Determinant Variables	Reference no.	Reference no.	Reference no.	row (%) ^c	Association ^d	quality studies
DEMOGRAPHIC A	ND BIOLOGICAL VARIAE	BLES				
Age	57f, 80 (VPA), 88, 95, 108, 118g, 119(childcare-normal weight), 126g	4fl(model4), 48h	4fh(model4), 26(MPA+VPA), 48h(%VPA), 71, 80 , 85f, 86g, 93, 104(active play), 117(preschool), 119(childcare-ow/ob)	8/21(30%)	?	
Sex (male)	6, 7(VPA), 9, 10, 19 (%MPA), 21, 24(MPA), 40 , 43(MPA), 52, 53g(%VPA), 54, 57f, 62(VPA), 63(VPA), 76(VPA), 78, 80 , 86g, 88f, 95, 96, 105, 111f, 115, 117(preschool), 118g, 119(childcare), 120, 122, 123, 126g, 127	85f	14, 19 (%VPA), 24(VPA), 26(MPA+VPA) 43, 48, 62(MPA), 63(MPA), 71, 76, 77, 81, 93, 98, 104(active play), 109g, 113g, 114(VPA), 116f, 124f	33/54(61%)	+	3/4(75%) ++
Ethnicity (White)	85f(African-American)	86f(African-American, model2, VPA), 88g(African-American)	86f(African-American, model1, MPA), 117(preschool, west country), 117(preschool, others), 118g	2/7(28%)	0	
Socio economic status			48, 126f, 65	0/3(0%)		
Parents education (degree)	117g(preschool)	122weekdays)	4fhi(model4), 14, 41 , 86f, 111fk, 116fk, 118gk, 122(weekend), 124fk, 126k,126(partner)	1/13(8%)	0	
Parents age			88, 124fk, 126k	0/3(0%)		
Fat free-mass		59i	59h	1/2(50%)		
Immigrant background			4fhi(model4), 41	0/2(0%)		
Preterm birth		53g(%VPA), 117g(preschool), 126		3/3(100%)		
Birth weight	88		126g	1/2(100%)		

Adiposity		24f(% body fat, VPA), 24f(fat free mass, VPA), 24f(trunk fatness index, VPA)	40, 24f(% body fat, MPA), 24f(fat free mass, MPA), 24f(trunk fatness index, MPA), 59h	3/8(37.5%)	?
Body Mass Index (BMI)	82h(MPA-weekday), 85, 88g	76(VPA), 80 (VPA), 119(childcare-4- 5years), 123i	27f(MPA),48, 49, 53(%VPA), 59, 68, 76, 80, 82h(MPA, weekend), 82h(VPA), 82i, 95, 109k, 111f, 113f, 116f, 117(preschool), 118g, 119(childcare-2-3years), 120, 123h, 124f, 126g	4/30(13%)	0
Parents BMI		27fj(MPA)	4fhi(model4), 27fk(MPA), 53k(%VPA), 88, 124fk, 126gk	1/6(17%)	?
Aerobic fitness	40			1/1(100%)	
Breastfeeding			126g	1/1(100%)	
Physical Health	4fi(model4-health status)	54 (VPA-history of wheezing), 77h (plantar pressures), 95(Type I diabetes), 107g(4years-functional constipation)	4fh(model4-health status), 77i (plantar pressures), 46(VPA-illness), 107g(3years-functonal constipation)	4/9(44%)	?
Gross motor-skill performance	5(4years), 40 , 48hg(object control scores), 54, 55, 96(related to fitness), 113g(total score), 113g(sliding & galloping), 113g(throwing & catching), 114h(MPA), 117g(preschool)	48ij(locomotor skills), 48i(gross motor quotient)	5(3years), 48h(locomotor score), 48h(gross motor quotient), 48i(object control), 48i(locomotor score), 113g(static balance), 113g(dynamic balance), 113g(standing broad jump), 113g(kicking ball at target), 113g(throwing at target), 114h(VPA), 114i, 126g	10/25(40%)	?
Skills related to physical fitness	96			1/1(100%)	
Family CVD risk		27f(MPA)		1/1(100%)	
Siblings (no. and order)	124f (older sibling), 126g		124f(younger sibling)	2/3(66%)	
PSYCHOLOGICA	L, COGNITIVE AND EMOT	IONAL VARIABLES			
Desire to be active	4fh(model4)		4fi(model4)	1/2(50%)	
Infant temperament			126	1/1(100%)	
Self-regulation	5(active play)			1/1(100%)	
Literacy			5(active play)	0/1(0%)	
Math achievement			5(active play)	0/1(0%)	

Enjoyment of PA			124f	0/1(0%)	
Restless			124f	0/1(0%)	
Well behaved			124f	0/1(0%)	
Type A behaviour			27f(MPA)	1/1(100%)	
BEHAVIOURAL V	ARIABLES				
Energy intake whilst watching TV		49(weekend days)	124f(meals), 124f(snacks)	1/1(100%)	
Surveys of obsegenic foods		49		1/1(100%)	
Surveys of fruits/veg			49	0/1(0%)	
Participation in organized sports/activities	4fh(model3)		4fi(model4), 53(%VPA)	1/3(33%)	
Sedentary behaviours: electronic, media/screen viewing (TV, computer, games)	4fh(model4)	25	49, 126	1/4(25%)	0
TV commercial viewing			49	0/1(0%)	
Non TV commercial viewing			49	0/1(0%)	
Bedtime			124k	0/1(0%)	
SOCIAL AND CUL	TURAL VARIABLES				
Parental PA/familial interaction	4fi(model4), 13 fij(MPA), 27f(MPA), 110fk		4fh(model4), 13fik(VPA), 88, 124fk	4/8(50%)	?
Parents screen time			124fk	0/1(0%)	
Short transportation mode (inactive)	124fk			1/1(100%)	
Family support			88	0/1(0%)	
Parental support			71, 124fk	0/1(0%)	
Parent's perception of their child's competence to be active	71, 88f			2/2(100%)	
Parents concern about child's level of activity			109g	0/1(0%)	

Parent(s) work status	41k(fulltime), 41k(part-time), 109kf		109k, 126k, 126(partner)	3/6(50%)	?
Farmworker status			109k	0/1(0%)	
Parental work-load (high)			41	0/1(0%)	
Teacher's/day care worker education	50(outside)		25	1/2(50%)	
Teachers PA/day care worker training	94f		25	1/2(50%)	
Teacher/day care worker PA			25	0/1(0%)	
Limits on screen time			109g	0/1(0%)	
Promote inactivity			115	0/1(0%)	
Psychological concern			115	0/1(0%)	
Home ownership (renting)			124f	0/1(0%)	
PA related indoor rules			124f	0/1(0%)	
Play in garden			124f	0/1(0%)	
Restrict computer use			124f	0/1(0%)	
Restrict TV watching			124f	0/1(0%)	
Restrict playing outside			124f	0/1(0%)	
Barriers to PA			124f	0/1(0%)	
Smoking in house hold			126	0/1(0%)	
Rain days			117g(preschool)	0/1(0%)	
Free time (childcare)		50(child care)		1/1(100%)	
Role modelling of PA			118g	0/1(0%)	
PHYSICAL ENVIR	ONMENTAL VARIABLES				
Attend nursery/kindergarten/chil dren's centre/preschool	21(MPA), 111f		21(VPA), 109k, 126g	2/5(40%)	?
Time outdoors/in play spaces	90, 109g	50(child care)	4fhi(model4), 25, 109g	2/6(33%)	0
Play equipment at home	88		109g, 118g	1/3(33%)	
Distance to park (miles)		88f		1/1(100%)	

Attend/go to a park			88	0/1(0%)	
Use of space in child care for motor activities	94f			1/1(100%)	
Supervised school trips			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)	
Time using playground			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)	
Natural outdoor surface		94f		1/1(100%)	
Season	95(summer), 111f, 124f(spring)	126f(winter)	53(%VPA), 109k, 124f(autumn), 124f(summer)	3/8(38%)	?
Region of country	41		117g(preschool)	1/1(100%)	
Size of playground	25		94f, 117(preschool)	1/3(33%)	
Access from playground to preschool building (no. of accessible building sides to playground)	117f(preschool)			1/1(100%)	
Childcare outside vegetation			94f	0/1(0%)	
Gradient of outdoor space			94f	0/1(0%)	
Home has enclosed play space			109g	0/1(0%)	
Childcare SHADE in outdoor space			94f	0/1(0%)	
Size of childcare centre			94f	0/1(0%)	
Perceived environment and neighbourhood opportunities to play			4fhi(model4)	0/1(0%)	
Preschool			117g	0/1(0%)	
Weekday versus weekend (weekday)	10, 122		28, 43, 111f, 126	2/6(33%)	?
Time of day (afternoon)	117g(preschool)		28, 93	1/3(33%)	
Use of balls and objects (preschool outside)	23f			1/1(100%)	
Preschool-PE classes	9			1/1(100%)	
Area indoor per child	117f(preschool)			1/1(100%)	

Childcare physical activity promoting polices	25f		1/1(100%)
Open space outside at preschool	23f		1/1(100%)
Fixed equipment outside at preschool	23f, 94f 25		2/3(67%)
Wheel toys outside at preschool		23f	0/1(0%)
Playing one-to-one with peers	23f		1/1(100%)
No. field trips in childcare	50	25	1/2(50%)
No. community organised visits		25	0/1(0%)
No. children per classroom		25, 50	0/2(0%)
Playing in a group without an adult	23f		1/1(100%)
Playing solitary at preschool	23f		1/1(100%)
Children initiator of activities	23f		1/1(100%)
No. portable playground equipment	25		1/1(100%)
Childcare: Portable play environment		130	0/0(0%)
Childcare ITEMS - portable jumping equipment	29(indoor)		1/1(100%)
Childcare ITEMS - push- pull toys	29(indoor)	29(outdoor)	1/2(50%)
Childcare ITEMS - slides (portable)	29(indoor)		1/1(100%)
Childcare ITEMS - slides (Fixed)	29(indoor), 29(outdoor)		2/2(100%)

Childcare ITEMS - fixed balancing surfaces	29(indoor)		29(outdoor)	1/2(50%)
Childcare ITEMS - riding toys (portable)		29(indoor)	29(outdoor)	1/2(50%)
Childcare ITEMS - sand/water toys (portable)		29(indoor)		1/1(100%)
Childcare ITEMS - balls			29(indoor), 29(outdoor)	0/2(0%)
Childcare ITEMS - portable climbing structures			29(indoor), 29(outdoor)	0/2(0%)
Childcare ITEMS - floor play equipment			29(indoor), 29(outdoor)	0/2(0%)
Childcare ITEMS – twirling equipment			29(indoor), 29(outdoor)	0/2(0%)
Childcare ITEMS - fixed structured track	29(outdoor)		29(indoor)	1/2(50%)
Childcare ITEMS - merry- go-around			29(indoor), 29(outdoor)	0/2(0%)
Childcare ITEMS - fixed climbing structures	29(outdoor)		29(indoor)	1/2(50%)
Childcare ITEMS - see saw			29(indoor), 29(outdoor)	0/2(0%)
Childcare ITEMS - fixed tunnels	29(outdoor)		29(indoor)	1/2(50%)
Childcare ITEMS - sand box	29(outdoor)		29(indoor), 29(outdoor)	1/3(33%)
Childcare ITEMS - jumping equipment	29(outdoor)			1/1(100%)
Childcare ITEMS - swinging equipment			29(indoor), 29(outdoor)	0/2(0%)
Childcare - portable play environment	36g		117g(preschool)	1/1(100%)
Childcare - fixed play environment		36g	117g(preschool), 117f(preschool sport equipment)	1/3(33%)

Childcare - active opportunities	36g			1/1(100%)
Childcare: Sedentary Opportunities			130	0/0(0%)
Staff - child ratio (low level)	94f			1/1(100%)
Preschool: PA rooms			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)
Preschool open space			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)
Vegetation on preschool grounds		118g(preschool)		1/1(100%)
Preschool hilly landscape			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)
Childcare - support from community organizations			50	0/1(0%)
Childcare/preschool overall quality			5	0/1(0%)
Childcare - computer use			50, 117(preschool)	0/1(0%)
Individual preschool/childcare	53(%VPA), 57f, 86f		50	3/4(75%) +
Street traffic makes it difficult to walk			109g	0/1(0%)
Dogs allowed to run loose			109g	0/1(0%)
Parental safety concerns			115	0/1(0%)
Preschool educational leader enjoyment of PA			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)
Preschool educational leader PA education level			117g(preschool)	0/1(0%)
Preschool educational leader meet PA guidelines (>30MVPA min per day)			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)
Preschool staff enjoyment of PA			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)
Preschool staff education level			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)

Preschool staff meet PA guidelines (>30MVPA min per day)			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)
Preschool staff sex (male)			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)
Preschool staff young assistants			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)
Preschool staff initiate PA			117(preschool)	0/1(0%)
Staff Behaviors			130	0/0(0%)
Environmental barriers			124f	0/1(0%)
Road safety concern			124f	0/1(0%)
Park availability			124f	0/1(0%)
Neighbourhood children to play with	1	24fh	124fi	1/2(50%)
Playing outside versus Inside	125h		125i	1/2(50%)
Environment and Policy Assessment and Observation (EPAO) Total score			130	0/0(0%)

a = summary Code is an overall summary of finding for each variable

b N = number of times reported associations between the variable and physical activity; n = number of times supporting the direction of the hypothesized association. N = total number of times variables has been investigated

c = percentage % of studies finding an association

d = association shows the direction of the individual/summary association (+/-/?/0) – codes in **bold** are the final result for each correlate

e = additional coding for studies that scored a high quality rating (++/--/oo/?) – codes in **bold** are the final result for each correlate

f = reported in a multivariate analysis

g = reported in a multivariate and univariate analysis

h = association for boys only

i = association for girls only

j = paternal behaviour

k = maternal behaviour.

MPA = moderate physical activity.

VPA = vigorous physical activity.

N in **Bold** = High quality studies

	Related to physical activity		Unrelated to physical activity	Sumn	nary Code ^a
	Positive Association	Negative Association	No Association		
				n/N ^b for	Association
Determinant Variables	Reference no.	Reference no.	Reference no.	row (%) ^c	d
DEMOGRAPHIC	AND BIOLOGICAL VA	RIABLES			
Sex (male)	40	116f		1/2(50%)	?
Ethnicity(white)			116f	0/1(0%)	0
Parents education (degree))		116fk	0/0(0%)	0
Adiposity			40	0/1(0%)	0
Body Mass Index (BMI)			116f	0/1(0%)	0
Aerobic fitness			40	0/1(0%)	0
Gross motor-skill			40	0/1(0%)	0
performance					
PHYSICAL ENVIRO	ONMENTAL VARIABLES				
Hours spent at preschool			116f	0/1(0%)	0
a = summary Code is an ov	verall summary of finding for each	variable			
b N = number of times rep times variables has been ir	orted associations between the var westigated	iable and physical activity; n = number of t	imes supporting the direction of the hypothesized	d association. N = t	otal number of
c = percentage % of studie	es finding an association				
d = association shows the	direction of the individual/summa	ry association (+/-/?/0) – codes in bold are	the final result for each correlate		
f = reported in a multivaria	ate analysis				
g = reported in a multivari	ate and univariate analysis				
h = association for boys on	ly				
i = association for girls only	у				
j = paternal behaviour					
k = maternal behaviour.					
MPA = moderate physical	activity.				
VPA = vigorous physical a	ctivity.				
N in Bold = High quality s	tudies				

Appendix 3.8. – Determinants of Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity: Full Table

	Related to physical acti	vity	Unrelated to physical activity	Summ	ary Code ^a	Additional coding for
	Positive Association	Negative Association	No Association	n/N ^b for row		high quality
Determinant Variables	Reference no.	Reference no.	Reference no.	(%)¢	Association ^d	studies •
DEMOGRAPHIC AND	D BIOLOGICAL VARIA	ABLES				
Age	108	86		1/2(50%)		
Sex (male)	21, 24, 78, 114, 127		14, 26, 81, 86, 96, 111f, 113, 120, 124f	5/14(35%)	?	
Ethnicity (White)			86	0/1(0%)		
Adiposity			24f(% body fat), 24f(fat-free mass), 24f (trunk fat mass index)	0/3(0%)		
Body Mass Index (normal weight)			68, 76, 82, 111f, 120, 124f	0/6(0%)	0	
Plantar Pressures			77	0/1(0%)		
Gross motor-skill performance	55, 114h	9	114i,	2/3(67%)		
Skills related to fitness			96,	0/1(0%)		
Functional constipation		107g(4years)	107g(3years)	1/2(50%)		
Parents education			14, 86, 111fk, 124fk	0/4(0%)	0	
Parents age			124fk	0/1(0%)		
Parents Body Mass Index			124fk	0/1(0%)		
Younger siblings			124f	0/1(0%)		
Older siblings			124f	0/1(0%)		
PSYCHOLOGICAL, CO	OGNITIVE AND EMO	FIONAL VARIABLES				
Enjoyment of PA			124f	0/1(0%)		
Restless			124f	0/1(0%)		
Well behaved			124f	0/1(0%)		
BEHAVIOURAL VARI	IABLES					
TV Viewing			49	0/1(0%)		
Bedtime			124f	0/1(0%)		
SOCIAL AND CULTU	RAL VARIABLES					
Parental PA/familial interaction	109fk, 124fk			2/2(100%)		
Cost of sports clubs as a barrier			115	1/1(100%)		
Parental safety concerns			115	0/1(0%)		

Appendix 3.9. – Correlates of Light Physical Activity: Full Table

Parents promote inactivity	115	0/1(0%)
Parents promote screen time	115	1/1(100%)
Parental psychological control	115	0/1(0%)
Home ownership	124f	0/1(0%)
Parents screen use	124f	0/1(0%)
Parental support	115, 124fk	0/2(0%)
Short transportation mode	124f	0/1(0%)
TV at mealtimes	124f	0/1(0%)
Snack at TV	124f	0/1(0%)
PA-related indoor rules	124f	0/1(0%)
Play in garden	124f	0/1(0%)
Restrict computer use	124f	0/1(0%)
Restrict TV watching	124f	0/1(0%)
Restrict playing outside	124f	0/1(0%)
General PA barriers	124f	0/1(0%)
PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENTAL VARIABLES		
Time outdoors/ in play spaces	115	0/1(0%)
Attend 21	111f	1/2(50%)
nursery/kindergarten/children's		
centre/preschool		
Season (summer)	111f, 124f	0/2(0%)
Weekday versus weekend	111f	0/1(0%)
(weekday)		
Availability of toys	115(outdoor toys)	0/1(0%)
Hours spent in preschool	116f	0/1(0%)
Environment mental barriers	124f	0/1(0%)
Concern about road safety	124f	0/1(0%)
Park play availability	124f	0/1(0%)
Other children to play with in	124f	0/1(0%)
the neighbourhood		

A = summary Code is an overall summary of finding for each variable

b N = number of studies that have investigated and reported on possible associations between the variable and physical activity; n = number of studies that report support for the direction of the hypothesized association.

c = percentage % of studies finding an association

d = association shows the direction of the individual/summary association (+/-?/0) – codes in **bold** are the final result for each correlate; f = reported in a multivariate analysis; g = reported in a multivariate and univariate analysis; h = association for boys only; i = association for girls only; j = paternal behaviour; k = maternal behaviour; * Less than 4 studies so ? is graded.

Appendix 3.10. – Determinants of Light Physical Activity: Full Table

	Related to physical activity		Unrelated to physical activity	Summ	ary Code ^a
	Positive Association	Negative Association	No Association		
				n/N ^b for	Association
Determinant Variables	Reference no.	Reference no.	Reference no.	row (%) ^c	d
DEMOGRAPHIC	C AND BIOLOGICAL	VARIABLES			
Sex (male)	116f			1/1(100%)	+
Ethnicity(white)			116f	0/1(0%)	0
Parents education (degree))		116fk	0/1(0%)	0
Body Mass Index (BMI)			116f	0/1(0%)	0
PHYSICAL ENVIR	RONMENTAL VARIAB	LES			
Hours spent at preschool			116f	0/1(0%)	0
a = summary Code is an ov	verall summary of finding for each	variable			
b N = number of times rep times variables has been ir	orted associations between the var westigated	riable and physical activity; n = number of t	mes supporting the direction of the hypothesized	d association. N = to	otal number of
0/ - f - h- di-	- (: d:				

c = percentage % of studies finding an association

d = association shows the direction of the individual/summary association (+/-/?/0) – codes in **bold** are the final result for each correlate

f = reported in a multivariate analysis

g = reported in a multivariate and univariate analysis

h = association for boys only

i = association for girls only

j = paternal behaviour

k = maternal behaviour.

MPA = moderate physical activity.

VPA = vigorous physical activity. N in **Bold** = High quality studies

Appendix 3.11. – References for Appendices 3.3. – 3.10

1. Sallis J, Nader P, Broyles S, Berry C, Elder J, McKenzie T, et al. Correlates of Physical Activity at Home in Mexican-American and Anglo-American Preschool Children. *Health Psychol* 1993;12:390 - 398.

2. Adams A, Prince R. Correlates of Physical Activity in Young American Indian Children: Lessons Learned from the Wisconsin Nutrition and Growth Study. *J Public Health Manag Pract* 2010;16(5):394-400.

3. Anderson SE, Economos CD, Must A. Active Play and Screen Time in Us Children Aged 4 to 11 Years in Relation to Sociodemographic and Weight Status Characteristics: A Nationally Representative Cross-Sectional Analysis. *Bmc Public Health* 2008;8.

4. Yamamoto S, Becker S, Fischer J, De Bock F. Sex Differences in the Variables Associated with Objectively Measured Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity in Preschoolers. *Prev Med* 2011;52(2):126-9.

5. Williams HG, Pfeiffer KA, O'Neill JR, Dowda M, McIver KL, Brown WH, et al. Motor Skill Performance and Physical Activity in Preschool Children. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 2008;16(6):1421-6.

6. Tanaka C, Tanaka S. Daily Physical Activity in Japanese Preschool Children Evaluated by Triaxial Accelerometry: The Relationship between Period of Engagement in Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity and Daily Step Counts. *Journal of Physiological Anthropology* 2009;28(6):283-288.

 Vorwerg Y, Petroff D, Kiess W, Blueher S. Physical Activity in 3-6 Year Old Children Measured by Sensewear Pro (R): Direct Accelerometry in the Course of the Week and Relation to Weight Status, Media Consumption, and Socioeconomic Factors. *Plos One* 2013;8(4).

8. Vasquez F, Salazar G, Andrade M, Vasquez L, Diaz E. Energy Balance and Physical Activity in Obese Children Attending Day-Care Centres. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2006;60(9):1115-1121.

9. Vale S, Santos R, Soares-Miranda L, Silva P, Mota J. The Importance of Physical Education Classes in Pre-School Children. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health* 2011;47(1-2):48-53.

10. Vale S, Silva P, Santos R, Soares-Miranda L, Mota J. Compliance with Physical Activity Guidelines in Preschool Children. *Journal of Sports Sciences* 2010;28(6):603-608.

11. Spurrier NJ, Magarey AA, Golley R, Curnow F, Sawyer MG. Relationships between the Home Environment and Physical Activity and Dietary Patterns of Preschool Children: A Cross-Sectional Study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 2008;5.

12. Trost SG, Sirard JR, Dowda M, Pfeiffer KA, Pate RR. Physical Activity in Overweight and Nonoverweight Preschool Children. *International Journal of Obesity* 2003;27(7):834-839.

13. Hinkley T, Salmon J, Okely AD, Hesketh K, Crawford D. Correlates of Preschool Children's Physical Activity. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2012;43(2):159-167.

14. Hnatiuk J, Ridgers ND, Salmon J, Campbell K, McCallum Z, Hesketh K. Physical Activity Levels and Patterns of 19-Month-Old Children. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 2012;44(9):1715-1720.

15. Jackson DM, Reilly JJ, Kelly LA, Montgomery C, Grant S, Paton JY. Objectively Measured Physical Activity in a Representative Sample of 3-to 4-Year-Old Children. *Obesity Research* 2003;11(3):420-425.

16. Kimbro RT, Brooks-Gunn J, McLanahan S. Young Children in Urban Areas: Links among Neighborhood Characteristics, Weight Status, Outdoor Play, and Television Watching. *Social Science & Medicine* 2011;72(5):668-676.

17. Sigmund E, De Ste Croix M, Miklánková L, Frömel K. Physical Activity Patterns of Kindergarten Children in Comparison to Teenagers and Young Adults. *European Journal of Public Health* 2007;17(6):646-651.

18. Smith BJ, Grunseit A, Hardy LL, King L, Wolfenden L, Milat A. Parental Influences on Child Physical Activity and Screen Viewing Time: A Population Based Study. *Bmc Public Health* 2010;10.

19. Hinkley T, Salmon JO, Okely AD, Crawford D, Hesketh K. Preschoolers' Physical Activity, Screen Time, and Compliance with Recommendations. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 2012;44(3):458-465.

20. Gunter KB, Rice KR, Ward DS, Trost SG. Factors Associated with Physical Activity in Children Attending Family Child Care Homes. *Preventive medicine* 2012;54(2):131-133.

21. Blaes A, Baquet G, Van Praagh E, Berthoin S. Physical Activity Patterns in French Youth-from Childhood to Adolescence-Monitored with High-Frequency Accelerometry. *American Journal of Human Biology* 2011;23(3):353-358.

22. Cardon G, Van Cauwenberghe E, Labarque V, Haerens L, De Bourdeaudhuij I. The Contribution of Preschool Playground Factors in Explaining Children's Physical Activity During Recess. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 2008;5.

23. Brown WH, Pfeiffer KA, McIver KL, Dowda M, Addy CL, Pate RR. Social and Environmental Factors Associated with Preschoolers' Nonsedentary Physical Activity. *Child Development* 2009;80(1):45-58.

24. Collings PJ, Brage S, Ridgway CL, Harvey NC, Godfrey KM, Inskip HM, et al. Physical Activity Intensity, Sedentary Time, and Body Composition in Preschoolers. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2013;97(5):1020-1028.

25. Dowda M, Brown WH, McIver KL, Pfeiffer KA, O'Neill JR, Addy CL, et al. Policies and Characteristics of the Preschool Environment and Physical Activity of Young Children. *Pediatrics* 2009;123(2):E261-E266.

26. Dwyer GM, Hardy LL, Peat JK, Baur LA. The Validity and Reliability of a Home Environment Preschool-Age Physical Activity Questionnaire (Pre-Paq). *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 2011;8.

27. Sallis JF, Patterson TL, McKenzie TL, Nader PR. Family Variables and Physical Activity in Preschool Children. *J Dev Behav Pediatr* 1988;9(2):57-61.

28. Benham-Deal T. Preschool Children's Accumulated and Sustained Physical Activity. *Perceptual and Motor Skills* 2005;100(2):443-450.

29. Gubbels JS, Dave HHVK, Jansen MWJ. Play Equipment, Physical Activity Opportunities, and Children's Activity Levels at Childcare. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health* 2012:326520.

30. Grigsby-Toussaint DS, Chi S-H, Fiese BH. Where They Live, How They Play: Neighborhood Greenness and Outdoor Physical Activity among Preschoolers. *International Journal of Health Geographics* 2011;10.

31. Fernald LCH, Jones-Smith JC, Ozer EJ, Neufeld LM, DiGirolamo AM. Maternal Depressive Symptoms and Physical Activity in Very Low-Income Children. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics* 2008;29(5):385-393.

32. Baranowski T, Thompson WO, Durant RH, Baranowski J, Puhl J. Observations on Physical-Activity in Physical Locations - Age, Gender, Ethnicity, and Month Effects. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport* 1993;64(2):127-133.

33. Beets MW, Foley JT. Association of Father Involvement and Neighborhood Quality with Kindergartners' Physical Activity: A Multilevel Structural Equation Model. *Am J Health Promot* 2008;22(3):195-203.

34. Bellows LL, Davies PL, Anderson J, Kennedy C. Effectiveness of a Physical Activity Intervention for Head Start Preschoolers: A Randomized Intervention Study. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy* 2013;67(1):28-36.

35. Boldemann C, Blennow M, Dal H, Martensson F, Raustorp A, Yuen K, et al. Impact of Preschool Environment Upon Children's Physical Activity and Sun Exposure. *Preventive Medicine* 2006;42(4):301-308.

36. Bower JK, Hales DP, Tate DF, Rubin DA, Benjamin SE, Ward DS. The Childcare Environment and Children's Physical Activity. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2008;34(1):23-29.

37. Brown JE, Broom DH, Nicholson JM, Bittman M. Do Working Mothers Raise Couch Potato Kids? Maternal Employment and Children's Lifestyle Behaviours and Weight in Early Childhood. *Social Science & Medicine* 2010;70(11):1816-1824.

38. Burdette HL, Whitaker RC. A National Study of Neighborhood Safety, Outdoor Play, Television Viewing, and Obesity in Preschool Children. *Pediatrics* 2005;116(3):657-662.

39. Burdette HL, Whitaker RC, Daniels SR. Parental Report of Outdoor Playtime as a Measure of Physical Activity in Preschool-Aged Children. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine* 2004;158(4):353-357.

40. Burgi F, Meyer U, Granacher U, Schindler C, Marques-Vidal P, Kriemler S, et al. Relationship of Physical Activity with Motor Skills, Aerobic Fitness and Body Fat in Preschool Children: A Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Study (Ballabeina). *Int J Obes (Lond)* 2011;35(7):937-44.

41. Bürgi F, Meyer U, Niederer I, Ebenegger V, Marques-Vidal P, Granacher U, et al. Socio-Cultural Determinants of Adiposity and Physical Activity in Preschool Children: A Cross-Sectional Study. *BMC Public Health* 2010;10.

42. Buss DM, Block JH, Block J. Preschool Activity Level - Personality-Correlates and Developmental Implications. *Child Development* 1980;51(2):401-408.

43. Cardon GM, De Bourdeaudhuij IM. Are Preschool Children Active Enough? Objectively Measured Physical Activity Levels. *Res Q Exerc Sport* 2008;79(3):326-32.

44. Caroli M, Malecka-Tendera E, Epifani S, Rollo R, Sansolios S, Matusik P, et al. Physical Activity and Play in Kindergarten Age Children. *Int J Pediatr Obes* 2011;6 Suppl 2:47-53.

45. Chuang R-J, Sharma S, Skala K, Evans A. Ethnic Differences in the Home Environment and Physical Activity Behaviors among Low-Income, Minority Preschoolers in Texas. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2013;27(4):270-278.

46. Lawrence M, Lawrence F, Durnin JV, Whitehead RG. A Comparison of Physical Activity in Gambian and Uk Children Aged 6-18 Months. *European journal of clinical nutrition* 1991;45(5):243-252.

47. Davies PS, Gregory J, White A. Physical Activity and Body Fatness in Pre-School Children. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 1995;19(1):6-10.

48. Cliff DP, Okely AD, Smith LM, Kim M. Relationships between Fundamental Movement Skills and Objectively Measured Physical Activity in Preschool Children. *Pediatric Exercise Science* 2009;21(4):436-449.

49. Cox R, Skouteris H, Rutherford L, Fuller-Tyszkiewicz M, Aquila DD, Hardy LL. Television Viewing, Television Content, Food Intake, Physical Activity and Body Mass Index: A Cross-Sectional Study of Preschool Children Aged 2-6 Years. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia* 2012;23(1):58-62.

50. Dowda M, Pate RR, Trost SG, Almeida M, Sirard JR. Influences of Preschool Policies and Practices on Children's Physical Activity. *Journal of Community Health* 2004;29(3):183-196.

51. Eriksson B, Henriksson H, Lof M, Hannestad U, Forsum E. Body-Composition Development During Early Childhood and Energy Expenditure in Response to Physical Activity in 1.5-Y-Old Children. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2012;96(3):567-573.

52. España-Romero V, Mitchell JA, Dowda M, O'Neill JR, Pate RR. Objectively Measured Sedentary Time, Physical Activity and Markers of Body Fat in Preschool Children. *Pediatric Exercise Science* 2013;25(1):154-163.

53. Finn K, Johannsen N, Specker B. Factors Associated with Physical Activity in Preschool Children. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2002;140(1):81-85.

54. Firrincieli V, Keller A, Ehrensberger R, Platts-Mills J, Shufflebarger C, Geldmaker B, et al. Decreased Physical Activity among Head Start Children with a History of Wheezing: Use of an Accelerometer to Measure Activity. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2005;40(1):57-63.

55. Fisher A, Reilly JJ, Kelly LA, Montgomery C, Williamson A, Paton JY, et al. Fundamental Movement Skills and Habitual Physical Activity in Young Children. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 2005;37(4):684-688.

56. Gagne C, Harnois I. The Contribution of Psychosocial Variables in Explaining Preschoolers' Physical Activity. *Health Psychology* 2013;32(6):657-665.

57. Grontved A, Pedersen GS, Andersen LB, Kristensen PL, Moller NC, Froberg K. Personal Characteristics and Demographic Factors Associated with Objectively Measured Physical Activity in Children Attending Preschool. *Pediatric Exercise Science* 2009;21(2):209-219.

58. Gubbels JS, Kremers SPJ, van Kann DHH, Stafleu A, Candel MJJM, Dagnelie PC, et al. Interaction between Physical Environment, Social Environment, and Child Characteristics in Determining Physical Activity at Child Care. *Health Psychology* 2011;30(1):84-90.

59. Heelan KA, Eisenmann JC. Physical Activity, Media Time, and Body Composition in Young Children. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health* 2006;3(2):200-209.

60. Iannotti RJ, Sallis JF, Chen R, Broyles SL, Elder JP, Nader PR. Prospective Analyses of Relationships between Mothers' and Children's Physical Activity. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health* 2005;2(1):16-34.

61. Jago R, Baranowski T, Baranowski JC, Thompson D, Greaves KA. Bmi from 3-6 Y of Age Is Predicted by Tv Viewing and Physical Activity, Not Diet. *International Journal of Obesity* 2005;29(6):557-564.

62. Janz KF, Burns TL, Levy SM. Tracking of Activity and Sedentary Behaviors in Childhood: The Iowa Bone Development Study. *Am J Prev Med* 2005;29(3):171-8.

63. Janz KF, Burns TL, Levy SM, Torner JC, Willing MC, Beck TJ, et al. Everyday Activity Predicts Bone Geometry in Children: The Iowa Bone Development Study. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2004;36(7):1124-31.

64. Kambas A, Michalopoulou M, Fatouros IG, Christoforidis C, Manthou E, Giannakidou D, et al. The Relationship between Motor Proficiency and Pedometer-Determined Physical Activity in Young Children. *Pediatr Exerc Sci* 2012;24(1):34-44.

65. Kelly LA, Reilly JJ, Fisher A, Montgomery C, Williamson A, McColl JH, et al. Effect of Socioeconomic Status on Objectively Measured Physical Activity. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2006;91(1):35-38.

66. Klesges RC, Eck LH, Hanson CL, Haddock CK, Klesges LM. Effects of Obesity, Social Interactions, and Physical Environment on Physical Activity in Preschoolers. *Health Psychol* 1990;9(4):435-49.

67. Kuepper-Nybelen J, Lamerz A, Bruning N, Hebebrand J, Herpertz-Dahlmann B, Brenner H. Major Differences in Prevalence of Overweight According to Nationality in Preschool Children Living in Germany: Determinants and Public Health Implications. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2005;90(4):359-363.

68. LaRowe TL, Adams AK, Jobe JB, Cronin KA, Vannatter SM, Prince RJ. Dietary Intakes and Physical Activity among Preschool-Aged Children Living in Rural American Indian Communities before a Family-Based Healthy Lifestyle Intervention. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 2010;110(7):1049-1057.

69. Loprinzi PD, Schary DP, Beets MW, Leary J, Cardinal BJ. Association between Hypothesized Parental Influences and Preschool Children's Physical Activity Behavior. *American Journal of Health Education* 2013;44(1):9-18.

70. Loprinzi PD, Schary DP, Cardinal BJ. Adherence to Active Play and Electronic Media Guidelines in Preschool Children: Gender and Parental Education Considerations. *Maternal and Child Health Journal* 2013;17(1):56-61.

71. Loprinzi PD, Trost SG. Parental Influences on Physical Activity Behavior in Preschool Children. *Preventive Medicine* 2010;50(3):129-133.

72. Louie L, Chan L. The Use of Pedometry to Evaluate the Physical Activity Levels among Preschool Children in Hong Kong. *Early Child Development and Care* 2003;173(1):97-107.

73. Marino AJ, Fletcher EN, Whitaker RC, Anderson SE. Amount and Environmental Predictors of Outdoor Playtime at Home and School: A Cross-Sectional Analysis of a National Sample of Preschool-Aged Children Attending Head Start. *Health & Place* 2012;18(6):1224-1230.

74. McKee DP, Boreham CAG, Murphy MH, Nevill AM. Validation of the Digiwalker (Tm) Pedometer for Measuring Physical Activity in Young Children. *Pediatric Exercise Science* 2005;17(4):345-352.

75. McKee DP, Murtagh EM, Boreham CA, Nevill AM, Murphy MH. Seasonal and Annual Variation in Young Children's Physical Activity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 2012;44(7):1318-1324.

76. Metallinos-Katsaras ES, Freedson PS, Fulton JE, Sherry B. The Association between an Objective Measure of Physical Activity and Weight Status in Preschoolers. *Obesity* 2007;15(3):686-694.

77. Mickle KJ, Cliff DP, Munro BJ, Okely AD, Steele JR. Relationship between Plantar Pressures, Physical Activity and Sedentariness among Preschool Children. *J Sci Med Sport* 2011;14(1):36-41.

78. Montgomery C, Reilly JJ, Jackson DM, Kelly LA, Slater C, Paton JY, et al. Relation between Physical Activity and Energy Expenditure in a Representative Sample of Young Children. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2004;80(3):591-596.

79. Moore LL, Lombardi DA, White MJ, Campbell JL, Oliveria SA, Ellison RC. Influence of Parents Physical-Activity Levels on Activity Levels of Young-Children. *Journal of Pediatrics* 1991;118(2):215-219.

80. Niederer I, Kriemler S, Zahner L, Bürgi F, Ebenegger V, Marques P, et al. Bmi Group-Related Differences in Physical Fitness and Physical Activity in Preschool-Age Children: A Cross-Sectional Analysis. *Research quarterly for exercise and sport* 2012;83(1):12-19.

81. O'Dwyer MV, Fairclough SJ, Knowles Z, Stratton G. Effect of a Family Focused Active Play Intervention on Sedentary Time and Physical Activity in Preschool Children. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 2012;9.

82. O'Dwyer MV, Foweather L, Stratton G, Ridgers ND. Physical Activity in Non-Overweight and Overweight Uk Preschool Children: Preliminary Findings and Methods of the Active Play Project. *Science and Sports* 2011;26(6):345-349.

83. Oliver M, Schofield GM, Schluter PJ. Parent Influences on Preschoolers' Objectively Assessed Physical Activity. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport* 2010;13(4):403-409.

84. Pate RR, Dowda M, Brown WH, Mitchell J, Addy C. Physical Activity in Preschool Children with the Transition to Outdoors. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health* 2013;10(2):170-175.

85. Pate RR, McIver K, Dowda M, Brown WH, Addy C. Directly Observed Physical Activity Levels in Preschool Children. *Journal of School Health* 2008;78(8):438-444.

86. Pate RR, Pfeiffer KA, Trost SG, Ziegler P, Dowda M. Physical Activity among Children Attending Preschools. *Pediatrics* 2004;114(5):1258-1263.

87. Penpraze V, Reilly JJ, MacLean CM, Montgomery C, Kelly LA, Paton JY, et al. Monitoring of Physical Activity in Young Children: How Much Is Enough? *Pediatric Exercise Science* 2006;18(4):483-491.

88. Pfeiffer KA, Dowda M, McIver KL, Pate RR. Factors Related to Objectively Measured Physical Activity in Preschool Children. *Pediatric Exercise Science* 2009;21(2):196-208.

89. Poest CA, Williams JR, Witt DD, Atwood ME. Physical Activity Patterns of Preschool Children. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 1989;4(3):367-376.

90. Raustorp A, Pagels P, Boldemann C, Cosco N, Söderström M, Mårtensson F. Accelerometer Measured Level of Physical Activity Indoors and Outdoors During Preschool Time in Sweden and the United States. *Journal of Physical Activity* & *Health* 2012;9(6):801-808.

91. Saakslahti A, Numminen P, Niinikoski H, Rask-Nissila L, Viikari J, Tuominen J, et al. Is Physical Activity Belated to Body Size, Fundamental Motor Skills, and Chd Risk Factors in Early Childhood? *Pediatric Exercise Science* 1999;11(4):327-340.

92. Schary DP, Cardinal BJ, Loprinzi PD. Parental Support Exceeds Parenting Style for Promoting Active Play in Preschool Children. *Early Child Development and Care* 2012;182(8):1057-1069.

93. Shen B, Reinhart-Lee T, Janiss H, Broga K, Danfo C, Jen KLC. African American Preschool Children's Physical Activity Levels in Head Start. *Research Quarterly for Exercise & Sport* 2012;83(2):168-174.

94. Sugiyama T, Okely AD, Masters JM, Moore GT. Attributes of Child Care Centers and Outdoor Play Areas Associated with Preschoolers' Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior. *Environment and Behavior* 2012;44(3):334-349.

95. Sundberg F, Forsander G, Fasth A, Ekelund U. Children Younger Than 7 Years with Type 1 Diabetes Are Less Physically Active Than Healthy Controls. *Acta Paediatrica* 2012;101(11):1164-1169.

96. Tanaka C, Hikihara Y, Ohkawara K, Tanaka S. Locomotive and Non-Locomotive Activity as Determined by Triaxial Accelerometry and Physical Fitness in Japanese Preschool Children. *Pediatric Exercise Science* 2012;24(3):420-434.

97. Taylor RW, Murdoch L, Carter P, Gerrard DF, William SM, Taylor BJ. Longitudinal Study of Physical Activity and Inactivity in Preschoolers: The Flame Study. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 2009;41(1):96-102.

98. Temple VA, Naylor P-J, Rhodes RE, Higgins JW. Physical Activity of Children in Family Child Care. *Applied Physiology Nutrition and Metabolism-Physiologie Appliquee Nutrition Et Metabolisme* 2009;34(4):794-798.

99. van Rossem L, Vogel I, Moll HA, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, et al. An Observational Study on Socio-Economic and Ethnic Differences in Indicators of Sedentary Behavior and Physical Activity in Preschool Children. *Preventive Medicine: An International Journal Devoted to Practice and Theory* 2012;54(1):55-60.

100. Verbestel V, Van Cauwenberghe E, De Coen V, Maes L, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Cardon G. Within- and between-Day Variability of Objectively Measured Physical Activity in Preschoolers. *Pediatr Exerc Sci* 2011;23(3):366-78.

101. Worobey J, Worobey HS, Adler AL. Diet, Activity and Bmi in Preschool-Aged Children: Differences across Settings. *Ecology of Food and Nutrition* 2005;44(6):455-466.

102. Zecevic CA, Tremblay L, Lovsin T, Michel L. Parental Influence on Young Children's Physical Activity. *International journal of pediatrics* 2010;2010:468526-468526.

103. Barkley JE, Salvy S-J, Sanders GJ, Dey S, Von Carlowitz K-P, Williamson ML. Peer Influence and Physical Activity Behavior in Young Children: An Experimental Study. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health* 2014;11(2):404-409.

104. Becker DR, McClelland MM, Loprinzi P, Trost SG. Physical Activity, Self-Regulation, and Early Academic Achievement in Preschool Children. *Early Education and Development* 2014;25(1):56-70.

105. Brasholt M, Chawes B, Kreiner-Moller E, Vahlkvist S, Sinding M, Bisgaard H. Objective Assessment of Levels and Patterns of Physical Activity in Preschool Children. *Pediatr Res* 2013;74(3):333-8.

106. Cespedes EM, McDonald J, Haines J, Bottino CJ, Schmidt ME, Taveras EM. Obesity-Related Behaviors of Us- and Non-Us-Born Parents and Children in Low-Income Households. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics* 2013;34(8):541-548.

107. Driessen LM, Jong Kiefte-de JC, Wijtzes A, de Vries SI, Jaddoe VWV, Hofman A, et al. Preschool Physical Activity and Functional Constipation: The Generation R Study. *Journal Of Pediatric Gastroenterology And Nutrition* 2013;57(6):768-774.

108. Edwards NM, Khoury PR, Kalkwarf HJ, Woo JG, Claytor RP, Daniels SR. Tracking of Accelerometer-Measured Physical Activity in Early Childhood. *Pediatric Exercise Science* 2013;25(3):487-501.

109. Grzywacz JG, Suerken CK, Zapata Roblyer MI, Trejo G, Arcury TA, Ip EH, et al. Physical Activity of Preschool-Aged Latino Children in Farmworker Families. *American Journal of Health Behavior* 2014;38(5):717-725.

110. Hesketh KR, Goodfellow L, Ekelund U, McMinn AM, Godfrey KM, Inskip HM, et al. Activity Levels in Mothers and Their Preschool Children. *Pediatrics* 2014;133(4):e973-80.

111. Hesketh KR, McMinn AM, Ekelund U, Sharp SJ, Collings PJ, Harvey NC, et al. Objectively Measured Physical Activity in Four-Year-Old British Children: A Cross-Sectional Analysis of Activity Patterns Segmented across the Day. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 2014;11.

112. Hnatiuk J, Salmon J, Campbell KJ, Ridgers ND, Hesketh KD. Early Childhood Predictors of Toddlers' Physical Activity: Longitudinal Findings from the Melbourne Infant Program. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* 2013;10:123.

113. Iivonen KS, Saakslahti AK, Mehtala A, Villberg JJ, Tammelin TH, Kulmala JS, et al. Relationship between Fundamental Motor Skills and Physical Activity in 4-Year-Old Preschool Children. *Percept Mot Skills* 2013;117(2):627-46.

114. Laukkanen A, Pesola A, Havu M, Sääkslahti A, Finni T. Relationship between Habitual Physical Activity and Gross Motor Skills Is Multifaceted in 5- to 8-Year-Old Children. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports* 2014;24(2):e102-e110.

115. O'Connor TM, Cerin E, Hughes SO, Robles J, Thompson DI, Mendoza JA, et al. Psychometrics of the Preschooler Physical Activity Parenting Practices Instrument among a Latino Sample. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 2014;11.

116. O'Dwyer MV, Fairclough SJ, Ridgers ND, Knowles ZR, Foweather L, Stratton G. Effect of a School-Based Active Play Intervention on Sedentary Time and Physical Activity in Preschool Children. *Health Education Research* 2013;28(6):931-942.

117. Olesen LG, Kristensen PL, Korsholm L, Froberg K. Physical Activity in Children Attending Preschools. *Pediatrics* 2013;132(5):e1310-8.

118. Ostbye T, Malhotra R, Stroo M, Lovelady C, Brouwer R, Zucker N, et al. The Effect of the Home Environment on Physical Activity and Dietary Intake in Preschool Children. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 2013;37(10):1314-21.

119. Rice KR, Trost SG. Physical Activity Levels among Children Attending Family Day Care. *Journal of Nutrition Education & Behavior* 2014;46(3):197-202.

120. Tanaka C, Tanaka S. Objectively-Measured Physical Activity and Body Weight in Japanese Pre-Schoolers. *Ann Hum Biol* 2013;40(6):541-6.

121. Taylor RW, Williams SM, Farmer VL, Taylor BJ. Changes in Physical Activity over Time in Young Children: A Longitudinal Study Using Accelerometers. *PLoS One* 2013;8(11):e81567.

122. Vale S, Ricardo N, Soares-Miranda L, Santos R, Moreira C, Mota J. Parental Education and Physical Activity in Pre-School Children. *Child: Care, Health and Development* 2014;40(3):446-452.

123. Vale S, Trost S, Ruiz JJ, Rego C, Moreira P, Mota J. Physical Activity Guidelines and Preschooler's Obesity Status. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 2013;37(10):1352-5.

124. van Sluijs EMF, McMinn AM, Inskip HM, Ekelund U, Godfrey KM, Harvey NC, et al. Correlates of Light and Moderate-to-Vigorous Objectively Measured Physical Activity in Four-Year-Old Children. *Plos One* 2013;8(9):e74934-e74934.

125. Vanderloo LM, Tucker P, Johnson AM, Holmes JD. Physical Activity among Preschoolers During Indoor and Outdoor Childcare Play Periods. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition & Metabolism* 2013;38(11):1173-1175.

126. Wijtzes AI, Kooijman MN, Kiefte-de Jong JC, de Vries SI, Henrichs J, Jansen W, et al. Correlates of Physical Activity in 2-Year-Old Toddlers: The Generation R Study. *J Pediatr* 2013;163(3):791-9 e1-2.

127. Jimenez-Pavon D, Konstabel K, Bergman P, Ahrens W, Pohlabeln H, Hadjigeorgiou C, et al. Physical Activity and Clustered Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors in Young Children: A Cross-Sectional Study (the Idefics Study). *BMC Med* 2013;11:172.

128. Tandon PS, Garrison MM, Christakis DA. Physical Activity and Beverages in Home- and Center-Based Child Care Programs. *J Nutr Educ Behav* 2012;44(4):355-9.

129. Tandon PS, Zhou C, Christakis DA. The Frequency of Outdoor Play for Preschool Age Children Cared for at Home-Based Child Care Settings. *Acad Pediatr* 2012;12(6):475-80.

130. Vanderloo LM, Tucker P, Johnson AM, van Zandvoort MM, Burke SM, Irwin JD. The Influence of Centre-Based Childcare on Preschoolers' Physical Activity Levels: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2014;11(2):1794-802.

Appendix 5.1. – English version of EY-PAQ

Study ID:



FOR HEALTH RESEARCH



Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire

Please complete this questionnaire when your child has worn their physical activity monitor for 7 days. The questionnaire asks about the types of activities your child has been doing in the last 4 weeks, how often and for how long. There are three parts. There are no right or wrong answers and all responses are confidential. Please answer all questions, unless there are questions that you do not wish to answer, you can skip these. If you are unsure about any of the questions please ask a member of school staff or the research team for guidance when you return the guestionnaire and activity monitors.

Example answers... In the last month, how many days each week and for how long each day would you say your child has spent doing the following activities at home?

	Less than once a week	How often	For how long each day Please tick one box or write a time if more than one hour daily				a hour daily
	Yes/ No	Number of days <u>each</u> week. If never put a zero	Up to 15 mins/day	16-30 mins/day	31-60 mins/day	More hour/d	e than an ay. Please nate time
Colouring/drawing/crafting	No	5.0				Hrs: 2	Mins: 30
Sitting playing with toys (e.g. dolls/puzzles/educational play)	No				\checkmark	Hrs:,	Mins:
Watching TV/DVDs	No					Hrs: 1	Mins: 45
Playing on the computer (do not include physically active games such as Nintendo Wil)	Yes			\checkmark		Hrs:	Mins:

Thank you in advance for completing the questionnaire

Questionnaire completed by (please circle): Mother / Father / Other (please specify):

Study ID: _____

Q1. In the last month, how many days each week and for how long each day would you say your child has spent doing the following activities at home?

	Less than once a week	How often	For how long each day Please tick one box or write a time if more than one hour daily				e hour daily
	Yes/ No	Number of days <u>each</u> week. If never put a zero	Up to 15 mins/day	16-30 mins/day	31-60 mins/day	More than an hour/day please estimate time	
Colouring/drawing/Craft		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
Sitting playing with toys (e.g. dolls/puzzles/educational play)		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
Watching TV/DVDs		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
Playing on the computer (do not include physically active games such as Nintendo Wii)		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
Sitting listening/singing to music		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
Reading/being read to		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
Playing actively inside the house (e.g. dancing, crawling, running, sit and ride toys, push toys, physically active computer games such as Nintendo Wii)		17				Hrs:	Mins:
Playing actively in the garden/yard		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
Engaging in physical activity/active play that makes them sweat or breathe harder		/7				Hrs:	Mins:

Study ID: _____

Q2. In the last month, to get from place to place (e.g to the shops, school/groups, park, visiting friends/relatives), on how many days each week and for how long each day would you say your child has spent:

	Less than	How often	For how long each day Blease tick one how or write a time if more than one hour daily				
	Yes/ No	Number of days each week. If never put a zero	Up to 15 mins/day	16-30 mins/day	31-60 mins/day	More than an hour/day, please estimate time	
In their buggy/pushchair		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
Walking		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
Being carried		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
In the car		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
On public transport		/7				Hrs:	Mins:

Q3. In the last month, on how many days each week and for how long each day has your child done the following?

	Less than		For how long each day			
	once a week	How often	Please tick one box or write a time if more than one hour daily			
	Yes/ No	Number of days	Up to 15 mins/day	16-30 mins/day	31-60 mins/day	More than an hour/day,
		never put a zero	mins/day	Thins/day	mins/day	please estimate time
Played at the park/playground		/7				Hrs: Mins:
Played at Indoor play facilities (e.g. ball pools)		/7				Hrs: Mins:

Appendx 5.2. – Urdu transliteration version of the EY-PAQ

Study ID:



FOR HEALTH RESEARCH



Early Years Physical Activity Questionnaire

Hello mera naamhain, mai Born in Bradford se hoon. Aap ka bohut shukriya ke aap humare saat mill rahi hai. Hum yeh jaana chahte hai, ke sargarmiya karte huway, aur TV dekhte huway aap ke bache ne kitna wagt guzzara, pichle mahine ke ekh aam hafte mai. Hum aapke shukar guzaar honge agar aap sab sawaalon ke jawaab de sakay, albata agar aap kuch sawaalon ke jawaab nahi dena chahte toh yeh bhi theek hai. Koi sahi yah galat jawaab nahi hai. Agar koi bhi jawaab dene mai aapko pareshaani ho, toh aap humay sawaal poochne main hichkichaana nahi. Aap ke saare sawaal bharosemand honge. Aap ka naam aur pata iss sawaalnaame main kahin bhi nahi likha jayga. Hum maafi chahte hai, agar koi bhi sawaal aapko burrah lagay.

Example: Pichle mahine main, kitne din aor kitni dair tak aap keh sakti ho ke aap ka bacha ne in jismani sargarmiyaan karta ho ga ghar main ? (Meharbani kar ke nishan lagain)

	Less than once a week	How often	For how long each day Please tick one box or write a time if more than one hour daily				
	Yes/ No	Number of days <u>each</u> week. If never put a zero	Up to 15 mins/day	16-30 mins/day	31-60 mins/day	More hour/da	e than an ay. Please nate time
Colouring/drawing/crafting	No	5,7				Hrs: 2	Mins:
Sitting playing with toys (e.g. dolls/puzzles/educational play)	No	.7,7			\checkmark	Hrs:	Mins:
Watching TV/DVDs	No	7.17				Hrs:	Mins: 45
Playing on the computer (do not include physically active games such as Nintendo Wil)	Yes			\checkmark		Hrs:	Mins:

Aap ka buhot shukriya in sawaalon ka jawaab denay ka

Q1. Pichle mahine main, kitne din aor kitni dair tak aap keh sakti ho ke aap ke bacha ne in jismani sargarmiyaan ki hogi ghar main ? (Meharbani kar ke nishan lagain)

	Hafte mein eik	Kitni baar	Please	Har din Kitni dair tak Please tick one box or write a time if more than one hour daily			
	se kam Yes/ No	Hafte mai Kitni Din If never put a zero	Din mai Pandra minute	Din mai Solan se Thees minute	Din mai Adhay ghante se ekh ghanta	Din mai ekh ghante se ziyada (takriban kitna samay)	
Tasweron main rang bharte/taswer banate		/7			-	Hrs: Mins:	
Beth kar khilonon se kheltay (e.g. dolls/puzzles educational play)		/7				Hrs: Mins:	
TV ya DVD dekhtay huway		/7				Hrs: Mins:	
Computer per kheltay huway (not physically active games such as Nintendo Wii)		17				Hrs: Mins:	
Beth kar gana suntay/gana gatay howay		/7				Hrs: Mins:	
Parhtay howay ya kisi ko parhta suntay howay		/7				Hrs: Mins:	
Ghar main uchal kood karte howay kheltay howay (nachna, ghutnon per chalna, dorna, khilonon per bethna ya sawari karna, push toys, physically active computer games such as Nintendo Wii)		/7				Hrs: Mins:	
Study ID:

Ghar ke sehan ya garden main kheltay huway	17		Hrs:	Mins:
Ya aisi jismani sargarmiyan jinhain karne se us ki sans phol jati ho ya mehnat karni parti ho	17		Hrs:	Mins:

Q2. 2. Pichle mahine, aik jagha se dosri jagha jatay howay (maslan dukanain, school ya groups, park, doston ya rishtedaron ke ghar), aap kya kaho gi kay aap kay bache ne aik haftay main kitne din aur ekh din main kitne dair ke liya guzaara:

	Hafte mein		Har din Kitni dair tak			beur deibe	
	eik se kam	Kithi baar	Please	lick one box or i	write a time if r	nore than one	e nour daily
	Yes/ No	Hafte mai Kitni	Din mai		Yes/ No	Hafte n	nai Kitni Din
		Din	Pandra			If neve	r put a zero
		If never put a	minute				
		zero					
buggy/pushchair main							
		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
Chaltay howay							
		17				Hrs:	Mins:
Kisi ki goud main							
		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
Gahri main		17				Line:	Minor
		!/				Hrs:	MINS
public transport main							
		/7				Hrs:	Mins:
			1				

Study ID: _____

Q3. Pichle mahine, kitne din har haftay aur kitni dair aapke bache ne ye darjzael kaam kiye hai?

	Hafte mein		Har din Kitni dair tak			
	eik se kam	Kitni baar	Please tick one box or write a time if more than one hour daily		more than one hour daily	
	Yes/ No	Hafte mai Kitni	Din mai		Yes/ No	Hafte mai Kitni Din
		Din	Pandra			If never put a zero
		If never put a	minute			-
		zero				
Park ya playground mein khelte hue		/7				Hrs: Mins:
Andar jo khelney ki sahooleat hain unko istmaal kia hai (e.g. ball pools)		/7				Hrs: Mins:

<u>Appendix 6 – Correlates of toddlers daily MVPA using univariate</u> <u>linear regression.</u>

Table 6: Correlates of two year old childrens daily MVPA using univariate linear regression.				
	All	WB	SA	
	daily MVPA	daily MVPA	daily MVPA	
Potential Correlates	(n=837)	(n=333)	(n=470)	
	в (95% CI)	в (95% CI)	в (95% CI)	
Sleen Total (hours)	-0.05(-34.33)	27(-35.89)	-10(-50,31)	
Sleep day (hours)	0.00(0.14, 0.0)	-0.6 (-6.4, 5.3)	07(-4053)	
Sleep tidy (nours)	14(50.22)	-0.0(-0.4, 0.0)	24 (84 16)	
Sieep night (nours)	-1.4 (-3.0, 2.3)	3.0 (-2.9, 8.9)	-3.4, (-0.4, 1.0)	
Boys	Roforonco	Poforonco	Reference	
boys		Reference	Reference	
Girls	-7.7 (-20.0, 4.6)*	-5.6 (-24.9, 13.6)	-10.8 (-27.6, 5.9)*	
Season	P (P (
Summer	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Spring	-15.7 (-30.6, -0.9)*	-2.9 (-25.7, 19.9)	-25.1 (-45.5, -4.8)*	
Autumn	-23.5 (-51.0, 4.0)*	-51.5 (-95.0, -7.9)*	0.3 (-41.6, 42.2)	
Winter	-51.8 (-68.8, -34.8)*	-30.8 (-57.8, -3.7)*	-59.7 (-82.4, -37.0)*	
Age (months)	3.7 (-2.8, 10.1)*	-2.7 (-13.2, 7.7)	6.9 (-2.0, 15.8)	
Language	D (D (D (
English	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Urdu	-91.6 (-271.6, 88.3)	~	~	
Mirpuri	-0.1 (-15.7, 15.5)	~	~	
Other	-0.9 (180.8, 179.0)	~	~	
Mother Weight (kg)	-0.1 (-0.5, 0.3)	-0.3 (-0.9, 0.3)	-0.1)-0.6, 0.5)	
Child Weight (kg)	-0.4 (-4.3, 3.5)	-3.4 (-9.4, 2.7)	2.1 (-3.1, 7.3)	
Child Height (cm)	-0.3 (-1.1, 1.8)	0.2 (-1.6, 2.0)	1.1 (-1.6, 3.7)	
Mother Health	D (D (D (
Excellent	Keference	Reference	Reference	
Very Good	17.9 (*-3.9, 39.7)*	12.6 (-20.6, 45.8)	21.7 (-8.0, 51.4)	
Good	9.2 (-11.6, 29.9)	12.6 (-19.3, 44.5)	9.7 (-18.6, 37.9)	
Fair	-5.2 (-32.4, 21.9)	-11.2 (-53.8, 31.4)	-9.0 (-45.7, 27.8)	
	9.3 (-38.1, 36.7)	-2.0 (-79.3, 75.3)	0.8 (63.6, 62.1)	
	Deferrer	D - f	Deferrer	
Excellent	10.0 (7 = 27.6)*	110(140, 28.9)	Reference $(1 + 9, 22 + 5)$	
Very Good	$10.0(-7.3, 27.6)^{*}$	11.9 (-14.9, 30.0) 9.2 (10.1, 25.7)	0.4(-15.0, 52.5)	
Good	$11.0(-3.3, 29.2)^{\circ}$	0.5 (-19.1, 55.7) 44.0 (2.0, 01.8)#*	11.2(-12.3, 54.6)	
Fair	$37.1(4.0, 70.3)^{\circ}$	44.9(-2.0, 91.8)#* 55.0(48.7, 158.7)	20.3 (-29.4, 69.9)	
Mathews Balationship Status	47.1 (-22.2, 110.4)	55.0 (-46.7, 156.7)	40.4 (-52.9, 155.8)	
Married	Poforonco	Reference	Reference	
Romarried	12.0 (102.0 168.0)	~	8 9 (101 2 173 3)	
Single (never married)	25(-169, 120)	-127(-34087)	-6.9(-191.2, 175.5) 6.5(-13.9, 26.9)	
Separated (but still legally	2.5 (-10.9, 12.0)	-12.7 (-54.0, 0.7)	0.5 (-15.9, 20.9)	
married)	163(-667342)	69.2 (-19.1, 157.5)#*	_42 12 (_107 2 23 0)#*	
Divorced	-36.8(-127.01.53.4)	67.8 (-107.7, 243.3)	$42.12 (107.2, 20.0)^{m}$ 69.5 (-175.0, 36.0)	
Living Status	00.0 (127.01,00.1)	07.0 (107.7,210.0)	07.0 (170.0,00.0)	
Living with childs father	Reference	Reference	Reference	
living with another partner	10.7(-41.5, 63.0)	-30.2(-102.5, 42.2)	52 5 (-22 2 127 3)	
not living with a partner but in a				
relationship	20.3 (-14.3, 54.8)	46.0 (-7.8, 100 0)#*	10.0 (-36.3, 56.3)	
not in relationship and not	2010 (1110) 0110)	1010 (110) 10010)#		
living with				
a partner	-1.4 (-22.6. 19.9)	8.9 (-24.8, 42.6)	-12.6 (-42.7, 17.5)	
Hospital visit in the last 6 months				
No	Reference	Reference	Reference	
Yes	2.5 (-22.7, 27.8)	15.2 (-26.3, 56.7)	-3.3 (-35.3, 28.7)	

Mother ever breast fed			
Yes	Reference		
No	1.7 (-15.0, 11.7)	-11.5 (-32.4, 9.3)	5.6 (-12.8, 23.9)
Mother ever smoked			
No	Reference	Reference	Reference
Yes	5.1 (-12.1, 22.4)	-14.8 (-40.6, 11.2)	21.3 (-2.4, 44.9)*
When Stopped Breast feeding			
Still breast feeding	Reference	Reference	Reference
Stopped recently	-1.0 (-14.8, 12.9)	11.8 (-9.4, 33.1)	-11.4 (-30.4, 7.7)
don't know	58.2 (-32.8, 149.2)	~	53.1 (-39.5, 145.7)
TV viewing during weekday (hours)	0.4 (-1.1, 1.8)	-0.7 (-3.1, 1.6)	1.1 (-0.8, 3.1)
TV viewing during weekends (hours)	0.6 (-0.9, 2.0)	-0.3 (-2/6, 2.1)	1.3 (-0.7, 3.2)
TV Screen Time before 6pm on			
Weekdays	P (D (D (
None	Reference	Reference	Reference
<1 hour	-2.2 (-21.9, 17.4)	3.9 (-26.0, 33.6)	2.0 (-25.7, 29.6)
1-2 hours	-3.4 (-23.5, 16.7)	-0.6 (-31.1, 29.9)	-3.1 (-31.3, 25.1)
2-3 hours	-5.4 (-31.1, 20.3)	13.6 (-26.1, 53.3)	-20.7 (-56.3, 14.9)
3-4 hours	-13.0 (-47.7, 21.5)	-27.2 (-86.1, 31.6)	-6.0 (-50.3, 38.3)
>4 hours	-8.5 (-47.7, 30.6)	-4.5 (-63.3, 54.4)	-13.2 (-67.6, 41.1)
TV Screen Time after 6pm on			
Neekdays	Deferrer	D - (D - f
None	21(158,11)	2 = (17 (24))	A = (282, 0.2)
<1 Hours	-2.1 (-15.8, 11.6)	3.5 (-17.6, 24.6)	-9.5 (-28.3, 9.3)
1-2 nours	-0.6(-19.7, 18.5) 0.2(285.471)	-8.4(-40.2, 23.4)	-2.4 (-27.4, 22.6)
2-5 Hours	9.5 (-20.5, 47.1) 57.7 (144.9, 63.6) #	-10.9 (-79.0, 37.2)	53 1 (76 6 182 8)##
5-4 hours	-40.6 (-144.9, 43.6)	-38 7 (-164 2 86 8)##	-467 (-2297 1362)##
TV Screen Time before 6nm on	-40.0 (-144.9, 40.0)	-30.7 (-104.2, 00.0)##	-40.7 (-229.7, 130.2)##
Weekend days			
None	Reference	Reference	Reference
<1 hour	-1.0 (-19.1.17.1)	13.8 (-14.2, 41.8)	-3.9 (-28.6, 20.9)
1-2 hours	1.9 (-16.8, 20.6)	5.3 (-23.4, 34.0)	2.7 (-23.1, 28.6)
2-3 hours	-4.7 (-28.4, 18.9)	14.7 (-23.5, 52.8)#	-20.7 (-52.6, 11.1)*
3-4 hours	-25.7 (-56.5, 5.2)*	-17.8 (-70.1, 34.4)##	-34.7 (-74.6, 5.2)##*
>4 hours	-4.0 (-45.1, 37.1)	26.8 (-36.2, 89.7)##	-21.7 (-76.1, 32.7)##
TV Screen Time after 6pm on			
Weekend days			
None	Reference	Reference	Reference
<1 hour	-7.2 (-21.2, 6.8)	1.5 (-20.2, 23.2)	-16.8 (-36.0, 2.4)*
1-2 hours	-3.2 (-21.5, 15.0)	-2.6 (-31.9, 26.7)	-7.2 (-31.7, 17.3)
2-3 hours	6.7 (-30.5, 43.9)	-11.7 (-72.1, 48.8)##	10.5 (-45.9, 67.0)##
3-4 hours	13.8 (-76.8, 104.4)#	60.3 (-65.3, 185.9)##	-33.4 (-163.3, 96.5)##
>4 hours	11.5 (-69.7, 92.6)#	-39.0 (-164.5, 86.6)##	43.8 (-62.5, 150.1)##
Perceptions of childs weight			
Just right	Reference	Reference	Reference
much to low	17.4 (-35.0, 69.8)	82.1 (-42.7, 206.8)#*	5.5 (-52.9, 63.8)
a little to low	-1.9 (-18.6, 14.7)	-0.9 (-26.8, 25.0)	-9.5 (-32.5, 13.4)#
a litle to high	4.1 (-28.5, 36.7)	-20.7 (-64.7, 23.4)##	41.2 (-12.2, 94.6)#*
much to high	9.2 (-81.1, 99.4)#	-74.1 (-250.2, 102.0)##	37.6 (-67.9, 143.2)#
Childs weight compared to others			
About the same	Reference	Reference	Reference
much thinner	9.4 (-31.6, 50.4)#	42.7 (-36.9, 122.3)##	4.9 (-45.0, 54.9)##
a little bit thinner	9.7 (-4.8, 24.2) [*]	-2.6 (-25.1, 19.8)	14.9 (-5.3, 35.1)*
a little bit neavier	3.7 (-14.2, 22.1)	-0.12(-28.8, 28.5)	/.U (-1/.Z, 31.Z)
Mathana waalda MDA at in t	-1/.2(-101.2, 20.0)	->3.7 (-220.6, 29.2)	-40.0 (-22.9.2, 130.1)##
Mothers weekly MIPA minutes	-0.8 (-0.23, 0.07)	0.08 (0.07 0.11)	$-0.10(-0.34, 0.02)^{*}$
Mothers weekly VPA minutes	$-0.10(-0.23, 0.02)^{*}$	-0.08 (-0.27, 0.11)	$-0.12(-0.30, 0.06)^{*}$
Mothern physical activity status	-0.02 (-0.4, 0.01)	-0.02 (-0.06, 0.02)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)
A ativo	Potoronas	Poforonac	Potoronco
Inactivo	5 1 (8 7 19 9)	5.0 (16.7, 26.2)	$\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}$
macuve Sedentary	-16(-0.7, 10.0) -16(-250, 167)	-16(-380 207)	∠.7 (-13.0, ∠1.3) _3 / (_32 0, 26.1)
Jeuennary	-+.0 (-20.9, 10.7)	-1.0 (-00.7, 27.7)	-0.4 (-02.7, 20.1)

Mothers number of activity			
sessions	-0.62 (-2.2, 0.9)	-1.8 (-4.4, 0.8)*	0.4 (-1.7, 2.4)
Mothers weekly sitting time	-0.01 (-0.03, 0.1)	-0.01 (-0.04, 0.02)	0.01 (-0.03, 0.03)
Mothers daily TV viewing	-0.30 (-4.1, 3.5)	0.58 (-5.33, 6.5)	-0.46 (-5.8, 4.8)
Perceptions of child being as active as			
peers			
Similarly active	Reference	Reference	Reference
generally more active	9.2 (-3.6, 22.0)*	-9.5 (-29.7, 10.8)	22.1 (4.8, 39.5)**
generally less active	12.2 (-25.3, 49.8)#	10.9 (-48.9, 70.7)#	10.4 (-39.3, 60.1)#
Child enjoys physical activity	D (D (D (
Agree	$22.8 (87.6 \pm 40.1)$	Reference $8.4 (80.0, 64.1)$	Reference
disagree	-23.0 (-07.0, 40.1)	-0.4 (-00.9, 04.1)	0.0 (-33.0, 31.3) 63.3 (154.8, 28.1)#*
Important child does not watch to	2.0 (-33.2, 38.3)#	10.5 (-72.1, 105.0)#	-00.0 (-104.0, 20.1)#
much TV			
Agree	Reference	Reference	Reference
neither agree or disagree	-9.3 (-25.8, 7.3)	-6.6 (-31.2, 17.9)	-14.6 (-38.2, 9.1)*
disagree	-3.6 (-30.0, 22.7)	-22.4 (-70.6, 25.8)#	7.2 (-26.4, 40.8)
Important to take child places to be			
active			
Agree	Reference	Reference	Reference
neither agree or disagree	12.8 (-22.9, 47.4)	0.3 (-62.5, 63.2)#	7.4 (-40.5, 55.2)#
disagree	22.8 (-57.9, 103.4)	#	24.5 (-57.5, 106.5)#
How often has mother or partner			
encouraged child to play active			
games in the last month	D (D (D (
Everyday	Reference	Reference	Reference
5-6 times a week	$-23.4(-50.3, 3.4)^{\circ}$	-64.8 (-105.6, -24.0)#"	1.9(-34.3, 38.0)#
2-4 times a week	2.3(-13.3, 18.4)	7.8 (-16.3, 32.2) 28.6 (80.2, 2.2)#*	2.2(-19.7, 24.1)
1.3 times this month	-11.0 (-55.7, 15.6)	-36.6 (-60.3, 3.2)#* 15.0 (137.9, 107.9)##	10.9 (-21.0, 45.5)#
Never	7.6(-11.0, 26.2)	$(-137.5, 107.5)^{\#\#}$	8 3 (-17 3 34 0)
How often has mother or partner	7.0 (11.0, 20.2)	0.0 (20.0, 20.0)	0.0 (17.0, 04.0)
played an actively with child in the			
last month			
Everyday	Reference	Reference	Reference
5-6 times a week	-13.7 (-36.5, 9.1)*	-20.6 (-54.0, 12.8)#	-6.7 (-37.9, 24.5)#
2-4 times a week	6.6 (-8.8, 22.0)	-3.1 (-26.8, 20.6)	14.9 (-6.5, 36.3)*
once a week	-11.8 (-34.7, 11.1)	5.0 (-38.5, 48.5)#	-13.2 (-42.4, 16.0)
1-3 times this month	-10.1 (-45.7, 25.6)	-17.5 (-74.7, 39.7)##	-9.7 (-58.3, 38.9)##
Never	-3.8 (-30.4, 22.8)	-19.4 (-70.0, 31.2)##	6.5 (-27.5, 40.4)#
How often mother or partner taken			
child to places to be physically active			
in the last month	D (P (
Everyday	Reference	Reference	Reference
5-6 times a week	31.1 (-2.0, 64.1)*	45.1 (-7.2, 97.3)#* 10.2 (-28.0, 48.4)	22.6 (-20.0, 65.1)#
2-4 times a week	13.2(-10.0, 57.0) 1.4(23.5, 26.2)	10.2 (-20.0, 40.4) 27.6 (12.0, 67.3)	13.3(-17.3, 44.6) 189(514 136)
1.3 times this month	1.4(-23.3, 20.2)	27.0(-12.0, 07.3) 9.4(52.1, 33.3)	-10.9(-31.4, 13.0) 17.3(17.7, 52.3)
Never	11 4 (-17 0 39 8)	-9.4 (-52.1, 55.5) 8 3 (-40 0, 56 7)#	17.3(-17.7, 52.3) 17.2(-19.5, 53.8)
How often child watched TV at meal	11.4 (17.0, 09.0)	0.0 (40.0, 50.7)#	17.2 (19.5, 55.6)
times			
Never	Reference	Reference	Reference
1-3 times this month	-24.8 (-48.9, -0.7)*	18.8 (-54.1, 16.5)	-29.8 (-63.8, 4.1)*
once a week	-22.9 (-48.5, 2.7)*	6.6 (-36.7, 49.9)	-32.7)-66.2, 0.8)*
2-4 times a week	-10.7 (-28.8, 7.3)	-13.2 (-40.3, 13.9)	-6.9 (-32.0, 18.2)
5-6 times a week	12.7 (-15.7, 41.1)	24.7 (-22.0, 71.3)	-0.06 (-38.5, 38.4)
Everyday	-2.9 (-18.7, 12.8)	4.0 (-21.3, 29.2)	-2.1 (-23.4, 19.2)
How often child gone to bed at a			
regular time			
Everyday	Keference	Reference	Keference
5-6 times a week	10.0 (-7.9, 27.9)	-6.4 (-32.4, 19.6)	19.3 (-6.7, 45.2)
2-4 times a week	3.0 (-10.8, 24.0) 20.0 (14.4, 74.1)#*	-11./ (-42.6, 19.2) 57.0 (10.4, 10.4 5)##*	10.0(-10.7, 40.7)
once a week	∠7.7 (-14.4, /4.1)#"	07.0 (-10.4, 124.5)##"	∠J.0 (-JJ.8, 8/.4)

1-3 times this month Never	-1.7 (-40.0, 36.5) 5 2 (-34 7 45 2)	-4.7 (-84.1, 74.7)	3.5 (-41.8, 48.9) 4 3 (-49 3, 57 9)
How often child played ball games in	0.2 (01.7, 10.2)	0.0 (00.0, 02.0)	1.0 (19.0, 07.0)
the house			
Everyday	Reference	Reference	Reference
5-6 times a week	18.6 (-11.6, 48.8)	21.3 (-25.9, 68.5)##	19.8 (-21.4, 61.1)##
2-4 times a week	4.2 (-12.0, 20.4)	1.7 (-24.1, 27.5)	4.0 (-18.0, 25.9)
once a week	0.7 (-21.0, 22.5)	4.7 (-30.0, 39.4)	-5.8 (-35.2, 23.6)
1-3 times this month	-23.0 (-47.9, 1.9)#*	-14.1 (-49.6, 21.4)#	28.2 (-64.2, 7.8)#
Never	9.8 (-8.2, 27.7)	16.9 (-11.5, 45.4)	6.7 (-18.1, 31.5)
How often child ran or ridden			
tricylce in the house			
Everyday	Reference	Reference	Reference
5-6 times a week	-14.8 (-47.0, 17.4)	-46.9 (-107.1, 13.4)##*	-19.7 (-62.5, 23.0)##
2-4 times a week	-8.2 (-26.8, 10.3)	-19.9 (-48.9, 9.1)*	3.6 (-21.8, 28.9)
once a week	-11.7 (-39.3, 15.9)	1.3 (-38.9, 41.6)#	-18.7 (-57.3, 20.0)#
1-3 times this month	-26.2 (-56.4, 4.1)#*	-33.0 (-73.3, 7.3)#*	-10.3 (-57.7, 37.0)#
Never	-5.3 (-20.4, 9.7)	-0.6 (-24.0, 22.9)	-8.1 (-28.7, 12.5)
Limited time watching DVDs in the			
last month	P (D (D (
Everyday	Reference	Reference	Reference
5-6 times a week	39.1 (8.2, 70.0)#*	63.4 (9.3, 117.4)##*	25.9 (-12.7, 64.5)##*
2-4 times a week	25.7 (5.5, 45.9)*	33.7 (2.5, 64.9)*	25.7 (-2.1, 53.4)*
once a week	32.6 (6.9, 58.3)*	46.6 (11.7, 81.7)*	7.9 (-32.6, 48.4)##
1-3 times this month	20.0 (-14.4, 54.4)	-13.2 (-63.9, 37.4)##	24.5 (-28.5, 77.6)#
Never	21.5 (5.9, 37.1)*	17.6 (-7.9, 43.1)	23.9 (3.2, 44.5)
Limited time playing outside in the			
Novor	Roforonco	Poforonco	Reference
1.3 times this month	11.8(53.6, 29.9)	3 1(15 1 38 9)#	0.7(341.326)#
once a week	70(536,299)	-3.1(-43.1, 36.9)#	-0.7 (-34.1, 32.0)#
2-4 times a week	7.0 (-55.0, 29.9) 25.3 (-6.8, 57.4)*	$24.0(-17.4, 00.0)^{\#}$ 19.2(-6.2, 11.6)	-9.6(-33.7, 14.5)
5-6 times a week	-391(-1070 289)	32 1 (-13 0 77 3)#*	11.9(-27.4, 51.2)
Everyday	-40.8 (-66.0, 15.6)*	6.5(-21.5, 34.5)	-4.3 (-28.6, 20.1)
Barrier for child to be active : cost of clu	ubs or facilities		
Never	Reference	Reference	Reference
1-3 times this month	-6.0 (-28.6, 16.5)	-3.1 (-38.4, 32.2)#	-3.2 (-34.1, 27.7)#
once a week	-5.9 (-34.1, 22.3)	20.6 (-23.1, 64.3)#	-22.1 (-59.0, 14.6)#
2-4 times a week	12.5 (-22.1, 47.1)	31.8 (-21.9, 85.6)##	-10.1 (-56.4, 36.3)##
5-6 times a week	86.1 (-3.8, 176.1)'#*	176.5 (1.5, 351.6)##*	56.3 (-48.9, 161.5)##
Everyday	-31.8 (-78.7, 15.0)#*	42.1 (-30.0, 114.2)##	-77.7 (-142.5, -12.8)##*
Barrier for child to be active : travel to	places where child can		
be active			
Never	Reference	Reference	Reference
1-3 times this month	-15.2 (-39.0, 8.5)	-6.2 (-44.6, 32.1)#	-35.7 (-67.4, -4.1)#*
once a week	-25.3 (-50.2, -0.4)#*	3.3 (-33.6, 40.2)#	-52.7 (-87.7, -17.8)#*
2-4 times a week	11.8 (-11.8, 35.4)	20.2 (-14.3, 54.7)#	-1.5 (-35.3, 32.4)#
5-6 times a week	-30.9 (-91.1, 29.4)	95.1 (-80.8, 271.0)##	-53.0 (-121.9, 16.0)##*
Everyday	1.2 (-26.2, 28.6)	31.6 (-15.2, 78.3)##*	-16.8 (-52.4, 18.7)#
Barrier for child to be active: weather			
Never	Reference	Reference	Reference
1-3 times this month	-4.9 (-23.4, 13.6)	-0.9 (-27.5, 27.4)	-8.2 (-34.4, 18.0)
once a week	-14.6 (-34.1, 4.8)*	15.3 (-14.0, 44.6)	-36.8 (-64.2, -9.4)*
2-4 times a week	5.0 (-11.2, 21.2)	10.0 (-16.4, 36.5)	-1.2 (-22.8, 20.3)
5-6 times a week	-20.9 (-55.7, 13.9)	11.7 (-43.6, 66.9)##	-41.2 (-86.1, 3.8)##*
Everyday	-27.6 (-33.2, -1.9)#*	-24.3 (-/3./, 25.2)##	-30.7 (-63.3, 2.0)#*
Darrier for child to be active: mother			
to busy	Deferror	Deferen	Deferrer
Never	18.8 (20.7. 2.0)*	Reference	25 5 (55 9 4 9)#*
once a week	-10.0 (-37.7, 2.0)	139 (-37.0, 21.0	-20.0 (-00.0, 4.0)#*
2-4 times a week	-7.0 (-00.0, 14.0)	-5.9 (-30.2, 97.6)#	-27.5 (-50.7, 4.0)#" _9.7 (_37.8, 18.3)
5-6 times a week	-11 7 (-57 3 33 9)	39.8 (-85.4, 165.0)##	-20.0 (-71.5, 31.6)##
Everyday	-1 4 (-28 7 26 0)	19(-452 490)##	-10.0 (-45.9.26.0)#
Diveryoury	1.1 (20.7 , 20.0)	1.7 (10.2, 17.0)	10.0 (10.0, 20.0)

Barrier for child to be active: fear child	will be hurt		
Never	Reference	Reference	Reference
1-3 times this month	2.6 (-36.6, 31.4)	21.4 (-30.4, 73.3)##	-18.4 (-63.5, 26.6)##
once a week	-44.8 (-80.6, -9.0)#*	-51.8 (-131.2, 27.5)##*	-37.7 (-80.5, 5.0)##*
2-4 times a week	16.1 (-11.5, 43.7)	20.2 (-29.7, 70.1)##	13.8 (-21.3, 48.8)#
5-6 times a week	13.6 (-54.5, 81.8)	-25.8 (-127.9, 76.2)##	91.4 (-13.9, 196.7)##*
Everyday	8.9 (-14.2, 32.0)	18.2 (-20.7, 57.2)#	0.6 (-29.6, 30.9)#
Barrier for child to be active: no childre	en to play with		
Never	Reference	Reference	Reference
1-3 times this month	0.3 (-33.7, 34.3)	11.6 (-40.4, 63.5)##	-6.5 (-51.5, 38.4)##
once a week	-34.2 (-73.1, 4.7)#*	6.3 (-45.6, 58.2)##	-81.9 (-140.0, -23.8)##*
2-4 times a week	-12.1 (-36.8, 12.6)	-19.7 (-60.5, 21.1)#	-9.5 (-41.5, 22.5)#
5-6 times a week	-14.9 (-83.2, 53.3)	-41.4 (-143.6, 60.8)##	41.0 (-64.2, 146.1)##
Everyday	-14.2 (-59.6, 31.2)	-22.1 (-101.5, 57.4)##	3.1 (-58.1, 64.3)##
Barrier for child to be active: no adult t	o supervise child		
playing			
Never	Reference	Reference	Reference
1-3 times this month	-9.8 (-51.6, 32.0)	4.5 (-62.8, 71.8)##	-16.9 (-70.5, 36.7)##
once a week	-2.5 (-40.6, 35.6)	12.0 (-60.6, 84.6)##	-5.6 (-53.7, 42.5)##
2-4 times a week	7.7 (-30.4, 45.8)	-1.6 (-64.6, 61.5)##	6.2 (-43.5, 55.9)##
5-6 times a week	-22.0 (-126.15, 82.2)		-20.8 (-126.8, 85.2)##
Everyday	5.2 (-30.1, 40.4)	28.0 (-21.9, 77.9)##	1.7 (-54.2, 57.6)##
Barrier for child to be active: mother ca	n not take on her own	P (D (
Never	Reference	Reference	Reference
1-3 times this month	-21.4 (-48.1, 5.4)	10.7 (-28.3, 49.6)#	-42.9 (-81.0, -4.7)#*
once a week	0.8 (-30.7, 32.2)	25.7 (-33.8, 85.2)##	-13.8 (-52.6, 25.1)##
2-4 times a week	7.6 (-21.5, 36.8)	-8.2 (-62.2, 45.8)##	3.0 (-35.8, 41.9)##
5-6 times a week	69.5 (15.0, 123.9)##*	74.2 (-14.3, 162.6)##*	82.1 (7.7, 156.5)##*
Everyday	-14.6 (-41.6, 12.4)	-5.0 (-51.6, 41.6)##	-23.7 (-58.6, 11.2)#*
Free space for child play outside in sur	rounding		
neighbourhood	D (D (D (
Yes	Reference	Reference	Reference
NI-	0.7(170.1E0)	1 = (01 = 04 =)	21(92270)
No	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2)
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2)
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2)
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4)
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/preso Do not attend	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/preso Do not attend Part time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)*	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)*	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/preso Do not attend Part time Full time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)*	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7)
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/preso Do not attend Part time Full time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7)
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/preso Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/prese Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, -23.3)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1)
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/prese Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Some of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)*	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)*
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/press Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Some of the time Most of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35 1 (-114 7 44 5)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12 1 (-57 6 33 3)##
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/press Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Most of the time All of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1 7 (-56.4, 53.1)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)##
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/press Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Most of the time All of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)##
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/preso Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/press Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)*	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5)
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/press Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time All of the time All of the time A little of the time All of the time A little of the time Some of the time A little of the time Some of the time A little of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5 2 (-40.9, 30.5)#	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6)
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/preso Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time All of the time All of the time A little of the time All of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Some of the time A little of the time A little of the time Some of the time A little of the time Some of the time A little of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8 109.3)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##*
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/preso Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time All of the time Alittle of the time All of the time Alittle of the time All of the time Alittle of the time Alittle of the time All of the time Alittle of the time Most of the time All of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)##
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/presc Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Most of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time All of the time A little of the time All of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time All of the time All of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling restlessness	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)##
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/presc Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Most of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time All of the time Some of the time A little of the time All of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling restlessness None of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9) Reference	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)## Reference
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/presc Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Most of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time All of the time Some of the time A little of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling nopelessness None of the time A little of the time A little of the time All of the time All of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling restlessness None of the time All of the time A little of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9) Reference 3.0 (-12.1, 18.1)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)## Reference 6.2 (-17.1, 29.4)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)## Reference -4.9 (-25.6, 15.9)
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/presc Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Most of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time All of the time Some of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time All of the time All of the time All of the time A little of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9) Reference 3.0 (-12.1, 18.1) 8.4 (-9.5, 26.4)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)## Reference 6.2 (-17.1, 29.4) 3.7 (-24.0, 31.5)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)## Reference -4.9 (-25.6, 15.9) 12.9 (-11.8, 37.6)
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/presc Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Most of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time Alittle of the time Some of the time All of the time Some of the time Alittle of the time Some of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time All of the time All of the time A little of the time All of the time Some of the time Alittle of the time Some of the time Some of the ti	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9) Reference 3.0 (-12.1, 18.1) 8.4 (-9.5, 26.4) 13.2 (-20.6, 47 0)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)## Reference 6.2 (-17.1, 29.4) 3.7 (-24.0, 31.5) 29.7 (-30.6, 90.0)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)## Reference -4.9 (-25.6, 15.9) 12.9 (-11.8, 37.6) -2.0 (-44.2, 40.1)##
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/presc Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Most of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time All of the time Some of the time A little of the time All of the time A little of the time Some of the time A little of the time A little of the time All of the time All of the time All of the time A little of the time All of the time A little of the time All of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9) Reference 3.0 (-12.1, 18.1) 8.4 (-9.5, 26.4) 13.2 (-20.6, 47.0) -47.6 (-166.0, 20.8)##*	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)## Reference 6.2 (-17.1, 29.4) 3.7 (-24.0, 31.5) 29.7 (-30.6, 90.0)## 3.1 (-99.6, 1-5.8)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)## Reference -4.9 (-25.6, 15.9) 12.9 (-11.8, 37.6) -2.0 (-44.2, 40.1)## -86.2 (-177.9, 5.4)##*
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/presc Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Most of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time All of the time Some of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling restlessness None of the time All of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9) Reference 3.0 (-12.1, 18.1) 8.4 (-9.5, 26.4) 13.2 (-20.6, 47.0) -47.6 (-166.0, 20.8)##*	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)## Reference 6.2 (-17.1, 29.4) 3.7 (-24.0, 31.5) 29.7 (-30.6, 90.0)## 3.1 (-99.6, 1-5.8)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)## Reference -4.9 (-25.6, 15.9) 12.9 (-11.8, 37.6) -2.0 (-44.2, 40.1)## -86.2 (-177.9, 5.4)##*
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/presc Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling restlessness None of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling everything is an	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9) Reference 3.0 (-12.1, 18.1) 8.4 (-9.5, 26.4) 13.2 (-20.6, 47.0) -47.6 (-166.0, 20.8)##*	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)## Reference 6.2 (-17.1, 29.4) 3.7 (-24.0, 31.5) 29.7 (-30.6, 90.0)## 3.1 (-99.6, 1-5.8)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)## Reference -4.9 (-25.6, 15.9) 12.9 (-11.8, 37.6) -2.0 (-44.2, 40.1)## -86.2 (-177.9, 5.4)##*
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/presc Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Some of the time A little of the time Some of the time A little of the time Most of the time All of the time All of the time A little of the time All of the time None of the time <td>-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9) Reference 3.0 (-12.1, 18.1) 8.4 (-9.5, 26.4) 13.2 (-20.6, 47.0) -47.6 (-166.0, 20.8)##*</td> <td>1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)## Reference 6.2 (-17.1, 29.4) 3.7 (-24.0, 31.5) 29.7 (-30.6, 90.0)## 3.1 (-99.6, 1-5.8)##</td> <td>-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)## Reference -4.9 (-25.6, 15.9) 12.9 (-11.8, 37.6) -2.0 (-44.2, 40.1)## -86.2 (-177.9, 5.4)##* Reference</td>	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9) Reference 3.0 (-12.1, 18.1) 8.4 (-9.5, 26.4) 13.2 (-20.6, 47.0) -47.6 (-166.0, 20.8)##*	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)## Reference 6.2 (-17.1, 29.4) 3.7 (-24.0, 31.5) 29.7 (-30.6, 90.0)## 3.1 (-99.6, 1-5.8)##	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)## Reference -4.9 (-25.6, 15.9) 12.9 (-11.8, 37.6) -2.0 (-44.2, 40.1)## -86.2 (-177.9, 5.4)##* Reference
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/press Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9) Reference 3.0 (-12.1, 18.1) 8.4 (-9.5, 26.4) 13.2 (-20.6, 47.0) -47.6 (-166.0, 20.8)##* Reference 5.0 (-10.0, 20.1)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)## Reference 6.2 (-17.1, 29.4) 3.7 (-24.0, 31.5) 29.7 (-30.6, 90.0)## 3.1 (-99.6, 1-5.8)## Reference 6.6 (-16.2, 29.4)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)## Reference -4.9 (-25.6, 15.9) 12.9 (-11.8, 37.6) -2.0 (-44.2, 40.1)## -86.2 (-177.9, 5.4)##* Reference 6.7 (-14.3, 27.7)
No Feel neighbourhood is unsafe for child to play No Yes Amount of time spent at nursery/presc Do not attend Part time Full time Parenting: feeling depressed None of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Parenting: feeling hopelessness None of the time A little of the time Some of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time Most of the time All of the time	-0.7 (-17.2, 15.8) Reference 1.7 (-13.2, 16.6) hool each week Reference -13.1 (-29.6, 3.4)* 1.6 (-24.6, 27.8) Reference 7.9 (-7.4, 23.3) 16.6 (-2.4, 35.7)* -18.9 (-57.2, 19.4) -1.7 (-56.4, 53.1) Reference 15.5 (-2.8, 33.7)* 11.4 (-8.9, 31.8) -18.4 (-63.9, 27.1) -46.1 (-136.2, 43.9) Reference 3.0 (-12.1, 18.1) 8.4 (-9.5, 26.4) 13.2 (-20.6, 47.0) -47.6 (-166.0, 20.8)##* Reference 5.0 (-10.0, 20.1) 9.9 (-8.0, 27.8)	1.5 (-21.5, 24.5) Reference -9.2 (-31.9, 13.4) Reference -49.7 (-92.0, -7.4)* -12.2 (-49.3, 24.8) Reference 11.1 (-12.9, 35.2) 4.7 (-25.1, 34.5) -35.1 (-114.7, 44.5)## 48.6 (-31.0, 128.3)## Reference 15.2 (-12.1, 42.5) -5.2 (-40.9, 30.5)# 29.8 (-49.8, 109.3)## -30.9 (-155.9, 94.1)## Reference 6.2 (-17.1, 29.4) 3.7 (-24.0, 31.5) 29.7 (-30.6, 90.0)## 3.1 (-99.6, 1-5.8)## Reference 6.6 (-16.2, 29.4) 16.4 (-12.8, 45.5)	-2.1 (-83.3, 79.2) Reference 4.0 (-16.5, 24.4) Reference 10.4 (-31.5, 52.3) 10.8 (-27.1, 48.7) Reference 4.3 (-16.5, 25.1) 24.9 (-1.4, 51.1)* -12.1 (-57.6, 33.3)## -43.2 (-118.2, 31.8)## Reference 10.6 (-15.2, 36.5) 16.2 (-10.2, 42.6) -40.1 (-95.8, 15.6)##* -62.2 (-191.2, 66.8)## Reference -4.9 (-25.6, 15.9) 12.9 (-11.8, 37.6) -2.0 (-44.2, 40.1)## -86.2 (-177.9, 5.4)##* Reference 6.7 (-14.3, 27.7) 10.0 (-14.4, 34.4)

Most of the time	-5.0 (-34.7, 24.7)	-10.7 (-63.3, 41.8)##	7.8 (-29.9, 45.5)##
All of the time	3.4 (-36.8, 43.6)	36.5 (-36.6, 109.6)##	-7.2 (-55.8, 41.4)##
Parenting: feeling of worthlessness			
None of the time	Reference	Reference	Reference
A little of the time	-4.2 (-24.2, 15.7)	-14.3 (-45.1, 16.6)	-1.6 (-28.9, 25.6)
Some of the time	8.3 (-21.7, 38.3)	30.3 (-21.6, 82.2)##	5.5 (-32.9, 44.0)##
Most of the time	5.3 (-47.1, 57.7)	-8.0 (-96.7, 80.7)##	-8.1 (-77.9, 61.6)##
All of the time	-21.0 (-125.2, 83.2)	21.7 (-154.7, 198.1)##	-41.6 (-171.2, 88.0)##
IMD_score	-0.02 (-0.4, 0.3)	-0.3 (-0.8, 0.2)	0.2 (-0.4, 0.7)
Mothers Employment status			
Looking after family home	Reference	Reference	Reference
maternity leave	-7.9 (-23.3, 7.4)	-13.2 (-38.0, 11.6)	-0.6 (-20.9, 19.7)
Student	9.0 (-32.1, 50.2)	24.8 (-43.2, 92.8)##	-0.8 (-57.0, 55.4)##
Self-Employed	-19.2 (-61.4, 23.0)	-1.0 (-53.7, 51.8)##	48.9 (-118.8, 21.0)##
Work for an employer	-6.7 (-22.5, 9.2)	24.8 (-43.2, 92.8)	-5.2 (-27.8, 17.3)
Regular Childcare			
Yes	Reference	Reference	Reference
No	2.4 (-10.7, 15.6)	10.4 (-9.9, 30.6)	-8.1 (-26.3, 10.1)
No Passive toys in the home	-1.9 (-9.8, 5.9)	1.0 (-13.3, 15.3)	-3.8 (-13.5, 5.9)
No Active toys in the home	3.7 (0.4, 7.0)*	4.6 (-0.6, 9.9)*	2.1 (-2.4, 6.5)
Mothers parenting self-efficacy score	-0.1 (-1.3, 1.1)	-0.6 (-2.6, 1.3)	0.2 (-1.3, 1.8)
Mothers parenting warmth score	-1.4 (-4.0, 1.3)	1.6 (-2.6, 5.8)	-2.3 (-5.9, 1.3)
Mothers parenting hostile score	-0.1 (-1.1, 1.1)	-0.3 (-2.2, 1.6)	0.6 (-0.9, 2.1)
BMIz Score	-0.3 (-8.8, 8.3)	-1.3 (-13.7, 11.1)	2.4 (-10.1, 14.8)
Mothers education			
Higher than A-level	Reference	Reference	Reference
A-level	-26.1 (-50.9, -1.2)*	-30.2 (-71.7, 11.2)*	-20.6 (-53.7, 12.4)
5 GCSE	-8.3 (-25.0, 8.5)	-8.2 (-34.2, 17.8)#	-10.3 (-33.6, 12.9)#
<5 GCSE	-11.4 (-29.0, 6.2)	-6.6 (-35.4, 22.2)	-12.7 (-36.4, 10.9)
Other	-19.2 (-41.0, 2.6)*	-17.8 (-48.1, 12.4)#	-33.3 (-68.9, 2.3)*

Notes:

* p<0.2

significant value is based on less than 10% of sample

less than 5%

332 WB 5%(n=17); 10% (n=33) 469 SA 5% (n=23); 10% (n=47)

850 Total 5% (n=43); 10% (n=85)

 β represent the difference in MVPA per 1 unit increase in continuous variables or relative difference to reference group in categorical variables. 95% CI = confidence intervals.